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SUMMARY OF RECENT ACCOUNTING STANDARDS UPDATES 

• Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326) Measurement of Credit
Losses for Accounts Receivable and Contract Assets
(ASU 2025-05 issued July 2025)

The amendments in this Update provide (1) all entities with a practical
expedient and (2) entities other than public business entities with an accounting
policy election when estimating expected credit losses for current accounts
receivable and current contract assets arising from transactions accounted for
under Topic 606, as follows:

1. Practical expedient. In developing reasonable and supportable forecasts
as part of estimating expected credit losses, all entities may elect a
practical expedient that assumes that current conditions as of the balance
sheet date do not change for the remaining life of the asset.

2. Accounting policy election. An entity other than a public business entity
that elects the practical expedient is permitted to make an accounting
policy election to consider collection activity after the balance sheet date
when estimating expected credit losses.

An entity that elects the practical expedient and the accounting policy election, 
if applicable, should apply the amendments in this Update prospectively. 

The amendments will be effective for annual reporting periods beginning after 
December 15, 2025, and interim reporting periods within those annual reporting 
periods. Early adoption is permitted in both interim and annual reporting 
periods in which financial statements have not yet been issued or made 
available for issuance. 

An entity other than a public business entity that elects the practical expedient 
and, if applicable, the accounting policy election after the effective date would 
not need to perform a preferability assessment in accordance with paragraph 
250-10-45-2.

• Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718) and Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) Clarifications to Share-Based
Consideration Payable to a Customer
(ASU 2025-04 issued May 2025)

Under current GAAP, the definitions of performance condition and service
condition do not explicitly discuss purchases made by a customer or parties that
purchase a grantor’s goods or services from the grantor’s customers. For share-
based consideration payable to a customer (including share-based consideration
payable to other parties that purchase the grantor’s goods or services from the
grantor’s customers) with a service condition, current GAAP permits the grantor
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SUMMARY OF RECENT ACCOUNTING STANDARDS UPDATES 

to elect to account for the effect of forfeitures as they occur, which may result in a 
delay in revenue recognition for awards that are not probable of vesting.  

In addition, current GAAP also does not explicitly state whether the guidance in 
Topic 606 on constraining estimates of variable consideration applies to share-
based consideration payable to a customer that is measured and classified under 
the Topic 718 approach. 

The amendments in this Update revise the Master Glossary definition of the term 
performance condition for share-based consideration payable to a customer. The 
revised definition incorporates conditions (such as vesting conditions) that are 
based on the volume or monetary amount of a customer’s purchases (or potential 
purchases) of goods or services from the grantor (including over a specified 
period of time). The revised definition also incorporates performance targets 
based on purchases made by other parties that purchase the grantor’s goods or 
services from the grantor’s customers. The revised definition of the term 
performance condition cannot be applied by analogy to awards granted to 
employees and nonemployees in exchange for goods or services to be used or 
consumed in the grantor’s own operations.  

Although it is expected that entities will conclude that fewer awards contain 
service conditions, for those that are determined to have service conditions, the 
amendments in this Update eliminate the policy election permitting a grantor to 
account for forfeitures as they occur. Therefore, when measuring share-based 
consideration payable to a customer that has a service condition, the grantor is 
required to estimate the number of forfeitures expected to occur. 

Separate policy elections for forfeitures remain available for share-based payment 
awards with service conditions granted to employees and nonemployees in 
exchange for goods or services to be used or consumed in the grantor’s own 
operations.  

The amendments in this Update clarify that share-based consideration 
encompasses the same instruments as share-based payment arrangements but the 
grantee does not need to be a supplier of goods or services to the grantor.  

Finally, the amendments in this Update clarify that a grantor should not apply the 
guidance in Topic 606 on constraining estimates of variable consideration to 
share-based consideration payable to a customer. Therefore, a grantor is required 
to assess the probability that an award will vest using only the guidance in Topic 
718. 

Collectively, these changes improve the decision usefulness of a grantor’s 
financial statements, improve the operability of the guidance, and reduce diversity 
in practice for accounting for share-based consideration payable to a customer. 
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Under the amendments in this Update, revenue recognition will no longer be 
delayed when an entity grants awards that are not expected to vest. This is 
expected to result in estimates of the transaction price that better reflect the 
amount of consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for 
transferring promised goods or services to a customer and, therefore, more 
decision-useful financial reporting.  

The amendments in this Update are effective for all entities for annual reporting 
periods (including interim reporting periods within annual reporting periods) 
beginning after December 15, 2026. Early adoption is permitted for all entities.  

The amendments in this Update permit a grantor to apply the new guidance on 
either a modified retrospective or a retrospective basis. 

• Business Combinations (Topic 805) and Consolidation (Topic 810)
Determining the Accounting Acquirer in the Acquisition of a Variable
Interest Entity
(ASU 2025-03 issued May 2025)

The amendments in this Update require an entity involved in an acquisition
transaction effected primarily by exchanging equity interests when the legal
acquiree is a VIE that meets the definition of a business to consider the factors in
paragraphs 805-10-55-12 through 55-15 to determine which entity is the
accounting acquirer.

The amendments in this Update differ from current GAAP because, for certain
transactions, they replace the requirement that the primary beneficiary always is
the acquirer with an assessment that requires an entity to consider the factors to
determine which entity is the accounting acquirer.

The amendments in this Update enhance the comparability of financial statements
across entities engaging in acquisition transactions effected primarily by
exchanging equity interests when the legal acquiree meets the definition of a
business. Specifically, under the amendments, acquisition transactions in which
the legal acquiree is a VIE will, in more instances, result in the same accounting
outcomes as economically similar transactions in which the legal acquiree is a
voting interest entity.

The amendments in this Update do not change the accounting for a transaction
determined to be a reverse acquisition or a transaction in which the legal acquirer
is not a business and is determined to be the accounting acquiree.
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The amendments in this Update are effective for all entities for annual reporting 
periods beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim reporting periods within 
those annual reporting periods.  

The amendments in this Update require that an entity apply the new guidance 
prospectively to any acquisition transaction that occurs after the initial application 
date.  

Early adoption is permitted as of the beginning of an interim or annual reporting 
period. 

• Liabilities (Topic 405) Amendments to SEC Paragraphs Pursuant to SEC
Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 122
(ASU 2025-02 issued March 2025)

This Accounting Standards Update amends an SEC paragraph pursuant to the
issuance of SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 122.

• Income Statement – Reporting Comprehensive Income – Expense
Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40) Clarifying the Effective Date
(ASU 2025-01 issued January 2025)

The amendment in this Update amends the effective date of Update 2024-03 to
clarify that all public business entities are required to adopt the guidance in annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim periods within
annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2027.

Early adoption of Update 2024-03 is permitted.

• Debt – Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) Induced
Conversions of Convertible Debt Instruments
(ASU 2024-04 issued November 2024)

The amendments in this Update clarify the requirements for determining whether
certain settlements of convertible debt instruments should be accounted for as an
induced conversion. Under the amendments, to account for a settlement of a
convertible debt instrument as an induced conversion, an inducement offer is
required to provide the debt holder with, at a minimum, the consideration (in form
and amount) issuable under the conversion privileges provided in the terms of the
instrument. An entity should assess whether this criterion is satisfied as of the date
the inducement offer is accepted by the holder. If, when applying this criterion,
the convertible debt instrument had been exchanged or modified (without being
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deemed substantially different) within the one-year period leading up to the offer 
acceptance date, an entity should compare the terms provided in the inducement 
offer with the terms that existed one year before the offer acceptance date. The 
amendments do not change the other criteria that are required to be satisfied to 
account for a settlement transaction as an induced conversion. 
 
The amendments in this Update also make additional clarifications to assist 
stakeholders in applying the guidance. Under the amendments, the incorporation, 
elimination, or modification of a VWAP formula does not automatically cause a 
settlement to be accounted for as an extinguishment; an entity should instead 
assess whether the form and amount of conversion consideration are preserved 
(that is, provided for in the inducement offer) using the fair value of an entity’s 
shares as of the offer acceptance date.  
The amendments in this Update also clarify that the induced conversion guidance 
applies to a convertible debt instrument that is not currently convertible as long as 
it had a substantive conversion feature as of both its issuance date and the date the 
inducement offer is accepted. 
 
The amendments in this Update are effective for all entities for annual reporting 
periods beginning after December 15, 2025, and interim reporting periods within 
those annual reporting periods.  
 
The amendments in this Update permit an entity to apply the new guidance on 
either a prospective or a retrospective basis. 
 
 

• Income Statement – Reporting Comprehensive Income – Expense 
Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40) Disaggregation of Income 
Statement Expenses   
(ASU 2024-03 issued November 2024) 

 
The amendments in this Update require disclosure, in the notes to financial 
statements, of specified information about certain costs and expenses. The 
amendments require that at each interim and annual reporting period an entity:  
 

1. Disclose the amounts of (a) purchases of inventory, (b) employee 
compensation, (c) depreciation, (d) intangible asset amortization, and (e) 
depreciation, depletion, and amortization recognized as part of oil and gas-
producing activities (DD&A) (or other amounts of depletion expense) 
included in each relevant expense caption. A relevant expense caption is 
an expense caption presented on the face of the income statement within 
continuing operations that contains any of the expense categories listed in 
(a)–(e).  
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2. Include certain amounts that are already required to be disclosed under
current generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) in the same
disclosure as the other disaggregation requirements.

3. Disclose a qualitative description of the amounts remaining in relevant
expense captions that are not separately disaggregated quantitatively.

4. Disclose the total amount of selling expenses and, in annual reporting
periods, an entity’s definition of selling expenses. An entity is not
precluded from providing additional voluntary disclosures that may
provide investors with additional decision-useful information.

The amendments in this Update apply to all public business entities. 

• Codification Improvements – Amendments to Remove References to the
Concepts Statements
(ASU 2024-02 issued March 2024)

The amendments in this Update affect a variety of Topics in the Codification. The
amendments apply to all reporting entities within the scope of the affected
accounting guidance.

This Update contains amendments to the Codification that remove references to
various Concepts Statements. Generally, the amendments in this Update are not
intended to result in significant accounting change for most entities.

• Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718) – Scope Application of
Profits Interest and Similar Awards
(ASU 2024-01 issued March 2024)

The amendments in this Update related to the scope application issue apply to all
reporting entities that account for profits interest awards as compensation to
employees or nonemployees in return for goods or services.

The amendments in this Update that improve the understandability of paragraph
718-10-15-3 apply to all entities that enter into share-based payment transactions.

The amendments in this Update improve GAAP by adding an illustrative example 
that includes four fact patterns to demonstrate how an entity should apply the 
scope guidance in paragraph 718-10-15-3 to determine whether a profits interest 
award should be accounted for in accordance with Topic 718.  

The fact patterns in the illustrative example focus on the scope conditions in 
paragraph 718-10-15-3. The illustrative example is intended to reduce (1) 
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complexity in determining whether a profits interest award is subject to the 
guidance in Topic 718 and (2) existing diversity in practice.  

The amendments in paragraph 718-10-15-3 improve its overall clarity and 
operability without changing the guidance.  

For PBEs, the amendments in this Update are effective for annual periods 
beginning after December 15, 2024, and interim periods within those annual 
periods. For all other entities, the amendments are effective for annual periods 
beginning after December 15, 2025, and interim periods within those annual 
periods. Early adoption is permitted for both interim and annual financial 
statements that have not yet been issued or made available for issuance. If an 
entity adopts the amendments in an interim period, it should adopt them as of the 
beginning of the annual period that includes that interim period.  
The amendments in this Update should be applied either (1) retrospectively to all 
prior periods presented in the financial statements or (2) prospectively to profits 
interest and similar awards granted or modified on or after the date at which the 
entity first applies the amendments. If the amendments are applied 
retrospectively, an entity is required to provide the disclosures in paragraphs 250-
10-50-1 through 50-3 in the period of adoption. If the amendments are applied
prospectively, an entity is required to disclose the nature of and reason for the
change in accounting principle.

• Income Taxes (Topic 740) – Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures
(ASU 2023-09 issued December 2023)

The amendments in this Update apply to all entities that are subject to Topic 740,
Income Taxes.

Certain of the disclosures that are required by the amendments in this Update are
not required for entities other than public business entities.

Rate Reconciliation

The amendments in this Update require that public business entities on an annual
basis (1) disclose specific categories in the rate reconciliation and (2) provide
additional information for reconciling items that meet a quantitative threshold (if
the effect of those reconciling items is equal to or greater than 5 percent of the
amount computed by multiplying pretax income [or loss] by the applicable
statutory income tax rate).

Specifically, public business entities are required to disclose a tabular
reconciliation, using both percentages and reporting currency amounts, according
to the following requirements:
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1. The following specific categories are required to be disclosed:  
a. State and local income tax, net of federal (national) income tax effect  
b. Foreign tax effects  
c. Effect of changes in tax laws or rates enacted in the current period  
d. Effect of cross-border tax laws  
e. Tax credits  
f. Changes in valuation allowances  
g. Nontaxable or nondeductible items  
h. Changes in unrecognized tax benefits.  

2. Separate disclosure is required for any reconciling item listed below in 
which the effect of the reconciling item is equal to or greater than 5 
percent of the amount computed by multiplying the income (or loss) from 
continuing operations before income taxes by the applicable statutory 
income tax rate.  
a. If the reconciling item is within the effect of cross-border tax laws, tax 

credits, or nontaxable or nondeductible items categories, it is required 
to be disaggregated by nature.  

b. If the reconciling item is within the foreign tax effects category, it is 
required to be disaggregated by jurisdiction (country) and by nature, 
except for reconciling items related to changes in unrecognized tax 
benefits discussed in (4). 

c. If the reconciling item does not fall within any of the categories listed 
in (1), it is required to be disaggregated by nature.  

3. For the purpose of categorizing reconciling items, except for reconciling 
items related to changes in unrecognized tax benefits discussed in (4), the 
state and local income tax category should reflect income taxes imposed at 
the state or local level within the jurisdiction (country) of domicile, the 
foreign tax effects category should reflect income taxes imposed by 
foreign jurisdictions, and the remaining categories listed in (1) should 
reflect federal (national) income taxes imposed by the jurisdiction 
(country) of domicile.  

4. For the purpose of presenting reconciling items:  
a. Reconciling items are required to be presented on a gross basis with 

two exceptions under which unrecognized tax benefits and the related 
tax positions and tax effects of certain cross-border tax laws and the 
related tax credits may be presented on a net basis.  

b. Reconciling items presented in the changes in unrecognized tax 
benefits category may be disclosed on an aggregated basis for all 
jurisdictions. 

 
Income Taxes Paid  
 
The amendments in this Update require that all entities disclose on an annual 
basis the following information about income taxes paid:  
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1. The amount of income taxes paid (net of refunds received) disaggregated 
by federal (national), state, and foreign taxes  

2. The amount of income taxes paid (net of refunds received) disaggregated 
by individual jurisdictions in which income taxes paid (net of refunds 
received) is equal to or greater than 5 percent of total income taxes paid 
(net of refunds received). 

 
Other Disclosures  
 
The amendments in this Update require that all entities disclose the following 
information: 
  

1. Income (or loss) from continuing operations before income tax expense 
(or benefit) disaggregated between domestic and foreign  

2. Income tax expense (or benefit) from continuing operations disaggregated 
by federal (national), state, and foreign.  

 
The amendments in this Update eliminate the requirement for all entities to (1) 
disclose the nature and estimate of the range of the reasonably possible change in 
the unrecognized tax benefits balance in the next 12 months or (2) make a 
statement that an estimate of the range cannot be made.  
 
The amendments in this Update remove the requirement to disclose the 
cumulative amount of each type of temporary difference when a deferred tax 
liability is not recognized because of the exceptions to comprehensive recognition 
of deferred taxes related to subsidiaries and corporate joint ventures.  
 
The amendments in this Update replace the term public entity as currently used in 
Topic 740 with the term public business entity as defined in the Master Glossary 
of the Codification. 
 
For public business entities, the amendments in this Update are effective for 
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024. For entities other than public 
business entities, the amendments are effective for annual periods beginning after 
December 15, 2025.  
 
Early adoption is permitted for annual financial statements that have not yet been 
issued or made available for issuance.  
 
The amendments in this Update should be applied on a prospective basis. 
Retrospective application is permitted. 
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• Intangibles – Goodwill and Other – Crypto Assets (Subtopic 350-60) –
Accounting for and Disclosure of Crypto Assets
(ASU 2023-08 issued December 2023)

The amendments in this Update apply to all entities holding assets that meet
certain scope criteria.

The amendments in this Update apply to assets that meet all of the following
criteria:

1. Meet the definition of intangible assets as defined in the Codification
2. Do not provide the asset holder with enforceable rights to or claims on

underlying goods, services, or other assets
3. Are created or reside on a distributed ledger based on blockchain or

similar technology
4. Are secured through cryptography
5. Are fungible
6. Are not created or issued by the reporting entity or its related parties.

An entity is required to subsequently measure assets that meet those criteria at fair 
value with changes recognized in net income each reporting period.  

The amendments in this Update also require that an entity present (1) crypto 
assets measured at fair value separately from other intangible assets in the balance 
sheet and (2) changes from the remeasurement of crypto assets separately from 
changes in the carrying amounts of other intangible assets in the income statement 
(or statement of activities for not-for-profit entities).  

While the amendments in this Update do not otherwise change the presentation 
requirements for the statement of cash flows, the amendments require specific 
presentation of cash receipts arising from crypto assets that are received as 
noncash consideration in the ordinary course of business (or as a contribution, in 
the case of a not-for-profit entity) and are converted nearly immediately into cash. 

For annual and interim reporting periods, the amendments in this Update require 
that an entity, including an entity that is subject to industry-specific guidance, 
disclose the following information:  

1. The name, cost basis, fair value, and number of units for each significant
crypto asset holding and the aggregate fair values and cost bases of the
crypto asset holdings that are not individually significant

2. For crypto assets that are subject to contractual sale restrictions, the fair
value of those crypto assets, the nature and remaining duration of the
restriction(s), and the circumstances that could cause the restriction(s) to
lapse.

13
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For annual reporting periods, the amendments in this Update require that an entity 
disclose the following information:  

1. A rollforward, in the aggregate, of activity in the reporting period for
crypto asset holdings, including additions (with a description of the
activities that resulted in the additions), dispositions, gains, and losses

2. For any dispositions of crypto assets in the reporting period, the difference
between the disposal price and the cost basis and a description of the
activities that resulted in the dispositions

3. If gains and losses are not presented separately, the income statement line
item in which those gains and losses are recognized

4. The method for determining the cost basis of crypto assets

The amendments in this Update are effective for all entities for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2024, including interim periods within those fiscal 
years. Early adoption is permitted for both interim and annual financial statements 
that have not yet been issued (or made available for issuance). If an entity adopts 
the amendments in an interim period, it must adopt them as of the beginning of 
the fiscal year that includes that interim period.  

The amendments in this Update require a cumulative-effect adjustment to the 
opening balance of retained earnings (or other appropriate components of equity 
or net assets) as of the beginning of the annual reporting period in which an entity 
adopts the amendments. 

• Segment Reporting (Topic 280) – Improvements to Reportable Segment
Disclosures
(ASU 2023-07 issued November 2023)

The amendments in this Update apply to all public entities that are required to
report segment information in accordance with Topic 280, Segment Reporting.

• Disclosure Improvements – Codification Amendments in Response to the
SEC’s Disclosure Update and Simplification Initiative
(ASU 2023-06 issued October 2023)

The amendments in this Update affect a variety of Topics in the Codification. The
amendments apply to all reporting entities within the scope of the affected Topics
unless otherwise indicated.

The amendments in this Update modify the disclosure or presentation
requirements of a variety of Topics in the Codification. Certain of the
amendments represent clarifications to or technical corrections of the current

14



SUMMARY OF RECENT ACCOUNTING STANDARDS UPDATES 

requirements. Because of the variety of Topics amended, a broad range of entities 
may be affected by one or more of those amendments. The amendments are 
summarized in the Introduction section of the Update. 

The amendments in this Update represent changes to clarify or improve disclosure 
and presentation requirements of a variety of Topics. Many of the amendments 
allow users to more easily compare entities subject to the SEC’s existing 
disclosures with those entities that were not previously subject to the SEC’s 
requirements. Also, the amendments align the requirements in the Codification 
with the SEC’s regulations.  

For entities subject to the SEC’s existing disclosure requirements and for entities 
required to file or furnish financial statements with or to the SEC in preparation 
for the sale of or for purposes of issuing securities that are not subject to 
contractual restrictions on transfer, the effective date for each amendment will be 
the date on which the SEC’s removal of that related disclosure from Regulation S-
X or Regulation S-K becomes effective, with early adoption prohibited. For all 
other entities, the amendments will be effective two years later.  

The amendments in this Update should be applied prospectively. 

For all entities, if by June 30, 2027, the SEC has not removed the applicable 
requirement from Regulation S-X or Regulation S-K, the pending content of the 
related amendment will be removed from the Codification and will not become 
effective for any entity. 

• Business Combinations – Joint Venture Formations (Subtopic 805-60)
Recognition and Initial Measurement
(ASU 2023-05 issued August 2023)

The amendments in this Update affect the accounting for contributions received
upon formation by entities that meet the definition of a joint venture or a
corporate joint venture, as defined in the Master Glossary of the Codification.
Additionally, existing joint ventures have the option to apply the guidance
retrospectively.

Requiring a joint venture to recognize and initially measure its assets and
liabilities using a new basis of accounting upon formation reduces diversity in
practice and provides decision-useful information to a joint venture’s investors.

Because the Codification does not contain specific guidance for the accounting by
a joint venture for net assets contributed upon formation, there is diversity in
practice. Stakeholders observed that, before the amendments in this Update were
issued, a joint venture may recognize and initially measure its net assets upon

15
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formation at the carrying amounts of the venturer that contributed those net assets, 
and, in certain circumstances, a joint venture may recognize and initially measure 
its net assets at fair value upon formation.  

Feedback from practitioners indicated that (1) there is a lack of guidance for the 
accounting by a joint venture and (2) the factors used by the joint venture to 
determine when its net assets should be recognized and initially measured at fair 
value are nonauthoritative and outdated. Generally, practitioners supported 
requiring that a joint venture initially measure the contributions at fair value upon 
formation, citing that they view the formation of the joint venture as a change in 
control of the contributed net assets that should result in a new basis of 
accounting. 

Feedback from preparers indicated that the venturers are usually, but not always, 
the primary users of a joint venture’s financial statements. Feedback from 
preparers generally supported fair value measurement, observing that fair value 
(1) is more relevant than the venturers’ carrying amounts of the contributed net
assets at the formation date and (2) would reduce equity method basis differences
(any difference between the venturer’s cost of its investment in a joint venture and
the amount of underlying equity in net assets of the joint venture).

In response to the feedback received, the Board decided to require that a joint 
venture, upon formation, apply a new basis of accounting. As a result, a newly 
formed joint venture should initially measure its assets and liabilities at fair value 
(with exceptions to fair value measurement that are consistent with the business 
combinations guidance). That approach is generally consistent with other new 
basis of accounting models in GAAP, such as fresh-start reporting in accordance 
with Topic 852, Reorganizations. It is also broadly consistent with the accounting 
outcome that would result from treating the joint venture as the acquirer of a 
business within the scope of Subtopic 805-10, Business Combinations—Overall. 
The amendments in this Update require that a joint venture apply the following 
key adaptations from the business combinations guidance upon formation: 

1. A joint venture is the formation of a new entity without an accounting
acquirer. The formation of a joint venture is the creation of a new
reporting entity, and none of the assets and/or businesses contributed to
the joint venture are viewed as having survived the combination as an
independent entity—that is, an accounting acquirer will not be identified.

2. A joint venture measures its identifiable net assets and goodwill, if
any, at the formation date. The joint venture formation date is the date
on which an entity initially meets the definition of a joint venture.

3. Initial measurement of a joint venture’s total net assets is equal to the
fair value of 100 percent of the joint venture’s equity. The amendments
require that a joint venture measure its total net assets upon formation as
the fair value of the joint venture as a whole. The fair value of the joint
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venture as a whole equals the fair value of 100 percent of a joint venture’s 
equity immediately following formation (including any noncontrolling 
interest in the net assets recognized by the joint venture).  

4. A joint venture provides relevant disclosures. The purpose of the
disclosures is to help a user of a joint venture’s financial statements
understand the nature and financial effect of the joint venture formation in
the period in which the formation date occurs. Joint venture disclosure
requirements upon formation are different from the requirements for
business combinations.

The amendments in this Update permit a joint venture to apply the measurement 
period guidance in Subtopic 805-10 if the initial accounting for a joint venture 
formation is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the formation 
occurs.  

Many of the amendments in this Update, other than the addition of Subtopic 805- 
60, Business Combinations—Joint Venture Formations, are clarifying or 
conforming amendments.  

The amendments in this Update are effective prospectively for all joint venture 
formations with a formation date on or after January 1, 2025.  

Additionally, a joint venture that was formed before January 1, 2025 may elect to 
apply the amendments retrospectively if it has sufficient information. Early 
adoption is permitted in any interim or annual period in which financial 
statements have not yet been issued (or made available for issuance), either 
prospectively or retrospectively. 

• Liabilities (Topic 405) Amendments to SEC Paragraphs Pursuant to SEC
Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 121
(ASU 2023-04 issued August 2023)

Only applicable to SEC (and then only very limited).
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• Presentation of Financial Statements (Topic 205), Income Statement –
Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220), Distinguishing Liabilities
from Equity (Topic 480), Equity (Topic 505), and Compensation – Stock
Compensation (Topic 718).  Amendments to SEC Paragraphs Pursuant to
SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 120, SEC Staff Announcement at the
March 24, 2002 EITF Meeting, and Staff Accounting Bulletin Topic 6.B,
Accounting Series Release 280 – General Revision of Regulation S-X; Income
or Loss Applicable to Common Stock
(ASU 2023-03 issued July 2023)

Only applicable to SEC (and then only very limited).

• Investments – Equity Method and Joint Ventures (Topic 323) : Accounting
for Investments in Tax Credit Structures Using the Proportional
Amortization Method – a concensus of the Emerging Issues Task Force
(ASU 2023-02 issued March 2023)

The amendments in this Update apply to all reporting entities that hold (1) tax
equity investments that meet the conditions for and elect to account for them
using the proportional amortization method or (2) an investment in a LIHTC
structure through a limited liability entity that is not accounted for using the
proportional amortization method and to which certain LIHTC-specific guidance
removed from Subtopic 323-740 has been applied. Additionally, the disclosure
requirements apply to investments that generate income tax credits and other
income tax benefits from a tax credit program for which the entity has elected to
apply the proportional amortization method (including investments within that
elected program that do not meet the conditions to apply the proportional
amortization method).

The amendments in this Update permit reporting entities to elect to account for
their tax equity investments, regardless of the tax credit program from which the
income tax credits are received, using the proportional amortization method if
certain conditions are met.

Under the proportional amortization method, an entity amortizes the initial cost of
the investment in proportion to the income tax credits and other income tax
benefits received and recognizes the net amortization and income tax credits and
other income tax benefits in the income statement as a component of income tax
expense (benefit). To qualify for the proportional amortization method, if elected
in accordance with paragraph 323-740-25-4, all of the following conditions must
be met:

1. It is probable that the income tax credits allocable to the tax equity
investor will be available.
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2. The tax equity investor does not have the ability to exercise significant
influence over the operating and financial policies of the underlying
project.

3. Substantially all of the projected benefits are from income tax credits and
other income tax benefits. Projected benefits include income tax credits,
other income tax benefits, and other non-income-tax-related benefits. The
projected benefits are determined on a discounted basis, using a discount
rate that is consistent with the cash flow assumptions used by the tax
equity investor in making its decision to invest in the project.

4. The tax equity investor’s projected yield based solely on the cash flows
from the income tax credits and other income tax benefits is positive.

5. The tax equity investor is a limited liability investor in the limited liability
entity for both legal and tax purposes, and the tax equity investor’s
liability is limited to its capital investment.

A reporting entity makes an accounting policy election to apply the proportional 
amortization method on a tax-credit-program-by-tax-credit-program basis rather 
than electing to apply the proportional amortization method at the reporting entity 
level or to individual investments. A reporting entity that applies the proportional 
amortization method to qualifying tax equity investments must account for the 
receipt of the investment tax credits using the flow-through method under Topic 
740, Income Taxes, even if the entity applies the deferral method for other 
investment tax credits received. 

The amendments in this Update require that all tax equity investments accounted 
for using the proportional amortization method use the delayed equity 
contribution guidance in paragraph 323-740-25-3 (which requires that a liability 
be recognized for delayed equity contributions that are unconditional and legally 
binding or for equity contributions that are contingent upon a future event when 
that contingent event becomes probable). LIHTC investments not accounted for 
using the proportional amortization method will no longer be permitted to use the 
delayed equity contribution guidance in paragraph 323-740-25-3. In addition, the 
amendments in this Update remove the equity method impairment example for 
LIHTC investments in Example 1 in Subtopic 323-740. As a result of this change, 
LIHTC investments accounted for using the equity method must apply the 
impairment guidance in Subtopic 323-10, Investments—Equity Method and Joint 
Ventures—Overall. Furthermore, the amendments in this Update require that 
LIHTC investments that are not accounted for using the proportional amortization 
method or the equity method apply the guidance in Topic 321 on the accounting 
for equity investments. As a result of these changes, the guidance in Subtopic 
323- 740 is applicable only to tax equity investments accounted for using the
proportional amortization method.

The amendments in this Update require specific disclosures that must be applied 
to all investments that generate income tax credits and other income tax benefits 
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from a tax credit program for which the entity has elected to apply the 
proportional amortization method in accordance with Subtopic 323-740 
(including investments within that elected program that do not meet the 
conditions to apply the proportional amortization method). The amendments 
require that a reporting entity disclose certain information in annual and interim 
reporting periods that enable investors to understand the following information 
about its investments that generate income tax credits and other income tax 
benefits from a tax credit program: 

1. The nature of its tax equity investments
2. The effect of its tax equity investments and related income tax credits and

other income tax benefits on its financial position and results of
operations.

In addition, the amendments also provide examples of disclosures that an entity 
could provide in meeting the disclosure objectives 

For public business entities, the amendments are effective for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2023, including interim periods within those fiscal 
years. For all other entities, the amendments are effective for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2024, including interim periods within those fiscal 
years. Early adoption is permitted for all entities in any interim period. If an entity 
adopts the amendments in an interim period, it shall adopt them as of the 
beginning of the fiscal year that includes that interim period.  

The amendments in this Update must be applied on either a modified 
retrospective or a retrospective basis (except as discussed below for LIHTC 
investments not accounted for using the proportional amortization method). Under 
a modified retrospective transition, a reporting entity evaluates all investments for 
which it still expects to receive income tax credits or other income tax benefits as 
of the beginning of the period of adoption. The assessment of whether the 
investment qualifies for the proportional amortization method is performed as of 
the date the investment was entered into. A cumulative-effect adjustment 
reflecting the difference between the previous method used to account for the tax 
equity investment and the application of the proportional amortization method 
since the investment was entered into is recognized in the opening balance of 
retained earnings as of the beginning of the period of adoption. 

Under a retrospective transition, a reporting entity evaluates all investments for 
which it still expects to receive income tax credits or other income tax benefits as 
of the beginning of the earliest period presented. The assessment of whether the 
investment qualifies for the proportional amortization method is performed as of 
the date the investment was entered into. A cumulative-effect adjustment 
reflecting the difference between the previous method used to account for the tax 
equity investment and the application of the proportional amortization method 
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since the investment was entered into is recognized in the opening balance of 
retained earnings as of the beginning of the earliest period presented.  

A reporting entity that has LIHTC investments that are no longer permitted to use 
(1) the cost method guidance in paragraph 323-740-25-2A, (2) the equity method
example in paragraphs 323-740-55-8 through 55-9, or (3) the delayed equity
contribution guidance in paragraph 323-740-25-3 must either use its general
transition method (that is, modified retrospective or retrospective) or apply a
prospective approach. This election may be made separately for each of the three
transition adjustment types described above. However, a reporting entity shall
apply a consistent transition method for each transition adjustment type. Under
the prospective transition approach, an adjustment for affected LIHTC
investments currently recorded on the date of adoption, is recognized in current-
period earnings, or the balance sheet, or both, on the date of adoption.

• Leases (Topic 842) : Common Control Arrangements
(ASU 2023-01 issued March 2023)

What Are the Main Provisions, How Do They Differ from Current Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP), and Why Are They an Improvement?

Issue 1: Terms and Conditions to Be Considered

Topic 842 requires that entities determine whether a related party arrangement
between entities under common control (hereinafter referred to as a common
control arrangement) is a lease. If the arrangement is determined to be a lease, an
entity must classify and account for the lease on the same basis as an arrangement
with an unrelated party (on the basis of legally enforceable terms and conditions).
That represents a change from the requirements of Topic 840, Leases, which
required that an entity classify and account for an arrangement on the basis of
economic substance when those terms and conditions were affected by the related
party nature of the arrangement. Private company stakeholders observed that
determining the enforceable terms and conditions of a common control
arrangement to apply Topic 842 often is difficult and costly. Specifically, private
company stakeholders stated that determining the enforceable terms and
conditions of those arrangements could necessitate obtaining a formal legal
opinion in certain cases, which could be challenging because of the common
control nature of the arrangement (even for written arrangements).

The amendments in this Update provide a practical expedient for private
companies and not-for-profit entities that are not conduit bond obligors to use the
written terms and conditions of a common control arrangement to determine:

1. Whether a lease exists and, if so,
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2. The classification of and accounting for that lease.

The practical expedient may be applied on an arrangement-by-arrangement basis. 
If no written terms and conditions exist (including in situations in which an entity 
does not document existing unwritten terms and conditions in writing upon 
transition to the practical expedient), an entity is prohibited from applying the 
practical expedient and must evaluate the enforceable terms and conditions to 
apply Topic 842. The practical expedient is expected to reduce (1) the costs 
associated with implementing and applying Topic 842 to those arrangements and 
(2) diversity in practice by entities within its scope when applying lease
accounting requirements to common control arrangements.

Issue 2: Accounting for Leasehold Improvements  

Topic 842 generally requires that leasehold improvements have an amortization 
period consistent with the shorter of the remaining lease term and the useful life 
of the improvements, which is an approach that is largely consistent with legacy 
guidance. Lessees recognize leasehold improvements when they are the 
accounting owner of those improvements. Private company stakeholders noted 
that amortizing leasehold improvements associated with arrangements between 
entities under common control determined to be leases (hereinafter referred to as 
common control leases) over a period shorter than the expected useful life of the 
leasehold improvements may result in financial reporting that does not faithfully 
represent the economics of those leasehold improvements, particularly in common 
control leases with short lease terms. Those stakeholders further noted that this 
accounting, depending on the salvage value assigned to the leasehold 
improvements, may fail to recognize the transfer of value between the entities 
under common control when the lessee no longer controls the use of the 
underlying asset. Additionally, the Board noted that multiple methods of 
accounting for those improvements exist, causing diversity in practice. 

The amendments in this Update require that leasehold improvements associated 
with common control leases be:  

1. Amortized by the lessee over the useful life of the leasehold improvements
to the common control group (regardless of the lease term) as long as the
lessee controls the use of the underlying asset (the leased asset) through a
lease. However, if the lessor obtained the right to control the use of the
underlying asset through a lease with another entity not within the same
common control group, the amortization period may not exceed the
amortization period of the common control group.

2. Accounted for as a transfer between entities under common control
through an adjustment to equity (or net assets for not-for-profit entities) if,
and when, the lessee no longer controls the use of the underlying asset.
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Additionally, those leasehold improvements are subject to the impairment 
guidance in Topic 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment. 

Issue 1: Terms and Conditions to Be Considered  

The practical expedient is available to entities that are not: 

1. Public business entities
2. Not-for-profit conduit bond obligors
3. Employee benefit plans that file or furnish financial statements with or to

the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).

Issue 2: Accounting for Leasehold Improvements  

The amendments in this Update affect all lessees that are a party to a lease 
between entities under common control in which there are leasehold 
improvements. The amendments apply to all entities (that is, public business 
entities, private companies, not-for-profit entities, and employee benefit plans). 

The amendments in this Update for both Issue 1 and Issue 2 are effective for 
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, including interim periods within 
those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted for both interim and annual 
financial statements that have not yet been made available for issuance. If an 
entity adopts the amendments in an interim period, it must adopt them as of the 
beginning of the fiscal year that includes that interim period. 

What Are the Transition Requirements? 

Issue 1: Terms and Conditions to Be Considered Entities adopting the practical 
expedient in this Update concurrently with adopting Topic 842 are required to 
follow the same transition requirements used to apply Topic 842. 4  

All other entities are required to apply the practical expedient in this Update 
either: 

1. Prospectively to arrangements that commence or are modified on or after
the date that the entity first applies the practical expedient

2. Retrospectively to the beginning of the period in which the entity first
applied Topic 842 for arrangements that exist at the date of adoption of the
practical expedient. The practical expedient does not apply to common
control arrangements no longer in place at the date of adoption of the
amendments in this Update.

Regardless of an entity’s transition approach, the entity is permitted to document 
any existing unwritten terms and conditions of a common control arrangement 
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before the date on which the entity’s first interim (if applicable) or annual 
financial statements are available to be issued in accordance with the practical 
expedient in this Update 

Issue 2: Accounting for Leasehold Improvements  

Entities adopting the amendments in this Update concurrently with adopting 
Topic 842 may follow the same transition requirements used to apply Topic 842 
or may use either of the prospective approaches described below to avoid 
retrospectively accounting for leasehold improvements.  

All other entities are required to apply the amendments in this Update using one 
of the following methods:  

1. Prospectively to all new leasehold improvements recognized on or after
the date that the entity first applies the amendments in this Update

2. Prospectively to all new and existing leasehold improvements recognized
on or after the date that the entity first applies the amendments in this
Update, with any remaining unamortized balance of existing leasehold
improvements amortized over their remaining useful life to the common
control group determined at that date

3. Retrospectively to the beginning of the period in which the entity first
applied Topic 842, with any leasehold improvements that otherwise would
not have been amortized or impaired recognized through a cumulative-
effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings (or net assets
of a not-for-profit entity) at the beginning of the earliest period presented
in accordance with Topic 842.

• Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820) : Fair Value Measurement of Equity
Securities Subject to Contractual Sale Restrictions
(ASU 2022-03 issued June 2022)

The amendments in this Update affect all entities that have investments in equity
securities measured at fair value that are subject to a contractual sale restriction.
The amendments in this Update clarify that a contractual restriction on the sale of
an equity security is not considered part of the unit of account of the equity
security and, therefore, is not considered in measuring fair value. The
amendments also clarify that an entity cannot, as a separate unit of account,
recognize and measure a contractual sale restriction. The amendments in this
Update also require the following disclosures for equity securities subject to
contractual sale restrictions:

1. The fair value of equity securities subject to contractual sale
restrictions reflected in the balance sheet
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2. The nature and remaining duration of the restriction(s)
3. The circumstances that could cause a lapse in the restriction(s).

The amendments in this Update do not change the principles of fair value 
measurement. The amendments clarify those principles when measuring the fair 
value of an equity security subject to a contractual sale restriction and improve 
current GAAP by reducing diversity in practice, reducing the cost and complexity 
in measuring fair value, and increasing comparability of financial information 
across reporting entities that hold those investments.  

For public business entities, the amendments in this Update are effective for fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within those fiscal 
years. For all other entities, the amendments are effective for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2024, and interim periods within those fiscal years. 
Early adoption is permitted for both interim and annual financial statements that 
have not yet been issued or made available for issuance.  

For all entities except investment companies as defined under Topic 946, 
Financial Services—Investment Companies, the amendments in this Update 
should be applied prospectively with any adjustments from the adoption of the 
amendments recognized in earnings and disclosed on the date of adoption.  
An entity that qualifies as an investment company under Topic 946 should apply 
the amendments in this Update to an investment in an equity security subject to a 
contractual sale restriction that is executed or modified on or after the date of 
adoption. An investment company with an equity security subject to a contractual 
sale restriction that was executed before the date of adoption should continue to 
account for the equity security until the contractual restrictions expire or are 
modified using the accounting policy applied before the adoption of the 
amendments (that is, if an investment company was incorporating the effects of 
the restriction in the measurement of fair value, it would continue to do so). 
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Financial Statement 
Account 

Description of Fraud Audit Techniques 

Cash Skimming (cash receipts 
theft) 

Very easy in system where general 
ledger is not integrated with cash 
register  (cash receipts) system 

• Compare deposit slips to 
detail entries in cash and
system reports

• Look hard at cash over
and short accounts

• Evaluate segregation
of duties

• Compensation if
customer doesn’t
receive receipt

Overstated (cash per general 
ledger doesn’t agree with 
bank reconciliation) 

• Compare bank rec
balance to general ledger
amount

• Evaluate segregation
of duties on bank
reconciliations

Unauthorized payments to 
employees/officers/owners: 

• Loans
• Bonuses
• Payments of personal

expenses 

• Perform related party
disbursement test

• Examine authorization
for all checks or
disbursements to related
parties

• Review all credit card
statements  to support
and vendor for
reasonableness

• Evaluate appropriate
approvals for
independence of
reviewer

Unauthorized salary payments 
to employees 

• Use outside
payroll provider

• Occasionally, put
paycheck
statements in
employee hands

• Management
should do surprise
reviews of payroll
bank statements
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Account 

Description of Fraud Audit Techniques 

• Compare salary
expense per g/l to
payroll reports

• Unusual age/position
combinations

• Review time cards and
compare to number of
employees on payroll

• Compare payroll
recipients to
terminated employee
list

• Watch message boards

Expense reimbursement 
fraud/abuse: 

• Purchase of personal items at
the pro shop 

• Multiple submissions of the
same receipts 

• Multiple submissions of the
same expense report 

• Fraudulent first class travel
• In-room items abuse
• Mini-bar abuse

• All expense reports
should be
accompanied by
original receipts

• Submit within 30 days
of incurrence of
expense

• Compare receipts to
expense report for
agreement and
“sanity”

• Individual employees
expense reports should
be consistently
reviewed by the same
persons

• Avoid paying travel
advances

• Have boarding passes
attached to the expense
reports

• Consider having
accommodation
policies for out-of- 
town travel

• Consider utilizing an
outside expense
reimbursement service

Restrictions on cash not 
disclosed in the financial 

• Still important to get
bank confirmations
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Account 

Description of Fraud Audit Techniques  

 

 statements: 
 

• Debt cross-collateralized by 
owner 

• Confirm orally with 
bank officer or 
individual signing 
bank confirm the 
representations made 
on the confirm 

 Cash doesn’t exist • Confirm all cash 
accounts, no matter 
how insignificant 

• Consider calling banks 
and talking with signer 

 Deposit issues 
 

• Cash deposits in small 
amounts 

• Deposits in transit 
• Checks in drawer not 

deposited 

• Trace ALL deposits in 
transit to timely 
clearance 

• Question cash deposits 
in a non-cash receipts 
business 

• Look for/inquire about 
undeposited checks 
and inquire about 
reason for delays 

 Fraudulent outstanding 
checks 
(Unauthorized checks cut at 
month-end to pay fraudulent 
invoices.  Wait for the period 
to be audited.  Re-cut checks 
with different payee) 

• Look for significant 
amounts of checks 
written right at year- 
end and trace to 
clearance.  

• Look at actual check 
for proper dating 

• Compare a sample of 
outstanding checks that 
haven’t cleared to 
the underlying invoice 

• Consider confirming 
o/s check or calling 
recipient 

 Payee change 
(Fraudulent invoice, paid with 
check, payee is altered, check 
cashed or deposited, fraudster 
interrupts check coming back 
from bank or bank doesn’t 
return check copy) 

• Perform a full debit test 
on bank statement 

• (trace all debits to 
their original source 
documents) 

• Scan the checks 
returned with the bank 
statement for evidence 
of inappropriate payee 
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Description of Fraud Audit Techniques 

changes 
Presentation of overdraft • True overdraft should

be labeled as such;
otherwise its
“outstanding checks in
excess of bank balance”

• Look at actual bank
statements and
confirm the balances!!

Credit risk disclosures • Still required to be
considered if amounts
routinely on deposit
exceed federally
insured limits

Prepaid Items Intentional overstatement • Trace to underlying
• invoice AND cancelled

check
Failure to amortize • Prepaids must be

amortized over their
useful life

Amortize over incorrect life • Compare useful life
to actual invoice
terms

Barter “parking” • Evaluate fair-market
value on all barter
transactions

• Add inquiry related to
“barter transactions” to
questions to be asked
of management

Accounts receivable Allowance reserves (cookie 
jars) 

• Compare acquisition
document details to
general ledger entries

• Review allowance
accounts for any
unusually large round
amounts.  Examine
supporting
documentation

• Examine bad debt
expense for credit
entries

• Examine sales
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Description of Fraud Audit Techniques  

 

  accounts for manual 
credit (or debit) entries 

 Employee receivables • Document ALL loans 
to employees 

• Document resolution 
of employee 
unauthorized credit 
card use 

 Aging frauds (changing 
invoice dates) 

• Inquire as to the 
potential to override 
system assigned 
invoice dates 

• Trace out interim months 
past dues to collection or 
continued inclusion on 
list for a sample of past 
dues 

• Compare past due %’s 
to prior years 

 Side letters (agreement to 
transact business at other than 
the organizations standard 
terms) 

• Confirm all material 
terms of the receivable 
(date, invoice number, 
amount of original 
invoice, amount 
outstanding, payment 
terms, etc.) 

 “Insured loss” receivables • Be very skeptical of any 
insurance policy that 
reimburses for operating 
losses 

 Related party issues • High level of 
professional 
skepticism required 

• Confirm the terms of 
the transactions with 
the related parties 

• High level staff area 
of audit 

• Consider amount of 
these transactions that 
are occurring, when they 
are occurring 
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Description of Fraud Audit Techniques  

 

 Channel stuffing • Look for distributor 
arrangements 

• Look for significant 
amounts of “last week 
of the period” sales to 
distributors 

• Look for a high degree 
of returned merchandise 

 Sales-type lease issues • Evaluate discount rate 
closely 

• Determine that revenue 
recognition of service 
agreements is also 
being done 
appropriately 

• Make sure term of 
receivable is 
consistent with 
document 

 Top-side adjustments • Consolidations of 
divisions requires a 
high level staff 

• Look for any excel 
spreadsheet 
consolidations 

• Inquiry and do follow- 
up procedures relating 
to any combining 
entries that materially 
change any accounts on 
the consolidation 

 Multiple sets of books • Inquiry if client has an 
investor or creditor 
reporting package 

• Compare reporting 
package to internal 
financial statements 
for any differences 

• Consider discussions 
with significant 
creditors (with client 
approval of course) 

 In general • Look for receipts that 
are held 

• Look for significant 
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Description of Fraud Audit Techniques 

past dues where the 
customer has not been 
notified of the past 
due balance 

• Who grants credit to
customers

• Who is authorized to
write-off a/r

• Review rationale for
write-offs

Deferred income taxes Manipulation of deferred tax 
rate 

  Evaluate average
income tax rate versus
actual tax return
results

“More likely than not” 
interpretations 

  Basically means 51%
  Amount of valuation

allowance needs to be
disclosed

Net operating loss valuations   Valuation is how
much is more likely
than not to be utilized
to offset taxable
income in the future.
Be very careful to
document rationales
for conclusions

Income tax refunds and 
interest 

  Determine if tax
refunds received and
interest income
associated with them
has been immediately
recorded in income

Uncertainty in income taxes   Client receive any tax
notices?  Any known
mistakes?
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Description of Fraud Audit Techniques  

 

Inventories Obsolesence reserves   Determine and 
evaluate reasonability 
of methodology 

  Observe inventory 
listed as obsolete 

  Determine that all 
obsolete inventory has 
been included in 
calculation 

  Look for material 
entries into the reserve 
accounts immediately 
preceding or following 
a year-end 

  Who is authorized to 
write items off as 
obsolete 

  Does obsolete 
inventory have a book 
value? 

 Cookie jar acquisitions 
schemes 

  Compare inventory 
valuation amounts 
between asset 
acquisition documents 
and entries into the 
general ledger 

  Look for significant 
aje’s made to any 
contra-inventory 
accounts soon after 
business acquisition 

  Look for spikes in 
gross margin within 
90 days of business 
acquisition 

 Intentional double counting   Make sure there is no 
movement of 
inventory quantities 
during the physical 
inventory count or 
during test counts 

  Consider dropping 
inventory numbers 
into a sort program 
and look for same 
inventory numbers 
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Description of Fraud Audit Techniques  

 

  appearing 
  Consider dropping 

inventory quantity 
value extensions into a 
sort program and look 
for the exact same 
inventory extended 
amounts 

 Costing errors (decimal 
issues) 

  Look for obviously 
unreasonable cost 
extensions 

  Expand cost testing 
scope 

  Assign cost test to 
high level audit staff 

  Look at all manually 
entered adjustments to 
inventory right before 
and after year-end and 
physical inventory 

 Bill-and-hold sales   Does client understand 
bill-and-hold 
accounting? 

  Has client requested 
it? 

  Is there a reasonable 
rationale for the 
request by customer? 

  Is inventory complete, 
ready to ship and 
segregated for the bill- 
and-hold sale? 

  Has client invoiced 
bill-and-hold 
inventory to customer 

 Consigned items   Confirm consigned 
inventory 

  Do not mail confirm 
to a P.O. box 

  Strongly consider 
visually inspecting 
consigned inventory 

  Speak directly with 
individual(s) signing 
the consigned 
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Description of Fraud Audit Techniques 

inventory 
confirmation 

Sham sales to related parties   Professional
skepticism on ALL
related party
transactions

  Confirm the terms of
all related party
transactions

  Make sure all related
party transactions,
unless CLEARLY
insignificant, are
disclosed

  Compare margins on
all related party
transactions to
margins from arms- 
length customers

  Look for sales returns
or lack of repayment
on related party
transactions

Fixed asset versus inventory 
issues 

  Any inventory of a
long-lived nature used
in the ordinary course
of the clients business
should be removed
from inventory and
expensed or
depreciated (i.e.,
loaner cars in an auto
dealership)

Distributor frauds   Examine all
distributorship
agreements for
reasonableness

  Look for any
significant “dumping”
of inventory into
distributor channels at
or near year-end

  Look at margins of
inventory sold to
distributors versus
sold in the ordinary
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course of business 
  Pay close attention to

past due receivables
from distributors

Obsolesence theft   What are controls over
obsolete inventory

  Who has capability to
write off inventory as
obsolete?

  What are physical
safeguards over
obsolete inventory

  Ask to view obsolete
inventory

Costs and estimated 
earnings in excess of billings 
on uncompleted contracts, 
and Billings in excess of 
costs and estimated earnings 
on uncompleted contracts 

Estimation of percentage 
complete on work in progress 

  Consider having a
construction expert at
your disposal

  Most CPAs are not
good at determining
accurate percentages
of completion

  Strongly suggest
visiting all
construction sites at or
near (within a week or
two) of year-end

Estimation of profit or loss on 
jobs 

  Consider having a
construction expert at
your disposal

  These engagements
require a technically
strong staff

  Create a database in
your records on
profit/loss of all jobs
to continually refer to
in future engagements

  Spend a lot of time in
follow-up of last years
actual jobs profits and
losses
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Investments ASC classifications (trading, 
AFS, HTM) 

• Refresh yourself on 
requirements before every job 
where they are applicable 

• Be very skeptical of any 
client changes between the 
three classifications 

• Remember available for sale 
securities unrealized gains and 
losses are in the equity section 
of the balance sheet 

• Be familiar with overall stock 
market performance so that 
you can judge reasonableness 
of the reported portfolio 
results 

 

    Valuations of non-publicly 
traded equity securities 

  Should mainly utilize 
cost as a basis.  Look closely 
for impairment of that 
amount however 

 Ownership/custody issues   Consider calling 
broker or custody agent to 
orally follow- up on 
confirmed amounts 

  View securities if not held 
by broker 

 Disclosures inadequate   Derivative disclosures are 
very complicated 

  Unrealized gain/loss 
disclosures 
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Property and equipment 
and long-lived physical 
assets 

Capitalization of expenses   Examine supporting 
documentation for all 
acquisitions over a 
reasonable threshold 
amount 

  Examine actual asset 
for reasonableness and 
“sanity” 

  Expand scope if 
multiple additions are 
just under the scope 
amount 

 Failure to depreciate   Make sure all client 
long-lived assets are 
being depreciated or 
amortized 

  Closely examine 
depreciation schedule 
for “exempt” assets 

 Inappropriate changing of 
assets useful lives 

  Useful life changes 
should be rare 

  All assets in the 
classification should 
be changed 

  Changes should be 
accounted for 
prospectively 

 Personal versus business 
assets (contribution of fixed 
assets) 

  Trace contributions of 
fixed assets by owners 
to written, supporting 
documentation 

  Be very skeptical of 
the amount any non- 
cash contributions are 
valued 

  View any written title 
documents or deeds 

 Sale of assets to related 
parties 

  Determine if 
transaction is 
consummated on arms 
length terms 

  Scrutinize very 
carefully any such 
transaction that results 
in income to the seller 

 Decentralization security   Touch every asset, 
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issues every year that has a 
title associated with it 

  Visit at least some of
the decentralized
locations on an annual
basis as part of system
understanding and
testing work

Section 179 depreciation on 
books 

  Depreciation should
be “over the useful life
of the assets”

  Using Section 179 for
books results in an
overstatement of
depreciation in one
year and an
understatement the
next

Land valuation (it’s not a 
marketable security!) 

  Land (and real
property
improvements) is held
at cost, unless
impaired

Salvage value issues   Salvage value is
somewhat rare in the
21st century

  Be very skeptical of
changes in salvage
value or the recording
of salvage value at
purchase of an asset

  Changes in salvage
value are accounted
for prospectively

Landfill accounting   Landfills are
depreciable

Intangibles Impairment issues   Is carrying value
greater than implied
fair value?

  Is the fair market
value of the business
greater than equity =
no impairment

Cookie jar initial recording   Compare the
acquisition documents
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  to the entries in the 
general ledger 

  Make sure appropriate 
lives are attached 

  Look for intangibles 
other than goodwill 

 Failure to amortize   Understand 
amortization rules 

  Most intangibles, 
other than goodwill, 
are amortizable 

 Failure not to amortize   Goodwill can 
be amortized 

  Revaluation timing (once a 
year) 

  Client must document 
impairment testing of 
goodwill on an annual 
basis at the same time 
each year 

   
Accounts payable Cookie jar acquisition 

schemes 
  Compare detail per 

asset acquisition 
agreement to what is 
recorded in the general 
ledger 

  Look for manual 
adjustments to general 
ledger accounts within 
90 days of an 
acquisition 

 Aging frauds   Test aging of accounts 
payable for proper 
“rolling forward” by 
tracing accounts 
payable in one month 
to payment in the next 
or proper presentation 
in accounts payable 
detail report 

 Classification as long-term   Be very skeptical of 
any account payable 
classified as long- 
term.  Should have 
written agreement 

  Consider these items 
for confirmation 

  Fraudulent vendor invoices   Confirm history 
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Compensated absences Cookie jar schemes, 
especially in business 
acquisitions 

  Look for any
unsubstantiated debits
or credits in reserve
accounts

  Study substantiation
for significant changes
in reserve accounts

  Look for consistency
of calculation

Discount rate manipulation   Discount rate should
be the borrowing rate
of the entity

  Anything below a
prime rate should have
appropriate
substantiation

  Anything above prime
plus 3% should also
have substantiation
(may also give rise to
going concern
concerns)

Salary rate manipulation   Salary rate used
should be rate that will
be due upon utilization
of the compensated
absence time

Environmental liabilities Cookie jar schemes (typically 
overstated) 

  Most calculations
should be
substantiated by an
expert report

  The calculation should
be updated year by
year

  There should be
written documentation
underlying any
changes in the reserve
balances

Discount rate manipulation   Discount rate should
be the borrowing rate
of the entity

  Anything below a
prime rate should have
appropriate

87



Financial Statement 
Account 

Description of Fraud Audit Techniques 

substantiation 
  Anything above prime

plus 3% should also
have substantiation
(may also give rise to
going concern
concerns)

Branch/factory closing 
reserves 

Cookie jar schemes (almost 
always overstated) 

  There should be
written, board
approved
documentation as to
how the calculation is
derived

  There should be
written documentation
as to how any changes
are calculated

  Look for
substantiation for any
significant manual
entries to this account

Accrued payroll Failure to record accrued 
payroll taxes (mainly related 
to booked bonuses payable) 

  Make sure bonus
accruals include
payroll tax accruals

Bonuses not approved   Check for
substantiation of
approval for all
bonuses in the minutes
of the enterprise (big
problem in non-owner
run enterprises and
decentralized
enterprises)

Current maturities of long- 
term debt 

5-year maturity errors   Reviewer should look
at documentation
supporting 5 year
maturities schedule

  Have to have
agreement approved to
refinance in order to
refinance current to
long-term

Lack of 5-year maturity   5 year maturities have
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disclosure got to be disclosed in 
accrual or cash basis 
statements that purport 
to have full disclosure 

Rate disclosure errors (what is 
prime?) 

  What is the current
prime rate in most
banks?

  LIBOR is a very
popular benchmark
rate as well

Collateral disclosures (mainly 
cross collateralization) 

  Many times there will
be cross- 
collateralization
“sweep” agreements
where one entity has
many loans with the
same bank.  These
cross collateralizations
must be disclosed

Income taxes payable Deferred taxes   Long-term amounts
only

Payroll versus income tax 
deposits 

  Should inquire as to
whether the
organization has had
any types of notices or
communications with
the IRS

  Examine payment
documentation to
insure that what the
client represents as
income tax deposits
were actually credited
as income tax deposits
and not payroll tax
deposits

Undisclosed litigation   Should inquire as to
whether the
organization has had
any types of notices or
communications with
the IRS

  Look for any evidence
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of illegal acts 
committed by the 
entity or it’s 
management 

Long-term debt 5-year maturity errors   Reviewer should look
at documentation
supporting the 5-year
maturity schedule

Covenant violation 
disclosures 

  Hitting the covenant
amounts “right on the
numbers” should be a
cause for concern”

  Violations of
covenants need to be
documented by a
“cure” letter or be
disclosed

  Covenant violations
have got to be
documented in the
workpapers as to how
they are resolved

Collateralization issues   Cross-collateralization
issues described above
under “current
maturities”

Equity Failure to disclose classes of 
common stock 

  All classes of common
stock need to be
disclosed

Notes receivable issued in 
exchange for common stock 

  Notes receivable
issued in exchange for
common stock need to
be shown as a
reduction of equity

Stock option 
accounting/valuation 

  New FASB out calling
for fair value
accounting
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Income statement items Round-trip transactions 
(multiple varieties) 

  Be on the look out for
vendors who are also
customers and conduct
significant
transactions near a
period-end

Revenue recognition   Inquire of multiple
firm personnel about
revenue recognition
techniques

Excessive valued bartering   Be very skeptical of
any bartering
transactions

  Bartering transactions
should be accounted
for at fair market
value

  A transaction value at
greater than the
normal arms length
cash transaction value
should be reduced to
the cash transaction
value

“Insured losses”   Be very skeptical of
any insurance policies
that guarantee return
of an operating loss

  What is premium on
these policies?

False sales   Do extensive testing
of sales transaction
documentation for
sales in the last two
weeks of the fiscal
period, especially if
the related receivable
is still outstanding or
was written off prior
to your fieldwork

Bartering for long-lived assets   Be very skeptical of
any bartering
transactions

  Bartering transactions
should be at their fair
market value
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  A transaction value at
greater than the
normal arms length
cash transaction value
should be reduced to
the cash transaction
value

Expense acceleration   Look for unusual
expense payments at
or near year-end for
amounts that should
have been classified as
prepaids

Margin normalization 
techniques 

  Look for topside
adjustments that have
no paper
substantiation or
documentation

  Margins each period
that are exactly, or
near exactly the same,
should be investigated
by looking closely at
cost of sales or
revenue manual
entries at or near year- 
end

Classification offsets   It is not appropriate for
expense errors to offset
income errors or vice
versa

Detail General ledger tests   Aje’s are highest risk
  AJes in non-aje

accounts
  Large rounded aje

amounts
  Ajes made at odd

times
  Ajes made by unusual

persons
  Ajes that are on the

“wrong” side of the T- 
account

  Unusual payees for the
account type

  Item labeled “plug” or
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“to balance” 
  AJE with no

explanation
  AJE for significant

amount
  Reversing entries

posted early in the
year or posted right
after y/e of current
year

  Others?
  Benford testing

General Materiality reliance   Know definition of
materiality

  Can you sleep at
night?
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Note: Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services are issued by the Accounting 
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promulgate standards under the “General Standards Rule” (ET sec. 1.300.001)1 and the 
“Compliance With Standards Rule” (ET sec. 1.310.001) of the AICPA Code of Professional 
Conduct with respect to unaudited financial statements or other unaudited financial information 
of an entity that is not required to file financial statements with a regulatory agency in connection 
with the sale or trading of its securities in a public market. 

1 All ET sections can be found in AICPA Professional Standards. 
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Amendment to SSARS No. 21, Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services: 
Clarification and Recodification, as Amended, Section 70, Preparation of Financial Statements 
(AICPA, Professional Standards, AR-C sec. 70) 

1. This amendment is effective for the preparation of financial statements for periods ending on
or after December 15, 2026. Early implementation is permitted.

(Boldface italics denote new language. Deleted text is shown in strikethrough.) 

Introduction 

Scope of This Section 

.01 This section applies when an accountant in public practice is engaged to prepare financial 
statements or prospective financial information and is not engaged to perform an audit, 
review, or compilation of those financial statements or a compilation or examination of 
that prospective financial information. (Ref: par. .A1-.A2) This section may also be applied, 
adapted as appropriate in the circumstances, to the preparation of other historical financial 
information. (Ref: par. .A3) This section does not apply is not required to be applied, but 
application is not precluded, in whole or in part, when an accountant prepares financial 
statements or prospective financial information (Ref: par. .A1–.A4) 

• and is engaged to perform an audit, review, or compilation of those financial
statements,.

a. as part of a consulting services engagement performed in accordance with CS
section 100, Consulting Services: Definitions and Standards,* in which the
preparation of financial statements is not the primary objective of the
engagement. (Ref: par. .A5)

b. as part of a personal financial plan performed in accordance with PFP section
100, Statement on Standards for Personal Financial Planning Services.†

c. as part of an engagement to estimate the value of a business, business ownership
interest, security, or intangible asset in accordance with VS section 100,
Valuation of a Business, Business Ownership Interest, Security, or Intangible 
Asset.‡ 

d. solely for submission to taxing authorities,.
• for inclusion in written personal financial plans prepared by the accountant,.
e. •  in conjunction with litigation services that involve pending or potential legal or

regulatory proceedings., or.
• in conjunction with business valuation services.[fn1]

[fn 1] [Footnote omitted for purposes of this proposed SSARS.] 

* All CS sections can be found in AICPA Professional Standards.
† All PFP sections can be found in AICPA Professional Standards.
‡ All VS sections can be found in AICPA Professional Standards.
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.02 The determination about whether the accountant has been engaged to prepare financial 
statements or merely assist in preparing financial statements (which is a bookkeeping service 
that is not subject to this section) is determined based on services the client requests the 
accountant to perform and requires the accountant’s to apply professional judgment. (Ref: 
par. .A4A5) 

[No amendment to paragraphs .03–.A3.] 

Application and Other Explanatory Material 

Scope of This Section (Ref: par. .01–.02) 

… 

.A4  An accountant may voluntarily apply certain requirements of this section in instances in 
which this section would not otherwise apply. For example, if the accountant is not required to 
apply this section, to address the risk that users of the entity’s financial statements may be 
misled by the practitioner’s perceived association with the financial statements, the accountant 
may include the statement required by paragraph .14 of this section that “no assurance is 
provided” on the financial statements. The inclusion of such a statement does not result in the 
accountant being required to perform the engagement in accordance with this section and no 
other requirements would be required to be applied.   

.A5  Consulting services differ fundamentally from the CPA’s function of attesting to the 
assertions of other parties. In a consulting service, the practitioner develops the findings, 
conclusions, and recommendations presented. The nature and scope of work is determined 
solely by agreement between the practitioner and the client. Generally, the work is performed 
only for the use and benefit of the client.fn2

fn2  Paragraph .02 of CS section 100, Consulting Services: Definitions and Standards. 

[No amendments to former paragraphs .A4–.A26, which are renumbered as paragraphs 
.A6−.A28. No further amendment to AR-C section 70.] 
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AR-C Section 70

Preparation of Financial Statements

Source: SSARS No. 21; SSARS No. 23; SSARS No. 25; SSARS No. 26.

Effective for the preparation of financial statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 2015,
unless otherwise indicated.

Introduction

Scope of This Section

.01 This section applies when an accountant in public practice is engaged to prepare financial statements or
prospective financial information. (Ref: par. .A1–.A2).

This section may also be applied, adapted as appropriate in the circumstances, to the preparation of other
historical financial information. (Ref: par. .A3)

This section does not apply when an accountant prepares financial statements or prospective financial
information

and is engaged to perform an audit, review, or compilation of those financial statements,

solely for submission to taxing authorities,

for inclusion in written personal financial plans prepared by the accountant,

in conjunction with litigation services that involve pending or potential legal or regulatory
proceedings, or

in conjunction with business valuation services. 1

[As amended, effective for prospective financial information prepared on or after May 1, 2017, by SSARS
No. 23.]

.02 The determination about whether the accountant has been engaged to prepare financial statements or
merely assist in preparing financial statements (which is a bookkeeping service that is not subject to this
section) is determined based on services the client requests the accountant to perform and requires the
accountant to apply professional judgment. (Ref: par. .A4)

The Preparation Engagement

.03 An engagement to prepare financial statements is a nonattest service and does not require a
determination about whether the accountant is independent of the entity. (Ref: par. .A5)

.04 In addition, an engagement to prepare financial statements does not require the accountant to verify the
accuracy or completeness of the information provided by management or otherwise gather evidence to
express an opinion or a conclusion on the financial statements or otherwise report on the financial
statements.
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.05 This section is effective for the preparation of financial statements for periods ending on or after
December 15, 2015. Early implementation is permitted.

Objective

.06 The objective of the accountant is to prepare financial statements pursuant to a specified financial
reporting framework.

Definitions

.07 For purposes of Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARSs), the following
terms have the meanings attributed as follows:

Management. The person(s) with executive responsibility for the conduct of the entity’s operations. For
some entities, management includes some or all of those charged with governance (for example, executive
members of a governance board or an owner-manager).

Those charged with governance. The person(s) or organization(s) (for example, a corporate trustee) with
responsibility for overseeing the strategic direction of an entity and the obligations related to the
accountability of the entity. This includes overseeing the financial reporting process. Those charged with
governance may include management personnel (for example, executive members of a governance board or
an owner-manager).

[As amended, effective for the preparation of financial statements for periods ending on or after December
15, 2021, by SSARS No. 25.]

Requirements

General Principles for Performing Engagements to Prepare Financial Statements

.08 In addition to complying with this section, an accountant is required to comply with section 60, General
Principles For Engagements Performed in Accordance With Statements on Standards for Accounting and
Review Services.

Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships and Engagements to Prepare Financial Statements

.09 If the accountant is not satisfied with any of the matters set out in paragraph .31 of section 60 as
preconditions for accepting an engagement to prepare financial statements, the accountant should discuss
the matter with management or those charged with governance. If changes cannot be made to satisfy the
accountant about those matters, the accountant should not accept the proposed engagement.

Agreement on Engagement Terms

.10 The accountant should agree upon the terms of the engagement with management or those charged with
governance, as appropriate. The agreed-upon terms of the engagement should be documented in an
engagement letter or other suitable form of written agreement between the parties and should include the
following: (Ref: par. .A7–.A11)

a. The objective of the engagement

b. The responsibilities of management set forth in paragraph .31b of section 60
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c. The agreement of management that each page of the financial statements will include a statement
indicating that no assurance is provided on the financial statements or the accountant will be required
to issue a disclaimer that makes clear that no assurance is provided on the financial statements. (Ref:
par. .A13)

d. The responsibilities of the accountant

e. The limitations of the engagement to prepare financial statements

f. Identification of the applicable financial reporting framework for the preparation of financial
statements

g. Whether the financial statements are to contain a known departure or departures from the applicable
financial reporting framework (including inadequate disclosure) or omit substantially all disclosures
required by the applicable financial reporting framework

[As amended, effective October 2016, by SSARS No. 23.]

.11 The engagement letter or other suitable form of written agreement should be signed by

a. the accountant or the accountant’s firm and

b. management or those charged with governance, as appropriate. (Ref: par. .A10)

The Accountant’s Knowledge and Understanding of the Entity’s Financial Reporting Framework

.12 The accountant should obtain an understanding of the financial reporting framework and the significant
accounting policies intended to be used in the preparation of the financial statements. (Ref: par. .A12)

Preparing the Financial Statements

.13 The accountant should prepare the financial statements using the records, documents, explanations, and
other information provided by management.

.14 The accountant should ensure that a statement is included on each page of the financial statements
indicating, at a minimum, that "no assurance is provided" on the financial statements. If the accountant is
unable to include a statement on each page of the financial statements, the accountant should do one of the
following: (Ref: par. .A13)

a. Issue a disclaimer that makes clear that no assurance is provided on the financial statements. (Ref:
par. .A14)

b. Perform a compilation engagement in accordance with section 80, Compilation Engagements.

c. Withdraw from the engagement and inform management of the reasons for withdrawing. (Ref: par.
.A15–.A16)

[As amended, effective October 2016, by SSARS No. 23. As amended, effective for the preparation of
financial statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 2021, by SSARS No. 25.]

.15 When preparing financial statements in accordance with a special purpose framework, the accountant
should include a description of the financial reporting framework on the face of the financial statements or
in a note to the financial statements. (Ref: par. .A17)
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.16 If, during the preparation of financial statements, the accountant assists management with significant
judgments regarding amounts or disclosures to be reflected in the financial statements, the accountant
should discuss those judgments with management so management understands the significant judgments
reflected in financial statements and accepts responsibility for those judgments. (Ref: par. .A18 and .A24)

.17 If the accountant becomes aware that the records, documents, explanations, or other information,
including significant judgments, used in the preparation of the financial statements are incomplete,
inaccurate, or otherwise unsatisfactory, the accountant should bring that to the attention of management and
request additional or corrected information. If management fails to provide such additional or corrected
information, the accountant should disclose a material misstatement or misstatements in the financial
statements in accordance with paragraph .18 or withdraw from the engagement and inform management of
the reasons for withdrawing. (Ref: par. .A15–.A16) [As amended, effective for the preparation of financial
statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 2021, by SSARS No. 25.]

.18 When, after discussions with management, the accountant prepares financial statements that contain a
known departure or departures from the applicable financial reporting framework (including inadequate
disclosure), the accountant should disclose the material misstatement or misstatements in the financial
statements. (Ref: par. .A19)

Preparing Prospective Financial Information

.19 The summary of significant assumptions is essential to the user’s understanding of prospective financial
information. Accordingly, the accountant should not prepare prospective financial information that excludes
disclosure of the summary of significant assumptions. Also, the accountant should not prepare a financial
projection that excludes either (a) an identification of the hypothetical assumptions or (b) a description of
the limitations on the usefulness of the presentation. [Paragraph added, effective for prospective financial
information prepared on or after May 1, 2017, by SSARS No. 23.]

Financial Statements That Omit Substantially All the Disclosures Required by the Applicable Financial Reporting
Framework

.20 When, after discussions with management, the accountant prepares financial statements that omit
substantially all disclosures required by the applicable financial reporting framework, the accountant should
disclose such omission either in the financial statements or in an accompanying disclaimer. (Ref: par. .A20)
[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. As amended, effective for the
preparation of financial statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 2021, by SSARS No. 25.]

.21 The accountant should not prepare financial statements that omit substantially all disclosures required
by the financial reporting framework if, in the accountant’s professional judgment, such financial statements
would be misleading to users of the financial statements. (Ref: par. .A21–.A23) [Paragraph renumbered by
the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. As amended, effective for the preparation of financial
statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 2021, by SSARS No. 25.]

Documentation in a Preparation Engagement

.22 The accountant should prepare documentation in connection with each preparation engagement in
sufficient detail to provide a clear understanding of the work performed which, at a minimum, includes the
following: (Ref: par. .A24)

a. The engagement letter or other suitable form of written documentation with management, as
described in paragraphs .10–.11

b. A copy of the financial statements that the accountant prepared 155



[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.23 If, in rare circumstances, the accountant judges it necessary to depart from a relevant presumptively
mandatory requirement, the accountant must document the justification for the departure and how the
alternative procedures performed in the circumstances were sufficient to achieve the intent of that
requirement. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Application and Other Explanatory Material

Scope of This Section (Ref: par. .01–.02)

.A1 If the accountant is engaged to prepare prospective financial information, references in this section to
financial statements are to be taken as a reference to prospective financial information. [Paragraph added,
effective for prospective financial information prepared on or after May 1, 2017, by SSARS No. 23.]

.A2 AICPA Guide Prospective Financial Information (the guide) provides comprehensive guidance
regarding prospective financial information. Chapter 6, “Preparation Guidelines;” chapter 7, “Reasonably
Objective Basis;” chapter 8, “Presentation Guidelines;” and chapter 9, “Illustrative Prospective Financial
Statements,” of the guide establish the preparation and presentation guidelines for financial forecasts and
financial projections. The guide also includes information about the types and uses of prospective financial
information. The guide provides suitable criteria for the preparation and presentation of prospective
financial information. The accountant is not prohibited from preparing prospective financial information
prepared and presented in accordance with other suitable criteria. [Paragraph added, effective for
prospective financial information prepared on or after May 1, 2017, by SSARS No. 23.]

.A3 Other historical financial information to which this section may be applied includes the following:

Specified elements, accounts, or items of a financial statement, such as schedules of rentals, royalties,
profit participation, or provision for income taxes

Supplementary information

Required supplementary information

Pro forma financial information

[Paragraph renumbered and amended, effective October 2016, by SSARS No. 23.]

.A4 The appendix, "Preparation of Financial Statements Versus Assistance in Preparing Financial
Statements," provides examples of services that the accountant may be engaged to perform and whether this
section would apply. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

The Preparation Engagement (Ref: par. .03)

.A5 The "Nonattest Services" subtopic of the "Independence Rule" (ET sec. 1.295) addresses the
accountant’s considerations with respect to independence when performing nonattest services for attest
clients. For example, the accountant may prepare monthly or other interim financial statements and be
engaged to perform an audit, review, or compilation engagement with respect to the annual financial
statements. The accountant needs to be aware that the performance of the preparation services may impair
independence unless the safeguards described in this subtopic are met. [Paragraph renumbered by the
issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Definitions (Ref: par. .07) 156



[.A6] [Paragraph deleted by the issuance of SSARS No. 25, February 2020.]

Agreement on Engagement Terms (Ref: par. .10–.11)

.A7 Both management and the accountant have an interest in documenting the agreed-upon terms of the
engagement to prepare financial statements before the commencement of the engagement to help avoid
misunderstandings with respect to the engagement. For example, it reduces the risk that management may
inappropriately rely on or may expect the accountant to protect management against certain risks or to
perform certain functions, including those that are management's responsibility. [Paragraph renumbered by
the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A8 When a third party has contracted for an engagement to prepare the entity’s financial statements,
agreeing the terms of the engagement with management of the entity is necessary in order to establish that
the preconditions for an engagement to prepare financial statements are present. [Paragraph renumbered by
the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A9 The understanding with management regarding the services to be performed for engagements to prepare
financial statements is required by paragraph .10 to be in a documented form, and, accordingly, an oral
understanding is insufficient. An engagement letter is the most common, and usually the most convenient,
method for documenting the understanding with management regarding the services to be performed for
engagements to prepare financial statements. [Paragraph renumbered and amended, effective October 2016,
by SSARS No. 23.]

.A10 The roles of management and those charged with governance in agreeing upon the terms of the
engagement to prepare financial statements for the entity depend on the governance structure of the entity
and relevant law or regulation. Depending on the entity’s structure, the agreement may be with
management, those charged with governance, or both. Nonetheless, when the agreement on the terms of
engagement is only with those charged with governance in accordance with paragraph .31b of section 60,
the accountant is required to obtain management’s agreement that it acknowledges and understands its
responsibilities. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A11 An illustrative example of an engagement letter for an engagement to prepare financial statements is
presented in the exhibit, "Illustrative Engagement Letter." [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of
SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

The Accountant’s Knowledge and Understanding of the Entity’s Financial Reporting Framework (Ref: par. .12)

.A12 The requirement that the accountant obtain an understanding of the financial reporting framework
adopted by management intended to be used in the preparation of the financial statements and the
significant accounting policies adopted by management does not prevent the accountant from accepting an
engagement to prepare financial statements for an entity in an industry in which the accountant has no
previous experience. The accountant may obtain such understanding, for example, by consulting AICPA
guides, industry publications, financial statements of other entities in the industry, textbooks and
periodicals, appropriate continuing professional education, or individuals who are knowledgeable about the
industry. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

Preparing the Financial Statements (Ref: par. .10, .14–.16, and .18)

.A13 The statement on each page of the financial statements, including related notes, is intended to avoid
misunderstanding on the part of users with respect to the accountant’s involvement with the financial
statements. The statement is made at management’s discretion, and the accountant’s firm name is not
required to be included. The accountant is concerned that the indication is not misleading. Examples of a
statement on each page of the financial statements include the following: 157



No assurance is provided on these financial statements.

These financial statements have not been subjected to an audit or review or compilation engagement,
and no assurance is provided on them.

Other statements that convey that no assurance is provided on the financial statements would also be
acceptable. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

.A14 An example of a disclaimer that the accountant may issue is as follows:

The accompanying financial statements of XYZ Company as of and for the year ended December 31,
20XX, were not subjected to an audit, review, or compilation engagement by us and we do not express an
opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any assurance on them.

[Signature of the accountant’s firm]

[City and state where the accountant practices]

[Date]

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Revised, October 2016, to reflect
conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of SSARS No. 23. As amended, effective for the
preparation of financial statements for periods beginning on or after December 15, 2025, by SSARS No.
26.]

.A15 In circumstances addressed by the requirements of this section in which withdrawal from the
engagement is necessary, the responsibility to inform management of the reasons for withdrawing provides
an opportunity to explain the accountant's ethical obligations. [Paragraph added, effective for the
preparation of financial statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 2021, by SSARS No. 25.]

.A16 When making a determination about whether and how to withdraw from an engagement, the
accountant may wish to consult with legal counsel. [Paragraph added, effective for the preparation of
financial statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 2021, by SSARS No. 25.]

.A17 A description of the special purpose framework is usually placed next to or under the title of the
financial statements (for example "statement of assets and liabilities—modified cash basis"). However, the
description may be placed elsewhere in the financial statements. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of
SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Paragraph subsequently renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 25,
February 2020.]

.A18 In the preparation of financial statements, the accountant may provide assistance to management with
significant judgments (for example, the accountant may advise management on alternative accounting
policies that are significant to the financial statements or help management with significant judgments
regarding material accounting estimates). [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23,
October 2016. Paragraph subsequently renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 25, February 2020.]

.A19 The disclosure of the material misstatement or misstatements may be made on the face of the financial
statements or in a note to the financial statements. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No.
23, October 2016. Paragraph subsequently renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 25, February 2020.]

Financial Statements That Omit Substantially All the Disclosures Required by the Applicable Financial Reporting
Framework (Ref: par. .20–.21)

.A20 The disclosure of the omission of substantially all disclosures required by the applicable financial
reporting framework may be made on the face of the financial statements or in a selected note to the158



financial statements. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Paragraph
subsequently renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 25, February 2020.]

.A21 The accountant may prepare financial statements that include disclosures about only a few matters in
the notes to the financial statements. Such disclosures may be labeled "Selected Information—Substantially
All Disclosures Required by [the applicable financial reporting framework] Are Not Included." [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Paragraph subsequently renumbered by the
issuance of SSARS No. 25, February 2020.]

.A22 Financial statements may be misleading, for example, if the applicable financial reporting framework
includes the premise that the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis and undisclosed
uncertainties exist regarding the entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If the accountant becomes
aware that uncertainties exist regarding the entity's ability to continue as a going concern, the accountant
may suggest additional disclosures concerning the entity's ability to continue as a going concern in order to
avoid the financial statements being misleading. [Paragraph added, effective for the preparation of financial
statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 2021, by SSARS No. 25.]

.A23 Disclosure of items, such as an uncertainty, is not required in financial statements in which
substantially all the disclosures required by the applicable financial reporting framework are omitted.
[Paragraph added, effective for the preparation of financial statements for periods ending on or after
December 15, 2021, by SSARS No. 25.]

Documentation in a Preparation Engagement (Ref: par. .16 and .22)

.A24 Documentation may include documentation regarding significant consultations or significant
professional judgments made throughout the engagement. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of
SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Paragraph subsequently renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 25,
February 2020.]

Appendix — Preparation of Financial Statements Versus Assistance in Preparing Financial Statements
(Ref: par. .A4)

.A25

The determination about whether the accountant has been engaged to prepare financial statements or merely
assist in preparing financial statements (which is a bookkeeping service that is not subject to this section) is
determined based on the services the client requests the accountant to perform and requires the accountant to
apply professional judgment. The following table provides examples of services that the accountant may be
engaged to perform and whether section 70 would apply. The table is not intended to be all inclusive, and
professional judgment would still need to be applied.

Examples of Services for Which This Section
Applies

Examples of Accountant Services for Which This
Section Does Not Apply

Preparation of financial statements prior to audit or
review by another accountant

Preparation of financial statements when the
accountant is engaged to perform an audit, review, or
compilation of such financial statements

Preparation of financial statements for an entity to be
presented alongside the entity’s tax return

Preparation of financial statements with a tax return
solely for submission to taxing authorities

Preparation of personal financial statements for
presentation alongside a financial plan

Personal financial statements that are prepared for
inclusion in written personal financial plans prepared
by the accountant
Financial statements prepared in conjunction with
litigation services that involve pending or potential
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Examples of Services for Which This Section
Applies

Examples of Accountant Services for Which This
Section Does Not Apply

legal or regulatory proceedings
Financial statements prepared in conjunction with
business valuation services
Maintaining depreciation schedules
Preparing or proposing certain adjustments, such as
those applicable to deferred income taxes,
depreciation, or leases

Preparation of single financial statements, such as a
balance sheet or income statement or financial
statements with substantially all disclosures omitted

Drafting financial statement notes

Using the information in a general ledger to prepare
financial statements outside of an accounting software
system

Entering general ledger transactions or processing
payments (general bookkeeping) in an accounting
software system

[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Paragraph subsequently
renumbered by the issuance of SSARS No. 25, February 2020.]

Exhibit — Illustrative Engagement Letter (Ref: par. .A11)

.A26

The following is an example of an engagement letter for an engagement to prepare financial statements
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. This
engagement letter is intended as guidance that may be used in conjunction with the considerations outlined in
Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services. The engagement letter will vary according to
individual requirements and circumstances and is drafted to refer to the preparation of financial statements for
a single reporting period. The accountant may seek legal advice about whether a proposed engagement letter
is suitable.

To the appropriate representative of ABC Company: 1

You 2 have requested that we prepare the financial statements of ABC Company, which comprise the balance
sheet as of December 31, 20XX, and the related statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity, and
cash flows for the year then ended and the related notes to the financial statements. 3 4 We are pleased to
confirm our acceptance and our understanding of this engagement to prepare the financial statements of ABC
Company by means of this letter.

Our Responsibilities

The objective of our engagement is to prepare financial statements in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America based on information provided by you. We will conduct
our engagement in accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARSs)
promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA and comply with the AICPA’s
Code of Professional Conduct, including the ethical principles of integrity, objectivity, professional
competence, and due care.

We are not required to, and will not, verify the accuracy or completeness of the information you will provide
to us for the engagement or otherwise gather evidence for the purpose of expressing an opinion or a
conclusion. Accordingly, we will not express an opinion or a conclusion or provide any assurance on the
financial statements. 160



Our engagement cannot be relied upon to identify or disclose any financial statement misstatements,
including those caused by fraud or error, or to identify or disclose any wrongdoing within the entity or
noncompliance with laws and regulations.

Management Responsibilities

The engagement to be performed is conducted on the basis that management acknowledges and understands
that our role is to prepare financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America. Management has the following overall responsibilities that are fundamental to
our undertaking the engagement to prepare your financial statements in accordance with SSARSs:

a. The selection of accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America as the
financial reporting framework to be applied in the preparation of the financial statements

b. The design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error

c. The prevention and detection of fraud

d. To ensure that the entity complies with the laws and regulations applicable to its activities

e. The accuracy and completeness of the records, documents, explanations, and other information,
including significant judgments, you provide to us for the engagement to prepare financial statements

f. To provide us with:

i. Documentation, and other related information that is relevant to the preparation and presentation
of the financial statements,

ii. Additional information that may be requested for the purpose of the preparation of the financial
statements, and

iii. Unrestricted access to persons within ABC Company of whom we determine necessary to
communicate.

The financial statements will not be accompanied by a report. However, you agree that the financial
statements will clearly indicate that no assurance is provided on them.

[If the accountant expects to issue a disclaimer, instead of the preceding paragraph, the following may be
added:

As part of our engagement, we will issue a disclaimer that will state that the financial statements were not
subjected to an audit, review, or compilation engagement by us and, accordingly, we do not express an
opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any assurance on them.]

Other Relevant Information

Our fees for these services . . . .

[The accountant may include language, such as the following, regarding limitation of, or other arrangements
regarding, the liability of the accountant or the entity, such as indemnification to the accountant for liability
arising from knowing misrepresentations to the accountant by management (regulators may restrict or
prohibit such liability limitation arrangements):
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You agree to hold us harmless and to release, indemnify, and defend us from any liability or costs, including
attorney’s fees, resulting from management’s knowing misrepresentations to us or resulting from any actions
against us by third parties relying on the financial statements described herein except for our own intentional
wrongdoing.]

Please sign and return the attached copy of this letter to indicate your acknowledgement of, and agreement
with, the arrangements for our engagement to prepare the financial statements described herein, and our
respective responsibilities.

Sincerely yours,

[Signature of accountant or accountant’s firm]

Acknowledged and agreed on behalf of ABC Company by:

[Signed]

[Name and Title]

[Date]

[Revised, February 2015, to include additional required engagement letter elements. Paragraph renumbered
by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016. Paragraph subsequently renumbered by the issuance of
SSARS No. 25, February 2020.]

Footnotes (AR-C Sec. 70 — Preparation of Financial Statements):

1 [Footnote deleted by the issuance of SSARS No. 23, October 2016.]

1 The addresses and references in the engagement letter would be those that are appropriate in the
circumstances of the engagement to prepare financial statements, including the relevant jurisdiction. It is
important to refer to the appropriate persons. See paragraph .A10.

2 Throughout this engagement letter, references to you, we, us, management, and accountant would be used or
amended as appropriate in the circumstances.

3 If the accountant is to be engaged to prepare financial statements that omit the statement of cash flows and
the related notes, the sentence may be revised to read, "You have requested that we prepare the financial
statements of ABC Company, which comprise the balance sheet as of December 31, 20XX, and the related
statements of income and changes in stockholders’ equity." The following additional sentence may then be
added: "These financial statements will not include a statement of cash flows and related notes to the financial
statements."

4 The accountant may include other nonattest services to be performed as part of the engagement, such as
income tax preparation and bookkeeping services.
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1   Professional Ethics Division: Nonattest services toolkit

The provision of nonattest services to attest clients 
gives rise to threats to independence. The interpretations 
of the “Nonattest Services” subtopic (ET sec. 1.295)1 
of the “Independence Rule” (ET sec. 1.200.001) 
provide guidance on when nonattest services could 
or would impair independence. This nonauthoritative 
tool is designed to assist members in understanding 
the independence requirements related to providing 
nonattest services and with evaluating threats to 
independence when providing these services.

This toolkit does not provide authoritative guidance 
and should be used in conjunction with the applicable 
interpretations of the “Nonattest Services” subtopic. 
Specifically, this toolkit includes the following:

• �Overview of independence considerations when
providing nonattest services to an attest client

• �Flowchart that illustrates the steps to evaluating
independence when providing certain nonattest services

• �A checklist to aid members with evaluating whether
independence would be impaired under the
interpretations of the “Nonattest Services” subtopic
of the “Independence Rule”

The first instance of terms defined by the AICPA Code of 
Professional Conduct (code) are linked to the definition in 
the code.

Introduction

1 ET sections referenced throughout this toolkit can be found in AICPA Professional Standards.

The answers to frequently asked questions (FAQs) related to
independence when providing nonattest services are available  
in Q&A sections 200–280. The FAQs are not rules or interpretations 
of the Professional Ethics Executive Committee and, therefore, are  
not authoritative guidance.
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Nonattest services are services provided to a client 
that are not specifically related to the performance 
of an attest engagement. For example, nonattest 
services include activities such as financial statement 
preparation, cash to accrual conversions, reconciliations, 
and tax return preparation. If you perform nonattest 
services for an attest client, the “Independence Rule” and 
related interpretations (rules) impose limits on the nature 
and scope of the services you may provide. In other 
words, the extent to which you perform certain activities 
may be limited by the rules or you may be required to 
apply safeguards to not impair your independence when 
providing certain nonattest services.

Conceptual framework 
for independence 
If the nonattest service is not specifically addressed in 
the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct (code), you 
should first evaluate the service using the “Conceptual 
Framework for Independence” (ET sec. 1.210.010) 
(framework) to determine whether the service would 
impair independence even if the general requirements 
(which are discussed next) can be applied.

The framework cannot be used to overcome a 
prohibition or other requirement of the code. The 
framework incorporates a “threats and safeguards” 
approach, which is designed to assist members in 
analyzing relationships and circumstances that the code 
does not specifically address and in determining whether 
such relationships or circumstances may result in the 
violation of the rules.

For those unfamiliar with how to implement and use the 
framework, we developed the Conceptual Framework 
Toolkit for Independence. The toolkit includes, among 
other things, a worksheet to aid with applying the steps 
of the conceptual framework that could also be used 
to satisfy the documentation requirement found in 
paragraph .09 in the framework.

General requirements
The “General Requirements for Performing Nonattest 
Services” interpretation (ET sec. 1.295.040) explains  
the required safeguards to be applied whenever 
members provide nonattest services to their attest 
clients. The general requirements are broken down  
into three main components. 

The first general requirement explains that the attest 
client must agree to assume certain responsibilities 
related to the nonattest services engagement in order 
for independence to be maintained. Therefore, prior 
to agreeing to perform any nonattest services for the 
attest client, the member must obtain the attest client’s 
agreement that the attest client will do the following:

a. �Assume responsibilities as described in the
”Management Responsibilities” interpretation (ET
sec. 1.295.030) under the “Independence Rule.”

Nonattest services

Examples of activities 
that would be considered 
management responsibilities 
can be found in ET section 
1.295.030.
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b. �Oversee the service by designating an individual,
preferably within senior management, who possesses
suitable skill, knowledge and experience. The member
should assess and be satisfied that such individual
understands the services to be performed sufficiently
to oversee them but is not required to possess the
expertise to perform or re-perform the services.

c. �Evaluate the adequacy and results of the
services performed.

d. Accept responsibility for the results ofthe services.

The second general requirement explains that one of the 
key principles underlying the AICPA rules on nonattest 
services is that you may not assume management 
responsibilities or even appear to assume management 
responsibilities. Management responsibilities involve 
leading and directing an entity, including making 
significant decisions regarding the acquisition, 
deployment, and control of human, financial, physical 
and intangible resources.

The third component is a requirement that  
members establish and document in writing their 
understanding with the attest client. The following 
needs to be documented:

• The objectives of the engagement

• The services to be performed

• The attest client’s acceptance of its responsibilities

• The member’s responsibilities

• Any limitation of the engagement

Nonattest services that impair 
independence 
The interpretations under the “Nonattest Services” 
subtopic include examples of nonattest services that 
impair independence even if the general requirements 
are met. For example, independence would be impaired 
if you were to perform an appraisal, a valuation, or an 
actuarial service for an attest client when (a) the services 
involve a significant degree of subjectivity and (b) the 
results of the service, individually or when combined 
with other valuation, appraisal, or actuarial services, are 
material to the attest client’s financial statements (ET 
sec. 1.295.110) or if you were to provide expert witness 
services (ET sec. 1.295.140). As such, it is important to 
consult the “Nonattest Services” subtopic to ensure you 
are fully informed of all the various nonattest services 
that if performed would impair your independence.

More information related to 
some nonattest services 
addressed by the AICPA code 
may be found in the Plain 
English Guide to Independence.

Consider the scope and scale, 
frequency, and duration of 
services to determine if the 
services have become part 
of the client’s internal control 
and you have assumed a 
management responsibility.
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Cumulative effect
At times, the general requirements may not by 
themselves reduce threats to an acceptable level. 
One such circumstance is when the attest client asks 
you to perform multiple nonattest services. Although 
individually the nonattest services may not impair 
independence, you should evaluate the threats in the 
aggregate to ensure that the safeguards provided for 
in the “General Requirements for Performing Nonattest 
Services” interpretation continue to adequately reduce 
threats to an acceptable level. If the general requirements 
safeguards do not reduce threats to an acceptable level, 
you should determine whether additional safeguards 
can be applied to reduce threats to an acceptable level 
or whether threats are so significant that you should not 
perform the additional nonattest service.

Changes to engagement
Another issue that you may need to address is a 
change to your engagement that could require you 
to re-evaluate your independence. Changes in scope 
(scope creep), changes in client personnel, or changes 
to threats to independence are just some examples of 
events that could cause you to consider re-evaluating 
your independence. You should be alert to changes 
and re-evaluate your independence when appropriate 
throughout the period of the professional engagement.
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Periods requiring independence
These nonattest services rules apply during the period 
of the professional engagement and during the period 
covered by the financial statements (to which the attest 
services relate).

A limited exception, however, exists in paragraph .03 
of the “Scope and Applicability of Nonattest Services” 
interpretation (ET sec. 1.295.010). This exception 
explains that if you provide the entity with nonattest 
services that impair independence prior to the entity 
becoming an attest client, independence will not be 
considered impaired if the nonattest services related 
to periods prior to the period covered by the financial 
statements you are engaged to audit and those prior 
period financial statements were audited by another  
firm (or in the case of a review engagement, reviewed  
or audited by another firm).

Affiliate considerations
Although you are required by the “Client Affiliates” 
interpretation (ET sec. 1.224.010) to apply the 
“Independence Rule” and interpretations to affiliates  
of your financial statement attest clients, there is some 
relief when it comes to nonattest services.

The first exception is that you may provide nonattest 
services that impair independence to certain affiliates 
if it is reasonable to conclude that the services do 
not create a self-review threat with respect to the 
financial statement attest client because the results of 
the nonattest services will not be subject to financial 
statement attest procedures.

The second exception relates to an acquisition 
or business combination that involves a financial 
statement attest client. Specifically, you could provide 
prohibited nonattest services to the acquirer of your 
financial statement attest client without impairing your 
independence provided (1) a financial statement attest 
client is acquired during the period of the professional 
engagement by either a non-client or a nonattest client 
(acquirer), (2) the attest engagement covers only periods 
prior to the acquisition, and (3) you or your firm will not 
continue to provide financial statement attest services to 
the acquirer.

Exceptions
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Step 1
Is the nonattest service addressed by ET sec. 1.295?

Step 3
Will the general requirement safeguards and any additional safeguards 
needed to reduce threats to an acceptable level be applied and 
documented? This should include consideration of the cumulative effect 
of providing multiple nonattest services.

Step 2
Does the nonattest service impair independence?

Step 4
The nonattest service may be provided without impairing independence.

Yes

No

Yes

Note 
A

Notes 
B & C

Note 
C

No

Yes

No

Note 
B

Note 
B

Note 
A

6   Professional Ethics Division: Nonattest services toolkit

The following flowchart illustrates the steps in deciding 
whether a nonattest service that is addressed in the code 
will impair your independence. This flowchart does not 
consider the possible need to re-evaluate the threats due 
to changes to the engagement such as chances to the 
scope, changes in client personnel or changes to threats 

Note A: If the nonattest service is not specifically addressed 
in the code, you should first evaluate the service using 
the “Conceptual Framework for Independence” (ET 
sec. 1.210.010). The Conceptual Framework Toolkit for 
Independence is available to assist you with this analysis.  
If after conducting your evaluation, you determine 
safeguards can be applied to eliminate or reduce threats  
to an acceptable level, then proceed to step 3.

Note B: This flowchart does not outline the various 
exceptions that could be considered at this point. If the 
affiliate exception outlined in paragraph .02b of the “Client 
Affiliate” interpretation (ET sec. 1.224.010) is applicable, 
then proceed to step 3. If the period of the professional 
engagement exception outlined in paragraph .03 of the 

to independence. The flowchart also does not incorporate 
steps to evaluate threats in the aggregate when you are 
providing multiple nonattest services (that is, cumulative 
effect) or situations in which the nonattest service is not 
specifically addressed in the code.

“Scope and Applicability of Nonattest Services” interpretation 
(ET sec. 1.295.010) is applicable, or if the acquisition or 
business combination exception outlined in paragraphs 
.05–.10 of the “Client Affiliate” interpretation is applicable, 
then proceed to step 4.

Note C: Independence will be impaired if the nonattest 
service was provided. In lieu of declining the nonattest 
service engagement, you may want to consider whether the 
scope of nonattest service engagement could be changed 
so that threats would be at an acceptable level, whether 
the application of additional safeguards would eliminate or 
reduce threats to an acceptable level, or whether you would 
prefer to resign from the attest engagement.

Independence evaluation 
and monitoring flowchart
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Nonattest services checklist

1. �What types of nonattest services will be performed for this attest client or for an affiliate
of the financial statement attest client? (Check all that apply.)

   Financial statement preparation (1.295.010.06)

   Cash to accrual conversions (1.295.010.06)

   Reconciliations (1.295.010.06)

   Advisory services (1.295.105)

   �Appraisal, valuation, and actuarial services (1.295.110)

   Assisting attest clients with implementing accounting standards (1.295.113)

   Benefit plan administration (1.295.115)

   �Bookkeeping, payroll, and other disbursements (1.295.120)

   Business risk consulting (1.295.125)

   Corporate finance consulting (1.295.130)

   Executive or employee recruiting (1.295.135)

   Forensic accounting (1.295.140)

   Hosting services (1.295.143)

   �Information systems services (1.295.145)

   Internal audit (1.295.150)

   Investment advisory or management (1.295.155)

   Tax services (1.295.160)

   Other:
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Nonattest services checklist (continued)

2. �Will any of the nonattest service(s) involve leading or directing the entity, including making significant decisions
regarding the acquisition, deployment, and control of human, financial, physical, and intangible resources as
described in the “Management Responsibilities” interpretation (ET sec. 1.295.030)?   Yes    No

Examples of such services include the following (check all that apply):

   Setting policy or strategic direction for the client

   �Directing or accepting responsibility for actions of the client’s employees except to the extent permitted when
using internal auditors to help with services performed under auditing or attestation standards

   �Authorizing, executing, or consummating transactions or otherwise exercising authority on behalf of a client or
having the authority to do so

   Preparing source documents, in electronic or other form, that evidence the occurrence of a transaction

   Having custody of a client’s assets

   Deciding which recommendations of the member or other third parties to implement or prioritize

   Reporting to those charged with governance on behalf of management

   Serving as a client’s stock transfer or escrow agent, registrar, general counsel or equivalent

   Accepting responsibility for the management of a client’s project

   �Accepting responsibility for the preparation and fair presentation of the client’s financial statements in
accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework

   Accepting responsibility for designing, implementing, or maintaining internal control

   Performing ongoing evaluations of the client’s internal control as part of its monitoring activities

   Other:

3. �If the proposed nonattest service is not specifically addressed in the code, was the “Conceptual Framework for
Independence” (ET sec. 1.210.010) applied to evaluate whether the service would impair independence?

   �Yes, I evaluated the service using the “Conceptual Framework for Independence” and my working paper
reference is

   This question is not applicable because the nonattest service is addressed in the code.

4. �Will any of the nonattest service(s) impair independence under any of the interpretations discussed in questions 1
through 3?

   �Yes, independence will be impaired.

   �No, independence will not be impaired.
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5. ��If you answered “Yes” to question 4, will any of the nonattest service(s) that impair independence meet
the exceptions provided for in either paragraph .02b or .06–.10 of the “Client Affiliates” interpretation
(ET sec. 1.224.010) or in paragraph .03 of the “Scope and Applicability of Nonattest Services” interpretation
(ET sec. 1.295.010)?

   �Yes, the service will meet the exception under paragraph .02b of the “Client Affiliate” interpretation.

   �Yes, the service will meet the exceptions under paragraph .06–.10 of the “Client Affiliate” interpretation.

   �Yes, the service will meet the exception under paragraph .03 of the “Scope and Applicability of Nonattest
Services” interpretation.

   �No, the service will not meet any of these exceptions.

If you answered “Yes,” proceed to question 6. If you answered “No,” independence is impaired and you can stop here.

6. �Regarding the nonattest service(s) identified in question 1, has the attest client agreed to do the following before
performing the nonattest service?

Agreement Established before performing	 If applicable, working
the nonattest service 	 paper reference

Assume all management responsibilities?   Yes          No

�Oversee the service by designating an  
individual who possesses suitable skill, 
knowledge, and/or experience (SKE)? 	   Yes          No

�Evaluate the adequacy and results 
of the services performed? 	   Yes          No

�Accept responsibility for the results 
of the services? 	   Yes          No

If you answered “No,” independence is impaired and you can stop here.

7. �For each nonattest service type identified in question 1, identify the following (attach additional sheets,
if necessary):

Specific nonattest	 Individual in firm	 Individual at client
service	 responsible	 overseeing

Nonattest services checklist (continued)
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Describe SKE of client personnel identified

8. �Were the following established and documented before performing each of the nonattest service(s)?

Understanding	 Established and	 Working paper
documented prior	 reference

Objectives of the engagement? 	   Yes          No

�Services to be performed? 	   Yes          No

�Client’s acceptance of their responsibilities?   Yes          No

�Firm responsibilities? 	   Yes          No

Any limitations of the engagement?	   Yes          No

If you answered “No,” because you did not establish the understanding before performing the nonattest service, you 
can stop here because independence is impaired. If you answered “No,” because you failed to document the  
established understanding, you should do so now or risk being in violation of the “Compliance With Standards Rule“ 
(ET sec. 1.310.001).

9. �Were there any changes in the nonattest engagement that resulted in you reconsidering whether independence
was affected?

   �Yes, there was a change, but it did not affect independence.

   Yes, there was a change that affected independence, and I updated the checklist to reflect this change.

   No, there were no changes in the nonattest engagement.

The “Cumulative Effect on Independence When Providing Multiple Nonattest Services” interpretation (ET sec. 1.295.020) 
requires that before agreeing to perform nonattest services, the member should evaluate whether the performance 
of multiple nonattest services by the member or member’s firm in the aggregate creates a significant threat to the 
member’s independence that cannot be reduced to an acceptable level by the application of the safeguards in the 
“General Requirements for Performing Nonattest Services” interpretation (ET sec. 1.295.040). Accordingly, if multiple 
nonattest services were provided, answer questions 10–12.

Nonattest services checklist (continued)
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10. �When the performance of additional nonattest services in the aggregate creates significant threats, describe the
considerations evaluated that resulted in this conclusion as well as the safeguards applied to reduce the threats
to an acceptable level.

11. �Did your evaluation in question 10 result in your concluding that the safeguards provided by the “General
Requirements for Performing Nonattest Services” interpretation (ET sec. 1.295.040) did not reduce threats
to an acceptable level?    Yes          No

12. �If you concluded that additional safeguards were necessary (answered “Yes” to question 11), describe the
additional safeguards applied to eliminate threats or reduce threats to an acceptable level.

Please download this file to your device before saving.

Nonattest services checklist (continued)
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a. The attest client or its management or directors have filed cross-claims to protect
a right to legal redress in the event of a future adverse decision in the primary
litigation (or, in lieu of cross-claims, agreements to extend the statute of limitations),
and there is a significant risk that the cross-claim will result in a settlement or
judgment in an amount that is material to the covered member’s firm or the attest
client.

b. The attest client’s underwriter and the attest client or its present management assert
cross-claims against the covered member.

.11 If only the underwriter or officers or directors of the covered member’s other attest clients 
file cross-claims against the covered member, threats to the covered member’s compliance 
with the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] would be at an acceptable level unless other 
circumstances create threats to compliance with the “Independence Rule.”

Other Third-Party Litigation

.12 A lending institution or other creditor, security holder, or insurance company that alleges 
reliance on the attest client’s financial statements as a basis for having extended credit 
or insurance coverage to an attest client may commence third-party litigation against the 
covered member to recover their loss. An example is an insurance company commencing 
litigation either as a result of receiving an assignment of a claim or under subrogation 
rights against the covered member in the attest client’s name to recover losses that the 
insurer reimbursed to the attest client. If the attest client is only the nominal plaintiff, 
threats to the covered member’s compliance with the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] would 
be at an acceptable level unless other circumstances exist, such as when the covered member 
alleges, as a defense, that present management engaged in fraud or deceit. The attest client 
is a nominal plaintiff when the insurance company or lender sues in the name of the attest 
client as a result of obtaining subrogation rights or an assignment from the attest client and 
the attest client does not have a beneficial interest in the claim.

.13 If the real party in interest in the litigation (for example, the insurance company) is 
also the covered member’s attest client (the plaintiff client), threats to the covered member’s 
compliance with the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] may exist if the litigation carries a 
significant risk of a settlement or judgment in an amount that would be material to the 
covered member’s firm or the plaintiff client.

Termination of Impairment

.14 Threats to the covered member’s compliance with the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] 
would be eliminated or reduced to an acceptable level when the parties reach a final 
resolution of the matter(s) at issue and the matter(s) no longer affects the relationship 
between the covered member and the attest client, as described in paragraph .01 of this 
interpretation. The covered member should determine whether the conditions of such 
resolution have effectively eliminated such threats or reduced them to an acceptable level. 
[Prior reference: paragraph .08 of ET section 101]

[See Revision History Table.]
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.01 When a member performs nonattest services for an attest client, self-review, 
management participation, or advocacy threats to the member’s compliance with the 
“Independence Rule” [1.200.001] may exist. When significant independence threats exist 
during the period of the professional engagement or the period covered by the financial 
statements (except as provided for in paragraph .03), independence will be impaired unless 
the threats are reduced to an acceptable level and any requirements included in the 
interpretations of the “Nonattest Services” subtopic [1.295] under the “Independence Rule” 
have been met.

.02 For purposes of the interpretations of the “Nonattest Services” subtopic [1.295] under the 
“Independence Rule” [1.200.001], the term member includes the member’s firm.

.03 Period of engagement. A member’s independence would not be impaired if the member 
performed nonattest services that would have otherwise impaired independence during the 
period covered by the financial statements if all of the following conditions exist:

a. The nonattest services were provided prior to period of the professional engagement.

b. The nonattest services related to periods prior to the period covered by the financial
statements.

c. The financial statements for the period to which the nonattest services relate were
audited by another firm (or in the case of a review engagement, reviewed or audited
by another firm).

.04 Activities related to attest services. Performing attest services often involves 
communications between the member and client management regarding

a. the client’s selection and application of accounting standards or policies and financial
statement disclosure requirements;

b. the appropriateness of the client’s methods used in determining accounting and
financial reporting;

c. adjusting journal entries that the member has prepared or proposed for client
management consideration; and

d. the form or content of the financial statements.

These communications are considered a normal part of the attest engagement and are 
not considered nonattest services subject to the “General Requirements for Performing 
Nonattest Services” [1.295.040] and “Documentation Requirements When Providing 
Nonattest Services” [1.295.050] interpretations.

.05 However, the member should exercise judgment in determining whether his or her 
involvement has become so extensive that it would constitute performing a separate service 
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which would be subject to the “General Requirements for Performing Nonattest Services” 
interpretation [1.295.040].

.06 For example, activities such as financial statement preparation, cash-to-accrual 
conversions, and reconciliations are considered outside the scope of the attest engagement 
and, therefore, constitute a nonattest service. Such activities would not impair independence 
if the requirements of the interpretations of the “Nonattest Services” subtopic [1.295] are 
met.

.07 Engagements subject to independence rules of certain regulatory or standard-setting 
bodies. Threats to compliance with the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] would not be at an 
acceptable level and could not be reduced to an acceptable level through the application 
of safeguards if a member is not in compliance with the independence regulations of 
authoritative regulatory bodies that are more restrictive than the interpretations of the 
“Nonattest Services” subtopic [1.295] under the “Independence Rule” (examples of such 
authoritative bodies are the SEC, the Government Accountability Office [GAO], the 
Department of Labor [DOL], the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board [PCAOB], 
and state boards of accountancy) when a member performs nonattest services for an attest 
client and is required to be independent of the attest client under the regulations of the 
applicable regulatory body. Independence would be impaired under these circumstances. 
[Prior reference: paragraph .05 of ET section 101]

.08 Refer to the “Staff Augmentation Arrangements” interpretation [1.275.007] when the 
engagement involves lending firm personnel (augmented staff) to an attest client whereby 
the attest client is responsible for the direction and supervision of the activities performed 
by the augmented staff.

Effective Date

.09 Paragraph .06 of this interpretation is effective for engagements covering periods 
beginning on or after December 15, 2014.

[See Revision History Table.]

.01 The interpretations of the “Nonattest Services” subtopic [1.295] under the “Independence 
Rule” [1.200.001] include various examples of nonattest services that individually would not 
impair independence because the safeguards in the “General Requirements for Performing 
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Nonattest Services” interpretation [1.295.040] reduce the self-review and management 
participation threats to an acceptable level. However, performing multiple nonattest services 
can increase the significance of these threats as well as other threats to independence.

.02 Before agreeing to perform nonattest services, the member should evaluate whether 
the performance of multiple nonattest services by the member or member’s firm in the 
aggregate creates a significant threat to the member’s independence that cannot be reduced 
to an acceptable level by the application of the safeguards in the “General Requirements for 
Performing Nonattest Services” interpretation [1.295.040].

.03 In situations in which a member determines that threats are not at an acceptable level, 
safeguards in addition to those in the “General Requirements for Performing Nonattest 
Services” interpretation [1.295.040] should be applied to eliminate the threats or reduce 
them to an acceptable level. If no safeguards exist that will eliminate or reduce the threats to 
an acceptable level, independence would be impaired.

.04 For purposes of this interpretation, the member is not required to consider the possible 
threats to independence created due to the provision of nonattest services by other network 
firms within the firm’s network. [Prior reference: paragraph .05 of ET section 101]

Effective Date

.05 This interpretation is effective for engagements covering periods beginning on or after 
December 15, 2014.

.01 If a member were to assume a management responsibility for an attest client, the 
management participation threat would be so significant that no safeguards could reduce 
the threat to an acceptable level and independence would be impaired. It is not possible 
to specify every activity that is a management responsibility. However, management 
responsibilities involve leading and directing an entity, including making significant 
decisions regarding the acquisition, deployment, and control of human, financial, physical, 
and intangible resources.

.02 Whether an activity is a management responsibility depends on the circumstances 
and requires the exercise of judgment. Examples of activities that would be considered 
management responsibilities and, as such, impair independence if performed for an attest 
client, include

a. setting policy or strategic direction for the attest client.

b. directing or accepting responsibility for actions of the attest client’s employees except
to the extent permitted when using internal auditors to provide assistance for
services performed under auditing or attestation standards.

c. authorizing, executing, or consummating transactions or otherwise exercising
authority on behalf of an attest client or having the authority to do so.
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d. preparing source documents, in electronic or other form, that evidence the occurrence
of a transaction.

e. having custody of an attest client’s assets.

f. deciding which recommendations of the member or other third parties to implement
or prioritize.

g. reporting to those charged with governance on behalf of management.

h. serving as an attest client’s stock transfer or escrow agent, registrar, general counsel
or equivalent.

i. accepting responsibility for the management of an attest client’s project.

j. accepting responsibility for the preparation and fair presentation of the attest client’s
financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.

k. accepting responsibility for designing, implementing, or maintaining internal control.

l. performing ongoing evaluations of the attest client’s internal control as part of its
monitoring activities.

[Prior reference: paragraph .05 of ET section 101]

.01 When a member performs a nonattest service for an attest client, threats to the member’s 
compliance with the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] may exist. Unless an interpretation of 
the “Nonattest Services” subtopic [1.295] under the “Independence Rule” states otherwise, 
threats would be at an acceptable level, and independence would not be impaired, when all 
the following safeguards are met:

a. The member determines that the attest client and its management agree to

i. assume all management responsibilities as described in the “Management
Responsibilities” interpretation [1.295.030].

ii. oversee the service, by designating an individual, preferably within senior
management, who possesses suitable skill, knowledge, and/or experience. The
member should assess and be satisfied that such individual understands the
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services to be performed sufficiently to oversee them. However, the individual 
is not required to possess the expertise to perform or re-perform the services.

iii. evaluate the adequacy and results of the services performed.

iv. accept responsibility for the results of the services.

b. The member does not assume management responsibilities (See the “Management
Responsibilities” interpretation [1.295.030] of the “Independence Rule”) when
providing nonattest services and the member is satisfied that the attest client and
its management will

i. be able to meet all of the criteria delineated in item a;

ii. make an informed judgment on the results of the member’s nonattest services;
and

iii. accept responsibility for making the significant judgments and decisions that
are the proper responsibility of management.

If the attest client is unable or unwilling to assume these responsibilities (for 
example, the attest client cannot oversee the nonattest services provided or is 
unwilling to carry out such responsibilities due to lack of time or desire), the 
member’s performance of nonattest services would impair independence.

c. Before performing nonattest services the member establishes and documents in
writing his or her understanding with the attest client (board of directors, audit
committee, or management, as appropriate in the circumstances) regarding

i. objectives of the engagement,

ii. services to be performed,

iii. attest client’s acceptance of its responsibilities,

iv. member’s responsibilities, and

v. any limitations of the engagement.

.02 The safeguards in paragraph .01 and the “Documentation Requirements When 
Providing Nonattest Services” interpretation [1.295.050] of the “Independence Rule” 
[1.200.001] do not apply to certain routine activities performed by the member, such 
as providing advice and responding to the attest client’s questions as part of the attest 
client-member relationship. However, in providing such services, the member must not 
assume management responsibilities, as described in the “Management Responsibilities” 
interpretation [1.295.030] of the “Independence Rule.” [Prior reference: paragraph .05 of ET 
section 101]

[See Revision History Table.]
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.01 Before performing nonattest services, the member should document in writing the 
member’s understanding established with the attest client, as described in paragraph .01c of 
the “General Requirements for Performing Nonattest Services” interpretation [1.295.040] of 
the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001].

.02 Failure to prepare the required documentation does not impair independence provided 
that the member did establish the understanding with the attest client. However, failure 
to prepare the required documentation would be considered a violation of the “Compliance 
With Standards Rule” [1.310.001].

.03 The documentation requirement does not apply to nonattest services performed prior 
to the period of the professional engagement for an attest client. However, for nonattest 
services provided during the period covered by the financial statements, the member 
should document in writing that the requirements of the “General Requirements for 
Performing Nonattest Services” interpretation [1.295.040] were met prior to the period of 
the professional engagement, including the requirement to establish an understanding with 
the attest client. [Prior reference: paragraph .05 of ET section 101]

.01 Self-review or management participation threats to compliance with the “Independence 
Rule” [1.200.001] may exist when a member performs advisory services for an attest client.

.02 If the member’s services are only advisory in nature and the member applies the 
“General Requirements for Performing Nonattest Services” interpretation [1.295.040] of the 
“Independence Rule” [1.200.001], threats would be at an acceptable level and independence 
would not be impaired. For example, a member may
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a. provide advice, research materials, and recommendations to assist management in
performing its functions and making decisions.

b. attend board meetings as a nonvoting advisor.

c. interpret financial statements, forecasts, or other analyses.

d. provide management with advice regarding its potential plans, strategies, or
relationships.

.03 However, threats to compliance with the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] would not be 
at an acceptable level and could not be reduced to an acceptable level by the application 
of safeguards if a member assumes any management responsibilities, as described in 
the “Management Responsibilities” interpretation [1.295.030]. Accordingly, independence is 
impaired. [Prior reference: paragraph .05 of ET section 101 and paragraphs .015–.016 of ET 
section 191]

.01 Self-review or management participation threats to compliance with the “Independence 
Rule” [1.200.001] may exist when a member performs appraisal, valuation, or actuarial 
service for an attest client.

.02 Threats to compliance with the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] would not be at an 
acceptable level and could not be reduced to an acceptable level by the application of 
safeguards if the member performs an appraisal, a valuation, or an actuarial service for 
an attest client when (a) the services involve a significant degree of subjectivity and (b) 
the results of the service, individually or when combined with other valuation, appraisal, 
or actuarial services, are material to the attest client’s financial statements. Accordingly, 
independence would be impaired under these circumstances..

.03 When performing appraisal, valuation, and actuarial services for an attest client that 
are permitted under this interpretation, all requirements of the “General Requirements 
for Performing Nonattest Services” interpretation [1.295.040] of the “Independence Rule” 
[1.200.001] should be met, including that all significant assumptions and matters of 
judgment are determined or approved by the attest client, and the attest client is in a 
position to have an informed judgment on, and accepts responsibility for, the results of the 
service.

Valuations Involving a Significant Degree of Subjectivity

.04 Examples of valuations that generally involve a significant degree of subjectivity 
include, ESOPs, business combinations, or appraisals of assets or liabilities. Accordingly, 
if these services produce results that are material to the attest client’s financial statements, 
independence would be impaired.

Actuarial Valuations of Pension or Postemployment Benefit Liabilities

.05 An actuarial valuation of an attest client’s pension or postemployment benefit liabilities 
generally does not involve a significant degree of subjectivity because reasonably consistent 
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results are produced when the same assumptions and information are used in performing 
the valuation. Therefore, threats would be at an acceptable level and independence would not 
be impaired.

Appraisal, Valuations, and Actuarial Services for Nonfinancial Statement 
Purposes

.06 Threats would be at an acceptable level if a member provided appraisal, valuation, or 
actuarial services solely for nonfinancial statement purposes. Some examples are appraisal, 
valuation, and actuarial services performed for tax planning or tax compliance, estate and 
gift taxation, and divorce proceedings. Accordingly, independence would not be impaired. 
[Prior reference: paragraph .05 of ET section 101]

.01 When a member assists an attest client with planning and executing the implementation 
of an accounting standard, self-review or management participation threats to compliance 
with the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] may exist.

.02 If a member applies the “General Requirements for Performing Nonattest Services” 
interpretation [1.295.040] of the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001], threats would be at an 
acceptable level and independence would not be impaired if, for example, a member does the 
following:

a. Develops and provides training to attest client personnel on the effects of the
accounting standard

b. Researches, provides advice, makes recommendations, and assists management in
identifying financial statement account balances, contracts, and transactions to be
assessed under the accounting standard

c. Provides advice and recommendations related to the application of the accounting
standard, including

i. analyzing and advising management on the potential impact of the accounting
standard on the entity’s accounting policies, procedures, and internal controls

ii. recommending possible revisions to existing policies, procedures, and internal
controls

185



iii. assisting the attest client with summarizing the attest client’s analysis and
policies related to the accounting positions under the accounting standard

iv. preparing transition-related calculations to illustrate the impact of the
application of the accounting standard for management’s consideration and
selection

d. Provides observations and recommendations on management’s existing overall
project plan timeline or assists management in developing an overall project plan
timeline to adopt the accounting standard

e. Assists management in drafting implementation strategies or methods used to
implement the accounting standard

f. Assists the attest client in developing implementation templates or provides the attest
client with firm-developed templates or tools, including those related to specific
calculations under the accounting standard that meet the exception in paragraph
.03a of the “Information Systems Services” interpretation [1.295.145] under the
“Independence Rule,” provided the attest client’s management understands the
nature of any underlying calculations and the impact the results will have on the
financial statements

g. Proposes standard journal entries or adjustments to existing journal entries
necessary for adoption of the accounting standard, subject to attest client approval
in accordance with paragraph .02e of the “Bookkeeping, Payroll, and Other
Disbursements” interpretation [1.295.120]

h. Provides recommendations related to existing or new information systems as a result
of the accounting standard

.03 However, threats to compliance with the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] would not be 
at an acceptable level and could not be reduced to an acceptable level by the application of 
safeguards, and independence would be impaired if, for example, a member does any of the 
following:

a. Leads or supervises any attest client implementation team

b. Makes decisions on which recommendations to prioritize or how to implement the
accounting standard

c. Sets any policy or procedures related to the accounting standard

d. Accepts responsibility for designing new or redesigning existing internal controls over
financial reporting

e. Designs or develops new or redesigns existing financial information systems as
described in the “Information System Services” interpretation [1.295.145] under the
“Independence Rule”
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Effective Date

.04 This interpretation is effective December 31, 2022. Early implementation is allowed.

[See Revision History Table.]

.01 When a member provides benefit plan administration services to an attest client, 
self-review and management participation threats to the member’s compliance with the 
“Independence Rule” [1.200.001] may exist.

.02 Notwithstanding the conclusions reached in paragraph .03 of this interpretation, a 
member should comply with the more restrictive independence provisions of the Employee 
Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA) of 1974 and DOL regulations when performing 
audits of employee benefit plans subject to those regulations.

.03 If the member applies the “General Requirements for Performing Nonattest Services” 
interpretation [1.295.040] of the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001], threats would be at an 
acceptable level and independence would not be impaired. For example, the member may

a. communicate summary plan data to a plan trustee.

b. advise management regarding the application and impact of provisions in a plan
document.

c. process certain transactions that have been initiated by plan participations or
approved by the plan administrators using the member’s electronic media, such as
an interactive voice response system or Internet connection or other media. Such
transactions may include processing investment or benefit elections, changes in
contributions to the plan, data entry, participant confirmations, and distributions
and loans.

d. prepare account valuations for plan participants using data collected through the
member’s electronic or other media.
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e. prepare and transmit participant statements to plan participants based on data
collected through the member’s electronic or other media.

.04 However, threats to compliance with the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] would not be 
at an acceptable level, and could not be reduced to an acceptable level by the application of 
safeguards, and independence would be impaired if, for example, a member

a. makes policy decisions on behalf of management.

b. interprets the provisions in a plan document for a plan participant on behalf of
management without first obtaining management’s concurrence.

c. makes disbursements on behalf of the plan.

d. has custody of the plan’s assets.

e. serves in a fiduciary capacity, as defined by ERISA. [Prior reference: paragraph .05 of
ET section 101]

.01 When a member provides bookkeeping, payroll, and other disbursement services to 
an attest client, self-review and management participation threats to the covered member’s 
compliance with the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] may exist.

.02 If the member applies the “General Requirements for Performing Nonattest Services” 
interpretation [1.295.040] of the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001], threats would be at an 
acceptable level and independence would not be impaired. For example, a member may

a. record transactions to an attest client’s general ledger when management has
determined or approved the account classifications for the transaction.

b. post transactions coded by the attest client to the attest client’s general ledger.

c. prepare financial statements based on information in the attest client’s trial balance.

d. post client-approved journal or other entries to an attest client’s trial balance.

e. propose standard, adjusting, or correcting journal entries or other changes affecting
the financial statements to the attest client. Prior to the member posting these journal
entries or changes, the member should be satisfied that management has reviewed
the entries and understands the nature of the proposed entries and the effect the
entries will have on the attest client’s financial statements.

f. generate unsigned checks using source documents or other records provided and
approved by the attest client.

g. process an attest client’s payroll using payroll time records that the attest client has
provided and approved.

h. transmit client-approved payroll or other disbursement information to a bank or
similar entity subsequent to the attest client’s review and authorization for the
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member to make the transmission. Prior to such transmission, the attest client is 
responsible for making the arrangements with the bank or similar entity to limit the 
corresponding individual payments regarding the amount and payee. In addition, 
once transmitted, the attest client must authorize the bank or similar entity to 
process the payroll information.

i. prepare a reconciliation (for example, bank and accounts receivable) that identifies
reconciling items for the client’s evaluation.

.03 However, threats to compliance with the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] would not be 
at an acceptable level and could not be reduced to an acceptable level by the application of 
safeguards, and independence would be impaired, if, for example, a member

a. determines or changes journal entries, any account coding or classification of
transactions, or any other accounting records without first obtaining the attest client’s
approval.

b. authorizes or approves transactions.

c. prepares source documents.

d. makes changes to source documents without the attest client’s approval.

e. accepts responsibility to authorize payment of attest client funds, electronically or
otherwise, except for electronic payroll tax payments when the member complies
with the requirements of the “Tax Services” interpretation [1.295.160] of the
“Independence Rule.”

f. accepts responsibility to sign or cosign an attest client’s checks, even if only in
emergency situations.

g. maintains an attest client’s bank account or otherwise has custody of an attest client’s
funds or makes credit or banking decisions for the attest client.

h. approves vendor invoices for payment. [Prior reference: paragraph .05 of ET section
101]

[See Revision History Table.]
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.01 When a member provides business risk consulting services to an attest client, self-
review and management participation threats to the covered member’s compliance with the 
“Independence Rule” [1.200.001] may exist.

.02 If the member applies the “General Requirements for Performing Nonattest Services” 
interpretation [1.295.040] of the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001], threats would be at an 
acceptable level and independence would not be impaired. For example, a member may

a. assist management in its assessment of the attest client’s business risk control
processes.

b. recommend improvements to an attest client’s business risk control processes and
assists in the implementation of these improvements.

.03 However, threats to compliance with the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] would not be 
at an acceptable level and could not be reduced to an acceptable level by the application of 
safeguards, and independence would be impaired, if, for example, a member

a. makes or approves business risk decisions.

b. presents business risk considerations to the board or others on behalf of
management. [Prior reference: paragraph .05 of ET section 101]

.01 When a member provides corporate finance consulting services to an attest client, self-
review, management participation, and advocacy threats to the covered member’s compliance 
with the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] may exist.

.02 If the member applies the “General Requirements for Performing Nonattest Services” 
interpretation [1.295.040] of the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001], threats would be at an 
acceptable level and independence would not be impaired. For example, a member may

a. assist management in developing its corporate strategies.

b. assist management in identifying possible sources of capital that meet the attest
client’s specifications or criteria.

c. introduce management to possible sources of capital that meet the attest client’s
specifications or criteria.

d. assist management in analyzing the effects of proposed transactions with potential
buyers, sellers, or capital sources.

e. advise an attest client during its negotiations with potential buyers, sellers, or capital
sources.

f. assist the attest client in drafting its offering document or memorandum.
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g. participate with management in its transaction negotiations in an advisory capacity.

h. be named as a financial adviser in an attest client’s private placement memoranda or
offering documents.

.03 However, threats to compliance with the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] would not be 
at an acceptable level and could not be reduced to an acceptable level by the application of 
safeguards, and independence would be impaired, if, for example, a member

a. commits the attest client to the terms of a transaction.

b. consummates a transaction on behalf of the attest client.

c. acts as a promoter, an underwriter, a broker-dealer, or a guarantor of an attest client’s
securities or as a distributor of private placement memoranda or offering documents.

d. maintains custody of an attest client’s securities. [Prior reference: paragraph .05 of
ET section 101]

.01 When a member provides executive or employee recruiting services to an attest client, 
self-review and management participation threats to the covered member’s compliance with 
the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] may exist.

.02 If the member applies the “General Requirements for Performing Nonattest Services” 
interpretation [1.295.040] of the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001], threats would be at an 
acceptable level and independence would not be impaired. For example, a member may

a. recommend a position description or candidate specifications.

b. solicit and screen candidates based on criteria approved by the attest client, such as
required education, skills, or experience.

c. recommend qualified candidates to the attest client for their consideration based on
criteria approved by the attest client.

d. participate in employee hiring or compensation discussions in an advisory capacity.

.03 However, threats to compliance with the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] would not be 
at an acceptable level and could not be reduced to an acceptable level by the application of 
safeguards, and independence would be impaired, if, for example, a member

a. commits the attest client to employee compensation or benefit arrangements.

b. hires or terminates the attest client’s employees. [Prior reference: paragraph .05 of ET
section 101]

[See Revision History Table.]
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.01 Forensic accounting services. For purposes of this interpretation, forensic accounting 
services are nonattest services that involve the application of (a) special skills in accounting, 
auditing, finance, quantitative methods or certain areas of the law, and research and (b) 
investigative skills to collect, analyze, and evaluate evidential matter and to interpret and 
communicate findings. Forensic accounting services consist of investigative services and 
litigation services.

.02 Attest client. For purposes of this interpretation, the term attest client refers to the attest 
client with respect to which the member is providing litigation services, not the law firm 
that engages the member on behalf of the law firm’s client. If the law firm that engages 
the member on behalf of the member’s attest client is also an attest client of the member, 
the member should consider the applicability of the “Cooperative Arrangements With Attest 
Clients” interpretation [1.265.010] of the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001].

.03 Investigative services. For purposes of this interpretation, investigative services include 
all forensic services that do not involve actual or threatened litigation, such as performing 
analyses or investigations that may require the same skills used in litigation services. When 
a member provides investigative services to an attest client, self-review and management 
participation threats to the covered member’s compliance with the “Independence Rule” 
[1.200.001] may exist. However, if the member applies the “General Requirements for 
Performing Nonattest Services” interpretation [1.295.040] of the “Independence Rule,” 
threats will be at an acceptable level and independence will not be impaired.

.04 Litigation services. For purposes of this interpretation, litigation services recognize the 
role of the member as an expert or a consultant and consist of providing assistance for 
actual or potential legal or regulatory proceedings before a trier of fact in connection with 
the resolution of disputes between parties. Litigation services consist of expert witness 
services, litigation consulting services, or other litigation services:

a. Expert witness services. For purposes of this interpretation, expert witness services
are those litigation services in which a member is engaged to render an opinion
before a trier of fact about the matter(s) in dispute based on the member’s expertise,
rather than his or her direct knowledge of the disputed facts or events:

i. Expert witness services create the appearance that a member is advocating or
promoting an attest client’s position. Therefore, the advocacy threat would not
be at an acceptable level and could not be reduced to an acceptable level by the
application of safeguards. Accordingly, if a member is engaged conditionally
or unconditionally to provide expert witness services or expert testimony for
an attest client, independence would be impaired, except as discussed in the
following item ii.

ii. Threats to compliance with the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] would be at
an acceptable level, and independence would not be impaired, if a member
provides expert witness services for a large group of plaintiffs or defendants
that includes one or more attest clients of the firm, provided that at the outset
of the engagement
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1. the member’s attest clients constitute less than 20 percent of the
members of the group, voting interests of the group, and the claim;

2. no attest client within the group is designated as the lead plaintiff or
defendant of the group; and

3. no attest client has the sole decision-making power to select or approve
the selection of the expert witness.

iii. Fact witness testimony. Acting as a fact witness (also referred to as a
“percipient witness” or “sensory witness”) would not be considered a nonattest
service. Fact witness testimony is based on the member’s direct knowledge
of the matters, facts, or events in dispute obtained through the member’s
performance of prior professional services for the attest client. As a fact
witness, the member’s role is to provide factual testimony to the trier of fact.
While testifying as a fact witness, the trier of fact or counsel may question
a member about the member’s opinions pertaining to matters within the
member’s area of expertise. Answering such questions would not impair the
member’s independence.

iv. In determining whether the member’s services are considered expert witness
services or fact witness testimony, members should refer to Rules 701–703 of
Article VII, “Opinions and Expert Testimony,” of the Federal Rules of Evidence
and also refer to other applicable laws, regulations, and rules.

v. When providing expert witness services or fact witness testimony, members
are required to comply with the “Integrity and Objectivity Rule” [1.100.001].

b. Litigation consulting services. For purposes of this interpretation, litigation
consulting services are those litigation services in which a member provides advice
about the facts, issues, or strategy pertaining to a matter. The consultant does not
testify as an expert witness before a trier of fact:

i. When a member provides litigation consulting services, advocacy and
management participation threats to the covered member’s compliance with
the “Independence Rule” may exist. If the member applies the “General
Requirements for Performing Nonattest Services” interpretation [1.295.040]
of the “Independence Rule,” threats would be at an acceptable level and
independence would not be impaired. For purposes of complying with
paragraph .01b of the “General Requirements for Performing Nonattest
Services” interpretation of the “Independence Rule,” the attest client may
designate its attorney to oversee the litigation consulting services.

ii. However, if the member providing litigation consulting services subsequently
agrees to serve as an expert witness, threats to the member’s compliance with
the “Independence Rule” would not be at an acceptable level and could not be
reduced to an acceptable level by the application of safeguards. Accordingly,
independence would be impaired.

c. Other litigation services. The advocacy threat would not be at an acceptable level
and could not be reduced to an acceptable level by the application of safeguards if a
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member serves as a trier of fact, a special master, a court-appointed expert, or an 
arbitrator (including serving on an arbitration panel) in a matter involving an attest 
client. These services create the appearance that the member is not independent; 
accordingly, independence would be impaired.

d. However, if the member applies the “General Requirements for Performing Nonattest
Services” interpretation of the “Independence Rule,” threats would be at an acceptable
level and independence would not be impaired when a member serves as a mediator
or any similar role in a matter involving an attest client, provided that the member is
not making any decisions on behalf of the parties but, rather, is acting as a facilitator
by assisting the parties in reaching their own agreement. When providing such
services, the member should consider the requirements of the “Conflicts of Interest”
interpretation [1.110.010] of the “Integrity and Objectivity Rule.” [Prior reference:
paragraph .05 of ET section 101]

.05 See https://us.aicpa.org/interestareas/professionalethics/community/
downloadabledocuments/transistion%20periods.pdf for information about transition 
provision for engagements commenced prior to February 28, 2007.

.06 When providing any type of forensic accounting service, members are required to comply 
with the “Integrity and Objectivity Rule” [1.100.001].

[See Revision History Table.]

.01 For purpose of this interpretation, hosting services are nonattest services that involve a 
member accepting responsibility for the following:

a. Acting as the sole host of a financial or non-financial information system of an attest
client

b. Taking custody of or storing an attest client’s data or records whereby, that data or
records are available only to the attest client from the member, such that the attest
client’s data or records are otherwise incomplete

c. Providing electronic security or back-up services for an attest client’s data or records

.02 When a member provides hosting services, the member is maintaining the attest client’s 
internal control over its data or records. Accordingly, the management participation threat 
to the member’s compliance with the "Independence Rule" [1.200.001] would not be at 
an acceptable level, and could not be reduced to an acceptable level by the application of 
safeguards, and independence would be impaired.

.03 Examples of activities that are considered hosting services, and as such will impair 
independence if performed for an attest client, include accepting responsibility for the 
following:
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a. Housing the attest client’s website or other non-financial information system

b. Keeping the attest client’s data or records on the attest client’s behalf, for example, the
attest client’s general ledger information, supporting schedules (such as, depreciation
or amortization schedules), lease agreements or other legal documents are stored on
the member’s firm’s servers or servers licensed by the member’s firm or the member
is responsible for storing hard copy versions of the data or records

c. Being the attest client’s business continuity or disaster recovery provider

.04 Examples of activities that are not considered to be hosting services, and as such will 
not impair independence provided members comply with the requirements of the other 
interpretations of the "Nonattest Services" subtopic include these:

a. Retaining a copy of an attest client’s data or records as documentation to support a
service the member provided to the attest client. Some examples are as follows:

i. The payroll data that support a payroll tax return prepared by the member for
the attest client

ii. A bank reconciliation that supports attest procedures performed by the
member on the attest client’s cash account

iii. The attest client’s vendor data used to prepare an analysis of vendor activity

b. Retaining, for a member’s records, a copy of a work product prepared by the member
(for example, a tax return).

c. Using general ledger software to facilitate the delivery of bookkeeping services when
either of the following occurs:

i. The member and the attest client maintain separate instances of the software
on their respective servers, and the member provides updated financial
information electronically to the attest client.

ii. The attest client enters into an agreement with a third-party service provider to
maintain its software in a cloud-based solution and grants the member access
to the software so that the member can perform the bookkeeping service for
the attest client.

d. Retaining data collected by the member related to a work product that the member
prepared for an attest client. For example, the member conducts an employee survey
and provides the attest client with a report. The member retains the survey data
collected to support the work product.

e. Electronically exchanging data, records, or the member’s work product with an attest
client or on behalf of an attest client at the attest client’s request. For example, the
member uses a portal as follows:

i. To exchange data and records with the attest client related to professional
services provided by the member to the attest client
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ii. To deliver the member’s work product to third parties at the attest client’s
request

To avoid providing hosting services, members should terminate the attest client’s 
access to the data or records in the portal within a reasonable period of time after the 
conclusion of the engagement.

f. Licensing software to an attest client that the attest client uses to input its data
and receive an output that the attest client is responsible for maintaining, provided
the software does not perform an activity that, if performed directly by the member,
would impair independence.

g. Having possession of a depreciation schedule prepared by the member, provided the
deprecation schedule and calculation are given to the attest client so that attest
client’s books and records are complete.

h. Retaining an attest client’s original data or records to facilitate the performance of
a nonattest service (for example, obtaining original records to prepare the attest
client’s tax return), provided that the data or records are returned to the attest client
at the end of the engagement or, in a multi-year engagement, at least annually.
This does not apply to ongoing hosting services as described in paragraph .01 of this
interpretation.

Effective Date

.05 This interpretation is effective July 1, 2019.

[See Revision History Table.]

Introduction

.01 Self-review and management participation threats to the member’s compliance with 
the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] may exist when a member provides nonattest services 
related to an attest client's information systems.

.02 This interpretation applies to all attest engagements, including those in which the 
subject matter of the engagement is not financial statements. In these cases, the member 
should define a financial information system as any information system that is subject to 
the member’s attest procedures considering the relevant factors in paragraph .03a.
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Terminology

.03 The following terms are defined solely for the purpose of applying this interpretation:

a. A financial information system (FIS) is a system that aggregates source data
underlying the financial statements or generates information that is significant to
either the financial statements or financial processes as a whole. An FIS includes a
tool that calculates results unless

i. the tool performs only discrete calculations;

ii. the attest client evaluates and accepts responsibility for the input and
assumptions; and

iii. the attest client has sufficient information to understand the calculation and
the results.

b. Designing an information system means determining how a system or transaction
will function, process data, and produce results (for example, reports, journal
vouchers, and documents such as sales and purchase orders) to provide a blueprint or
schematic for the development of software code (programs) and data structures.

c. Developing an information system entails creating software code, for individual or
multiple modules, and testing such code to confirm it is functioning as designed.

d. Commercial off-the-shelf (COTS) refers to software developed, distributed,
maintained, and supported by an entity or entities that are not the member or
member’sfirm (a third-party vendor), sometimes referred to as an “off-the-shelf”
package or solution. COTS solutions have generally referred to traditional on-premise
software that runs on a customer’s own computers or on a third-party vendor’s
“cloud” infrastructure. COTS solutions range from software packages that require
only installation on a computer and are ready to run to large-scale, complex
enterprise applications.

Design, Development, or Implementation Services Not Related to an FIS

.04 When performing design, development, or implementation services described in this 
interpretation for an attest client that are not related to an FIS, threats to compliance 
with the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] would be at an acceptable level provided all 
requirements of the "Nonattest Services" subtopic [1.295] of the “Independence Rule” are 
met, including that the attest client has not outsourced a function, process, or activity to the 
member, which would result in the member assuming a management responsibility.

Design or Develop an FIS

.05 When a member designs or develops an attest client’s FIS, threats to compliance with 
the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] would not be at an acceptable level and could not be 
reduced to an acceptable level by the application of safeguards and independence would be 
impaired.
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.06 To determine whether a nonattest service is related to an FIS, members should consider 
all relevant factors, such as whether the nonattest service will affect the following:

a. System controls or system output that will be subject to attest procedures.

b. A system that generates data that are used as input to the financial statements,
including data or information that is either reflected in or used in determining
amounts and disclosures included in the financial statements.

c. A data-gathering system, such as an analytical or reporting tool, that is used in
management’s decision-making about matters that could significantly affect financial
reporting.

d. A system that is part of the attest client's internal controls over financial reporting,
including information systems used to effect internal controls over financial reporting
(for example, a system used to ensure that information produced for the financial
statements is accurate). However, information systems used only in connection with
controlling the efficiency and effectiveness of operations are considered unrelated to
the financial statements and accounting records.

Implement a COTS FIS Software Solution

.07 Implementation services involve activities related to an attest client's information 
systems after the design and development of the system. Implementation ceases when the 
system is available on a regular basis to the attest client for its intended use. For example, 
implementation services can include activities such as installing, configuring, interfacing, 
customizing, and data translation. Services that are performed post-implementation, such 
as the maintenance, support, and monitoring of the system, are not implementation 
services.

.08 Threats created by certain COTS implementation services related to the attest client's 
FIS may be reduced to an acceptable level by the application of safeguards; however, in 
other situations, threats to compliance with the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] would be 
significant and could not be reduced to an acceptable level by the application of safeguards. 
These situations are addressed in paragraphs .09–.20 of this interpretation.

Install a COTS FIS Software Solution

.09 To install a COTS FIS software solution means the initial loading of software on the 
client’s designated hosting site. Software configuration, interfacing, customizing and data 
translation activities may follow installation.

.10 When a member installs a COTS FIS software solution, threats to compliance with the 
“Independence Rule” [1.200.001] would be at an acceptable level, provided all requirements 
of the "Nonattest Services" subtopic [1.295] of the “Independence Rule” are met.

Configure a COTS FIS Software Solution

.11 To configure a COTS FIS software solution means inputting the client-selected 
features, functionality options, and settings within the third-party vendor’s software, 
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which determines how the software will perform certain transactions and process data. 
Configuration options may also include selecting the predefined format of certain data 
attributes and the inclusion or exclusion of such attributes. However, if the member were 
to design or develop new software code or features to modify or alter the functionality of 
the COTS software solution in ways not predefined by the third-party vendor, this would be 
considered designing or developing activities, as described in items (b)–(c) of paragraph .03.

.12 When a member configures a COTS FIS software solution based on client-selected 
features, functionality options, and settings within the third-party vendor’s software, threats 
to compliance with the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] would be at an acceptable level 
provided all requirements of the "Nonattest Services" subtopic [1.295] of the “Independence 
Rule” are met.

Customize a COTS FIS Software Solution

.13 To customize a COTS FIS software solution means to modify or enhance the features 
and functions in ways that go beyond the options provided by the third-party vendor when 
configuring the COTS software solution.

a. Modification involves altering the COTS software solution code to change or add to
the functionality provided by the third-party vendor.

b. Enhancements involve developing new code, external to the COTS software solution,
that works in concert with the COTS software solution to provide altered or
additional functionality.

.14 If a member customizes an attest client's COTS FIS software solution, threats to 
compliance with the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] would not be at an acceptable level and 
could not be reduced to an acceptable level by the application of safeguards; independence 
would be impaired.

Interface a COTS FIS Software Solution

.15 Providing interface services for a COTS FIS software solution means connecting two or 
more systems by designing and developing software code that passes data from one system 
to another. Interfaces may flow in one direction or be bidirectional. Interfaces may involve 
the performance of an end-to-end transaction or they may pass data from one system to 
another.

.16 If a member provides interface services for a COTS FIS software solution, threats to 
compliance with the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] would not be at an acceptable level and 
could not be reduced to an acceptable level by the application of safeguards; independence 
would be impaired except as provided for in paragraph .17.

.17 If a member uses a third-party vendor’s application, such as an application 
programming interface (API), to interface legacy or COTS FIS software solutions, threats to 
independence would be at an acceptable level, provided the member will not be designing or 
developing code for the application to work and all requirements of the "Nonattest Services" 
subtopic [1.295] of the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] are met.
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Data Translation Services Related to a COTS FIS Software Solution

.18 Performing data translation services for a COTS FIS software solution involves 
designing and developing the rules or logic necessary to convert legacy system data to a 
format compatible with that of the new system.

.19 If a member performs data translation services for a COTS FIS software solution, 
threats to compliance with the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] would not be at an 
acceptable level and could not be reduced to an acceptable level by the application of 
safeguards and independence would be impaired except as provided for in paragraph .20.

.20 If a member uses a third-party vendor’s application, such as an API, to perform data 
translation services for a COTS FIS software solution, threats to independence would be at 
an acceptable level, provided the member will not be designing or developing code for the 
application to work and all requirements of the "Nonattest Services" subtopic [1.295] of the 
“Independence Rule” [1.200.001] are met.

System and Network Maintenance, Support, and Monitoring

.21 Maintenance, support, and monitoring services are activities that are provided after a 
financial or nonfinancial system or network is implemented. If post-implementation services 
involve the attest client outsourcing an ongoing function, process, or activity to the member 
that would result in the member assuming a management responsibility, compliance with 
the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] would not be at an acceptable level and could not be 
reduced to an acceptable level by the application of safeguards and independence would be 
impaired. Examples of services that involve an ongoing function, process, or activity that 
would result in the member assuming a management responsibility include services in 
which the member directly or indirectly does any of the following:

a. Operates the attest client's network, such as managing the attest client’s systems or
software applications

b. Supervises client personnel involved in the operation of the attest client's information
systems

c. Has responsibility for monitoring or maintaining the attest client's network
performance

d. Operates or manages the attest client’s information technology help desk

e. Has responsibility to perform ongoing network maintenance, such as updating virus
protection solutions, applying routine updates and patches, or configuring user
settings

f. Has responsibility for maintaining the security of the attest client’s networks and
systems

.22 Independence will not be impaired provided all requirements of the "Nonattest Services" 
subtopic [1.295] of the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] are met and the maintenance, 
support, or monitoring services are individually separate, distinct, and not ongoing 
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engagements in which the attest client has outsourced no function, process, or activity to the 
member that would result in the member assuming a management responsibility. Examples 
of services that would not impair independence may include any of the following services:

a. Analyzing a network and providing observations or recommendations

b. Applying virus protection solutions or updates that the member did not design or
develop

c. Applying certain updates and patches that the member did not design or develop

d. Providing advice, training, or instruction on a software solution

e. Assessing the design or operating effectiveness of an attest client’s security over
information technology systems

f. Assessing the attest client’s information technology security policies or practices

.01 For purposes of this interpretation, internal audit services involve assisting the attest 
client in the performance of its internal audit activities, sometimes referred to as “internal 
audit outsourcing.” When a member provides internal audit services to an attest client, 
self-review and management participation threats to the covered member’s compliance with 
the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] may exist.

.02 The attest client’s management is responsible for directing the internal audit function, 
including the management thereof. Such responsibilities include, but are not limited to, 
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control. Threats to compliance with the 
“Independence Rule” [1.200.001] would not be at an acceptable level, cannot be reduced to an 
acceptable level by the application of safeguards, and independence would be impaired if the 
attest client outsources the internal audit function to the member, whereby the member, in 
effect, manages the attest client’s internal audit activities.

.03 However, except for the outsourcing services discussed in paragraph .02, threats to 
compliance with the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] would be at an acceptable level and 
independence would not be impaired if the member assists the attest client in performing 
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financial and operational internal audit activities, provided that, in addition to the 
“General Requirements for Performing Nonattest Services” interpretation [1.295.040] of the 
“Independence Rule,” the member is satisfied that management

a. designates an individual or individuals who possess suitable skill, knowledge, and
experience, preferably within senior management, to be responsible for the internal
audit function.

b. determines the scope, risk, and frequency of internal audit activities, including those
the member will perform in providing the services.

c. evaluates the findings and results arising from the internal audit activities, including
those the member will perform in providing the services.

d. evaluates the adequacy of the audit procedures performed and the findings resulting
from the performance of those procedures.

.04 For example, if the member applies the safeguards in paragraph .03, the member may 
assess whether performance is in compliance with management’s policies and procedures, 
identify opportunities for improvement, and recommend improvement or further action for 
management consideration and decision making.

.05 The member may assist the individual responsible for the internal audit function in 
performing preliminary audit risk assessments, preparing audit plans, and recommending 
audit priorities. The member should also be satisfied that those charged with governance 
are informed about the member’s and management’s respective roles and responsibilities 
in connection with the engagement. Such information should provide those charged with 
governance a basis for developing guidelines for management and the member to follow in 
carrying out these responsibilities and monitoring how well the respective responsibilities 
have been met.

.06 Threats to compliance with the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] would not be at an 
acceptable level and could not be reduced to an acceptable level by the application of 
safeguards, and independence would be impaired, if, for example, in addition to those 
activities listed in the “Management Responsibilities” interpretation [1.295.030] of the 
“Independence Rule,” a member

a. performs ongoing evaluations (see paragraph .10 that follows) or control activities
(for example, reviewing loan originations as part of the attest client’s approval
process or reviewing customer credit information as part of the customer’s sales
authorization process) that affect the execution of transactions or ensure that
transactions are properly executed or accounted for, or both, and performs routine
activities in connection with the attest client’s operating or production processes that
are equivalent to those of an ongoing compliance or quality control function.

b. performs separate evaluations on the effectiveness of a significant control such that
the member is, in effect, performing routine operations that are built into the attest
client’s business process.
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c. has attest client management rely on the member’s work as the primary basis for the
attest client’s assertions on the design or operating effectiveness of internal controls.

d. determines which, if any, recommendations for improving the internal control system
should be implemented.

e. reports to the board of directors or audit committee on behalf of management or the
individual responsible for the internal audit function.

f. approves or is responsible for the overall internal audit work plan, including the
determination of the internal audit risk and scope, project priorities, and frequency of
performance of audit procedures.

g. is connected with the attest client as an employee or in any capacity equivalent to
a member of management (for example, being listed as an employee in the attest
client’s directories or other attest client publications, permitting himself or herself
to be referred to by title or description as supervising or being in charge of the
attest client’s internal audit function, or using the attest client’s letterhead or internal
correspondence forms in communications).

.07 Monitoring activities. Designing, implementing, or maintaining the attest client’s 
monitoring activities are management responsibilities. Accordingly, independence would 
be impaired if a member accepts responsibility for performing such activities. Monitoring 
activities are procedures performed to assess whether components of internal control are 
present and functioning. Monitoring can be done through ongoing evaluations, separate 
evaluations, or some combination of the two. Ongoing evaluations are generally defined, 
routine operations built in to the attest client’s business processes and performed on a real-
time basis. Ongoing evaluations, including managerial activities and everyday supervision 
of employees, monitor the presence and functioning of the components of internal control 
in the ordinary course of managing the business. A member who performs such activities 
for an attest client would be considered to be accepting responsibility for maintaining the 
attest client’s internal control. Accordingly, the management participation threat created by 
a member performing ongoing evaluations is so significant that no safeguards could reduce 
the threat to an acceptable level, and thus independence would be impaired.

.08 Separate evaluations are conducted periodically and generally not ingrained within the 
business but can be useful in taking a fresh look at whether internal controls are present 
and functioning. Such evaluations include observations, inquiries, reviews, and other 
examinations, as appropriate, to ascertain whether controls are designed, implemented, 
and conducted. The scope and frequency of separate evaluations is a matter of judgment 
and vary depending on assessment of risks, effectiveness of ongoing evaluations, and 
other considerations. Because separate evaluations are not built into the attest client’s 
business process, separate evaluations generally do not create a significant management 
participation threat to independence.

.09 Members should refer to the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission’s (COSO’s) Internal Control—Integrated Framework, for additional guidance on 
monitoring activities and distinguishing between ongoing and separate evaluations.
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.10 Members should use judgment in determining whether otherwise permitted internal 
audit services performed may result in a significant management participation threat to 
independence, considering factors such as the significance of the controls being tested, the 
scope or extent of the controls being tested in relation to the overall financial statements 
of the attest client, as well as the frequency of the internal audit services. If the threat to 
independence is considered significant, the member should apply safeguards to eliminate 
or reduce the threat to an acceptable level. If no safeguards could reduce the threat to an 
acceptable level, then independence would be impaired.

.11 Attest-related services. Services considered extensions of the member’s audit scope 
applied in the audit of the attest client’s financial statements, such as confirming accounts 
receivable and analyzing fluctuations in account balances, are not considered internal 
audit services and would not be subject to this interpretation even if the extent of such 
testing exceeds that required by generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS). In addition, 
engagements performed under the attestation standards would not be considered internal 
audit services and, therefore, would not impair independence.

.12 When a member performs internal audit services that would not impair independence 
under this interpretation and is subsequently engaged to perform an attestation 
engagement to report on management’s assertion regarding the effectiveness of its internal 
control, independence would not be considered impaired, provided the member is satisfied 
that attest client management does not rely on the member’s work as the primary basis for 
its assertion. [Prior reference: paragraph .05 of ET section 101]

[See Revision History Table.]

.01 When a member provides investment advisory or management services to an attest 
client, self-review and management participation threats to the covered member’s compliance 
with the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] may exist.

.02 If the member applies the “General Requirements for Performing Nonattest Services” 
interpretation [1.295.040] of the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001], threats would be at an 
acceptable level and independence would not be impaired. For example, a member may

a. recommend the attest client’s allocation of funds among various investments or asset
classes based upon the attest client’s desired rate of return, risk tolerance, or other
parameters.

b. perform recordkeeping and reporting of the attest client’s portfolio balances, including
providing the attest client with a comparative analysis of the attest client’s
investments to third-party benchmarks.

c. evaluate the manner in which an attest client’s portfolio is being managed by
investment account managers, including assessing whether the managers are

i. following the guidelines of the attest client’s investment policy statement.
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ii. meeting the attest client’s investment objectives.

iii. conforming to the attest client’s stated investment parameters or risk
tolerance.

d. transmit an attest client’s investment selection, with the attest client’s consent, to
the attest client’s broker-dealer or equivalent, provided that the attest client has
authorized the broker-dealer or equivalent to execute the transaction.

.03 However, threats to compliance with the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] would not be 
at an acceptable level and could not be reduced to an acceptable level by the application of 
safeguards, and independence would be impaired, if, for example, a member

a. makes investment decisions on behalf of management or otherwise has discretionary
authority over an attest client’s investments.

b. executes a transaction to buy or sell an attest client’s investments.

c. has custody of an attest client’s assets, such as taking temporary possession of
securities purchased by an attest client. [Prior reference: paragraph .05 of ET section
101]

.01 For purposes of this interpretation, tax services include preparation of a tax return, 
transmittal of a tax return, and transmittal of any related tax payment to the taxing 
authority, signing and filing a tax return, having a power of attorney limited strictly to tax 
matters; and authorized representation of attest clients in administrative proceedings before 
a taxing authority.

.02 For purposes of this interpretation, a tax return includes all tax filings, including 
informational tax forms (such as estimated tax vouchers), extension forms, and Forms 990, 
5500, 1099, and W-2, filed with a taxing authority or other regulatory agency.

.03 Preparation and transmittal. When a member prepares a tax return and transmits 
the tax return and related tax payment to a taxing authority in paper or electronic 
form, self-review and management participation threats to the member’s compliance with 
the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] may exist. If the member applies the “General 
Requirements for Performing Nonattest Services” interpretation [1.295.040] of the 
“Independence Rule,” threats would be at an acceptable level and independence would not 
be impaired, provided that the member does not have custody or control over the attest 
client’s funds or assets and the individual designated by the attest client to oversee the tax 
services

a. reviews and approves the tax return and related tax payment.

b. if required for filing, signs the tax return prior to the member transmitting the
return to the taxing authority.
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The following are not considered having custody or control over an attest client’s funds: 
making electronic tax payments authorized by an attest client pursuant to a taxing 
authority’s prescribed criteria (as discussed in paragraph .04), affixing the attest client’s 
depository account information on a tax return, or remitting an attest client’s check made 
payable to the taxing authority.

.04 If the member applies the “General Requirements for Performing Nonattest Services” 
interpretation [1.295.040] of the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001], threats would be at an 
acceptable level and independence would not be impaired when a member signs and files a 
tax return on behalf of management, provided that the member has the legal authority to do 
so and

a. the taxing authority has prescribed procedures in place for an attest client to permit a
member to sign and file a tax return on behalf of the attest client (for example, Forms
8879 or 8453), and such procedures meet, at the minimum, standards for electronic
return originators and officers outlined in Form 8879, or

b. an individual in management who is authorized to sign and file the attest client’s
tax return provides the member with a signed statement that clearly identifies the
return being filed and represents that such individual

i. is authorized to sign and file the tax return.

ii. has reviewed the tax return, including accompanying schedules and
statements, and it is true, correct, and complete to the best of the individual’s
knowledge and belief.

iii. authorizes the member or another named individual in the member’s firm to
sign and file the tax return on the attest client behalf.

.05 Authorized representation in administrative proceedings. If the member applies the 
“General Requirements for Performing Nonattest Services” interpretation [1.295.040] of the 
“Independence Rule” [1.200.001], threats would be at an acceptable level and independence 
would not be impaired if a member acts as the attest client’s authorized representative in 
administrative proceedings before a taxing authority, provided that the member obtains the 
attest client’s agreement prior to committing the attest client to a specific resolution with the 
taxing authority. [Prior reference: paragraph .05 of ET section 101]

.06 Power of attorney. When a member has an attest client’s power of attorney, the 
self-review, management participation, and advocacy threats to the covered member’s 
compliance with the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] may exist. If the member applies the 
“General Requirements for Performing Nonattest Services” interpretation [1.295.040] of the 
“Independence Rule,” threats would be at an acceptable level and independence would not 
be impaired, provided that the member’s use of the power of attorney is limited strictly to 
tax matters and the member does not bind the attest client to any agreement with a taxing 
authority or other regulatory agency. [No prior reference: new content]

.07 Representation in court. Threats to compliance with the “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] 
would not be at an acceptable level, and could not be reduced to an acceptable level through 
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the application of safeguards, and independence would be impaired if a member represents 
an attest client in court to resolve a tax dispute. For purposes of this interpretation, court 
encompasses a tax, district, or federal court of claims and the equivalent state, local, or 
foreign forums. [Prior reference: paragraph .05 of ET section 101]

.08 For information about transition provision for engagements commenced prior 
to February 28, 2007, see https://us.aicpa.org/interestareas/professionalethics/community/
downloadabledocuments/transistion%20periods.pdf.

Effective Date

.09 Paragraph .06 of this interpretation is effective December 15, 2014.

.01 The “Independence Rule” [1.200.001] and its interpretations apply to all attest 
engagements. However, when performing engagements to issue reports in accordance with 
Statements on Standards for Attestation Engagements (SSAEs), when independence is 
required or when the member’s compilation report does not disclose a lack of independence, 
the covered member needs to be independent with respect to the responsible party(ies), as 
defined in the SSAEs.

.02 If the individual or entity that engages the covered member (engaging entity) is not 
the responsible party, the covered member need not be independent of that engaging 
entity. However, because threats to the member’s compliance with the “Integrity and 
Objectivity Rule” [1.100.001] and the “Conflicts of Interest” interpretation [1.110.010] may 
still exist with respect to the engaging entity, members should comply with this rule and 
interpretation.
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Examples of Matters in Peer Reviews 
Engagements with Year-Ends between 3/01/2023 and 6/30/20241 

The AICPA is using data collected during peer reviews to learn about trouble spots and is 
developing resources within the AICPA that will allow firms to have a more focused remedy for 
their findings.  Our ultimate goal is to assist firms with the hurdles they’ve faced in the past, provide 
them with tools to drive up their quality and overall “up the game on quality” in the profession.

See below for examples of matters related to the following areas: 
Professional Standards 

Clarified Auditing Standards 
Accounting and Review Services 
Attestation Standards 
Code of Professional Conduct 
Statements on Quality Control 
FASB Accounting Standards Codification 

Practice Areas 
Governmental, Single Audit, and HUD 
ERISA 
Service Organization Control Reports 
Banking, including FDICIA 
PCAOB 
Not for profit  

Professional Standards 
Clarified Auditing Standards 

• Failure to appropriately document planning procedures, including:
o Risk assessment (and linkage of risks to procedures performed)
o Planning analytics
o Understanding of IT environment
o Internal control testing
o Consideration of going concern

• Failure to properly support and document the assessed level of risk in accordance with
professional standards including:

o Setting control risk at less than high without testing the effectiveness of controls

1 Due to the timing of when peer reviews are performed, there is a lag between the year-end of the engagement and 
when a matter is included in this report.  Peer reviews are due six months after a firm’s peer review year end.  A firm’s
peer review would cover engagements with year ends during the peer review year (report dates for projections and 
AUPs).  As an example, if a firm’s peer review year is January 1, 2023, to December 31, 2023, its peer review is not 
due until June 30, 2024.  Therefore, a January 31, 2023, year-end audit would not be included in the MFC data until 
approximately June 30, 2024.  However, a December 31, 2023, year-end audit in the same scenario would be included 
in the MFC data around June 30, 2024 as well.  Refer to https://www.aicpa-cima.com/resources/article/peer-review-
summary for more information about peer review. 

We prepare our analysis on MFCs for engagements with year ends (report dates for projections and AUPs) from the 
most recently accepted peer reviews, generally within the last 15 months.  By using a 15-month period, we can ensure 
we are providing information based on the most recent engagements, including a calendar year end.   
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o Performing risk assessment at the audit level rather than at the relevant assertion
level

o Failure to properly identify and/or document the relevant risks and controls
associated with the role of IT

o Failure to document linkage between risk assessment procedures and actual
substantive procedures performed

o Failure to document fraud risk assessment procedures regarding inquiries with
those in charge of governance and response to management override of controls

o Failure to document sources of information from which conclusions were drawn
about design and implementation of controls

o Failure to properly document understanding of key internal controls and related
walkthroughs

o Failure to appropriately identify or address management override and improper
revenue recognition as significant risks due to fraud

o Failure to document fraud considerations related to major program compliance
o Failure to properly document consideration of all non-attest services performed

• Failure to obtain appropriate management representation letters.  Matters included failure
to:

o Update the letter to include all representations required by the applicable
professional standards

o Date the letter appropriately
o Include appropriate financial statement periods
o Include required representations
o Include appropriate wording concerning consultation with an attorney

• Failure to communicate and/or document required communications with those charged
with governance

• Failure to properly adopt new standards regarding revenue recognition
• Failure to include audit documentation that contains sufficient competent evidence to

support the firm's opinion on the financial statements
• Failure to adhere to established quality control policies and procedures including:

o Incorrect or insufficient use of third-party practice aids
o Usage of outdated quality control materials
o Insufficient review of audit documentation
o Compliance with policies related to continuing professional education (CPE) to

provide reasonable assurance that personnel will have the knowledge and
resources necessary to perform engagements in accordance with professional
standards

• Failure to include all elements in the engagement letter as required by current
professional standards. Matters included failure to:

o Include required reference regarding engagements performed in accordance with
Uniform Guidance and Government Auditing Standards

o Include identification of significant risks during planning
• Failure to document required communication with the predecessor auditor
• Failure to document testing of subsequent events through the date of the auditor’s report
• Failure to identify significant threats to independence and apply adequate safeguards to

eliminate threat or reduce it to an acceptable level
• Failure to adequately document internal controls over preparation of the SEFA or testing

of those controls
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• Failure to provide sufficient audit documentation such that an experienced auditor having
no previous connection to the audit would be able to understand the extent and results
of procedures performed

• Failure to perform analytical review procedures in accordance with professional
standards including developing expectations when performing the analytical procedures

Accounting and Review Services 
Compilations 

• Failure to prepare reports in accordance with professional standards.  The following
matters were noted:

o Not updated for SSARS pronouncements
o No explanation of the degree of responsibility the accountant is taking with respect

to supplementary information
o Failure to date the report appropriately
o Failure to mention that substantially all disclosures are omitted
o Failure to report on all periods presented in the financial statements
o Failure to include a separate paragraph indicating that the financial statements

were prepared in accordance with a special purpose framework and that
framework differs from generally accepted accounting principles

• Failure to include all elements in the engagement letter (e.g., objectives of the
engagements) required by SSARSs. Other miscellaneous matters were noted relative to
the engagement letter including:

o Failure to note the lack of independence or the letter referred to GAAP on an
engagement performed in accordance with a special purpose framework

o Failure to identify non-attest services provided
o Failure to obtain required signatures

Reviews 
• Failure to obtain appropriate management representation letters.  Matters included failure

to:
o Include all representations required by the applicable professional standards
o Date the letter appropriately
o Include appropriate financial statement periods

• Failure to update reports in conformity with the applicable professional standards
including:

o Inappropriate titles or lack of a title
o No headings on the report
o Failure to include an explanation of the degree of responsibility being taken with

respect to supplementary information in a separate paragraph
o Failure to include required statements regarding independence and other ethical

responsibilities in accordance with current standards
o Failure to include statement regarding supplementary information

• Failure to include all the required elements within the engagement letter
• Failure to cover all of the periods or the correct periods presented in the financial

statements in the accountant’s report
• Failure to disclose the fact that substantially all disclosures have been omitted on the face

of the financial statements or in the selected notes
• Failure to include a statement that indicates that at a minimum, no assurance is provided

on the financial statements
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• Failure to disclose departures from the financial reporting framework including the
omission of the statement of cash flows

• Failure to document materiality in accordance with current professional standards

Attestation Standards 
(Note:  Most MFCs in this area are related to AUPs or SOCs.  SOC related MFCs are included in 
the practice area section below.)   

• Failure to include required language in the AUP report in accordance with current
professional standards including:

o A statement that the sufficiency of the procedures is solely the responsibility of the
specified parties and a disclaimer of responsibility for the sufficiency of those
procedures

o All elements required by attestation standards in the engagement letter
o Failure to include the word “independent” in the title
o Date the letter in accordance with professional standards

• Failure to obtain a management representation letter
• Failure to provide appropriate documentation concerning agreed upon procedures
• Failure to obtain an engagement letter
• Failure to appropriately identify the specified parties, responsible party or subject matter

in the engagement letter

Code of Professional Conduct 

• Failure to establish and document in writing the understanding with the client with regard
to non-attest services provided

• Failure to address management’s responsibilities to oversee and evaluate the results of
the services performed

• Failure to identify significant threats to independence that require the application of
safeguards, along with the applicable safeguards applied to overcome the threats

Statements on Quality Control 

• Leadership Responsibilities for Quality within the Firm
o Failure to update the quality control document regarding EQCR and monitoring
o Failure to devote sufficient resources for the support of its quality control policies

and procedures
o Failure to ensure that firm personnel complete the appropriate amount of CPE in

areas of practice and in accordance with the requirements of professional
standards

• Engagement Performance
o Failure to properly complete or utilize purchased practice aids to assist in

performing and documenting engagements
o Failure to perform EQCR on engagements that meet the firm’s criteria

FASB Accounting Standards Codification 

• Failure to disclose the date through which subsequent events were evaluated
• Failure to adopt the latest professional standards with respect to revenue recognition
• Failure to correctly classify long term debt on the cash flow statements
• Failure to include a statement of cash flows
• Failure to correctly segregate liabilities into current and noncurrent classifications
• Failure to include required disclosures concerning:
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o Opening balances of receivables and accounts payable
o Methods and assumptions used to determine fair value
o Investment securities including investment cost, fair value and unrealized

appreciation/depreciation of investments
o Composition of current and deferred income taxes
o Inventory at the lower of cost or net realizable value
o Timing of satisfaction of performance obligations
o Policies related to goodwill
o Long term debt for the next five years
o Qualitative and quantitative management of liquid resources
o Revenue recognition for ASC 606
o Allocation of functional expenses
o Risks and uncertainties
o PPP and/or SBA loans
o Pledged assets
o Operating lease obligations

• Failure to perform sufficient procedures or sufficiently document the procedures to obtain
assurance of the fair value measurements

• Failure to properly implement new leasing standards
• Failure to properly classify unrealized gains or losses on investments
• Failure to appropriately implement provisions of ASU No. 2016-14 including:

o Failure to include required qualitative disclosures in financial statements
o Failure to appropriately classify net assets as with and without donor restrictions

• Failure to document consideration of revenue recognition under ASC 606
• Failure to properly classify current liabilities in the firm compiled classified balance

sheets
• Failure to include appropriate disclosures in footnotes related to plan amendments

adopted during the year, fair value measurements parties in interest, or plan
administration costs absorbed by the plan sponsor

Practice Areas 
Issues noted above related to professional standards and FASB Accounting Standards 
Codification were prevalent in each of these practice areas.  Matters included in this section are 
those trends identified for each specific practice area. 

Governmental, Single Audit, and HUD 
Reporting 

• Failure to include all of the required elements of professional standards in the
Independent Auditor’s Report including the following omissions: reference to the
engagement being performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards,
addressing supplemental information and required supplemental information, reference
to prior year financial statements when comparative years are presented

• Failure to include all of the required elements of professional standards in the Auditor’s
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other
Matters including omitted “Independent” from report title, omitted or incorrect reference
to material weaknesses or significant deficiencies included in the Schedule of Findings
and Questioned Costs, indication that there were no significant deficiencies identified

• Failure to report findings in the appropriate form in the Schedule of Findings and
Questioned Costs
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• Inadequate documentation related to the agreed upon procedures engagement that
accompanies a public housing authority or multifamily single audit

Disclosure and Presentation 
• Failure to present the financial statements in accordance with professional standards

including presentation of funds, missing significant policy footnotes, missing or
insufficient disclosures, post-retirement benefits, debt, investments, subsequent events

• Failure to include disclosures required by FASB ASC 606

Documentation and Performance 
• Failure to properly document independence considerations required by Yellow Book

including the evaluation of management’s skill, knowledge, or experience to effectively
oversee non audit services performed by the auditor, evaluation of self-review threat,
and safeguards applied to address a significant threat to independence

• Failure to meet the Yellow Book CPE requirements including 80 hours of A&A and 24
hours of CPE that directly relates to government auditing, the government environment,
or the specific or unique environment in which the auditee operates

• Failure to properly document consideration of the impact of new GASB lease standards
• Inadequate documentation related to evaluation of actuary qualifications
• Failure to document communications with the predecessor auditor
• Failure to properly document linkage between assessed risk to the procedures

performed
• Failure to comply with the procedures outlined in the HUD audit guide. Matters included:

o Failure to identify testing of direct and material compliance requirements
o Failure to select a sample size that was equal or greater to the minimum

suggested in the HUD audit guide
• SINGLE AUDIT: Failure to identify and test sufficient and appropriate major programs,

failure to cluster, failure to properly perform Type A and Type B program risk
assessments, failure to group programs with the same Assistance Listing number, and
incorrect determination of the auditee as low-risk resulting in insufficient coverage

• SINGLE AUDIT: Failure to properly conclude and document either that an applicable
compliance requirement does not apply to the particular auditee or that noncompliance
with the requirements could not have a direct and material effect on a major program

• SINGLE AUDIT: Failure to document an understanding of internal control over
compliance of federal awards sufficient to plan the audit to support low assessed level of
control risk for major programs, including consideration of risk of material noncompliance
(materiality) related to each applicable compliance requirement and major program

• SINGLE AUDIT: Failure to document the adequacy of the planned sample size for test of
controls over compliance to achieve a low level of control risk

• SINGLE AUDIT: Failure to document the testing of controls and compliance for the
relevant assertions related to each applicable compliance requirement with a direct and
material effect for the major program

• SINGLE AUDIT: Lack of documentation of risk of material noncompliance for the major
program’s compliance requirements occurring due to fraud

• SINGLE AUDIT: Lack of documentation related to the SEFA:
o Internal controls over the preparation of the SEFA
o Procedures to determine whether the SEFA is fairly presented in all material

respects
o Reconciliation of the SEFA to amounts in the financial statements
o Appropriate identification of relevant clusters
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• SINGLE AUDIT: Lack of documentation of consideration of subsequent events related to
the major program and its compliance requirements

ERISA 

• Incomplete or unclear audit documentation in the following areas:
o Risk assessment
o Internal controls or walkthrough of those controls
o Sampling
o Reliance on and evaluation of SOC1 report
o Management’s assessment of whether the entity issuing certification is a qualified

institution under DOL rules and regulations
o Management’s determination that an audit qualified for a 103(a)(3)(c) audit
o Identification of all parties in interest

• Failure to implement requirements for ERISA Section 103(a)(3)(C) audits including:
o Failure to include the required representations in the management representation

letter
o Failure to include all required elements in the engagement letter
o Failure to correctly cover comparative years in the auditor’s report

Service Organization Control (SOC) Reports 
Failure to include required elements in the report such as: 

o Complementary user entity controls
o Carve outs
o Identification of the criteria against which the subject matter was measured or

evaluated
o Inclusion of all controls in control activity section
o Statement concerning independence as required under SSAE 21

• Failure to have sufficient working paper support for information included in the report, such
as lack of or poor documentation of:

o Procedures to assess the nature, timing, and extent of the procedures (specifically
sampling methodology)

o Procedures to test carve outs
o Procedures to assess the suitability criteria to evaluate whether management’s

description of the service organization’s system is fairly presented
o Procedures to assess the completeness and accuracy of population files

Banking, including FDICIA 

• Failure to include all elements required by professional standards in the accountant’s
report on internal controls including walkthroughs of the controls

• Failure to comply with the independence rules applicable to these engagements
• Failure to properly disclose:

o Loan servicing fees including the amount of contractual fees and assumptions
used to estimate the fair value of the fees

o The allowance for loan losses and impaired loans
• Failure to properly disclose the methodology used to determine sample size or the

adequacy of the method used
• Failure to obtain a representation letter
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PCAOB 

• Failure to include required references to PCAOB standards

Not for profit 

• Failure to obtain the necessary knowledge of current standards and obtain the proper
training for NFP engagements

• Failure to appropriately document assessment of the SKE of staff designated to oversee
non-attest services

• Failure to include all representations required by the applicable professional standards in
the management representation letter including:

o The required elements regarding oversight and responsibility for multiple non-
attest services performed

o Modifications to indicate the client had not utilized legal counsel regarding
litigation, claims or assessment

• Failure to document walk through procedures performed
• Failure to document application of safeguards to eliminate threats or reduce them to an

acceptable level
• Failure to include all required elements within the engagement letter including the

identification of the applicable financial reporting framework for the preparation of the
financial statement

• Failure to include all periods covered by the financial statement in the firm representation
letter

• Failure to include required disclosures regarding:
o Risks and uncertainties
o Leases
o Liquidity

• Failure to include the required footnote for liquidity and availability in financial statements
• Failure to clearly, sufficiently and adequately document the assessed level of risk at the

relevant assertion level in accordance with professional standards including:
o Setting control risk at less than high without testing the effectiveness of controls

• Failure to modify language in the accountants report as required by current applicable
professional standards to reflect that some of the prior year comparative information was
summarized and therefore not the minimum required by GAAP

• Failure to properly present net assets, functional expenses and/or liquidity in financial
statements

• Failure to implement current professional standards regarding qualitative information that
is useful in assessing liquidity and qualitative information that communicates how the
entity manages its liquid resources available to meet cash needs within one year of the
date of the statement of financial position

• Failure to include all required elements in the auditor's report including the statement
that the supplementary information is presented for purposes of additional analysis and
is not a required part of the financial statements and a statement that the supplementary
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from, and related
directly to, the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial
statements.

• Failure to document threats to independence
• Failure to include appropriate documentation and/or disclosures related to the

implementation of ASC 606 including:
o Revenue recognition
o Opening balance of contract assets and liabilities
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• Failure to appropriately classify assets in accordance with ASU 2016-14
• Failure to include required language under SAS 134
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What happened? 

In June 2022, the AICPA Auditing Standards Board (ASB) 
issued Statement on Auditing Standards (SAS) No. 147, 
Inquiries of the Predecessor Auditor Regarding Fraud and 
Noncompliance With Laws and Regulations.  SAS No. 147 
amends SAS No. 122, Statements on Auditing Standards: 
Clarification and Recodification, as amended, section 210, 
Terms of Engagement.      

SAS No. 147 clarifies requirements and guidance related 
to the auditor’s inquiries of a predecessor auditor about 
matters that will assist the auditor in determining whether 
to accept the engagement.  In doing so, SAS No. 147 
narrowly revises auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America (GAAS) to require an auditor, 
once management authorizes the predecessor auditor to 
respond to inquiries from the auditor, to inquire of the 
predecessor auditor regarding identified or suspected 
fraud and matters involving NOCLAR. In addition, SAS No. 
147 clarifies that once an engagement is accepted, the 
auditor should document the inquiries of the predecessor 
auditor and the results of those inquiries. 

SAS No. 147 does not revise the audit requirement that 
the auditor request management to authorize the 
predecessor auditor to respond fully to the auditor’s 
inquiries regarding matters that will assist the auditor in 
determining whether to accept the engagement.      

The flowchart on the opposite side of the page illustrates 
the narrow revisions to GAAS.  The additional procedures 
introduced by SAS No. 147 are in purple. 

Next steps? 

SAS No. 147 is effective for audits of financial statements 
for periods beginning on or after June 30, 2023.   

SAS No. 147 is available for auditors to read and consider 
in order to adequately prepare for implementation, and 
can be viewed on the AICPA’s website under recently 
issued ASB standards – not yet effective.      

© 2022 Association of International Certified Professional Accountants. All rights 
reserved. AICPA and American Institute of CPAs are trademarks of the American Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants and are registered in the United States, the European 
Union and other countries. The Globe Design is a trademark owned by the Association of 
International Certified Professional Accountants and licensed to the AICPA. 1903-88360 

At a glance
From the Audit & Attest Standards Team

Revisions to Requirements Related to the 
Auditor’s Inquiries of a Predecessor Auditor 
Regarding Fraud and Noncompliance with Laws 
and Regulations (NOCLAR) 
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What happened? 
On August 4, 2022, the AICPA Auditing Standards Board (ASB) 
issued Statement on Auditing Standards (SAS) No. 148, 
Amendment to AU-C Section 935.  

What has changed? 
SAS No. 148 amends AU-C section 935, Compliance Audits, to 
address conforming changes and update the appendix “AU-C 
Sections That Are Not Applicable to Compliance Audits” (the 
appendix) to reflect the issuance of the following SASs: 

• SAS No. 142, Audit Evidence (AU-C section 500)

• SAS No. 145, Understanding the Entity and Its
Environment and Assessing the Risks of Material
Misstatement  (AU-C section 315)

No amendment is necessary to AU-C section 935 to reflect the 
issuance of the following SASs:

• SAS No. 143, Auditing Accounting Estimates and Related
Disclosures (AU-C section 540)

• SAS No. 144, Amendments to AU-C Sections 501, 540,
and 620 Related to the Use of Specialists and the Use
of Pricing Information Obtained From External
Information Sources

Revisions arising from SAS No. 142  
SAS No. 142 superseded SAS No. 122, Statements on Auditing 
Standards: Clarification and Recodification, section 500, Audit 
Evidence (AU-C section 500A), and amended various AU-C 
sections, including AU-C section 501, Audit Evidence — Specific 
Considerations for Selected Items. The amendments in SAS No. 
142 moved what had been paragraph .08 of AU-C section 500A, 
relating to using the work of a management’s specialist, to become 
paragraph .27 of AU-C section 501, without any substantive 
changes to that paragraph. This paragraph was applicable to 
compliance audits when it was in AU-C section 500A, and that 
applicability didn’t change when it was relocated. Accordingly, the 
appendix in AU-C section 935 is revised to reflect the continued 
applicability of this paragraph in a compliance audit.

Revisions arising from SAS No. 145 
• Updated appendix to include

— paragraphs comparable to those in AU-C section 315A
    that are not applicable to a compliance audit. 

— paragraphs that address significant risks and classes 
    of transactions, account balances, and disclosures 
    that are not significant but are material, as these  
    concepts are not applicable to compliance audits.

• Added a requirement to AU-C section 935 to address
the auditor’s responsibility in adapting and applying
requirements relating to the control activities component
in a compliance audit.

• For ease of use and clarity, added, adapted as necessary,
requirements related to identifying and assessing risks of
material noncompliance and, consequently, included the
SAS No. 145 paragraphs containing those requirements
in the appendix as paragraphs that are not applicable
when applying AU-C section 315 to a compliance audit.
Application material was added to AU-C section 935 that
references the 22 relevant application material
paragraphs for paragraphs 35 and 37–38 in SAS No. 145.

• Added a requirement relating to documentation of
identified and assessed risks of material noncompliance,
and consequently included the comparable paragraph
from SAS No. 145 in the appendix as a paragraph that is
not applicable in a compliance audit.

• Certain other editorial revisions were made for clarity or
consistency with other AU-C sections.

Next steps? 
The effective date of the amendment to the appendix with regard 
to AU-C section 501 is aligned with the effective date of SAS No. 
142 because, as explained previously, this amendment arises from 
SAS No. 142. This amendment is not intended to change current 
practice, as only the placement of the underlying requirement within 
generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS) changed. All other 
amendments in this SAS arise from SAS No. 145, and accordingly, 
their effective date is aligned with the effective date of SAS No.145.

Early implementation of SAS No. 148 is permitted. The ASB 
recommends that any firm that performs compliance audits 
implement SAS No. 148 concurrently with its implementation of 
SAS No. 145. SAS No. 148 is available for auditors to read and 
consider in order to adequately prepare for implementation and can 
be viewed on the AICPA’s website under recently issued standards. 

At a glance
From the Audit & Attest Standards Team

Amendment to AU-C Section 
935, Compliance Audits
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What happened? 
In March 2023, the AICPA Auditing Standards Board 
(ASB) issued Statement on Auditing Standards (SAS) No. 
149, Special Considerations—Audits of Group Financial 
Statements (Including the Work of Component Auditors 
and Audits of Referred-to Auditors). SAS No. 149 
supersedes section 600, Special Considerations—Audits of 
Group Financial Statements (Including the Work of 
Component Auditors), of SAS No. 122, as amended, and 
makes conforming amendments to various other SASs.     

The ASB also issued Statement on Quality Management 
Standards (SQMS) No. 3, Amendments to QM Sections 10, 
A Firm’s System of Quality Management, and 20, 
Engagement Quality Reviews. The amendments to QM 
sections 10 and 20 conform certain terms to language 
used in SAS No. 149 and provide guidance on 
differentiating between a resource and an information 
source. 

What has changed? 
The most significant change introduced by SAS No. 149 is 
that it provides a risk-based approach to planning and 
performing a group audit. Former AU-C section 600 
required the group engagement team to identify 
significant components at which to perform audit work; 
whereas SAS No. 149 directs the  group auditor to use 
professional judgment in determining the components at 
which to perform procedures, based on assessed risks. 
SAS No. 149 also better aligns the standard with other 
recently issued SASs and clarifies the interaction between 
the SAS and other AU-C sections.  

New terms and definitions 
SAS No. 149 introduces the term referred-to auditor and 
defines it as an auditor who performs an audit of the 
financial statements of a component to which the group 
engagement partner determines to make reference in the 
auditor’s report on the group financial statements. The 
definition also indicates that a referred-to auditor is not a 
component auditor and, accordingly, is not a part of the 
engagement team for a group audit. In former AU-C 
section 600, an auditor for whom the group auditor 
assumes responsibility and an auditor to whom the group 
auditor makes reference are both termed component 
auditors. 

SAS No.149 also revises the definition of the term 
component auditor to indicate that a component auditor 
is part of the engagement team. The ASB made this 
change to reflect SAS No. 146, Quality Management for an 
Engagement Conducted in Accordance With Generally 
Accepted Auditing Standards (AU-C section 220), which 
revises the definition of the term engagement team to 
include component auditors. This change is intended to 
improve audit quality by making the group engagement 
partner responsible for the direction and supervision of 
component auditors and review of their work. In addition, 
the definition of component auditor has been revised so 
that it excludes referred-to auditors. 

Consistent with former AU-C section 600, investments 
accounted for using the equity method of accounting are 
considered components and therefore are included in the 
scope of SAS No. 149. The SAS identifies  procedures the 
group auditor is required to perform to  determine 
whether to use the audited financial statements  of the 
equity method investment, including the accompanying 
audit report, as audit evidence; matters that may cause 
the group auditor to conclude that additional audit 
procedures are necessary; and additional procedures the 
group auditor may perform to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence.  

Next steps? 

SAS No. 149 is effective for audits of group financial 
statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 
2026.  

SQMS No. 3 is effective concurrently with the effective 
dates provided in QM sections 10 and 20. 

SAS No. 149 and SQMS No. 3 are available for auditors to 
read and consider in order to adequately prepare for 
implementation, and can be viewed on the AICPA’s 
website under recently issued ASB standards – not yet 
effective. 
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From the Audit & Attest Standards Team

New Statement on Auditing Standards for 
Group Audits 

219

https://www.aicpa.org/resources/landing/audit-attest-and-quality-control-standards
https://www.aicpa.org/resources/landing/audit-attest-and-quality-control-standards


Establishing and Maintaining  
a System of Quality Management  
for a CPA Firm’s Accounting  
and Auditing Practice

Chapter 1: Overview of Statement  
on Quality Management Standards No. 1

For Small- and 
Medium-Sized Firms

Audit and Accounting 
Practice Aid Series

220



Establishing and Maintaining a System of Quality Management for a CPA Firm’s Accounting and Auditing Practice | ii  

Quality Management Implementation Task Force
	

AICPA Staff

Disclaimer: The contents of this publication do not necessarily reflect the position or opinion of the AICPA®, its divisions, 
and its committees. This publication is designed to provide accurate information on the subject covered. It is distributed 
with the understanding that the authors are not engaged in rendering legal, accounting, or other professional services. If 
legal advice or other expert assistance is required, the services of a competent professional should be sought.

The AICPA encourages practitioners to use this practice aid in developing and documenting their system of quality 
management, and, as such, we grant users permission to copy and incorporate portions of the work as necessary. This 
permission is for internal use only, except for educational purposes. The materials or any portion thereof may not be 
incorporated into a for-sale work or otherwise distributed without separate written permission from the AICPA. 

For more information about the procedure for requesting permission, please email copyright-permissions@aicpa-cima.com 
with your request. Otherwise, requests should be written and mailed to the Permissions Department, AICPA, 220 Leigh Farm 
Road, Durham, NC 27707.

Alan Long, Chair	

Toby Akrab	

Brian Bluhm	

Sherry Chesser	

Horace Emery	

Katherine Fletcher

Greg Jenkins

Phil Laycock

Joseph Lynch

Richard W. Reeder

Mike Westervelt

Jennifer Burns, CPA 
Chief Auditor 
Professional Standards and Services

Ahava Z. Goldman, CPA 
Associate Director 
Audit and Attest Standards

Jennifer Gum, CPA 
Manager — Audit Quality Initiatives 
Audit and Accounting Quality

221

mailto:copyright-permissions%40aicpa-cima?subject=


Establishing and Maintaining a System of Quality Management for a CPA Firm’s Accounting and Auditing Practice | iii  

Notice to readers
This AICPA Audit and Accounting Practice Aid replaces Establishing and Maintaining a System 
of Quality Control for a CPA Firm’s Accounting and Auditing Practice, which was issued in 2015. 
Although this practice aid has been reviewed by the AICPA Audit and Attest Standards staff, it has 
not been approved, disapproved, or otherwise acted upon by any senior technical committee of the 
AICPA and has no official or authoritative status. 

This practice aid does not address the quality control requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002 (SOX), nor does it address the quality control requirements of PCAOB standards that auditors 
of issuers must follow. Auditors of issuers should follow these other standards and make changes 
to their firm’s quality control systems as necessary.  

Additional information about the PCAOB and SOX can be obtained at the PCAOB website 
at pcaobus.org.
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How to use this practice aid
This AICPA Audit and Accounting Practice Aid, 
Establishing and Maintaining a System of Quality 
Management for a CPA Firm’s Accounting and 
Auditing Practice, is intended to help practitioners 
design, implement, and operate a system of quality 
management for their firm’s accounting and auditing 
practice, as required by Statement on Quality 
Management Standards (SQMS) No. 1, A Firm’s System 
of Quality Management, issued by the AICPA. 

SQMS No. 1 requires the firm to apply a risk-based 
approach in designing, implementing, and operating the 
components of the system of quality management. In 
applying a risk-based approach, the firm is required to 
take into account the nature and circumstances of both 
the firm and the engagements performed by the firm. 
This practice aid explains how to apply a risk-based 
approach and includes a library of potential risks and 
suggested responses. 

Use this practice aid, and the Example Risk Assessment 
template, to help you apply the risk-based approach, 
identify the quality risks to your practice, and implement 
policies and procedures as necessary for the facts and 
circumstances of your practice. 

Many of the policies and procedures may need to be 
modified to be applicable to your firm. Some may not 
be applicable at all. You may need to add policies and 
procedures that are already part of your system. Some 
of the policies and procedures are required by SQMS 
No. 1; these are noted in chapters 3 and 4.

Be aware that if you do not customize the risks and 
responses to the nature of your practice

• �you won’t be in compliance with the standards.

• �you won’t be doing what is most efficient and
effective for your practice.

If all you do is

• �copy the quality risks from this practice aid, it is likely
that your quality risks will be incomplete, or that you
will include quality risks that do not apply to your firm.
Do not copy the quality risks from this practice aid
without thoughtful consideration of any modifications
needed for your firm’s nature and circumstances.

• �copy and paste the policies and procedures in this
practice aid, you will be committing to responses that
may not apply to your firm. And, because you included
them in your documentation of your system of quality
management, your peer reviewer will expect you to
apply those policies and procedures.

In addition, a firm’s risk assessment should be 
iterative and updated when changes in the nature and 
circumstances of the firm or its engagements occur. An 
incomplete or out-of-date risk assessment can have a 
significant effect on the system of quality management.

This practice aid is intended for firms with two or more 
personnel. If your firm has only one assurance partner, 
or only one partner with expertise in a specialized area, 
you may find the AICPA Audit and Accounting Practice 
Aid Establishing and Maintaining a System of Quality 
Management for a CPA Firm’s Accounting and Auditing 
Practice for sole practitioners, also helpful.
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Chapter 1 – Overview of statements 
on quality management standards
Statement on Quality Management Standards (SQMS) 
No. 1, A Firm’s System of Quality Management, (QM 
section 10),1 was issued by the Auditing Standards  
Board of the AICPA in June 2022 and is effective  
for a firm’s accounting and auditing practice as 
of December 15, 2025. This standard supersedes 
Statement on Quality Control Standards No. 8,  
A Firm’s System of Quality Control.2 

The biggest change reflected in the new QM standard is 
the introduction of a risk-based approach in designing, 
implementing, and operating a system of quality 
management (SOQM), which helps firms identify and 
address risks specific to their practice and creates a 
more scalable approach to quality for all firms. The 
risk-based approach comprises (a) establishing  quality 
objectives (the desired outcomes relating to the 
components of the SOQM to be achieved by the firm);  
(b) identifying and assessing quality risks (a risk that
has a reasonable possibility of occurring and, individually
or in combination with other risks, adversely affecting
the achievement of one or more quality objectives); and
(c) designing and implementing responses (policies or
procedures designed and implemented by the firm to
address one or more quality risks).

The standard’s approach emphasizes the responsibility 
of firm leadership for proactively managing quality and 
provides flexibility to deal with differences in the size of 
firms and the nature of the services they provide. The 
essence of this approach is to focus firms’ attention on 
risks that may have an impact on engagement quality. 
The approach requires a firm to customize the design, 
implementation, and operation of its SOQM based 
on the nature and circumstances of the firm and the 
engagements it performs. The standard also has an 
increased emphasis on a continual flow of remediation 
and improvement.

An SOQM addresses the following eight components, 
which are highly integrated and do not act in a  
linear manner:

1. The firm’s risk assessment process

2. Governance and leadership

3. Relevant ethical requirements

4. �Acceptance and continuance of client
relationships and specific engagements

5. Engagement performance

6. Resources

7. Information and communication

8. The monitoring and remediation process

The objective of the firm is to design, implement, and 
operate an SOQM for its accounting and auditing practice 
that provides the firm with reasonable assurance that

• �the firm and its personnel fulfill their responsibilities in
accordance with professional standards and applicable
legal and regulatory requirements and conduct
engagements in accordance with such standards and
requirements, and

• �engagement reports issued by the firm are appropriate
in the circumstances.

In this context, reasonable assurance is not intended 
to be obtained through independent assurance that the 
system is effective (for example, by having a peer review 
every year); instead, it is obtained through the operation 
of the system as a whole. 

1 The QM sections can be found in AICPA Professional Standards.
2 The Statements on Quality Control Standards are codified in the QC sections in AICPA Professional Standards.
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The firm’s risk assessment process
The purpose of the risk assessment process element of 
an SOQM is to establish quality objectives, identify and 
assess quality risks, and design and implement responses 
to address the quality risks. The risk assessment process 
section of SQMS No. 1 focuses firms’ attention on risks 
that may have an impact on engagement quality. 

The risk assessment is a three-step process:

1. �Establish quality objectives. The standard requires
the firm to establish specific quality objectives
for each component except risk assessment and
monitoring and remediation. The firm is required
to establish additional quality objectives when
necessary to achieve the objective of the SOQM.
However, the firm may not find it necessary to
establish additional quality objectives.

2. �Identify and assess risks to the achievement of
the quality objectives (referred to in the standard
as quality risks). Identifying and assessing quality
risks involves

a. �understanding the factors (that is, the conditions,
events, circumstances, actions, or inactions)
that may adversely affect the achievement of
the quality objectives and

b. �taking into account how and the degree to which
the factors may adversely affect the achievement
of the quality objectives. (The assessment of
identified quality risks does not require formal
ratings or scores.)

�A risk arises from how, and the degree to which,
a condition, event, circumstance, action, or
inaction may adversely affect the achievement
of a quality objective. Not all risks meet the
definition of a quality risk.

3. �Design and implement responses to address the
quality risks. The nature, timing, and extent of the
firm’s responses to address the quality risks are
based on, and responsive to, the reasons for the
assessments given to the quality risks. Certain
responses are specified in the standard; however,
the specific responses required by the standard
will not be sufficient for the firm to address all its
quality risks.

Firms are also required to identify information indicating 
the need for additions or modifications to quality 
objectives, quality risks, or responses.

Governance and leadership
The purpose of the governance and leadership element 
of an SOQM is to promote an internal culture based on 
the recognition that quality is essential in performing 
engagements. The governance and leadership section 
of SQMS No. 1 addresses the expected behavior of firm 
leadership in setting the tone at the top, the appropriate 
qualifications of leadership, and holding leadership 
accountable through performance evaluations. The 
standard also addresses the importance of quality in the 
firm’s strategic decisions and actions — including financial 
and operational priorities — as well as firm leadership’s 
ability to influence decisions about the firm’s resources. 

The firm is required to assign ultimate responsibility and 
accountability for the SOQM to the firm’s CEO, managing 
partner (or equivalent), or if appropriate, managing board 
of partners (or equivalent). 

In addition, the firm is required to assign the following to 
designated individuals:

• Operational responsibility for the SOQM

• �Operational responsibility for specific aspects of
the SOQM, including compliance with independence
requirements and the monitoring and remediation
process

SQMS No. 1 emphasizes the firm’s commitment to 
quality through a culture that reflects the firm’s role in 
serving the public interest through consistent quality 
engagements. Leadership demonstrating a commitment 
to quality through its actions and behaviors reinforces 
the responsibility that all personnel hold for quality 
relating to the performance of engagements and 
activities within the SOQM. 
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Relevant ethical requirements
The purpose of the relevant ethical requirements element 
of an SOQM is to provide the firm with reasonable 
assurance that the firm and its personnel comply 
with relevant ethical requirements when performing 
professional responsibilities. The relevant ethical 
requirements component of SQMS No. 1 addresses 
responsibilities regarding ethical requirements for the 
firm and its personnel as well as others in the firm’s 
network. The following quality objectives should be 
established relating to the firm and its personnel:

• �Understand the relevant ethical requirements to which
the firm and the firm’s engagements are subject.

• �Fulfill their responsibilities in relation to the relevant
ethical requirements to which the firm and the firm’s
engagements are subject.

The firm should also ascertain that others (including 
the network, network firms, individuals in the network or 
network firms, or service providers) who are subject to 
the relevant ethical requirements to which the firm and 
the firm’s engagements are subject

• �understand the relevant ethical requirements that apply
to them, and

• �fulfill their responsibilities in relation to the relevant
ethical requirements that apply to them

Examples of relationships between the relevant ethical 
requirements component and other components include 
the following: 

• �The information and communication component may
address the communication of various matters related
to relevant ethical requirements, including

– �the firm communicating the independence
requirements to all personnel and others
subject to independence requirements.

– �personnel and engagement teams communicating
relevant information to the firm without fear of
reprisals, such as situations that may create
threats to independence or breaches of relevant
ethical requirements.

• As part of the resources component, the firm may

– �assign individuals to manage and monitor
compliance with relevant ethical requirements
or to provide consultation on matters related to
relevant ethical requirements.

– �use IT applications to monitor compliance with
relevant ethical requirements, including recording
and maintaining information about independence.

The relevant ethical requirements that apply to others 
depend on the provisions of the relevant ethical 
requirements and how the firm uses others in its  
SOQM or in performing engagements. Examples follow:

• �Relevant ethical requirements may include
requirements for independence that apply to
network firms or employees of network firms.

• �The principle of confidentiality may apply to the
firm’s network, other network firms, or service
providers when they have access to client
information obtained by the firm.
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Acceptance and continuance of client relationships 
and specific engagements
The purpose of the acceptance and continuance of  
client relationships and specific engagements component 
of an SOQM is to provide reasonable assurance that the 
firm makes appropriate judgments about whether to 
accept or continue a client relationship and whether to 
perform a specific engagement. A firm’s acceptance and 
continuance policies represent a key element in quality 
management, while also mitigating litigation and business 
risk. This component of SQMS No. 1 also addresses 
quality objectives for firms around client acceptance 
and continuance decisions. These objectives include 
judgments by the firm to accept or continue a client 
relationship or specific engagement based on

• �information obtained about the nature and
circumstances of the engagement.

• �information obtained about the integrity and ethical
values of the client, including the identity and business
reputation of the client’s principal owners, key
management, and those charged with its governance.

• �the firm’s ability to perform the engagement in
accordance with professional standards. and
applicable legal and regulatory requirements

SQMS No. 1 also emphasizes that the financial and 
operational priorities of the firm should not lead to 
inappropriate judgments about whether to accept or 
continue a client relationship or specific engagement.

Engagement performance
The purpose of the engagement performance element 
of an SOQM is to provide the firm with reasonable 
assurance that engagements are consistently performed 
in accordance with applicable professional standards 
and regulatory and legal requirements and that the firm 
issues reports that are appropriate in the circumstances. 
The engagement performance section of SQMS No. 1 
provides quality objectives that firms should establish 
to obtain reasonable assurance that high-quality 
performance is being attained in the firm’s engagements. 
Establishing and maintaining quality objectives such 
as the following help the firm in obtaining reasonable 
assurance relating to the engagement performance 
element of an SOQM:

• �Engagement teams understand and fulfill their
responsibilities in connection with the engagements,
including, as applicable, the overall responsibility of
engagement partners for managing and achieving
quality on the engagement and being sufficiently and
appropriately involved throughout the engagement.

• �The nature, timing, and extent of direction and
supervision of engagement teams and review of the
work performed is appropriate based on the nature and
circumstances of the engagements and the resources

assigned or made available to the engagement teams; 
the work performed by less experienced engagement 
team members is directed, supervised, and reviewed 
by suitably experienced engagement team members. 

• �Engagement teams exercise appropriate professional
judgment and, when applicable to the type of
engagement, maintain professional skepticism.

• �Consultation on difficult or contentious matters is
undertaken, and the conclusions agreed to
are implemented.

• �Differences of opinion within the engagement team,
or between the engagement team and the engagement
quality reviewer or individuals performing activities
within the firm’s SOQM, are brought to the attention of
the firm and resolved.

• �Engagement documentation is assembled on a
timely basis after the date of the engagement report
and is appropriately maintained and retained to
meet the needs of the firm and comply with law,
regulation, relevant ethical requirements, and
professional standards.
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Resources
The purpose of the resources element of an SOQM is 
to provide the firm with reasonable assurance that it is 
appropriately obtaining, developing, using, maintaining, 
allocating, and assigning resources in a timely manner 
to enable the design, implementation, and operation of 
the SOQM. SQMS No. 1 addresses all resources that the 
firm needs both to operate the system and to perform 
engagements. These resources cover the following:

• �Technological resources. For example, audit
tools or IT applications used by the firm for
independence monitoring.

• �Intellectual resources. For example, the firm’s
methodology, guidance, templates, or tools.

• �Human resources. This may include people outside
the firm used in engagements, including component
auditors or engagement quality reviewers who are
external to the firm.

The standard focuses on what resources are needed, 
how they are used and maintained, and whether they 
are appropriate. The principles-based nature of the 
requirements relating to resources takes into account 
the variety of resources used and their source. The 
resources section of SQMS No. 1 also covers the use of 
resources from service providers and how to determine 
that those resources are appropriate for the intended use 
by the firm. A resource from a service provider could be 
a methodology, an IT application, or people used in an 
engagement. Services that come from a firm’s network, 
if the firm belongs to a network, are not considered as 
coming from a service provider. 

Information and communication
The purpose of the information and communication 
element of an SOQM is to address the importance of 
communicating information obtained, generated, or 
used both within the firm and to external parties on a 
timely basis to enable the design, implementation, and 
operation of the SOQM. 

This component of SQMS No. 1 underscores the 
importance of a continuous flow of information and 
communication by linking the exchange of information to 
the firm’s culture so that it is driven from top leadership 
throughout the firm. The standard requires that the 
firm establish an information system with processes 
to identify, capture, process, and maintain information, 
acknowledging that less complex firms with fewer 
personnel and direct involvement of leadership may 

accomplish the objective with less rigorous or detailed 
policies and procedures. 

This component of SQMS No. 1 also encourages firms 
to be transparent to external parties about their SOQM 
in a relevant, innovative, and proactive manner. This 
component requires that firms establish policies and 
procedures that address when communications with 
external parties are appropriate. To promote continual 
innovation in this area, the standard provides flexibility 
regarding the specific information communicated, the 
form of that communication, and the nature, timing, and 
extent of communication. 
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Monitoring and remediation
The purpose of the monitoring and remediation process 
element of an SOQM is to provide the firm with relevant, 
reliable, and timely information about the design, 
implementation, and operation of the SOQM so the firm 
may take appropriate action to remediate identified 
deficiencies on a timely basis. SQMS No. 1 focuses on 
monitoring activities that address the entire SOQM. The 
standard emphasizes performing tailored monitoring 
activities sufficient to provide a basis for the firm to 
evaluate the SOQM. 

The requirements also emphasize factors that firms 
should consider in designing monitoring activities, rather 
than prescribing such activities. The nature, timing, and 
extent of monitoring activities will be driven by many  
firm-specific factors including the following:

• How the underlying system is designed

• �The nature and circumstances of the firm and
engagements it performs

• The extent of changes to the system

• �The results of previous monitoring activities or
external inspections

This component includes a requirement to inspect 
completed engagements and for engagement partners 
to be inspected on a cyclical basis. The firm determines 
its inspection criteria, including how often to select 
completed engagements, which completed engagements 
to select, which engagement partners to select, and how 
frequently to select an engagement partner. In doing so, 
the firm takes into account factors such as other types 
of monitoring the firm does, areas of risk, and how the 
system is designed. 

The standard includes requirements for evaluating 
findings, identifying deficiencies, and evaluating the 
severity and persuasiveness of the deficiencies. These 
include a requirement to investigate the root cause of 
identified deficiencies. The requirement is intended to be 
flexible to encourage firms to scale the nature, timing, and 
extent of the procedures to investigate the root cause of 
the deficiencies so that they are appropriate and tailored 
to the circumstances. The evaluation of the severity and 
pervasiveness of deficiencies is also used by leadership in 
evaluating the system and concluding whether it achieved 
its objectives. 
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Notice to readers
This AICPA Audit and Accounting Practice Aid replaces Establishing and Maintaining a System 
of Quality Control for a CPA Firm’s Accounting and Auditing Practice, which was issued in 2015. 
Although this practice aid has been reviewed by the AICPA Audit and Attest Standards staff, it has 
not been approved, disapproved, or otherwise acted upon by any senior technical committee of the 
AICPA and has no official or authoritative status. 

This practice aid does not address the quality control requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002 (SOX), nor does it address the quality control requirements of PCAOB standards that auditors 
of issuers must follow. Auditors of issuers should follow these other standards and make changes 
to their firm’s quality control systems as necessary.  

Additional information about the PCAOB and SOX can be obtained at the PCAOB website 
at www.pcaobus.org.
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How to use this practice aid
This AICPA Audit and Accounting Practice Aid, 
Establishing and Maintaining a System of Quality 
Management for a CPA Firm’s Accounting and 
Auditing Practice, is intended to help practitioners 
design, implement, and operate a system of quality 
management for their firm’s accounting and auditing 
practice, as required by Statement on Quality 
Management Standards (SQMS) No. 1, A Firm’s System 
of Quality Management, issued by the AICPA. 

SQMS No. 1 requires the firm to apply a risk-based 
approach in designing, implementing, and operating the 
components of the system of quality management. In 
applying a risk-based approach, the firm is required to 
take into account the nature and circumstances of both 
the firm and the engagements performed by the firm. 
This practice aid explains how to apply a risk-based 
approach and includes a library of potential risks and 
suggested responses. 

Use this practice aid, and the Example Risk Assessment 
template, to help you apply the risk-based approach, 
identify the quality risks to your practice, and implement 
policies and procedures as necessary for the facts and 
circumstances of your practice. 

Many of the policies and procedures may need to be 
modified to be applicable to your firm. Some may not 
be applicable at all. You may need to add policies and 
procedures that are already part of your system. Some 
of the policies and procedures are required by SQMS 
No. 1; these are noted in chapters 3 and 4.

Be aware that if you do not customize the risks and 
responses to the nature of your practice

• �you won’t be in compliance with the standards.

• �you won’t be doing what is most efficient and
effective for your practice.

If all you do is

• �copy the quality risks from this practice aid, it is likely
that your quality risks will be incomplete, or that you
will include quality risks that do not apply to your firm.
Do not copy the quality risks from this practice aid
without thoughtful consideration of any modifications
needed for your firm’s nature and circumstances.

• �copy and paste the policies and procedures in this
practice aid, you will be committing to responses that
may not apply to your firm. And, because you included
them in your documentation of your system of quality
management, your peer reviewer will expect you to
apply those policies and procedures.

In addition, a firm’s risk assessment should be 
iterative and updated when changes in the nature and 
circumstances of the firm or its engagements occur. An 
incomplete or out-of-date risk assessment can have a 
significant effect on the system of quality management.

This practice aid is intended for firms with two or more 
personnel. If your firm has only one assurance partner, 
or only one partner with expertise in a specialized area, 
you may find the AICPA Audit and Accounting Practice 
Aid Establishing and Maintaining a System of Quality 
Management for a CPA Firm’s Accounting and Auditing 
Practice for sole practitioners, also helpful.
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Chapter 2 – Overview of risk 
assessment requirements
The starting point for the system of quality management 
(SOQM) is the design and implementation of a risk 
assessment process to

• establish quality objectives;

• identify and assess quality risks; and

• �design and implement responses to address
the quality risks.

This chapter describes the requirements 
for the firm to perform a risk assessment 
(see paragraphs .24–.28 and .A40–.A55 
of Statement on Quality Management 
Standards [SQMS] No. 1, A Firm’s System 
of Quality Control [QM section 10]1) and 
includes practical guidance for performing 
the risk assessment.

Establish quality objectives
The firm should establish for each of the following 
components quality objectives required by the standard:

• Governance and leadership

• Relevant ethical requirements
• �Acceptance and continuance of client relationships

and specific engagements
• Engagement performance
• Resources
• Information and communication

These specific quality objectives are discussed 
later in this practice aid.

The firm might find it helpful to break the quality objectives 
into sub-objectives, although that is not required.

Firms should establish policies or procedures to identify 
information indicating that additional quality objectives  
are needed due to the firm’s circumstances. However, 
the quality objectives are sufficiently comprehensive that 
it is unlikely the firm would find it necessary to establish 
additional quality objectives. 

1 All QM sections can be found in AICPA Professional Standards.
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Identify quality risks
There may be many risks that could adversely affect 
the achievement of the quality objectives. However, it is 
not reasonable or practicable for the firm to identify and 
assess every possible risk and to design and implement 
responses for every risk. Accordingly, the standard 
requires the firm to identify quality risks.

A risk qualifies as a quality risk when it meets both of 
the following criteria: 

The risk has a reasonable 
possibility of occurring.

The risk has a reasonable 
possibility of, individually or 
in combination with other 
risks, adversely affecting the 
achievement of one or more 
quality objectives.

The firm exercises professional judgment in determining 
whether a risk meets the threshold set out in the definition 
of quality risks. 

NOTE: The threshold for identifying quality 
risks is at the level of the quality objectives. 
If a firm has sub-objectives, there may 
be circumstances in which a risk has a 
reasonable possibility of adversely affecting 
the achievement of the sub-objective, but 
does not have a reasonable possibility of 
adversely affecting the achievement of a 
quality objective; in this case, the risk would 
not be considered a quality risk. 

1

2
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How the firm identifies and assesses quality risks
The process the firm is required to follow in identifying and assessing quality risks is as follows: 

Step 1: Identify the risks. 

Understand the various conditions, events, 
circumstances, actions, or inactions related to the  
firm and its engagements that could adversely affect 
the achievement of the quality objectives. The risks 
include anything that could prevent the firm from 
achieving the quality objectives. For example, not  
taking any positive action to achieve the quality  
objective would prevent the firm from achieving the 
quality objective.

Step 2: Assess the risks. 

In assessing the risks, the firm takes into account 
the following: 

• �How and the degree to which the conditions,
events, circumstances, actions, or inactions may
affect the achievement of the quality objectives.

• �The likelihood of the risk occurring. This is
necessary to determine whether the risk meets
the threshold of a quality risk.

Another way of expressing this is in terms of likelihood 
and magnitude. How likely is the risk to occur? How bad 
would it be if it did? The identification and assessment 
of the quality risks may be undertaken simultaneously. A 
firm may choose to identify and assess quality risks as 
two discrete steps, but this is not required.
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The conditions, events, circumstances, actions, 
or inactions that could adversely affect the  
achievement of the quality objectives 
QM section 10 includes specific conditions, events, circumstances, actions, or inactions related to the nature 
and circumstances of the firm and its engagements that the firm is required to

• understand and

• �take into account, thinking about how they may adversely affect the achievement of the quality objectives.

The next step is for the firm to identify any quality risks. 

The following table lists these specific conditions, events, circumstances, actions, or inactions.

The conditions, events, circumstances, actions, or inactions that the firm is required to understand

The complexity and operating 
characteristics of the firm

Matters such as the size of the firm; the geographical dispersion of the firm; 
how the firm is structured; the extent to which the firm concentrates or 
centralizes its processes or activities (for example, use of service delivery 
centers); and the characteristics and availability of the firm’s resources.

The strategic and operational 
decisions and actions, business 
processes, and business model  
of the firm

Matters such as decisions about financial and operational priorities, 
including the firm’s strategic goals; how financial resources are managed; 
growth of the firm’s market share; industry specialization; and new 
industries or service offerings.  

The characteristics and 
management style of leadership

Matters such as the composition and tenure of firm leadership; how 
authority is distributed among leadership; how leadership motivates and 
encourages personnel; and the culture created by firm leadership.

The resources of the firm, 
including the resources  
provided by service providers

Matters such as the general background of the firm’s personnel and overall 
staff profile and structure; the use of technology and how that technology is 
obtained, developed, and maintained; and the availability and allocation of 
financial resources. 

With respect to service providers, matters such as the nature of the 
resources provided by service providers; how and the extent to which 
they will be used by the firm; and the general characteristics of the service 
providers used by the firm.

Law, regulation, professional 
standards, and the environment 
in which the firm operates

Matters such as regulations directly relevant to the firm and professional 
standards, other standards, or regulations affecting engagements 
performed by the firm (for example, general purpose frameworks for 
financial reporting commonly used in the jurisdiction).
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The conditions, events, circumstances, actions, or inactions that the firm is required to understand

The nature and extent of the 
network requirements and  
network services

Matters such as the nature of the network; how the network is organized; 
and the quality of network requirements or network services provided.

The types of engagements 
performed by the firm and  
the reports to be issued

Matters such as which engagements the firm performs, including 

• �audits or reviews of financial statements, and whether the firm
performs engagements to report on summary financial statements
or reviews of interim financial statements

• �other assurance or related services engagements and the types
of subject matter for which such engagements are undertaken
(for example, sustainability reports, controls at service organizations)

The firm may also understand and consider how the reports the firm 
issues may be used.

The types of entities for which 
engagements are undertaken

Matters such as the industries in which the firm’s clients operate and the 
nature of their business; the size and complexity of the firm’s clients; the 
nature of the firm’s clients’ shareholding (for example, owner-managed); 
and the size or nature of the firm’s clients’ stakeholders.

It is essential to note that this list of conditions, events, circumstances, actions, or inactions is not 
exhaustive. There may be other conditions, events, circumstances, actions, or inactions that may  
adversely affect the achievement of a quality objective, which the firm would need to understand and 
further consider to determine whether a quality risk exists.

Furthermore, not all the conditions, events, circumstances, actions, or inactions are relevant to every 
quality objective. 
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The following table includes examples of conditions, events, circumstances, actions, or inactions  
that may adversely affect the achievement of the quality objectives, and the quality risks that may arise.

Condition, event, circumstance, action, 
or inaction that may adversely affect the 
achievement of a quality objective

Quality risks that may arise

The complexity and operating characteristics of  
the firm. The firm is a large firm with multiple offices.  
Each office has a leader in charge of engagement 
quality and administrative and operational matters. 

In the context of governance and leadership, quality 
risks relating to how a consistent culture is maintained 
throughout the firm because of the dispersion of the 
firm and the leadership responsibilities

The strategic and operational decisions and actions, 
business processes, and business model of the  
firm. The firm has a strategic goal to grow its tax 
practice and offer more extensive tax planning  
advice and support.  

In the context of relevant ethical requirements, a 
quality risk that the firm breaches independence 
requirements regarding nonaudit services 

The characteristics and management style of 
leadership. Given that the firm is small, leadership 
is concentrated to a single individual who has daily 
interactions with personnel. 

In the context of engagement performance, a quality 
risk that personnel do not bring differences of opinion 
that involve leadership to the attention of the firm

The resources of the firm, including the resources 
provided by service providers. The firm has  
a service delivery center located in another 
jurisdiction that performs certain aspects of the 
firm’s audit engagements. 

In the context of engagement performance, a quality 
risk that engagement personnel are not appropriately 
directed and supervised and that their work is not 
appropriately reviewed

Law, regulation, professional standards, and the 
environment in which the firm operates. Due to the 
global pandemic, engagement teams work remotely. 

In the context of information and communication, 
a quality risk that information is not communicated 
appropriately to engagement teams working 
remotely, such that engagement teams are unable 
to understand and carry out their responsibilities in 
performing the engagement

Law, regulation, professional standards, and the 
environment in which the firm operates. New 
regulations are introduced mandating audit firm 
rotation every 10 years, resulting in the firm losing 
many of its engagements in quick succession and 
many personnel becoming underutilized. 

In the context of acceptance and continuance, a 
quality risk that the firm inappropriately accepts a 
client relationship or specific engagement, given  
that the firm has excess staff capacity 
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Condition, event, circumstance, action, 
or inaction that may adversely affect the 
achievement of a quality objective

Quality risks that may arise

The nature and extent of the network requirements 
and network services. The network requires all 
firms in the network to use the network-developed IT 
software for independence. Personnel are required 
to record their financial interests in the software, and 
all services to clients are logged in the software. The 
software tracks information to automatically alert the 
firm if there is an independence breach. 

In the context of relevant ethical requirements,  
a quality risk that the network does not appropriately 
take into account requirements regarding 
independence in developing the software and  
that the firm is not alerted when there is an 
independence breach

The types of engagements performed by the firm 
and the reports to be issued. The firm performs 
assurance engagements for greenhouse gas 
statements.  

In the context of resources, a quality risk that the firm 
does not have appropriate intellectual resources to 
support these engagements and that engagement 
teams use intellectual resources that do not take into 
account laws and regulations related to emissions

The types of entities for which engagements are 
undertaken. The firm performs compilations of 
financial statements for entities that operate in an 
industry in which recent revisions to the accounting 
standards have given rise to complex financial 
statement disclosures. Typically, the compilation 
engagements performed by the firm are not complex. 

In the context of engagement performance, a 
quality risk that the engagement teams performing 
the compilations do not undertake appropriate 
consultation, given that they have not previously 
needed to consult on complex financial statement 
disclosures 

The types of entities for which engagements are 
undertaken. The firm performs audits of entities 
involved in an industry with specialized accounting.

In the context of resources, a quality risk that 
personnel lack the appropriate knowledge or 
experience of relevant accounting standards 
applicable to that industry

The firm is not required to document the consideration of every condition, event, 
circumstance, action, or inaction that may give rise to a quality risk. The documentation 
of the quality risks may include the reasons for the assessment given to the quality  
risks (that is, the considered occurrence and effect on the achievement of the  
quality objectives). 

In some circumstances, it may be appropriate for the firm to document its process 
and analysis for establishing quality objectives, identifying and assessing quality 
risks, and designing responses to such risks, to provide a history of the basis for 
decisions made by the firm about its SOQM.

Further considerations on documentation are included in the documentation section.
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Practical tips on designing and performing 
the risk assessment process
Your firm may find the following tips helpful in organizing 
the process.

 �Determine who within the firm will take ownership 
and lead the implementation process.

– �Note that SQMS No. 1 requires that the firm
assign ultimate responsibility and authority for
the SOQM to the firm’s managing partner, and
assign, to appropriate individuals within the firm,
(i) operational responsibility for the SOQM, and
(ii) operational responsibility for specific aspects
of the SOQM. Note that, depending on firm size,
these may all be the same person.

 �Determine the resources — human, intellectual, and 
technical — needed for successful implementation. 
Tip: your staff may view working on this project as 
an opportunity.

 �Develop a timeline for performing the risk 
assessment and designing and implementing 
responses, that ends with full compliance with 
SQMS No. 1 by Dec. 15, 2025. 

 �Talk with your peer reviewer about your 
implementation plan. Note that your peer  
reviewer, to maintain independence, cannot be 
part of your SOQM — just like you can’t be part 
of your client’s system of internal control over 
financial reporting — but can advise you.

 �Plan a risk assessment brainstorming session 
(or more than one) to do the following:

– �Determine the order in which the components will
be assessed. It could be all at once, one at a time,
or in groupings (such as acceptance/resources,
followed by performance/information, followed by
governance and ethical components).

– �Determine the participants for the components.
Depending on the component and the size of
your firm, you might find it necessary to involve
the firm’s other departments (such as IT, HR,
and risk advisory).

– �Develop a template that includes the quality
objectives for that component, along with space
to document brainstorming risks identified, risk
significance, and planned responses. Or use
whiteboards or sticky notes, and take pictures
of them at the end of the session.

 �Hold a risk assessment session and during 
the meeting:

– Set a time limit on brainstorming and stick to it.

• Do not get stuck on one area.

• �Remember the goal at this stage is to identify
and assess the risks, not to develop responses.

• �Keep front of mind that risk assessment is
iterative, and the firm may find more ideas
as implementation develops.

– Brainstorm risk identification.

• �Think about what in your practice could go
wrong from a quality perspective.

• �Think about what you have to do (or are
currently doing) in your practice to make
sure things go right.

• �Consider any information the firm may have
related to current quality risks (for example,
information provided to insurance carriers).

– �Go over the identified risks and assess them for
likelihood and magnitude. Decide which risks
are quality risks. It may take a few iterations to
determine the appropriate level for quality risks,
to avoid being too granular or too high level.
(This step may call for a separate session.)
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– �Do just enough to know that the risk will warrant a
response and move on.

• �You do not have to document every risk that
is considered.

• �You may wish to track borderline risks that
don’t quite rise to quality risks for reassessment
in the future.

• �Tip: moving into a new industry or area of
practice is always a quality risk.

– �Don’t worry about perfection in documentation —
just get it in your file.

– Don’t worry about matching risks to objectives.

– �Don’t spend time trying to perfect the likelihood,
magnitude, or reasons for the risk.

– �The number of risks a firm should identify is a
matter of professional judgment and depends
on the nature and circumstances of the firm.
But consider:

• �If you have many risks that are covered by the
same responses (for example, policies and
procedures), that’s a sign you’re too granular,
and you may wish to group the risks.

• �If you have haven’t identified risks associated
with all responses (for example, policies and
procedures), that may be a sign that you haven’t
identified enough quality risks.

 �Perform a gap analysis. Based on the quality risks 
identified, map current controls — or “responses to 
quality risks,” as SQMS No. 1 calls them. 

– �Identify quality risks without appropriate
responses as well as any current responses
that do not map to a quality risk.

– �Take note of the specified responses within
SQMS No. 1 that the firm is required to design
and implement.

• �Design and implement new responses for
risks that are not addressed. Consider
discontinuing current responses that do not
map to a quality risk.

• �Document the risk assessment process.
This documentation does not need to be very
detailed; it should describe the process (that
is, what you did to identify and assess quality
risks) without including every risk identified.
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Notice to readers
This AICPA Audit and Accounting Practice Aid replaces Establishing and Maintaining a System 
of Quality Control for a CPA Firm’s Accounting and Auditing Practice, which was issued in 2015. 
Although this practice aid has been reviewed by the AICPA Audit and Attest Standards staff, it has 
not been approved, disapproved, or otherwise acted upon by any senior technical committee of the 
AICPA and has no official or authoritative status. 

This practice aid does not address the quality control requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002 (SOX), nor does it address the quality control requirements of PCAOB standards that must be 
followed by auditors of issuers. Auditors of issuers should follow these other standards and make 
changes to their firm’s quality control systems as necessary.  

Additional information about the PCAOB and SOX can be obtained at the PCAOB website at  
www.pcaobus.org.
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How to Use this Practice Aid
This AICPA Audit and Accounting Practice Aid, 
Establishing and Maintaining a System of Quality 
Management for a CPA Firm’s Accounting and Auditing 
Practice, is intended to help sole practitioners 
design, implement, and operate a system of quality 
management for their firm’s accounting and auditing 
practice, as required by Statement on Quality 
Management Standards (SQMS) No. 1, A Firm’s System 
of Quality Management, issued by the AICPA. 

SQMS No. 1 requires the firm to apply a risk-based 
approach in designing, implementing, and operating the 
components of the system of quality management. In 
applying a risk-based approach, the firm is required to 
take into account the nature and circumstances of both 
the firm and the engagements performed by the firm. 
This practice aid explains how to apply a risk-based 
approach and includes a library of potential risks and 
suggested responses. 

Use this practice aid, and the Example Risk Assessment 
template, to help you apply the risk-based approach, 
identify the quality risks to your practice, and implement 
policies and procedures as necessary for the facts and 
circumstances of your practice. 

Many of the policies and procedures may need to be 
modified to be applicable to your firm. Some may not 
be applicable at all. You may need to add policies and 
procedures that are already part of your system. Some 
of the policies and procedures are required by SQMS 
No. 1; these are noted in chapters 3 and 4.

Be aware that if you do not customize the risks and 
responses to the nature of your practice

•	 �you won’t be in compliance with the standards.

•	 �you won’t be doing what is most efficient and  
effective for your practice.

If all you do is

•	 �copy the quality risks from this practice aid, it is likely 
that your quality risks will be incomplete, or that you 
will include quality risks that do not apply to your firm. 
Do not copy the quality risks from this practice aid 
without thoughtful consideration of any modifications 
needed for your firm’s nature and circumstances.

•	 �copy and paste the policies and procedures in this 
practice aid, you will be committing to responses that 
may not apply to your firm. And, because you included 
them in your documentation of your system of quality 
management, your peer reviewer will expect you to 
apply those policies and procedures.

In addition, a firm’s risk assessment should be 
iterative and updated when changes in the nature and 
circumstances of the firm or its engagements occur. An 
incomplete or out-of-date risk assessment can have a 
significant effect on the system of quality management.

This practice aid is intended for firms with two or more 
personnel. If your firm has only one assurance partner, 
or only one partner with expertise in a specialized area, 
you may find the AICPA Audit and Accounting Practice 
Aid Establishing and Maintaining a System of Quality 
Management for a CPA Firm’s Accounting and Auditing 
Practice for sole practitioners, also helpful.
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Chapter 3 — Library of Quality Objectives, 
Potential Risks, and Potential Responses

Instructions for Using this Library
This chapter addresses the components that are  
subject to the risk assessment process, which are  
all components, except for the risk assessment  
process, which is addressed in chapter 2, “Overview  
of Risk Assessment Requirements”, and monitoring, 
which is addressed in chapter 4, “Monitoring and  
Remediation Process”.

This chapter is organized by component. For each 
component in this chapter, there are four tables:

•	 Table 1: Required Quality Objectives

•	 �Table 2: Required Quality Objectives and Potential 
Quality Risks

•	 Table 3: Required and Suggested Quality Responses

•	 �Table 4: Example of Evaluated Quality Risks and  
Linked Responses 

Table 1: Required Quality Objectives

This table contains the quality objectives (QO) that the 
firm is required to establish for the component.

Table 2: Required Quality Objectives  
and Potential Quality Risks

This table contains the quality objectives that the firm is 
required to establish for the component. Following each 
objective is a repository of potential quality risks (QRi). 
(Note: You may believe that a risk fits better under a 
different quality objective. If so, feel free to move it; what 
is important is that all quality risks are identified.) 

Quality Risks
A risk arises from how, and the degree to which, a 
condition, event, circumstance, action, or inaction may 
adversely affect the achievement of a quality objective. 
A quality risk is a risk that has a reasonable possibility of 
occurring, and individually, or in combination with other 
risks, adversely affecting the achievement of one or more 
quality objectives. Not all risks meet the definition of a 
quality risk.

The quality risks library is intended to be a repository of 
potential risks; it is not all-inclusive, nor are all quality 
risks in the library necessarily applicable to your firm. 
In identifying and assessing quality risks, focus on 
understanding conditions, events, circumstances, 
actions, or inactions that relate to the nature and 
circumstances of your firm and its engagements. The 
scalability of the Statements on Quality Management 
Standards (SQMSs) lies in your ability to identify the 
risks and responses that are appropriate for the nature 
and circumstances of your practice. The quality risks in 
the library should be tailored to suit your firm. You may 
decide to evaluate risks at a very high level, for example, 
stating risks as the reverse of the quality objectives, in 
which case, all the risks would be quality risks. You may 
decide to evaluate risks at a somewhat more granular 
level or at a very granular level, or a combination of these 
approaches. 

To determine if a risk is a quality risk for your firm

•	 determine the likelihood of the risk occurring, and

•	 �determine the impact that the risk could have, whether 
individually or in combination with other risks, to the 
firm achieving one or more quality objectives. 
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Note: Formal ratings or scores are not 
required by QM section 10, A Firm’s System 
of Quality Management. However, this 
practice aid provides drop-down menus to 
assess the risks as low, medium, or high. 
Risks that have a low likelihood of occurring 
and a low impact are not considered quality 
risks for purposes of this practice aid.

WARNING: The risk is evaluated before the 
effect of controls (that is, quality responses, 
which are policies, and procedures). You may 
think that a quality risk doesn’t exist because 
your firm already has effective controls to 
mitigate it. Evaluate risks as if you were  
starting to build a system of quality 
management (SOQM) from the ground up.  
(On the Responses tab, you can consider  
your existing policies and procedures).

Table 3: Required and Suggested  
Quality Responses

Responses (QRe) are policies or procedures designed 
and implemented by firms to address one or more  
quality risks. Policies are identified with bold text.

QM section 10 has a limited number of required  
specified responses, which are identified in this  
practice aid. The firm is expected to design and 
implement its own additional responses that are 
responsive to its identified quality risks. In addition  
to the required specific responses, this table contains 
potential additional responses that should be linked 
to your firm’s risks and tailored to suit the nature and 
circumstances of your firm.

Although responses are categorized by component, 
responses may be related in several ways. A response 
may address multiple quality risks across various 
components. For example, the responses designed 
and implemented by the firm to address complaints 
and allegations may address quality risks related to 
the quality objectives in (i) resources (for example, 
personnel’s commitment to quality), (ii) relevant ethical 
requirements, and (iii) governance and leadership. 

A response may support another response in another 
component. This is particularly the case for responses 
related to resources and information and communication 
because these elements are often needed to support  
the operation of other responses. See the exhibit, 
“Relevant Responses From Other Components,” at the 
end of this chapter.

Table 4: Example of Evaluated Quality  
Risks and Linked Responses 

This table provides examples of evaluated quality risks 
and linked responses to the quality risk. Please note 
that this is for illustrative purposes only. Your firm may 
identify other risks, may evaluate the likelihood and 
impact of those risks differently, and may choose other 
responses. The examples are not complete; if all you 
do is copy and paste the examples, your SOQM will not 
provide reasonable assurance of achieving its objectives.

The examples included illustrate the documentation of 
establishing quality objectives, evaluating quality risks, and 
designing the firm’s responses to those quality risks. This 
is not a complete picture of an established SOQM. The 
implementation, evaluation, and monitoring of the system 
will need to be documented and established, as well.

Note: QM section 10 requires the firm 
to assign ultimate responsibility and 
accountability for the firm’s SOQM to the 
firm’s CEO, the firm’s managing partner 
(or equivalent), or, if appropriate, the firm’s 
managing board of partners (or equivalent). 
For purposes of this practice aid, this position 
is referred to as the firm’s managing partner.
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Governance and Leadership 

Table 1: Required Quality Objectives— Governance and Leadership

QO # Ref: Quality Objectives (QO)

GOV QO-1 QM sec. 10, par. .29a The firm demonstrates a commitment to quality through a culture that exists throughout the firm, which recognizes  
and reinforces the following: 

•	 The firm’s role in serving the public interest by consistently performing quality engagements

•	 The importance of professional ethics, values, and attitudes

•	 �The responsibility of all personnel for quality relating to the performance of engagements or activities  
within the SOQM and their expected behavior

•	 �The importance of quality in the firm’s strategic decisions and actions, including the firm’s financial and  
operational priorities

GOV QO-2  QM sec. 10, par. .29b Leadership is responsible and accountable for quality. 

GOV QO-3  QM sec. 10, par. .29c Leadership demonstrates a commitment to quality through its actions and behaviors. 

GOV QO-4  QM sec. 10, par. .29d The organizational structure and assignment of roles, responsibilities, and authority is appropriate to enable  
the design, implementation, and operation of the firm’s SOQM.

GOV QO-5  QM sec. 10, par. .29e Resource needs, including financial resources, are planned for, and resources are obtained, allocated,  
or assigned in a manner that is consistent with the firm’s commitment to quality.
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Table 2: Required Quality Objectives and Potential Quality Risks — Governance and Leadership

QO# QRi # Quality Risk (QR) Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

GOV QO-1 QM sec. 10,  
par. .29a

The firm demonstrates a commitment to quality through a culture that exists throughout the firm, which recognizes and  
reinforces the following:  
i.	 The firm’s role in serving the public interest by consistently performing quality engagements 
ii.	 The importance of professional ethics, values, and attitudes 
iii.	 �The responsibility of all personnel for quality relating to the performance of engagements or activities within the system  

of quality management and their expected behavior 
iv.	 �The importance of quality in the firm’s strategic decisions and actions, including the firm’s financial and operational priorities 

Public Interest Role and Culture of Quality

GOV QO-1 GOV QRi-1 The firm does not demonstrate a commitment to quality through  
the culture that exists throughout the firm.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-1 GOV QRi-2 The firm does not acknowledge its role in serving the public interest 
and does not strive to perform quality engagements.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-1 GOV QRi-3 The firm does not recognize or reinforce the importance of 
professional ethics, values, and attitudes.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-1 GOV QRi-4 The firm does not recognize or reinforce the responsibility of all 
personnel for quality relating to the performance of engagements  
or activities within the SOQM and their expected behavior.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-1 GOV QRi-5 The firm does not recognize or reinforce the importance of quality 
in the firm’s strategic decisions and actions, including the firm’s 
financial and operational priorities. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-1 GOV QRi-6 The firm’s culture and communication does not include a focus on  
the public interest or the importance of professional ethics, values, 
and attitudes in the performance of accounting and auditing services. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-1 GOV QRi-7 The firm fails to establish or communicate consequences for 
unsatisfactory quality performance to personnel.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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QO# QRi # Quality Risk (QR) Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

GOV QO-1 QM sec. 10, 
par. .29a

The firm demonstrates a commitment to quality through a culture that exists throughout the firm, which recognizes and reinforces the 
following:  
i.	 The firm’s role in serving the public interest by consistently performing quality engagements 
ii.	 The importance of professional ethics, values, and attitudes 
iii.	 �The responsibility of all personnel for quality relating to the performance of engagements or activities within the system  

of quality management and their expected behavior 
iv.	 �The importance of quality in the firm’s strategic decisions and actions, including the firm’s financial and operational priorities 

Financial and Strategic Priorities

GOV QO-1 GOV QRi-8 As the firm opens new offices or undergoes mergers or acquisitions, 
consistent culture is not permeated throughout the firm.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-1 GOV QRi-9 The firm does not prioritize quality in merger decisions. (For example, 
does the target firm meet our quality expectations and is it assessed 
for quality during due diligence?)

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-1 GOV QRi-10 The firm accepts engagements in conjunction with a practice 
acquisition or strategic hire that otherwise would not meet the  
firm’s engagement acceptance or continuance criteria.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-2 QM sec. 10, 
par. .29b

Leadership is responsible and accountable for quality. 

GOV QO-2 GOV QRi-11 Leadership is not responsible or accountable for quality. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-2 GOV QRi-12 Leadership is not evaluated and held accountable for demonstrating 
a culture that has quality at its core.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-2 GOV QRi-13 The performance evaluations required by Statement on Quality 
Management Standards (SQMS) No. 1, A Firm’s System of Quality 
Management (paragraph 57), of the firm’s managing partner and the 
quality management (QM) partner are not conducted effectively or 
not acted upon appropriately.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-2 GOV QRi-14 Leadership and employees in firm leadership positions do not have 
sufficient and appropriate understanding of quality management 
standards or the firm’s SOQM to fulfill their leadership responsibilities. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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QO# QRi # Quality Risk (QR) Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

GOV QO-2 QM sec. 10, 
par. .29b

Leadership is responsible and accountable for quality. 

GOV QO-2 GOV QRi-15 Leadership responsibilities and accountability for quality are not 
clearly defined and assigned.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-2 GOV QRi-16 The firm does not hold employees in leadership positions 
accountable for behaviors in which quality was not demonstrated. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-2 GOV QRi-17 The tone, messaging, and communication that exists at the firm’s 
[national, regional, or office] leadership levels is not embraced or 
communicated throughout the firm.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-3 QM sec. 10, 
par. .29c

Leadership demonstrates a commitment to quality through its actions and behaviors. 

GOV QO-3 GOV QRi-18 Leadership does not demonstrate a commitment to quality through 
its actions and behaviors (for example, establishing the tone at the 
top through their actions and behaviors and clear, consistent, and 
frequent actions and communications at all levels within the firm).

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-3 GOV QRi-19 Professionals in leadership positions who work on accounting and 
auditing engagements do not demonstrate a commitment to quality 
while working on such engagements.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-3 GOV QRi-20 The actions and decisions of partners and employees in leadership 
positions do not demonstrate a commitment to quality (for example, 
resource allocation, acceptance, continuation, compensation, and 
advancement decisions). 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-3 GOV QRi-21 Unethical behavior is unchallenged or noncompliance with the 
SOQM is not addressed, including swift disciplinary action by 
leadership when warranted.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-3 GOV QRi-22 Leadership “tone at the top” is ineffective at building a commitment 
to quality for all employees.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-3 GOV QRi-23 Professionals in leadership positions prioritize economic gain over 
quality through their actions and behaviors.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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QO# QRi # Quality Risk (QR) Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

GOV QO-3 QM sec. 10, 
par. .29c

Leadership demonstrates a commitment to quality through its actions and behaviors. 

GOV QO-3 GOV QRi-24 Leadership lacks the resources to enforce the principles of  
SQMS No. 1.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-4 QM sec.  10, 
par. .29d

The organizational structure and assignment of roles, responsibilities, and authority is appropriate to enable the design, 
implementation, and operation of the firm’s system of quality management.

Organizational Structure

GOV QO-4 GOV QRi-25 The organizational structure and assignment of roles, responsibilities, 
and authority is not appropriate and does not enable the design, 
implementation, and operation of the firm’s SOQM. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-4 GOV QRi-26 The firm may be growing through acquisition at a pace faster than 
its current SOQM and organizational structure can support.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-4 GOV QRi-27 Regarding the use of service delivery centers, the organizational 
structure and assignment of roles, responsibilities, and authority  
is not appropriate for, or is not effective at, achieving the objectives 
of the SOQM. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

Roles, Responsibility, and Authority

GOV QO-4 GOV QRi-28 The managing partner lacks assurance experience. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-4 GOV QRi-29 Persons assigned roles relevant to the SOQM lack the skills, 
knowledge, and experience to undertake those roles.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-4 GOV QRi-30 Persons assigned roles relevant to the SOQM lack the authority to be 
able to successfully implement policies and procedures.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-4 GOV QRi-31 The firm does not adequately communicate the firm’s expectations 
regarding firm culture and expected behaviors of its professionals.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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QO# QRi # Quality Risk (QR) Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

GOV QO-4 QM sec.  10, 
par. .29d

The organizational structure and assignment of roles, responsibilities, and authority is appropriate to enable the design, 
implementation, and operation of the firm’s system of quality management.

GOV QO-4 GOV QRi-32 The firm does not have a process that continually monitors 
compliance with relevant ethical requirements (that is, code of 
professional conduct, state licensing, and other regulatory bodies).

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-5 QM sec. 10, 
par. .29e

Resource needs, including financial resources, are planned for, and resources are obtained, allocated, or assigned in a manner  
that is consistent with the firm’s commitment to quality. 

GOV QO-5 GL QRi-33 Resource needs, including financial resources, are not obtained by, 
allocated, or assigned to the appropriate parties in a manner that 
facilitates the firm’s commitment to quality.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-5 GL QRi-34 The firm’s resource planning does not effectively determine the 
resources currently required.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-5 GL QRi-35 The firm’s resource planning does not effectively forecast the firm’s 
future resource needs.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-5 GL QRi-36 The firm’s resource planning does not effectively establish processes 
to deal with unanticipated resource needs when they arise.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-5 GL QRi-37 The managing partner or QM partner are unwilling or unable to 
appropriately influence how those resources are allocated or 
assigned, including the timing of when they are used.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

GOV QO-5 GL QRi-38 Insufficient resources are allocated to developing an effective 
SOQM.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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Table 3: Required and Suggested Quality Responses — Governance and Leadership

QRe# Quality Response (QRe) Note, Tip, or Warning

Governance and Leadership

GOV QRe-1 Policy: The firm assigns ultimate responsibility and accountability for the 
SOQM to the firm’s CEO or the firm’s managing partner (or equivalent) or,  
if appropriate, the firm’s managing board of partners (or equivalent).  

NOTE: This is a required response. [QM sec. 10, par. .21a]

GOV QRe-1.01 The managing partner [Name] accepts ultimate responsibility for the firm’s 
SOQM and for setting a tone that emphasizes the importance of quality and  
of following the firm’s SOQM. 

NOTE: The managing partner has the ultimate responsibility 
and that responsibility remains even if a different person is the 
QM partner. The person in charge of the audit and accounting 
practice, if different, is also responsible for setting the proper 
tone at the top. 

GOV QRe-1.02 The managing partner acknowledges this responsibility, and the importance 
of quality, through [a written] communication to firm personnel at least  
once a year. 

GOV QRe-2 Policy: The firm assigns operational responsibility for the SOQM to 
individuals with the appropriate influence and authority within the firm. 

NOTE: This is a required response. [QM sec. 10, par. .21b]

GOV QRe-2.01 [Name of partner or director] is designated as the QM partner and has  
overall responsibility for developing and implementing appropriate  
policies and procedures for the firm’s quality management system.

NOTE: As your firm grows or develops specializations,  
the firm may need to designate additional partners with  
QM responsibility.

TIP: Names can be maintained in a separate chart for ease  
of updating.

GOV QRe-3 Policy: The firm assigns operational responsibility for specific aspects  
of the SOQM to individuals with the appropriate influence and authority 
within the firm, including 
•	 compliance with independence requirements, and 
•	 the monitoring and remediation process.

NOTE: The number of individuals assigned operational 
responsibility for various aspects of the firm's SOQM depends 
on the size and structure of the firm.

NOTE: This is a required response. [QM sec. 10, par. .21c]

GOV QRe-4 Policy: The firm documents its QM policies and procedures and 
communicates them to the firm’s personnel. 

GOV QRe-4.01 The QM partner is responsible for documenting the firm’s QM policies  
and procedures and keeping that documentation up to date (reviewing  
at least annually).
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QRe# Quality Response (QRe) Note, Tip, or Warning

Governance and Leadership

GOV QRe-4.02 New hires are required to acknowledge receipt of the firm’s QM document in 
writing, and that they have been informed that failure to adhere to the firm’s 
policies and procedures or failure to demonstrate commitment to ethical 
principles may result in disciplinary action.

GOV QRe-4.03 At least annually, firm personnel receive training on the firm’s QM policies and 
procedures and acknowledge receipt of the QM document. This training is 
provided through [select as appropriate: an informal discussion; an in-house 
training session; or in-house training sessions with a web-based or video-based 
discussion of QM to ensure all personnel hear the message the same way].

GOV QRe-4.04 Firm training on the firm’s QM policies and procedures includes the following:
•	 A review of changes during the yea
•	 A “refresh” of the understanding of experienced employees and partners
•	 �A discussion of the “why” behind policies and procedures. Those responsible 

for QM matters are always prepared to demonstrate, explain, or make the 
case for why a requirement is in place (that is, what benefit it serves).

•	 �“Tests” on the QM document to determine which part of the policy  
is misunderstood or not well known

GOV QRe-5 Policy: The firm’s policy is to promote an internal culture that recognizes  
that quality is essential in performing engagements.

GOV QRe-5.01 The firm promotes an internal culture that recognizes quality is essential 
through [describe the firm’s specific actions, for example, a mission statement 
that includes the firm’s core values and the importance of quality; frequent 
messages to personnel about the importance of quality and that it is not 
sacrificed for the need to achieve profitability; the status of the QM partner 
within the firm (that is, the QM function is not relegated to an administrative 
role); the QM partner reports directly to the managing partner; and considering 
quality in performance appraisals and compensation].

TIP: Culture is evidenced anecdotally. The most meaningful 
document that conveys a firm’s culture is not its mission 
statement but, rather, its budget. How the firm allocates its 
resources, including financial and human, is critical to achieving 
quality in performing engagements.     

TIP: Messages can be as informal as emails or “reminders” at 
staff meetings.

TIP: Establishing a code of conduct (and periodically revisiting 
that code for ongoing relevance) is one way to promote an 
internal culture that recognizes quality. How a firm follows and 
enforces the code of conduct (for example, actions taken when 
the code is not followed) also provides evidence of culture. In 
addition, evaluating trends in the volume or nature of unethical 
behavior that is reported and taking steps to improve is another 
way of reinforcing a culture of quality within a firm.  
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QRe# Quality Response (QRe) Note, Tip, or Warning

Governance and Leadership

GOV QRe-6 Policy: The firm does not allow financial and operational priorities to  
override the quality of the work performed and assigns management 
responsibilities accordingly. 

GOV QRe-6.01 The managing partner and each engagement partner evaluate client 
relationships and specific engagements so that financial and  
operational priorities do not override the objectives of the SOQM.

NOTE: Tight deadlines, scope creep, and incentive-based 
compensation are examples of matters that may result in 
overrides to the objectives of the SOQM.

GOV QRe-6.02 The firm emphasizes to all personnel that fee considerations and scope of 
services should not infringe upon quality work.

NOTE: What happens in your firm if the engagement team goes 
significantly over budget for the engagement? Is there explicit or 
implicit pressure on personnel to skip planned procedures due 
to time constraints?

GOV QRe-6.03 The firm considers the costs associated with a strong SOQM, such as  
the costs of maintaining necessary competency, practice aids and 
professional subscriptions, hiring consultants and EQ reviewers, and so on,  
as an investment and factors them in when determining rates and fees.

GOV QRe-6.04 The firm’s strategic decision-making process is aligned with the firm’s quality 
objectives and approved by leadership with the ultimate responsibility for the 
firm’s SOQM.

NOTE: A firm’s business strategy may include matters such as 
the firm’s decisions about financial and operational matters, 
the firm’s financial goals, how financial resources are managed, 
growth of the firm’s market share, industry specialization, or new 
service offerings.

GOV QRe-7 Policy: Personnel with sufficient and appropriate experience, authority,  
and ability are assigned responsibility for developing, implementing,  
and operating the firm’s SOQM. 

NOTE: This is a required response. [QM sec. 10, par. .20]

GOV QRe-7.01 The firm’s QM partner has the following characteristics:
•	 �Sufficient and appropriate experience and competency to serve  

in that capacity
•	 �Up to date with industry-specific continuing professional education  

in any high-risk areas the QM partner reviews 
•	 �Has no history of significant performance issues identified through 

regulator inspections, internal monitoring, or peer review

NOTE: “Up to date” means within the past 24 months or  
sooner if there have been new professional standards or 
changes in regulations.
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QRe# Quality Response (QRe) Note, Tip, or Warning

Governance and Leadership

GOV QRe-8 Policy: The firm devotes sufficient and appropriate resources for the 
development, communication, and support of its quality management 
policies and procedures. 

GOV QRe-8.01 The firm provides the designated QM partner with sufficient time, authority, 
and resources to develop, implement, and maintain the firm’s QM policies  
and procedures.

NOTE: Is this time budgeted?

GOV QRe-8.02 The quality management partner has the ability to influence the nature and 
extent of resources that the firm obtains, develops, uses, and maintains.

GOV QRe-8.03 The quality management partner has the authority to determine how resources 
are allocated or assigned, including the timing of when they are used.

GOV QRe-8.04 The firm annually performs resource planning that includes
•	 determining the resources currently required,
•	 forecasting the firm’s future resource needs, and
•	 �establishing processes to deal with unanticipated resource needs  

when they arise. 

GOV QRe-8.05 The firm evaluates the effectiveness of the resources obtained, allocated,  
and assigned to ensure they support the firm’s commitment to quality. 

GOV QRe-8.06 The firm obtains feedback from personnel, such as the method for  
personnel to propose new or revised policies and procedures. 

TIP: This can be as informal as sending a request to all firm 
personnel when updating the firm’s policies and procedure 
asking for input or as formal as using an independent third-
party provider to facilitate the communication by personnel, 
anonymously if desired.

GOV QRe-9 Policy: Performance evaluation, compensation, and advancement  
(including incentive systems) with regard to firm partners and  
personnel demonstrate the firm’s overarching commitment to the  
objectives of the SOQM. 

GOV QRe-9.01 Performance evaluation and advancement systems are designed and 
implemented so that partners and staff involved in the accounting  
and auditing practice are rewarded for the quality of their work and  
their compliance with professional standards.

WARNING: You may talk the talk, but if compensation is 
primarily based on concepts like realization and coming in  
under budget, you aren’t walking the walk.
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QRe# Quality Response (QRe) Note, Tip, or Warning

Governance and Leadership

GOV QRe-9.02 The firm’s compensation system provides incentives to accounting and 
auditing partners and senior-level employees to perform high-quality 
accounting and auditing work. The compensation system does the following:
•	 �Takes into consideration firm feedback based on monitoring results and 

peer reviews of the work performed
•	 �Rewards partners and personnel for timely (a) identification of significant 

and emerging accounting and auditing issues and (b) consultation with  
firm experts

NOTE: Quality is both expected and rewarded. 

TIP: Defining how quality will be measured and incorporating 
quality-related measures in personnel evaluations, with 
associated effects on compensation and promotion, 
demonstrates the firm’s commitment to quality.

GOV QRe-9.03 Leadership includes quality initiatives as a goal to be measured each year.

GOV QRe-9.04 Performance evaluation and advancement systems are designed  
and implemented so that partners and staff are rewarded for their 
professional values and attitudes.

NOTE: Professional values and attitudes may include the 
following:
•	 �Professional manner; for example, timeliness, courteousness, 

respect, accountability, responsiveness, and dependability
•	 A commitment to teamwork
•	 �Maintaining an open mind to new ideas or different 

perspectives in the professional environment
•	 Pursuit of excellence
•	 �A commitment to continual improvement (for example,  

setting expectations beyond the minimum requirements  
and placing a focus on continual learning)

•	 Social responsibility 
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Table 4: Example of Evaluated Quality Risks and Linked Responses — Governance and Leadership

The following table provides examples of evaluated quality risks and linked responses to each quality risk. Please note that this is for illustrative purposes only. 
Your firm may identify other risks, may evaluate the likelihood and impact of those risks differently, and may choose other responses. The examples are not 
complete; if all you do is copy and paste these examples, your SOQM will not provide reasonable assurance of achieving its objectives.

The following examples illustrate the documentation of establishing quality objectives, evaluating quality risks, and designing the firm’s responses to those 
quality risks. This is not a complete picture of an established SOQM. The implementation, evaluation, and monitoring of the system will need to be documented 
and established, as well.

Governance and Leadership

GOV QO-1 The firm demonstrates a commitment to quality through a culture that exists throughout the firm, which recognizes and reinforces the following:  
i.	 The firm’s role in serving the public interest by consistently performing quality engagements 
ii.	 The importance of professional ethics, values, and attitudes 
iii.	 �The responsibility of all personnel for quality relating to the performance of engagements or activities within the system of quality  

management and their expected behavior 
iv.	 The importance of quality in the firm’s strategic decisions and actions, including the firm’s financial and operational priorities 

QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality  
Risk

Quality Response QRe#

GOV QO-1 GOV QRi-3 The firm does not recognize  
or reinforce the importance  
of professional ethics, values,  
and attitudes.

Low High Yes The firm promotes an internal culture that 
recognizes quality is essential through 
a mission statement that includes the 
firm’s core values and the importance of 
quality; frequent messages to personnel 
about the importance of quality and that 
it is not sacrificed to the need to achieve 
profitability; the status of the QM partner 
within the firm (that is, the QM function 
is not relegated to an administrative 
role); the QM partner reports directly to 
the managing partner; and considering 
quality in performance appraisals and 
compensation.

GOV QRe-5.01
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QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality  
Risk

Quality Response QRe#

GOV QO-1 GOV QRi-5 The firm does not recognize 
or reinforce the importance of 
quality in the firm’s strategic 
decisions and actions, including 
the firm’s financial and 
operational priorities. 

Medium High Yes The firm’s strategic decision-making 
process is aligned with the firm’s quality 
objectives and approved by leadership 
with the ultimate responsibility for the 
firm’s SOQM. 

GOV QRe-6.04

GOV QO-2 Leadership is responsible and accountable for quality. 

QO GOV-2 GOV QRi-11 Leadership is not responsible  
or accountable for quality.

Low High Yes The managing partner [Name] accepts 
ultimate responsibility for the firm’s 
SOQM and for setting a tone that 
emphasizes the importance of quality 
and of following the firm’s SOQM.  

GOV QRe-1.01

GOV QO-4 The organizational structure and assignment of roles, responsibilities, and authority is appropriate to enable the design, implementation,  
and operation of the firm’s system of quality management. 

QO GOV-4 GOV QRi-32 The firm does not have a  
process that continually  
monitors compliance with 
relevant ethical requirements 
(that is, code of professional 
conduct, state licensing, and 
other regulatory bodies). 

High Medium Yes The firm assigns operational 
responsibility for specific aspects 
of the SOQM to individuals with the 
appropriate influence and authority 
within the firm, including
•	 �compliance with independence 

requirements, and the monitoring  
and remediation process.

GOV QRe-3
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Relevant Ethical Requirements 

Table 1: Required Quality Objectives — Relevant Ethical Requirements 

QO# Ref: Quality Objectives

RER QO-1 QM sec. 10, par. .30a The firm and its personnel 
i.	 understand the relevant ethical requirements to which the firm and the firm’s engagements are subject. 
ii.	 �fulfill their responsibilities in relation to the relevant ethical requirements to which the firm and the firm’s 

engagements are subject.

RER QO-2 QM sec. 10, par. .30b Others, including the network, network firms, individuals in the network or network firms, or service providers,  
who are subject to the relevant ethical requirements to which the firm and the firm’s engagements are subject
i.	 understand the relevant ethical requirements that apply to them, and
ii.	 fulfill their responsibilities in relation to the relevant ethical requirements that apply to them.

264



Establishing and Maintaining a System of Quality Management for a CPA Firm’s Accounting and Auditing Practice | 19  

Table 2: Required Quality Objectives and Potential Quality Risks – Relevant Ethical Requirements

QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

RER QO-1 QM sec 10, 
par. .30a

The firm and its personnel
i.	 understand the relevant ethical requirements to which the firm and the firm’s engagements are subject, and
ii.	 fulfill their responsibilities in relation to the relevant ethical requirements to which the firm and the firm’s engagements are subject.

RER QO-1 RER QRi-1 The firm and its personnel do not understand the relevant ethical 
requirements to which the firm and the firm’s engagements are subject.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RER QO-1 RER QRi-2 The firm and its personnel fail to fulfill their responsibilities in relation to the 
relevant ethical requirements to which the firm and the firm’s engagements 
are subject.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RER QO-1 RER QRi-3 The firm does not receive, investigate, or resolve complaints and allegations 
about failures to perform work in accordance with professional standards and 
applicable legal and regulatory requirements, or noncompliance with the firm’s 
policies or procedures established in accordance with the firm’s SOQM. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RER QO-1 RER QRi-4 Consultation and evaluation of identified independence matters results  
in an incorrect conclusion.  

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RER QO-1 RER QRi-5 Personnel and engagement teams are hesitant to communicate relevant 
information to the firm or those charged with overseeing relevant ethical 
requirements due to fear of reprisals.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RER QO-1 RER QRi-6 The firm and its personnel do not identify, communicate, evaluate,  
or report ethical breaches.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RER QO-1 RER QRi-7 Independence and objectivity are impaired due to a familiarity threat. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RER QO-1 RER QRi-8 Independence may be influenced by gifts from management or the client. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RER QO-1 RER QRi-9 Unpaid fees for professional services previously rendered to an attest  
client may create self-interest, or undue influence, or advocacy threats  
to compliance with the “Independence Rule” (ET sec. 1.200.001) of the 
AICPA Code of Professional Conduct.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RER QO-1 RER QRi-10 The firm and its personnel do not timely identify, evaluate, or address 
noncompliance or threats to compliance with regulatory requirements. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

RER QO-2 QM sec. 10, 
par.  30b

Others, including the network, network firms, individuals in the network or network firms, or service providers,  
who are subject to the relevant ethical requirements to which the firm and the firm’s engagements
i.	 understand the relevant ethical requirements that apply to them, and
i.	 fulfill their responsibilities in relation to the relevant ethical requirements that apply to them. 

RER QO-2 RER QRi-11 Others who are subject to the relevant ethical requirements to which the 
firm and the firm’s engagements are subject do not understand the relevant 
ethical requirements that apply to them. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RER QO-2 RER QRi-12 Others who are subject to the relevant ethical requirements to which the firm 
and the firm’s engagements are subject do not fulfill their responsibilities in 
relation to the relevant ethical requirements that apply to them. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RER QO-2 RER QRi-13 Network office does not understand the relevant ethical requirements that 
apply to the network or fulfill its responsibilities in relation to them. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RER QO-2 RER QRi-14 Network firms used for component audits or other services do not 
understand the relevant ethical requirements that apply to them or  
fulfill their responsibilities in relation to them. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RER QO-2 RER QRi-15 Non-network component auditors do not understand the relevant ethical 
requirements that apply to them or fulfill their responsibilities in relation  
to them. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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Table 3: Required and Suggested Quality Responses — Relevant Ethical Requirements

QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Relevant Ethical Requirements

RER QRe-1 Policy: The firm and its personnel comply with relevant  
ethical requirements. 

TIP: Relevant ethical requirements are those in regulations, 
interpretations, and rules of the AICPA, state CPA societies, state  
boards of accountancy, state statutes, the U.S. Government 
Accountability Office (GAO), and any other applicable regulators. 

RER QRe-1.01 A person with appropriate authority [Name] is responsible for staying 
informed on relevant ethical requirements; providing guidance;  
answering questions; monitoring compliance; and resolving matters  
with respect to independence, integrity, and objectivity.

TIP: The AICPA’s Ethics Hotline can be reached at 877.777.7077 or 
ethics@aicpa.org. The AICPA Ethics Tools and Aids, including the  
Plain English Guide to Independence, can be found at  
https://pub.aicpa.org/codeofconduct/Ethics.aspx. 
 
NOTE: This is a required response. [QM sec. 10, par. .35a(i)]

RER QRe-1.02 Access to current guidance materials regarding the applicable 
independence, integrity, and objectivity requirements is available  
to all personnel through [identify how, for example, through  
subscription service or via the AICPA’s website]. 

 

RER QRe-1.03 Documentation of the resolution of ethical matters is required when 
consultation, including of professional literature or the AICPA Ethics 
Hotline, has occurred.  

 

RER QRe-1.04 The firm meets all the requirements of the “Nonattest Services” 
interpretation (ET sec. 1.295), and the requirements of other  
regulators, as applicable, when providing nonattest services  
(such as bookkeeping, financial statement preparation, and  
tax services) to clients for whom the firm also performs an audit,  
review, compilation, or attestation engagement.

WARNING: Peer reviewers will ask for documentation of compliance, 
including documentation that the client has suitable skills, knowledge, 
and experience to accept responsibility.

RER QRe-1.05 The firm has established and follows a process for identifying all services 
performed for each client and evaluating, at the attest engagement level, 
whether nonattest services are provided that might impair independence. 
[Describe the process.]

WARNING: As a firm gets larger, it may be more difficult for the firm 
to track what services are being performed for every client in order to 
determine that independence is not being impaired. 
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Relevant Ethical Requirements

RER QRe-1.06 The firm maintains a current list of
•	 �all entities with which firm personnel are prohibited from having  

a financial or business relationship and 
•	 �all activities the firm is prohibited from performing, as defined  

in the firm’s independence policies.

NOTE: Examples of prohibited activities include providing certain 
valuation and IT services to an audit client. See the rules of  
specific standard setters to determine the extent and relevance  
of any prohibition.

RER QRe-2 Policy: The firm communicates its independence requirements to firm 
personnel and, when applicable, others subject to them. 

NOTE: Per-diem personnel are firm personnel.

RER QRe-2.01 The firm provides its personnel with a list of all entities with which firm 
personnel are prohibited from having a business relationship and informs 
them on a timely basis about any changes in the firm’s clients to which 
independence policies apply. 

WARNING: Your firm’s system may need to take the existence of  
related entities into account.

RER QRe-2.02 The firm reminds personnel of independence considerations for 
regulated industries. 

WARNING: Regulators often have more restrictive independence 
requirements. For example, many regulators prohibit the CPA’s 
involvement in the preparation of financial statements and  
define “preparation” very broadly. Know your industry and its  
regulatory requirements.

RER QRe-2.03 The firm provides reminders of professional responsibilities to personnel, 
such as avoiding behavior that might be perceived as impairing their 
independence or objectivity, as necessary and at least annually.

 

RER QRe-2.04 The firm informs its personnel of the types of financial or other 
relationships that may impair independence and that may be prohibited.

 

RER QRe-2.05 The firm requires all professional personnel to take independence and 
ethics training [specify period, such as annually]. Such training covers  
the firm’s independence and ethics policies and the independence and 
ethics requirements of all applicable regulators.

WARNING: The state-specific ethics course required by many states for 
licensure may not be sufficient for the needs of your practice, and your 
firm may have to supplement that. 

RER QRe-2.06 The firm has clear and concise written independence guidance  
covering relationships and activities that impair independence,  
including investments, loans, brokerage accounts, business  
relationships, employment relationships, and fee arrangements.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Relevant Ethical Requirements

RER QRe-3 Policy: The firm evaluates threats to independence and objectivity, 
including the familiarity threat that may be created by using the same 
senior personnel on an audit or attest engagement over a long period 
of time. The firm takes appropriate action to eliminate or reduce these 
threats to an acceptable level by applying safeguards. 

 

RER QRe-3.01 Approval of the assignment of engagement personnel by another partner 
or manager is required for each audit or attestation examination.

RER QRe-3.02 New personnel assigned to the engagement are encouraged to bring  
a fresh perspective.

WARNING: This procedure is effective only when you have the 
appropriate attitude.

RER QRe-3.03 A partner who is not otherwise associated with the engagement  
reviews the engagement.

RER QRe-3.04 The firm (the managing partner, QM partner, and others, as appropriate) 
considers the significance of each client to the firm. In broad terms, the 
significance of a client to a firm refers to relationships that could diminish 
a practitioner’s objectivity and independence in performing attest services. 
In determining the significance of a client, the firm considers (a) the 
amount of time the partner devotes to the engagement, (b) the effect on 
the partner’s stature within the firm as a result of the partner’s service to 
the client, (c) the manner in which the partner is compensated, and (d) the 
effect that losing the client would have on the partner and the firm. 

 

RER QRe-3.05 When a relationship or circumstance that may create threats to 
compliance with the rules is identified, the firm performs procedures  
to evaluate threats and apply safeguards (using the Conceptual 
Framework Toolkit for Members in Public Practice). 

TIP: The Conceptual Framework Toolkit for Members in Public Practice 
is available at no charge at https://us.aicpa.org/content/dam/aicpa/
interestareas/professionalethics/resources/downloadabledocuments/
toolkitsandaids/conceptual-framework-toolkit-for-members-in-public-
practice-final.pdf.

RER QRe-3.06 The engagement partner [considers or provides the firm with] relevant 
information about client engagements, including the scope of services 
and any changes, such as new engagements or changes in the level of 
service, to enable [the engagement partner or the firm] to evaluate the 
overall impact, if any, on independence requirements. 
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Relevant Ethical Requirements

RER QRe-3.07 The firm requires personnel to promptly notify the firm of circumstances 
and relationships that create a threat to independence so that appropriate 
action can be taken. 

RER QRe-3.08 The firm compiles and communicates relevant information to appropriate 
personnel so that the firm and its personnel can readily determine whether 
they satisfy independence requirements; the firm can maintain and update 
information relating to independence; and the firm can take appropriate 
action regarding identified threats to independence that are not at an 
acceptable level. 

RER QRe-3.09 The firm requires personnel to consult with individuals outside the firm  
on independence, integrity, or objectivity concerns that research has  
not clearly resolved.

WARNING: Make sure personnel, including engagement partners, are 
encouraged to consult; if they ask only when they are sure there is a 
problem, problems may get overlooked. Not wanting to know the answer  
to an independence question is a good indication that consultation is 
needed. The AICPA’s Ethics Hotline can be reached at 877.777.7077 or 
ethics@aicpa.org; the GAO’s Yellow Book Technical Assistance can be 
reached at 202.512.9535 or yellowbook@gao.gov. 

RER QRe-4 Policy: Firm personnel are required to notify the firm of breaches of the 
relevant ethical requirements, including independence requirements, 
and the firm takes appropriate actions to resolve such situations. 

NOTE: This is a required response. [QM sec. 10, par. .35a(ii)]

RER QRe-4.01 All professional personnel are required to notify [specify who in the 
firm, for example, the managing partner of the office] of any potential 
activities involving themselves, their spouses, or their dependents that 
might impair independence or violate ethics rules, including services 
provided to entities with which firm personnel are prohibited from having 
a business relationship. 

 

RER QRe-4.02 The firm has a process that protects professional personnel who  
report potential ethics or independence violations to the proper  
parties in compliance with firm policy.

NOTE: This process can be as informal as a suggestion box or as formal 
as a whistleblower program.

RER QRe-4.03 The firm’s policy and procedures manual sets forth the consequences for 
professional personnel who violate the firm’s independence policies and 
procedures, including engaging in activities with entities with which firm 
personnel are prohibited from having a business relationship.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Relevant Ethical Requirements

RER QRe-4.04 The firm determines the need for safeguards for engagements when the 
familiarity threat exists on an audit, review, or attestation engagement.

TIP: A familiarity threat may exist when, for example, the same 
engagement partner or senior manager has performed the engagement 
for the entity for an extended period of time, such as five years or more. 
The safeguard may be having an engagement quality control review or 
inspection performed periodically by someone not otherwise involved 
with the engagement.

RER QRe-4.05 The firm promptly communicates identified breaches of these  
policies and procedures, and the required corrective actions, to  
(a) the engagement partner who, with the firm, needs to address the 
breach, and (b) other relevant personnel in the firm and those subject to 
the independence requirements who need to take appropriate action. 

NOTE: This is a required response. [QM sec. 10, par. .35a(ii)]

RER QRe-4.06 The engagement partner and other relevant personnel confirm to the  
firm that the required corrective actions have been taken. 

NOTE: This is a required response. [QM sec. 10, par. .35a(ii)]

RER QRe-4.07 Appropriate personnel [identify] are responsible for periodically [identify 
time period] reviewing unpaid fees from clients to ascertain whether any 
outstanding amounts may impair the firm’s independence and following 
up with the engagement partner.

See paragraphs .01–.02 of the “Unpaid Fees” interpretation (ET section 
1.230.010). 

RER QRe-5 Policy: The firm does not accept, or withdraws from, the engagement 
if effective safeguards to reduce threats to independence to an 
acceptable level cannot be applied. 

WARNING: Threats to independence may arise during the engagement 
(for example, when the firm is asked to perform nonattest services during 
the course of an attest engagement or the assessment of the client’s 
knowledge, skills, and experience changes). Evaluate threats and apply 
safeguards BEFORE performing the procedures.

RER QRe-5.01 The firm consults internally, and with legal counsel and other parties if 
necessary, when the firm believes that effective safeguards to reduce 
threats to independence to an acceptable level cannot be applied.

NOTE: The client’s needs may be met with a different service that doesn’t 
require independence.

RER QRe-5.02 The firm withdraws from the engagement when withdrawal is possible 
under applicable law or regulation, or does not accept the engagement, 
when effective safeguards to reduce threats to independence to an 
acceptable level cannot be applied.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Relevant Ethical Requirements

RER QRe-6 Policy: The firm obtains written confirmation, upon hire and at least 
annually, of compliance with its policies and procedures regarding 
independence from all personnel required to be independent by  
relevant requirements. 

NOTE: This is a required response. [QM sec. 10, par. .35b]

RER QRe-6.01 Personnel, including per-diem personnel, provide written representations, 
upon hire and on an annual basis, stating that they have read the 
firm’s independence, integrity, and objectivity policies; understand the 
applicability of those policies to their activities; and have complied 
with the requirements of those policies since their last representation. 
Personnel are required to review the most current list of all entities with 
which firm personnel are prohibited from having a business relationship 
prior to providing the written representation.

 

RER QRe-6.02 [Specify name or position, for example, the firm’s QM partner] is 
responsible for obtaining such written representations, reviewing 
independence compliance files for completeness, and resolving  
reported exceptions.

NOTE: Par. .21c(i) requires the firm to assign operational responsibility 
for compliance with independence requirements to individuals with the 
appropriate influence and authority within the firm, typically partners.

RER QRe-6.03 On each engagement, the engagement partner signs a step in the 
engagement program attesting to compliance with independence 
requirements that apply to the engagement.

NOTE: This procedure necessitates that each engagement include 
a program step requiring sign-off for compliance with independence 
regulations, whether in the acceptance/continuance form or other  
phase of the engagement.

RER QRe-7 Policy: When another firm, or firm personnel in associated member firms, 
perform part of the engagement, the firm confirms the independence of 
the other firm and adherence to other relevant ethical requirements.

 

RER QRe-7.01 Written confirmations are obtained regarding the other firm’s 
independence with respect to audit engagements and either written  
or oral confirmations are obtained for review or attestation  
engagements. Oral confirmations are documented.

 

RER QRe-7.02 The firm’s policies and procedures manual or practice aids describe the 
form and content of independence representations, and the frequency 
with which they are to be obtained.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Relevant Ethical Requirements

RER QRe-7.03 As a member of a network, the firm
•	 meets all the relevant ethical requirements, and
•	 �monitors its independence with respect to financial statement audits, 

reviews, and other attest engagements performed by other members 
of the network.

 

RER QRe-8 Policy: The firm rotates personnel for audit or attest engagements 
for which regulatory or other authorities require such rotation after a 
specified period. 

RER QRe-8.01 The QM partner monitors regulatory requirements for financial 
institutions and other regulated entities and notifies partners of  
the need for rotation.

TIP: You may decide that for certain industries, rotation of partners, 
although not required by regulators, is appropriate for your SOQM.

RER QRe-9 Policy: The firm has procedures for receiving complaints about failures 
to perform work in accordance with professional standards and 
applicable legal and regulatory requirements or noncompliance with 
the firm’s policies and procedures, investigates the complaints, and 
resolves them.

NOTE: This is a required response. [QM sec. 10, par. .35c]

RER QRe-9.01 The firm informs its personnel of the process established for complaints 
and concerns to be raised without fear of reprisal.

 

RER QRe-9.02 A survey is circulated to clients annually to inquire about services 
rendered and to collect other feedback.

TIP: Consider debriefing with the client to receive feedback on the 
services provided.

RER QRe-9.03 Complaints and allegations received are referred to a partner not involved 
with the engagement to which the complaint relates for investigation or to 
an external party based on the seriousness and extent of the allegation.

 

RER QRe-9.04 The firm has procedures for tracking complaints received and for tracking 
progress made for their investigation and timely resolution.

 

RER QRe-9.05 Resolutions to complaints are documented and communicated to all 
relevant parties.
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Table 4: Example of Evaluated Quality Risks and Linked Responses – Relevant Ethical Requirements

The following table provides examples of evaluated quality risks and linked responses to each quality risk. Please note that this is for illustrative purposes 
only. Your firm may identify other risks, may evaluate the likelihood and impact of those risks differently, and may choose other responses. The examples 
are not complete; if all you do is copy and paste these examples, your SOQM will not provide reasonable assurance of achieving its objectives.

The following examples illustrate the documentation of establishing quality objectives, evaluating quality risks, and designing the firm’s responses to  
those quality risks. This is not a complete picture of an established SOQM. The implementation, evaluation, and monitoring of the system will need to be 
documented and established, as well.

Relevant Ethical Requirements

RER QO-1 The firm and its personnel
i. understand the relevant ethical requirements to which the firm and the firm’s engagements are subject, and
ii. fulfill their responsibilities in relation to the relevant ethical requirements to which the firm and the firm’s engagements are subject.

QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality 
Risk

Quality Response QRe#

RER QO-1 RER QRi-3 The firm does not receive, investigate, or 
resolve complaints and allegations about 
failures to perform work in accordance 
with professional standards and applicable 
legal and regulatory requirements, or 
noncompliance with the firm’s policies or 
procedures established in accordance with 
the firm’s SOQM. 

Low High Yes The firm has procedures for 
receiving complaints about failures 
to perform work in accordance 
with professional standards and 
applicable legal and regulatory 
requirements or noncompliance  
with the firm’s policies and 
procedures, investigates the 
complaints, and resolves them.

RER QRe-9

RER QO-1 RER QRi-3 The firm does not receive, investigate, or 
resolve complaints and allegations about 
failures to perform work in accordance 
with professional standards and applicable 
legal and regulatory requirements, or 
noncompliance with the firm’s policies  
or procedures 

Medium High Yes Complaints and allegations 
received are referred to a partner 
not involved with the engagement 
to which the complaint relates 
for investigation or to an external 
party based on the seriousness 
and extent of the allegation.

RER 
QRe-9.03

RER QO-1 RER QRi-5 Personnel and engagement teams are 
hesitant to communicate relevant  
information to the firm or those charged  
with overseeing relevant ethical  
requirements due to fear of reprisals. 

Low High Yes The firm has a process that protects 
professional personnel who report 
potential ethics or independence 
violations to the proper parties in 
compliance with firm policy.

RER 
QRe-4.02
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Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships  
and Specific Engagements

Table 1: Required Quality Objectives — Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships and Specific Engagements

QO # Ref: Quality Objectives

EAC QO-1 QM sec. 10, par. .31a(i) Firm judgments about whether to accept or continue a client relationship or specific engagement are appropriate 
based on information obtained about the nature and circumstances of the engagement and the integrity and ethical 
values of the client (including management and, when appropriate, those charged with governance) that is sufficient  
to support such judgments.

EAC QO-2 QM sec. 10, par. .31a(ii) Firm judgments about whether to accept or continue a client relationship or specific engagement are appropriate 
based on the firm’s ability to perform the engagement in accordance with professional standards and applicable  
legal and regulatory requirements.

EAC QO-3 QM sec. 10, par. .31b The financial and operational priorities of the firm do not lead to inappropriate judgments about whether to accept or 
continue a client relationship or specific engagement. 
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Table 2: �Required Quality Objectives and Potential Quality Risks — Acceptance and Continuance  
of Client Relationships and Specific Engagements

QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

EAC QO-1 QM sec. 10, 
par. 31a(i)

Firm judgments about whether to accept or continue a client relationship or specific engagement are appropriate based  
on information obtained about the nature and circumstances of the engagement and the integrity and ethical values of the client 
(including management and, when appropriate, those charged with governance) that is sufficient to support such judgments.

EAC QO-1 EAC QRi-1 The firm does not obtain information about the nature and circumstances of 
the engagement and the client (including management and, when appropriate, 
those charged with governance) that is sufficient to support judgments about 
client acceptance or continuance.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

Engagement Nature

EAC QO-1 EAC QRi-2 The firm does not understand the industry of the entity for which the 
engagement is being undertaken, as well as the relevant regulatory factors.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EAC QO-1 EAC QRi-3 The firm does not understand the nature of the entity, for example, its 
operations, organizational structure, ownership and governance, its business 
model and how it is financed. (Information gathering efforts do not address  
all relevant information or subsidiaries or affiliates).

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EAC QO-1 EAC QRi-4 The firm fails to obtain or understand the nature and circumstances of the 
engagement.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

Integrity

EAC QO-1 EAC QRi-5 The firm does not adequately evaluate the integrity and ethical values of the 
appropriate owners, key management, related parties, and those charged with 
governance.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

Inaccurate or Incomplete Information

EAC QO-1 EAC QRi-6 The firm does not properly evaluate or consider information that was obtained 
from the acceptance or continuance process.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

EAC QO-1 QM sec. 10, 
par. 31a(i)

Firm judgments about whether to accept or continue a client relationship or specific engagement are appropriate based  
on information obtained about the nature and circumstances of the engagement and the integrity and ethical values of the client 
(including management and, when appropriate, those charged with governance) that is sufficient to support such judgments.

EAC QO-1 EAC QRi-7 Information obtained during the acceptance or continuance process of a  
client relationship or specific engagement is not sufficient, is not derived  
from credible sources, or does not support the firm’s judgment about the 
integrity and ethical values of the client. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EAC QO-1 EAC QRi-8 The firm starts work on a client engagement before acceptance or continuance 
is approved.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EAC QO-1 EAC QRi-9 The firm starts work on a client engagement before the client has agreed  
to the terms of the engagement.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EAC QO-1 EAC QRi-10 The firm does not consider information obtained subsequent to the approved 
acceptance of the client or engagement.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EAC QO-1 EAC QRi-11 The firm accepts or continues an engagement when the terms of the 
engagements are not clear or properly agreed upon, which may lead to  
liability or damage to the firm’s reputation. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EAC QO-1 EAC QRi-12 The firm does not identify threats, such as nonattest services, to independence 
or other ethical requirements.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EAC QO-1 EAC QRi-13 The firm’s investigation research tool does not provide accurate results or is 
limited in its ability. For example, the tool searches only within the United States. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EAC QO-1 EAC QRi-14 The firm does not apply all client acceptance procedures to all clients from an 
office acquisition or merger.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EAC QO-1 EAC QRi-15 The firm or engagement team does not take appropriate action when they 
become aware of information that may have caused the firm to decline the 
client relationship or specific engagement had the firm known that information 
prior to accepting or continuing such relationship. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

EAC QO-1 QM sec. 10, 
par. 31a(i)

Firm judgments about whether to accept or continue a client relationship or specific engagement are appropriate based  
on information obtained about the nature and circumstances of the engagement and the integrity and ethical values of the client 
(including management and, when appropriate, those charged with governance) that is sufficient to support such judgments.

Improper Review

EAC QO-1 EAC QRi-16 The firm does not assign acceptance or continuance approval responsibilities 
to an individual who has the knowledge and expertise to adequately evaluate 
them (balancing risk vs. economic benefit).

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EAC QO-1 EAC QRi-17 The engagement partner does not (a) follow the firm’s policies or procedures for 
the acceptance or continuance of a client relationship or specific engagement 
or (b) take responsibility for the appropriateness of the conclusions reached in 
the acceptance or continuance of a client relationship or specific engagement, 
which includes appropriately considering whether significant matters that have 
arisen during the previous engagement have implications for continuing the 
engagement or relationship.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

Individual Compensation and Goals

EAC QO-1 EAC QRi-18 The individual who is responsible for approving acceptance or continuance 
evaluation is not compensated and evaluated in a manner that holds them 
accountable for the results of poor acceptance or continuance decisions. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EAC QO-2 QM sec. 10, 
par. 31a(ii)

Firm judgments about whether to accept or continue a client relationship or specific engagement are appropriate based on the firm’s 
ability to perform the engagement in accordance with professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

Operational Constraints

EAC QO-2 EAC QRi-19 The firm accepts or continues an engagement with unreasonable final 
issuance expectations or insufficient staffing to complete the engagement.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EAC QO-2 EAC QRi-20 The firm agrees to work not included in the original scope without following the 
firm’s procedures for changes in work scope.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

EAC QO-2 QM sec. 10, 
par. 31a(ii)

Firm judgments about whether to accept or continue a client relationship or specific engagement are appropriate based on the firm’s 
ability to perform the engagement in accordance with professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

EAC QO-2 EAC QRi-21 The firm inappropriately accepts a client relationship or specific engagement 
because the firm has excess staff capacity.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

Ability to Perform — Competency and Capacity

EAC QO-2 EAC QRi-22 The firm accepts or continues a client relationship or specific engagement when 
the firm does not have the ability to perform the engagement in accordance with 
professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EAC QO-2 EAC QRi-23 The firm does not understand the nature of the underlying subject matter and 
the applicable criteria by which it must be evaluated.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EAC QO-2 EAC QRi-24 The firm does not identify or understand professional standards or applicable 
legal and regulatory requirements that include specific provisions that need  
to be addressed before accepting or continuing a client relationship or  
specific engagement.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EAC QO-2 EAC QRi-25 The firm does not evaluate the availability of appropriate resources that would 
be needed to perform the engagement. This would include consideration 
of core engagement team resources, engagement quality (EQ) review 
assignment, need for specialists, or other experts or IT system requirements.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EAC QO-2 EAC QRi-26 Training on, and communication of, the firm’s acceptance or continuance 
policies and procedures and any changes to them for all partners and 
professional staff are not adequate or timely.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EAC QO-2 EAC QRi-27 The firm inappropriately accepts a client relationship or specific engagement 
when the firm does not have sufficient staffing capacity, and the firm cannot 
create the required capacity through talent acquisition or other means.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EAC QO-2 EAC QRi-28 The firm inappropriately accepts a client relationship or specific engagement 
when the firm does not have personnel with adequate competency or technical 
training to perform and supervise the engagement.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

EAC QO-2 QM sec. 10, 
par.  .31a(i)

Firm judgments about whether to accept or continue a client relationship or specific engagement are appropriate based on the firm’s 
ability to perform the engagement in accordance with professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

Ability to Perform — Competency and Capacity

EAC QO-2 EAC QRi-29 The firm’s acceptance of a client results in the violation of an ethical or legal 
requirement (such as independence or conflict of interest).

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EAC QO-2 EAC QRi-30 The firm does not evaluate whether the firm and the engagement team are able 
to fulfill their responsibilities in relation to the relevant ethical requirements.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EAC QO-2 EAC QRi-31 The firm fails to timely evaluate or revise acceptance or continuance policies 
and procedures for client relationships or specific engagements that pose 
threats to compliance with rules and regulations arising from (a) changes 
in independence rules or interpretations, and (b) new laws or regulations 
affecting such client relationships or specific engagements.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EAC QO-2 EAC QRi-32 Firm partner accepts or continues an engagement that does not meet 
the firm’s engagement acceptance or continuation criteria or is otherwise 
prohibited by the firm.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EAC QO-2 EAC QRi-33 The firm does not recognize when the firm is obligated by law or regulation to 
accept or continue a client relationship or specific engagement, nor understand 
the appropriate procedures to follow in such circumstances.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EAC QO-2 EAC QRi-34 The engagement partner accepts or continues an engagement without 
appropriately identifying and evaluating the effect of nonattest services  
on firm independence.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

EAC QO-3 QM sec. 10, 
par. .31b

The financial and operational priorities of the firm do not lead to inappropriate judgments about whether to accept or continue  
a client relationship or specific engagement. 

Firm Compensation and Goals

EAC QO-3 EAC QRi-35 The financial and operational priorities of the firm lead to inappropriate 
judgments about whether to accept or continue a client relationship or  
specific engagement. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EAC QO-2 EAC QRi-36 The proposed fee is materially inadequate for the time and resources required 
to perform a quality and profitable engagement. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EAC QO-2 EAC QRi-37 The firm inappropriately accepts a client or engagement because large fees, 
financial benefit, or opportunity for the firm outweigh concerns over risks 
relating to, for example, resources, competencies, management integrity, or 
other issues.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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Table 3: Required and Suggested Quality Responses — Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships and Specific Engagements

QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships and Specific Engagements

WARNING: A firm’s client acceptance and continuance policies represent 
a key element in mitigating litigation and business risk. Consider both 
the client’s integrity and reputation and your firm’s expertise and ability 
to meet the client’s needs. Both of these factors can affect the firm’s 
reputation and involvement in litigation.

EAC QRe-1 Policy: The firm considers the risk associated with providing professional 
services in particular circumstances, including evaluating factors that 
have a bearing on management’s integrity. The firm only accepts or 
continues engagements and client relationships when it concludes that 
the risk is at an acceptable level. 

NOTE: The risk is that (a) the firm and its personnel will fail to comply 
with professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory 
requirements, or (b) reports issued by the firm will not be appropriate  
in the circumstances.

EAC QRe-1.01 The firm informs personnel of the firm’s policies and procedures for 
accepting and continuing clients, through discussion or distribution of 
the firm’s policies and procedures manual, and informing professional 
personnel that they are expected to be familiar with the firm’s policies 
and procedures for the acceptance and continuance of clients, including 
who in the firm is authorized to accept engagements on behalf of the 
firm. Such policies and procedures state that the firm’s clients should not 
present undue risks to the firm, including damage to the firm’s reputation.

EAC QRe-1.02 The firm communicates with the predecessor auditor as required, and 
considers communicating with the predecessor accountant when 
recommended, by professional standards. This communication includes 
inquiries regarding the nature of any disagreements and whether there 
is evidence of “opinion shopping.” If the client does not give permission 
to contact the predecessor, the firm considers the reasons why and 
implications for acceptance.

NOTE: Communicating with the predecessor auditor is required by 
generally accepted auditing standards. Other professional standards  
may require or recommend communicating with the predecessor 
accountant. Best practice is to communicate even if not required.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships and Specific Engagements

EAC QRe-1.03 The firm obtains and evaluates relevant information before accepting  
or continuing any client, such as

NOTE: This information directly relates to the risk that the firm will fail  
to perform and report in conformity with applicable professional 
standards. For smaller clients, this assessment may be quite simple.  
The results of this assessment are used in determining whether to 
accept the engagement, and if so, how the engagement is conducted.

•	 �the nature and purpose of the services to be provided and 
management’s understanding thereof.

•	 �the identity of the client’s principal owners, key management,  
related parties, and those charged with its governance.

•	 �the nature of the client’s operations, including its business practices, 
from sources such as annual reports, interim financial statements, 
reports to and from regulators, income tax returns, and credit reports.

TIP: Review the state regulatory website for state-specific regulations 
that apply to your client— this could also affect supplemental information 
in your engagement letter.

•	 �information obtained from inquiries of third parties about the client, 
its principal owners, key management, and those charged with 
governance that may have a bearing on evaluating the client. Examples 
of such third parties are bankers, factors, legal counsel, credit services, 
investment bankers, underwriters, and other members of the financial 
or business community who may have applicable knowledge.

•	 �information, from discussions with the client and inquiries of 
others, concerning the attitude of the client’s principal owners, key 
management, and those charged with its governance toward such 
matters as aggressive interpretation of accounting standards, 
compliance with laws and regulations, and internal control over 
financial reporting

•	 �emerging risks (for example, cryptocurrency, regulatory changes,  
or geopolitical events).

EAC QRe-1.04 The firm conducts a background check of the business, its officers, and 
the persons in question by using resources available on the internet and 
evaluates the information obtained regarding management’s integrity. 
An investigative firm is used when the firm is unable to obtain sufficient 
information about the prospective client after completing the preceding 
steps, or when the firm becomes aware that there is an indication that 
management or someone affiliated with the prospective client may be 
less than reputable.

283



Establishing and Maintaining a System of Quality Management for a CPA Firm’s Accounting and Auditing Practice | 38  

QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships and Specific Engagements

EAC QRe-1.05 The firm evaluates the risk of providing services to significant clients 
or to other clients for which the firm’s objectivity may be, or appear to 
be, impaired. The firm takes appropriate safeguards if necessary or if 
safeguards cannot reduce the threat to objectivity and independence to 
an acceptably low level, the firm does not accept the engagement.

EAC QRe-1.05 The firm considers the timing of the acceptance of the engagement  
and whether that affects the firm’s ability to perform all procedures 
necessary for the engagement (for example, inventory observation,  
both beginning and ending.)

 

EAC QRe-2 Policy: The firm evaluates whether the engagement can be completed 
with professional competence; undertakes only those engagements 
for which the firm has the capabilities, resources, and professional 
competence to complete; and evaluates, at the end of specific periods 
or upon occurrence of certain events, whether the relationship should 
be continued.

WARNING: This policy and its related procedures are KEY to managing 
the risk that the firm will fail to perform and report in conformity with 
applicable professional standards.

EAC QRe-2.01 If the engagement is for a level of service that the firm is not  
currently providing (for example, reviews or audits), the firm  
considers the implications for obtaining the necessary competency  
and the implications for peer review.

 

EAC QRe-2.02 The firm defines high-risk engagements based on the characteristics of 
the firm. The firm considers the following criteria in determining whether 
the engagement is high risk [list criteria, such as the following]:

NOTE: High-risk engagements, by their nature, require more resources.  

•	 �Whether the client is in a specialized industry — that is, an industry 
for which there is an AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide, or the 
engagement is subject to governmental auditing standards —  
and the extent of the firm’s experience in this area.  

WARNING: “You don’t know what you don’t know” when performing 
an engagement in a specialized industry for which your firm does not 
have expertise. Specialized industries require an ongoing investment in 
training to obtain and maintain the necessary competence. 
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships and Specific Engagements

  List of AICPA Audit and Accounting Guides for specific industries:
•	 Airlines
•	 Construction Contractors 
•	 Employee Benefit Plans 
•	 Investment Companies
•	 Life and Health Insurance Entities 
•	 Not-for-Profit Entities
•	 Property and Liability Insurance Entities
•	 State and Local Governments 
•	 Brokers and Dealers in Securities 
•	 �Depository and Lending Institutions: Banks and Savings Institutions, 

Credit Unions, Finance Companies, and Mortgage Companies 
•	 Entities With Oil and Gas Producing Activities 
•	 Gaming 
•	 Health Care Entities 
•	 Government Auditing Standards and Single Audits

•	 New industry for the firm. WARNING: Accepting an engagement in a new industry requires  
the firm to learn that industry. Hiring experienced staff, more 
consultation, performing an EQ review — these may all be necessary and 
come at a cost.

•	 New or specialized accounting pronouncements apply to the client.  

•	 �New professional standards apply to the firm relating to  
the engagements.

 

•	 �Engagements that require an inordinate amount of time to  
complete relative to the available resources of the firm.

NOTE: Engagements like this can affect the firm’s other engagements.

•	 �The existence of conditions such as aggressive earnings management, 
unreliable processes for developing accounting estimates or 
questionable estimates by management, and questions regarding  
the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.

 

•	 �Emerging risks in existing clients (for example, cryptocurrency, 
regulatory changes, or geopolitical events).

 

•	 The entity is in development stage.  
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships and Specific Engagements

EAC QRe-2.03 The firm accepts engagements that meet the firm’s criteria as high risk 
only when the firm has, or is willing to make, the investment to acquire 
the necessary competency. The firm acknowledges that accepting a 
high-risk engagement entails assigning more experienced staff, may 
necessitate the use of external resources, and requires that an EQ review 
be performed.

WARNING: An otherwise low-risk client might have transactions that  
are so risky that the firm may decide to not accept the engagement  
or apply safeguards addressed only at that risk.

EAC QRe-2.04 The firm evaluates whether it (or its practice office) has, or can 
reasonably expect to obtain, the competency and capability  
necessary to perform the engagement, including relevant  
regulatory or reporting requirements.

WARNING: The firm is required to have obtained the necessary 
knowledge and expertise before the report is issued to have reasonable 
assurance that the firm met professional standards and that the report is 
appropriate. Best practice is to have that knowledge and expertise when 
planning the engagement, so you don’t have to go back at the end and 
identify what you didn’t know at the beginning.

EAC QRe-2.05 The firm determines the following before accepting an engagement:

•	 �Sufficient personnel with the necessary capabilities and competence 
are available. This includes determining that personnel have sufficient 
knowledge and experience for specialized industries and the firm has 
sufficient technical resources available to engagement personnel, 
including audit and accounting guides, and, when necessary, has 
arranged for personnel to receive appropriate continuing professional 
education and training.

•	 �Whether specialists will be needed, and if so, will be available  
(for example, through the resources of another practice office or 
alternative source).

 

•	 �That individuals meeting the criteria and eligibility requirements to 
perform an EQ review are available when needed, for example, for 
engagements that meet the firm’s definition of high risk.

NOTE: The QM standards require that the EQ review be performed at 
appropriate points during the engagement. Identifying the person who 
will perform the EQ review as soon as the need for an EQ review has 
been identified, even if it is prior to acceptance of the engagement, 
and agreeing on engagement terms, best allows for this. Delaying after 
the need is identified creates concern that an EQ reviewer will not be 
available and creates time pressure to identify an EQ reviewer by the 
appropriate point in the engagement (when the cost may be higher).

•	 �The firm is able to complete the engagement within the  
reporting deadline.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships and Specific Engagements

EAC QRe-2.06 The firm obtains relevant information to determine whether the 
relationship should be continued, and the firm evaluates the client 
continuance decision at least annually [insert timing, for example, a 
preliminary decision at the end of the current-year engagement for  
(every client/high-risk clients) as part of finalizing the current-year 
engagement, and a final evaluation before the engagement letter is  
sent for the next engagement]. 

TIP: The benefit to considering whether to continue the engagement 
and client relationship at the end of the current engagement is that the 
memory is fresh in terms of client integrity and issues encountered, and 
there may be less financial pressure at this time.

EAC QRe-2.07 The following are conditions that the firm considers in evaluating 
whether to continue an engagement or client relationship [describe 
conditions, such as the following]:

WARNING: Do not put your clients on “auto-renew.” Continuance of 
clients is an active decision and should be considered carefully without 
simply “defaulting” to the previous year’s determination.

•	 The existence of conditions such as 
	– aggressive earnings management, 
	– �unreliable processes for developing accounting estimates  
or questionable estimates by management, or

	– �questions regarding the entity’s ability to continue as  
a going concern.

 

•	 The entity is in the development stage.  

•	 �The client is delinquent in paying fees. (This may also affect the  
firm’s  independence.)

 

•	 The firm is unable to meet the client’s deadlines.  

•	 �The services required have grown beyond the firm’s ability to deliver 
(scope creep).

 

•	 �The firm is  no longer willing to make the investment required to 
maintain competency.

 

•	 �The firm is unable to obtain the necessary resources to carry out the 
engagement, such as a person to perform an EQ review or replace  
the loss of key personnel.

 

•	 �Internal or external inspections have indicated deficiencies in the 
execution of the engagement (or similar engagements) and the firm  
is unable to mitigate the deficiencies.

 

•	 �Partner rotation is required by law or regulation for the engagement 
under consideration.

•	 �The client has ignored prior recommendations, such as those that 
address deficiencies in internal control.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships and Specific Engagements

EAC QRe-2.08 When triggering events occur, the firm reevaluates the decision to accept 
or continue an engagement or client relationship.

The following are examples of such triggering events:

•	 �Significant changes in the client, such as a major change in ownership, 
senior client personnel, directors, advisers, the nature of the business, 
or its financial stability.

•	 Changes in the nature or scope of the engagement, such as 
	– requests for additional services, 
	– a request to step down from an audit to a review engagement, or
	– an initial public offering.

NOTE: The procedure is not to decline the engagement when a  
request for a change is made but to evaluate the client’s reasons  
for the request and then determine whether to accept or decline.

•	 �The decision to discontinue services to clients in a  
particular industry.

 

EAC QRe-2.09 When making the decision, the firm evaluates the information obtained 
regarding acceptance or continuance of the client or engagement by 
doing the following: 

NOTE: Acceptance and continuance decisions are iterative and are 
made before each engagement is accepted and as necessary when 
circumstances change.

•	 �The engagement partner assesses the information obtained about 
the client or the specific engagement, including information about 
the significance of the client to the firm, [using the AICPA Private 
Companies Practice Section (PCPS) Client Acceptance Evaluation  
Tool or Client Continuance Evaluation Tool.]

NOTE: The AICPA PCPS Client Acceptance Evaluation Tool and Client 
Continuance Evaluation Tool are free tools available at https://www.
aicpa-cima.com/resources/landing/trusted-client-adviser-toolbox.  

•	 �The engagement partner makes a recommendation about whether 
to accept or continue the engagement, or the client relationship, and 
submits the recommendation with supporting documentation to the 
managing partner (of the practice office or of the firm) for approval.

The engagement partner’s recommendation is reviewed and approved  
by [specify, for example, the QM partner or the managing partner, or in 
certain defined circumstances, such as high-risk engagements, both.]  
If the recommendation to accept a client or continue a client relationship 
is not approved, the managing partner and the other partners discuss  
the reasons why.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships and Specific Engagements

EAC QRe-2.10 The engagement partner documents evidence of consideration and 
approval of engagement acceptance (or continuance) in the planning 
section of the engagement documentation.

EAC QRe-3 Policy: The firm has established policies and procedures for 
circumstances in which information becomes known subsequent to 
accepting or continuing a client relationship or specific engagement 
that might have affected the firm’s decision to accept or continue a 
client relationship or specific engagement. 

NOTE: This is a required response. [QM sec. 10, par. .35d(i)]

EAC QRe-3.01 When the firm becomes aware of information that would have caused 
the firm to decline the engagement if the information had been available 
earlier, the firm considers the following: 

 

•	 Undertaking consultation within the firm or legal counsel  

•	 �The professional and legal responsibilities that apply to the 
circumstances, including whether there is a requirement for the  
firm to continue the engagement or report to regulatory authorities

 

•	 �Discussing with the appropriate level of client’s management  
and those charged with governance

 

•	 �Whether to withdraw from the engagement or from the  
client relationship

NOTE: See procedures for withdrawal later in this document. 

EAC QRe-4 Policy: The firm obtains an understanding with the client  
regarding the services to be performed. 

TIP: Having an “evergreen” engagement letter, or an engagement  
letter that covers more than one year, exposes the firm to a variety  
of risks. If circumstances necessitate the use of a multi-year engagement 
letter, even when not required by the standards, best practice is to send  
a written letter annually confirming the existing terms and explaining  
any changes.

EAC QRe-4.01 The firm prepares a written engagement letter for each engagement,  
documenting the understanding with the client regarding the  
nature, scope, and limitations of the services to be performed.

 

EAC QRe-4.02 The firm obtains the client’s signature on that letter before significant  
resources are committed to the engagement. 

 

EAC QRe-4.03 If the nature or scope of the engagement changes, the firm documents the 
change in an addendum to the engagement letter that is sent to the client.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships and Specific Engagements

EAC QRe-5 Policy: The firm has established procedures on withdrawal from  
an engagement or from both the engagement and the client 
relationship, as follows: 

 

EAC QRe-5.01 The firm considers whether there is a professional, regulatory,  
or legal requirement for the firm to remain in place.  

NOTE: This is a required response. [QM sec. 10, par. .35d(ii)]

EAC QRe-5.02 When the firm is unable to withdraw from an engagement and the firm 
is aware of information that would have caused the firm to decline or 
discontinue the engagement, the firm does the following:

 

•	 �Considers the effect of the information on the performance of the 
engagement

 

•	 �Communicates the information to the engagement partner and 
requests the engagement partner to increase the extent and  
frequency of supervision and review

 

•	 Assigns more experienced personnel to the engagement
•	 Determines that an EQ review should be performed

EAC QRe-5.03 The firm considers whether there is a professional, regulatory, or legal 
requirement for the firm to report to regulatory authorities the withdrawal 
from the engagement, or from both the engagement and the client 
relationship, together with the reasons for the withdrawal.

EAC QRe-5.04 The firm discusses with the appropriate level of the client’s management 
and those charged with its governance withdrawal from the engagement 
or from both the engagement and the client relationship if the firm 
determines that it is appropriate to withdraw.

 

EAC QRe-5.05 The firm considers the implications for previous engagements with this 
client, including the need to withdraw previously issued reports.

 

EAC QRe-6 Policy: The firm documents how issues relating to acceptance or 
continuance of client relationships were resolved.

 

EAC QRe-6.01 The firm documents, in a memorandum to the engagement files, 
significant issues, consultations, conclusions, and the basis for t 
he conclusions relating to acceptance or continuance of client 
relationships and specific engagements.

 

290



Establishing and Maintaining a System of Quality Management for a CPA Firm’s Accounting and Auditing Practice | 45  

Table 4: Example of Evaluated Risks and Linked Responses – Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships  
and Specific Engagements

The following table provides examples of evaluated quality risks and linked responses to each quality risk. Please note that this is for illustrative purposes only. 
Your firm may identify other risks, may evaluate the likelihood and impact of those risks differently, and may choose other responses. The examples are not 
complete; if all you do is copy and paste these examples, your SOQM will not provide reasonable assurance of achieving its objectives.

The following examples illustrate the documentation of establishing quality objectives, evaluating quality risks, and designing the firm’s responses to those 
quality risks. This is not a complete picture of an established SOQM. The implementation, evaluation, and monitoring of the system will need to be documented 
and established, as well.

Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships and Specific Engagements

QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality 
Risk

Quality Response QRe#

EAC QO-1 Firm judgments about whether to accept or continue a client relationship or specific engagement are appropriate based on information obtained about  
the nature and circumstances of the engagement and the integrity and ethical values of the client (including management, and, when appropriate, those 
charged with governance) that is sufficient to support such judgments.

EAC QO-1 EAC QRi-2 The firm does not understand 
the entity’s industry for which the 
engagement is being undertaken,  
as well as the relevant regulatory 
factors.

Low High Yes The firm accepts engagements 
that meet the firm’s criteria 
as high risk only when the 
firm has, or is willing to make, 
the investment to acquire the 
necessary competency. The firm 
acknowledges that accepting 
a high-risk engagement entails 
assigning more experienced 
staff, may necessitate the use of 
external resources, and requires 
that an EQ review be performed.

EAC QRe-
2.03
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QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality 
Risk

Quality Response QRe#

EAC QO-1 EAC QRi-15 The firm or engagement team does 
not take appropriate action when they 
become aware of information that 
may have caused the firm to decline 
the client relationship or specific 
engagement had the firm known that 
information prior to accepting or 
continuing such relationship. 

Low High Yes The firm has established policies 
and procedures for circumstances 
in which information becomes 
known subsequent to accepting 
or continuing a client relationship 
or specific engagement that 
might have affected the firm’s 
decision to accept or continue 
a client relationship or specific 
engagement. 

EAC QRe-3

EAC QO-2 EAC QR1-34 The engagement partner accepts or 
continues an engagement without 
appropriately identifying and 
evaluating the effect of nonattest 
services on firm independence.

Medium Medium Yes The firm considers the risk 
associated with providing 
professional services in  
particular circumstances,  
including evaluating factors that 
have a bearing on management’s 
integrity. The firm only accepts  
or continues engagements and 
client relationships when it 
concludes that the risk is at  
an acceptable level. 

EAC QRe-1

EAC QO-2 Firm judgments about whether to accept or continue a client relationship or specific engagement are appropriate based on the firm’s ability to perform  
the engagement in accordance with professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements. 

EAC QO-2  EAC QRi-22 The firm accepts or continues a  
client relationship or specific 
engagement when the firm does 
not have the ability to perform 
the engagement in accordance 
with professional standards and 
applicable legal and regulatory 
requirements.

Medium High Yes The firm evaluates whether the 
firm (or practice office) has, 
or can reasonably expect to 
obtain, the competency and 
capability necessary to perform 
the engagement, including 
relevant regulatory or reporting 
requirements.

EAC QRi-22
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Engagement Performance

Table 1: Required Quality Objectives — Engagement Performance

QO # Ref: Quality Objectives

EP QO-1 QM sec. 10, par. .32a Engagement teams understand and fulfill their responsibilities in connection with the engagements, including, as applicable,  
the overall responsibility of engagement partners for managing and achieving quality on the engagement and being sufficiently 
and appropriately involved throughout the engagement.

EP QO-2 QM sec. 10, par. .32b The nature, timing, and extent of direction and supervision of engagement teams and review of the work performed is  
appropriate based on the nature and circumstances of the engagements and the resources assigned or made available to  
the engagement teams, and the work performed by less experienced engagement team members is directed, supervised,  
and reviewed by more experienced engagement team members.

EP QO-3 QM sec. 10, par. .32c Engagement teams exercise appropriate professional judgment and, when applicable to the type of engagement, maintain 
professional skepticism.

EP QO-4 QM sec. 10, par. .32d Consultation on difficult or contentious matters is undertaken and the conclusions agreed are implemented.

EP QO-5 QM sec. 10, par. .32e Differences of opinion within the engagement team, or between the engagement team and the EQ reviewer or individuals 
performing activities within the firm’s SOQM, are brought to the attention of the firm and resolved.

EP QO-6 QM sec. 10, par. .32f Engagement documentation is assembled on a timely basis after the date of the engagement report and is appropriately 
maintained and retained to meet the needs of the firm and comply with law, regulation, relevant ethical requirements, or 
professional standards.
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Table 2: Required Quality Objectives and Potential Quality Risks — Engagement Performance

QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

EP QO-1 QM sec. 10, 
par. .32a

Engagement teams understand and fulfill their responsibilities in connection with the engagements, including, as applicable, the overall 
responsibility of engagement partners for managing and achieving quality on the engagement and being sufficiently and appropriately 
involved throughout the engagement. 

EP QO-1 EP QRi-1 Engagement teams do not understand and fulfill their responsibilities in  
connection with the engagements, including, as applicable, the overall  
responsibility of engagement partners for managing and achieving quality  
on the engagement and being sufficiently and appropriately involved  
throughout the engagement.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-1 EP QRi-2 The engagement team does not follow the firm’s policies and procedures to 
ensure quality engagements are performed consistently and in conformity with 
professional standards.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-1 EP QRi-3 The engagement team does not review quality management materials (for example, 
an audit and accounting manual, standardized forms, checklists, templates, practice 
aids, tools, questionnaires, and the like) to determine that they are suitable and 
reliable for use on the specified engagement.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-1 EP QRi-4 The engagement team does not tailor quality management materials to each 
engagement or does not use the templates and practice aids that are appropriate 
for the engagement.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-1 EP QRi-5 The engagement team fails to identify industry- or regulatory-specific requirements 
that may not be addressed in third-party practice aids (for example, state regulatory 
requirements).

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-1 EP QRi-6 The engagement partner does not determine that engagement teams understand 
firm policies or know where to find them.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-1 EP QRi-7 The engagement partner is not sufficiently and appropriately involved throughout 
all phases of the engagement, including planning, staff assignments, timing of the 
engagement, and preliminary audit strategy.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-1 EP QRi-8 The engagement partner does not take responsibility for determining that 
staff members assigned to the engagement understand the relevant ethical 
requirements, including independence.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-1 EP QRi-9 Engagement team members do not sufficiently understand their responsibilities in 
connection with engagements, in accordance with professional standards, and how 
they should fulfill those responsibilities.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

EP QO-1 QM sec. 10, 
par. .32a

Engagement teams understand and fulfill their responsibilities in connection with the engagements, including, as applicable, the overall 
responsibility of engagement partners for managing and achieving quality on the engagement and being sufficiently and appropriately 
involved throughout the engagement. 

EP QO-1 EP QRi-10 The engagement team is not assigned based on competence and capabilities. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-1 EP QRi-11 Changes to the client’s background information, including those obtained  
during client acceptance and continuance procedures, are not considered  
during planning procedures.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-1 EP QRi-12 Engagement quality reviewers are not sufficiently involved throughout  
the engagement.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-1 EP QRi-13 The need for a specialist or consultant is not identified during the planning phase. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-1 EP QRi-14 Engagement teams do not sufficiently document planning procedures. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-1 EP QRi-15 The roles and responsibilities of each individual on the engagement are not 
thoroughly and clearly communicated prior to commencing the engagement.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-1 EP QRi-16 The resource needs and nature of the engagement are not appropriately 
considered, both during the planning stage and when circumstances  
change during the performance of the engagement, leaving the  
engagements understaffed.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-1 EP QRi-17 Engagement team members, including engagement partners, do not have the 
appropriate experience, including industry considerations.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-1 EP QRi-18 Engagement teams are not aware of economic conditions that may affect  
their clients.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-1 EP QRi-19 The engagement partner does not actively participate in fraud  
brainstorming sessions.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-1 EP QRi-20 The budgets created for individual engagements are inappropriate based  
on the nature of the work to be performed.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

EP QO-1 QM sec. 10, 
par. .32a

Engagement teams understand and fulfill their responsibilities in connection with the engagements, including, as applicable, the overall 
responsibility of engagement partners for managing and achieving quality on the engagement and being sufficiently and appropriately 
involved throughout the engagement. 

EP QO-1 EP QRi-21 The staffing on each engagement is not commensurate with the budgeted hours. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-1 EP QRi-22 The engagement partner does not take ultimate responsibility for the engagement. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-1 EP QRi-23 New hires, merged practices, or engagement team members from other practice 
offices may have different understandings of the firm’s policies and procedures, 
necessitating more thorough review and supervision by the engagement partner.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-1 EP QRi-24 The engagement partner does not appropriately manage deadlines or  
workload concentrations. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-1 EP QRi-25 Changes to strategy, planning materiality, or plan are not documented or approved 
by the engagement partner.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-1 EP QRi-26 The engagement partner fails to react to engagement scope expansion after the 
engagement letter was signed and staffing has been assigned.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-1 EP QRi-27 Engagement team members do not identify matters for consultation. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-1 EP QRi-28 The work done by a firm service delivery center, another network firm, or a 
component auditor, is not adequately directed, supervised, or reviewed.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-1 EP QRi-29 The documentation is not adequately reviewed to ensure the documentation 
provides a clear understanding of the work performed, the evidence obtained and 
its source, and the conclusions reached before the report is issued.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

296



Establishing and Maintaining a System of Quality Management for a CPA Firm’s Accounting and Auditing Practice | 51  

QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

EP QO-2 QM sec. 10, 
par. .32b

The nature, timing, and extent of direction and supervision of engagement teams and review of the work performed is appropriate  
based on the nature and circumstances of the engagements and the resources assigned or made available to the engagement teams,  
and the work performed by less experienced engagement team members is directed, supervised, and reviewed by more experienced 
engagement team members.

EP QO-2 EP QRi-30 The nature, timing, and extent of direction and supervision of engagement 
teams and review of the work performed is not appropriate based on the nature 
and circumstances of the engagements and the resources assigned or made 
available to the engagement teams, and the work performed by less experienced 
engagement team members is not directed, supervised, and reviewed by more 
experienced engagement team members.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-2 EP QRi-31 Team members, including component auditors and remote workers, are not 
adequately directed and supervised throughout the engagement.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-2 EP QRi-32 All required checklists and work programs have not been completed, or the 
objectives of the work programs have not been achieved.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-2 EP QRi-33 The work performed does not support the conclusions reached or is not  
properly documented.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-2 EP QRi-34 Lack of interaction and communication with the client or between engagement 
team members adversely affects engagement quality.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-2 EP QRi-35 Reports are issued before the work is complete and properly reviewed (that is, 
engagement quality [EQ] reviewer reviewed the file after report issuance; legal 
confirmations are received after the report is issued). 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-2 EP QRi-36 The firm does not have appropriate policies for identifying engagements that 
should have a pre-issuance review by a person that is not a member of the 
engagement team.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-2 EP QRi-37 The firm uses personnel from a service delivery center to perform procedures  
on audit engagements that do not have a sufficient understanding of the  
applicable professional standards and the firm’s policies and procedures.  

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-2 EP QRi-38 The EQ review policy is poorly communicated to EQ reviewers. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-2 EP QRi-39 The EQ review policy is inappropriate for the firm’s practice. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

EP QO-2 QM sec. 10, 
par. .32b

The nature, timing, and extent of direction and supervision of engagement teams and review of the work performed is appropriate  
based on the nature and circumstances of the engagements and the resources assigned or made available to the engagement teams,  
and the work performed by less experienced engagement team members is directed, supervised, and reviewed by more experienced 
engagement team members.

EP QO-2 EP QRi-40 The EQ review policy is not consistently applied. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-2 EP QRi-41 Identification of risky clients during the acceptance and continuance process  
does not result in the assignment of an EQ reviewer to the engagement.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-2 EP QRi-42 The engagement team does not follow the established criteria for EQ reviews, 
including the selection of the EQ reviewer.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-2 EP QRi-43 The engagement partner does not take responsibility for the EQ review. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-2 EP QRi-44 The EQ review fails to identify significant issues resulting in quality  
being compromised.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-2 EP QRi-45 The engagement team does not have access to a qualified independent reviewer  
to perform EQ reviews. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-2 EP QRi-46 The engagement team does not follow the policies and procedures addressing the 
performance and documentation requirements of the EQ review.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-2 EP QRi-47 The engagement partner does not understand the responsibilities related to the  
EQ review.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-2 EP QRi-48 EQ reviewers are not provided sufficient time to complete the EQ review. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-2 EP QRi-49 An engagement report is issued despite unresolved questions by the EQ reviewer 
related to engagement team judgments and conclusions.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

EP QO-3 QM sec. 10, 
par. .32c

Engagement teams exercise appropriate professional judgment and, when applicable to the type of engagement,  
maintain professional skepticism. 

EP QO-3 EP QRi-50 Engagement teams do not exercise appropriate professional judgment and, when 
applicable to the type of engagement, do not maintain professional skepticism.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-3 EP QRi-51 Overly heavy workloads or impending deadlines result in work being rushed, 
skepticism being set aside, and poor judgment being used.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-3 EP QRi-52 Engagement teams are not trained on how to exercise professional judgment  
and professional skepticism on engagements.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-3 EP QRi-53 Familiarity with the client and other unconscious auditor biases impede the 
engagement team’s ability to exercise appropriate professional skepticism.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-3 EP QRi-54 The engagement team forms incorrect or inappropriate conclusions based on client 
pressure or influence.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-4 QM sec. 10, 
par. .32d

Consultation on difficult or contentious matters is undertaken and the conclusions agreed are implemented. 

EP QO-4 EP QRi-55 Consultation on difficult or contentious matters is not undertaken, or if it is, the 
conclusions agreed are not implemented.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-4 EP QRi-56 The engagement team does not follow policies and procedures addressing when 
consultations should take place, how they are performed and documented, and 
conclusions implemented.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-4 EP QRi-57 Leadership does not provide an environment that reinforces the importance and 
benefit of consultation and encourages engagement teams to consult.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-4 EP QRi-58 Engagement teams do not undertake consultations on difficult or contentious 
matters because they do not recognize which matters (for example, areas involving 
high subjectivity or difficult-to-interpret accounting guidance) require consultation.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-4 EP QRi-59 Engagement partners do not take responsibility for the engagement team 
identifying matters for consultation and undertaking consultation.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-4 EP QRi-60 Engagement teams do not undertake consultations on difficult or contentious 
matters because they do not know what or with whom to consult.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

EP QO-4 QM sec. 10, 
par. .32d

Consultation on difficult or contentious matters is undertaken and the conclusions agreed are implemented. 

EP QO-4 EP QRi-61 Engagement teams do not undertake consultations on difficult or contentious 
matters because they are concerned with adverse consequences on  
performance evaluations.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-4 EP QRi-62 Engagement teams do not appropriately evaluate new accounting standards. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-4 EP QRi-63 Incomplete facts are presented for consultation on difficult or contentious  
matters causing incorrect conclusions.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-4 EP QRi-64 Consultation conclusions are not implemented. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-4 EP QRi-65 The results of consultations are unclear or inappropriate. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-5 QM sec. 10, 
par. 32e

Differences of opinion within the engagement team, or between the engagement team and the engagement quality reviewer or individuals 
performing activities within the firm’s system of quality management, are brought to the attention of the firm and resolved. 

EP QO-5 EP QRi-66 Differences of opinion by engagement team members reporting directly to the 
engagement partner are not adequately considered by the engagement partner.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-5 EP QRi-67 Differences of opinion within the engagement team, or between the engagement 
team and the EQ reviewer or individuals performing activities within the firm’s 
SOQMS, are not brought to the attention of the firm or if they are, they are not 
resolved.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-5 EP QRi-68 Engagement team members do not follow or are not aware of the process to  
follow when a difference of opinion occurs. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-5 EP QRi-69 Senior members of the engagement team, as well as the EQ reviewer and other 
members of the firm’s quality management system, do not create an environment 
that encourages open discussion of competing viewpoints.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-5 EP QRi-70 Resolution of differences of opinion are not properly evaluated and documented. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

EP QO-5 QM sec. 10, 
par. 32e

Differences of opinion within the engagement team, or between the engagement team and the engagement quality reviewer or individuals 
performing activities within the firm’s system of quality management, are brought to the attention of the firm and resolved. 

EP QO-5 EP QRi-71 An engagement report is issued despite a difference of opinion being unresolved. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-5 EP QRi-72 Significant engagement issues identified during EQ review or report review are not 
addressed before the report is issued.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-6 QM sec. 10, 
par.  .32f

Engagement documentation is assembled on a timely basis after the date of the engagement report, and is appropriately maintained 
and retained to meet the needs of the firm and comply with law, regulation, relevant ethical requirements, or professional standards. 

EP QO-6 EP QRi-73 Engagement documentation is not assembled on a timely basis after the date  
of the engagement report or is not appropriately maintained and retained to meet 
the needs of the firm and comply with law, regulation, relevant ethical requirements, 
or professional standards.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-6 EP QRi-74 Engagement documentation is not assembled timely, either because firm policy is 
not clear and appropriate or because firm policy is not followed.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-6 EP QRi-75 Engagement documentation is added or modified after the document completion 
date and such modifications are not authorized or documented.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-6 EP QRi-76 Engagement documentation is not appropriately maintained and retained,  
either because firm policy is not clear and appropriate or because firm policy 
is not followed.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

EP QO-6 EP QRi-77 The engagement team does not appropriately perform the firm’s document 
retention procedures; therefore, documentation is not appropriately maintained 
and retained.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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Table 3: Required and Suggested Quality Responses – Engagement Performance

QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Engagement Performance

EP  
QRe-1

Policy: The firm uses quality management materials (for example, 
an audit and accounting manual, standardized forms, checklists, 
templates, practice aids, tools, questionnaires, and the like) to assist 
with engagement performance.

EP  
QRe-1.01

The engagement partner establishes procedures to ensure that 
regardless of whether the firm develops its own quality management 
materials or obtains it from a third-party provider
•	 the material is reliable and suitable for the engagement.
•	 the quality management materials are up to date.
•	 �modifications to the package and to individual forms  

are appropriate.
•	 the forms being used are appropriate for the engagement.

•	 �industry or regulatory requirements are identified (for example, 
requirements specific to your client’s state).

TIP: Review your client’s state regulatory website where you  
can find the requirements and example reports.

EP  
QRe-2

Policy: Planning for engagements meets professional, regulatory,  
and the firm’s requirements.

 

EP  
QRe-2.01

The firm provides personnel with the firm’s practice aids that prescribe 
the factors the engagement team should consider in the planning 
process and the extent of documentation of those considerations. 

 

EP  
QRe-2.02

The firm trains personnel on the use of the firm’s practice aids (audit 
and accounting manual, standardized forms, checklists, templates, 
practice aids, tools, questionnaires, and the like). 
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Engagement Performance

EP  
QRe-2.03

Planning considerations may vary depending on the size and 
complexity of the engagement. The firm follows the following 
procedures for planning engagements:

•	 �When the firm accepts an audit, review, or attestation examination 
in an industry in which the firm’s personnel do not have recent 
experience, the firm requires all senior members of the engagement 
team to take industry-specific continuing professional education 
before planning procedures are performed.

REMEMBER: Planning comes FIRST! 

TIP: How recent depends upon changes in the industry and related 
accounting; not more than five years is a useful guideline, but it could 
be less, especially in regulated industries. Also, make sure  
that the engagement team is using the most recent AICPA Audit  
and Accounting Guide for that industry, when applicable.

•	 �The engagement partner accepts responsibility for planning  
the engagement.

WARNING: The higher the risk that the firm will fail to perform and 
report in conformity with applicable professional standards in an 
engagement, the more important it is that the engagement partner  
be more deeply involved in planning.

•	 �Appropriate personnel are assigned responsibilities during  
the planning phase.

•	 ��The engagement partner, or personnel designated by the 
engagement partner, develops or updates background  
information on the client and the engagement.

•	 �Planning includes determination of whether the engagement  
meets the firm’s criteria for performing an EQ review. If so, the  
person performing the EQ review reviews the planning timely.

WARNING: QM section 20, Engagement Quality Review, requires that 
the EQ review take place at appropriate times during the engagement.

•	 �If a specialist or consultant is used to provide the engagement  
team with the necessary competence, that person reviews the  
planning timely.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Engagement Performance

EP  
QRe-2.04

The engagement team prepares planning documentation that  
includes the following:
•	 Proposed work programs tailored to the specific engagement
•	 Staffing requirements
•	 �Whether there is a need for specialized knowledge and how  

that will be obtained (for example, from other practice offices  
or through consultation)

•	 �Consideration of the economic conditions affecting the client  
and its industry and their potential effect on the conduct of  
the engagement

•	 �Consideration of risks, including fraud considerations, affecting  
the client and the engagement and how they may affect the 
procedures to be performed

•	 �A budget that allocates sufficient time for the engagement to be 
performed in accordance with professional standards and the  
firm’s quality management policies and procedures.

•	 �Approval of planning and of the proposed work program by  
the engagement partner before work to obtain engagement  
evidence begins

NOTE: Although planning is an iterative process, having the engagement 
partner approve planning before fieldwork begins results in a more 
effective, efficient, and higher quality engagement.

EP  
QRe-3

Policy: The engagement is performed, supervised, documented,  
and reported (or communicated) in accordance with the  
requirements of professional standards, applicable regulators,  
and the firm.

 

EP  
QRe-3.01

Each engagement is assigned an engagement partner, who accepts 
ultimate responsibility for the engagement.

 

EP  
QRe-3.02

A written work program is used in each engagement.  
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Engagement Performance

EP  
QRe-3.03

Each engagement is required to be supervised by suitably experienced 
engagement team members. Engagement supervision includes the 
following: Briefing the engagement team on the objectives of their work

•	 Tracking the progress of the engagement

•	 �Considering the competence and capabilities of individual members 
of the engagement team, whether they have sufficient time to carry 
out their work, whether they understand their instructions, and 
whether the work is being carried out in accordance with the planned 
approach to the engagement

•	 �Addressing significant findings and issues arising during the 
engagement, considering their significance, and modifying the 
planned approach appropriately

•	 �Identifying matters for consultation or consideration by more 
experienced engagement team members during the engagement

EP  
QRe-3.04

Engagement personnel prepare working papers that adhere to the 
firm’s guidelines, applicable regulatory requirements, and professional 
standards for the form and content of documentation of the work 
performed and conclusions reached. 

NOTE: If you haven’t documented what you have done, it’s as if you 
didn’t do it. Remember, the standard requires documentation for 
“an experienced reviewer with no connection to the engagement” — 
someone with no access to anything except what is in the working 
papers. Therefore, the working papers need sufficient detail for the 
reviewer to understand exactly what was done.

EP  
QRe-3.05

Engagement documentation makes clear when and by whom 
engagement documentation was prepared and reviewed.

EP  
QRe-4

Policy: Qualified engagement team members review work  
performed by other team members on a timely basis.

 

EP  
QRe-4.01

The firm’s methodology prescribes who on the engagement team 
reviews the work of other members of the engagement team.

NOTE: This can include the extent of the engagement partner’s review.

EP  
QRe-4.02

For each engagement, there is evidence of appropriate review of 
documentation of the work performed, conclusions reached, the 
financial statements, and the report.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Engagement Performance

EP  
QRe-4.03

The firm prescribes the extent of review of the nature, timing, and 
extent of procedures performed to have reasonable assurance that 
they are consistent with the approach described in the planning 
documentation. Exceptions are investigated and resolved.

WARNING: The financial statements can be materially correct, 
the report can be appropriate in the circumstances, and yet, the 
engagement may not be in compliance with professional standards 
because, for example, the engagement team did not obtain sufficient 
appropriate engagement evidence or the documentation does not 
reflect all the procedures performed and evidence obtained.

EP  
QRe-4.04

Engagement documentation is reviewed to determine whether the 
following have occurred: 
•	 �The work has been performed in accordance with professional 

standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
•	 �Significant findings and issues have been raised for further 

consideration.
•	 �Appropriate consultations have taken place and the resulting 

conclusions have been documented and implemented.
•	 �The nature, timing, and extent of the work performed is  

appropriate and without need for revision.
•	 �The work performed supports the conclusions reached and is 

appropriately documented.
•	 �The evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to support  

the report.
•	 �The objectives of the engagement procedures have  

been achieved.

WARNING: The review of engagement documentation to determine 
that the work has been performed in accordance with professional 
standards is not the same as the review to determine that the report 
issued by the firm is appropriate in the circumstances. Reviewing 
engagement documentation entails reviewing the working papers for 
documentation of sufficient appropriate engagement evidence.

EP  
QRe-5

Policy: Engagements as specified in the firm’s methodology are 
reviewed by a person who is not a member of the engagement  
team before the reports or other communications are issued.

NOTE: Pre-issuance reviews by a person who is not a member of the 
engagement team may be less extensive than an EQ review.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Engagement Performance

EP  
QRe-5.01

The firm’s methodology specifies which engagements require  
pre-issuance review by a person who is not a member of the 
engagement team and prescribes the extent of the pre-issuance  
review of the report and other communication, financial statements, 
and selected documentation of the work performed, and conclusions 
reached. This includes 
•	 assigning a reviewer with the appropriate qualifications, and 
•	 �prescribing the documentation that the reviewer must review  

for each level of service and permitting the reviewer to select 
additional documentation to review.

TIP: A pre-issuance review by a person who is not a member of 
the engagement team, although only required by the standard for 
engagements meeting the firm’s criteria for an EQ review, provides  
a fresh look and is very helpful. The firm can prescribe procedures  
for different levels of services that are less extensive than those 
required for EQ review. 

EP  
QRe-6

Policy: Firm leaders set a tone that addresses the importance  
and understanding of exercising professional judgment and 
professional skepticism.

 

EP  
QRe-6.01

The engagement partner takes responsibility for ensuring engagement 
team members understand the importance and practice professional 
judgment and professional skepticism.

EP  
QRe-6.02

When performing engagements, the engagement team practices 
professional skepticism in discussions and when reviewing  
client materials.

 

EP  
QRe-7

Policy: The firm establishes, documents, and follows procedures 
when the firm uses external personnel, such as from other firms,  
for audit or accounting engagements.

 

EP  
QRe-7.01

Those procedures address the following:
•	 The form in which instructions are given to external personnel
•	 The extent to which their work is reviewed

TIP: For example, when external personnel are used to observe 
inventory, when using independent contractors as part of the 
engagement team, or when assuming responsibility for the work  
of component auditors
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Engagement Performance

EP  
QRe-8

Policy: The firm has criteria for determining whether an EQ review 
should be performed, evaluates all engagements against the criteria, 
performs an EQ review for all engagements that meet the criteria,  
and completes the review before the report is released.

NOTE: This is a required response. [QM sec. 10, par. .35f and QM sec. 
20 par. .24b]

TIP: If your acceptance and continuance policies and procedures limit 
engagement risk, the need for an EQ review may be diminished.                       

WARNING: Criteria that are not responsive to the structure and nature 
of the firm’s practice are not appropriate.

EP  
QRe-8.01

The firm’s criteria for requiring that an EQ review be performed are 
based on the firm’s assessment of which engagements would most 
benefit from an independent review, taking into account the structure 
and nature of the firm’s practice. 

WARNING: When setting criteria for an EQ review, it is critical that the 
firm carefully consider which engagements have the highest risk of 
NOT being performed in accordance with the standards or that the 
report will NOT be appropriate in the circumstances. Consider the 
engagements that the firm performs in setting the criteria and not only 
engagements that are clearly outside the firm’s expertise. Recognize 
that risk factors to the firm change over time and the firm’s criteria for 
an EQ review may need to change accordingly.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Engagement Performance

Ep  
QRe-8.02

The firm’s criteria include the following: [specify criteria, which could 
include the following]: 
•	 �The identification of unusual circumstances or risks in an 

engagement or class of engagements as pre-determined by  
the firm, for example 

	– �audits in which a going concern issue was identified but the  
report was not modified,

	– �a compilation with disclosures when the firm has only been  
doing compilations without disclosures, or 

	– �a review (or other engagement) for an entity with issues that  
the firm rarely encounters (for example, joint ventures)

•	 An EQ review is required by law or regulation.  
•	 �An engagement for which the undue influence threat may exist  

(for example, an engagement that represents over 10% of the  
firm’s audit and accounting practice)

•	 �A high-risk engagement, as defined by the firm, using the same 
criteria used for acceptance and continuance

•	 �An engagement in an industry in which the firm’s practice is limited, 
and the firm’s personnel have little or no experience

•	 An engagement for which the familiarity threat may exist
•	 �An engagement for an entity operating in a highly specialized  

or regulated industry, including financial institutions, employee 
benefit plans, and audits in accordance with government  
auditing standards

WARNING: Appropriate criteria for most firms will consist of a mix of 
the following and not rely on just one criterion.

WARNING: The engagement partner or quality management partner 
can always request an EQ review, but having your firm’s only criterion 
for performing an EQ review be “the engagement partner or the 
quality management partner have identified unusual circumstances 
or risks in an engagement” is not appropriate. This criterion is too 
subjective to be responsive to the structure and nature of the firm’s 
practice. Likewise, the client’s revenue volume or total assets as 
the sole criterion is not appropriate because these are not, in and of 
themselves, indicators of the risk of the engagement.

NOTE: The criterion that an EQ review is required by law or regulation 
is a required response. [QM sec. 10, par. .35f(i)]

EP  
QRe-8.03

The firm evaluates all engagements against the criteria and performs 
an EQ review for all engagements that meet the criteria.

EP  
QRe-9

Policy: EQ reviewers meet the firm’s criteria for eligibility. TIP: The AICPA’s list of peer reviewers and your state society are 
resources for finding an EQ reviewer.

EP  
QRe-9.01

Selection of the EQ reviewer is not made by the engagement partner.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Engagement Performance

EP  
QRe-9.02

The EQ reviewer meets the following criteria:
•	 Has sufficient technical expertise and experience.
•	 �Carries out responsibilities with objectivity and due professional 

care without regard to the relative positions of the audit engagement 
partner and the EQ reviewer. If the reviewer’s objectivity becomes 
impaired, the reviewer must be replaced.

•	 �Does not make decisions for the engagement team or participate in 
the performance of the engagement, except to serve as a consultant 
to the engagement partner at any stage during the engagement, with 
the understanding that the EQ reviewer’s objectivity may be impaired 
if the nature and extent of consultations becomes significant.

•	 �Does not assume any of the responsibilities of the engagement 
partner or have responsibility for the audit of any significant 
subsidiaries, divisions, benefit plans, or affiliated or related entities.

•	 �Meets the independence requirements relating to the engagements 
reviewed, even though the EQ reviewer is not a member of the 
engagement team.

 

EP  
QRe-9.03

When the firm does not have suitably qualified personnel to perform 
the EQ review, the firm engages a suitably qualified external person to 
perform the engagement quality review.

EP  
QRe-10

Policy: The firm establishes procedures addressing the nature, timing, 
extent, and documentation of the EQ review.

EP  
QRe-10.01

Regarding the EQ review, the engagement partner understands and 
performs the following:   
•	 �The engagement partner remains responsible for the engagement 

and its performance, and the EQ reviewer does not make decisions 
for the engagement team.

•	 �The engagement partner may consult the EQ reviewer at any 
stage during the engagement, with the understanding that the EQ 
reviewer’s objectivity may be impaired if the nature and extent of 
consultations becomes significant.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Engagement Performance

EP  
QRe-10.02

For engagements for which the firm’s EQ review criteria stipulate that 
an EQ review is required, the engagement partner
•	 determines that an EQ reviewer has been appointed,
•	 �discusses with the EQ reviewer the significant findings or issues  

that arose during the engagement, if any, and 
•	 does not release the report until the completion of the EQ review.

TIP: The EQ review is completed when the EQ reviewer decides  
it is completed.

EP  
QRe-10.03

Timing of the EQ review: Performing an EQ review is not necessary to 
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence for audit engagements; 
therefore, the EQ review does not need to be completed before the 
date of the auditor’s report. When the EQ review results in additional 
audit procedures being performed, the date of the auditor’s report  
is changed to the date by which sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
has been obtained.

WARNING: Although permitted by the standard, completing the  
EQ review after dating the report is far from optimal, and the time 
between dating the report and then completing the EQ review is 
expected to be minimal.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Engagement Performance

EP  
QRe-10.04

The firm’s procedures require that for audit and examination 
engagements, the EQ reviewer does the following, at appropriate  
points during the engagement:
•	 �Discuss significant accounting, auditing, and financial reporting 

issues with the engagement partner, including matters for which 
there has been consultation

•	 �Discuss with the engagement partner the engagement team’s 
identification and audit of high-risk assertions, transactions, and 
account balances

•	 �Confirm with the engagement partner that there are no significant 
unresolved issues

•	 �Review selected working papers relating to the significant judgments 
the engagement team made and the conclusions they reached

•	 �Review documentation of the resolution of significant accounting, 
auditing, or financial reporting issues, including documentation of 
consultation with firm personnel or external sources

•	 �Review the summary of uncorrected misstatements related to 
known and likely misstatements

•	 �Review additional engagement documentation to the extent 
considered necessary

•	 �Read the financial statements and the report and consider whether 
the report is appropriate

•	 Complete the review before the release of the report
•	 �Determine whether the issues raised in the review require additional 

procedures that necessitate changing the auditor’s report date

NOTE: QM section 20, Engagement Quality Reviews, addresses the 
appointment and eligibility of the EQ reviewer and the EQ reviewer’s 
responsibilities relating to the performance and documentation of an 
EQ review. QM section 20 requires that the EQ review be conducted  
at appropriate points during the engagement, which has the 
 advantage of reducing the time pressure for resolving issues that  
the EQ reviewer identifies.

EP  
QRe-10.04

Before reports are released, matters that would cause the reviewer 
to question the engagement team’s judgments and conclusions are 
resolved and the resolution is documented.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Engagement Performance

EP  
QRe-10.05

The EQ review is documented. Documentation includes the following: 
•	 �The procedures required by the firm’s policies on EQ review have 

been performed.
•	 The EQ review has been completed before the report is released.
•	 �An assertion that the reviewer is not aware of any unresolved 

matters that would cause the reviewer to believe that the  
significant judgments the engagement team made and the 
conclusions it reached were not appropriate.

EP  
QRe-11

Policy: The firm requires that consultation take place when 
appropriate; that sufficient and appropriate resources are available 
to enable appropriate consultation to take place; that all the relevant 
facts known to the engagement team are provided to those consulted; 
that the nature, scope, and conclusions of such consultations are 
documented; and that conclusions resulting from such consultations 
are implemented.

EP  
QRe-11.01

The firm informs personnel of its consultation policies and procedures.

EP  
QRe-11.02

The firm identifies circumstances, including specialized situations, in 
which firm personnel are expected to consult. Those circumstances 
include the following [specify the criteria, such as the following]:
•	 Application of newly issued technical pronouncements
•	 �Industries with special accounting, auditing, or reporting requirements
•	 Emerging practice problems
•	 �Choices among alternative generally accepted accounting principles 

upon initial adoption or when an accounting change is made
•	 �Reissuance of a report, consideration of omitted procedures after a 

report has been issued, or subsequent discovery of facts that existed 
at the time a report was issued

•	 Identification of suspected fraud or illegal acts
•	 Filing requirements of regulatory agencies

EP  
QRe-11.03

The firm requires sufficiently experienced engagement team members to 
identify matters for consultation or consideration during the engagement.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Engagement Performance

EP  
QRe-11.04

The firm has established criteria that require consultation with 
outside parties, such as other firms, the AICPA Technical Hotline 
(877.242.7212), the AICPA Audit Quality Center, the AICPA Center for 
Plain English Accounting, other professional and regulatory bodies, and 
commercial organizations that provide relevant quality management 
services. Before using such services, the firm evaluates whether the 
external provider is qualified for that purpose.

EP  
QRe-11.05

The firm designates individuals within and outside the firm as 
consultants in certain areas. Such individuals have appropriate 
knowledge, authority, and experience. A list is maintained of the 
individuals within and outside the firm that the firm has designated  
as consultants, along with the areas where they are responsible  
for consulting.

EP  
QRe-11.06

The firm requires the engagement partner to determine the need to 
consult. That determination is based on the following:
•	 The materiality of the matter
•	 �The experience of senior engagement personnel in a particular 

industry or functional area
•	 �Whether the financial reporting framework or professional  

standards applicable to the engagement are as follows:
•	 �Based on authoritative pronouncements that are subject to  

varying interpretations
•	 Based on varied interpretations of prevailing practice
•	 Under active consideration by an authoritative body

WARNING: Don’t hesitate to consult; those who only ask when they are 
unable to draw their own conclusion may not know whether they have 
come to the correct conclusion.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Engagement Performance

EP  
QRe-11.07

The firm maintains and provides its personnel with access to  
adequate and current reference materials, including materials  
relevant to its clients. Those materials include the most current 
versions of the following:
•	 AICPA Professional Standards
•	 �AICPA Audit and Accounting Guides relevant to all industries in 

which the firm practices
•	 FASB pronouncements
•	 �Any other pronouncements relevant to the firm’s practice  

(for example, SEC pronouncements, GASB pronouncements, 
Government Auditing Standards [Yellow Book], and other  
government audit guides relevant to the firm’s practice)

TIP: The U.S. Government Accountability Office’s Yellow Book 
Technical Assistance can be reached at 202.512.9535 or  
yellowbook@gao.gov.

EP  
QRe-11.08

Those consulted are provided with all relevant facts that will enable 
them to provide informed advice.

EP  
QRe-11.09

The firm resolves differences of opinion between engagement 
personnel and specialists before report issuance.

EP  
QRe-11.10

The firm requires documentation of consultations. That required 
documentation includes the following:
•	 All relevant facts and circumstances
•	 References to professional literature used in the determination
•	 Conclusions reached and how they were implemented
•	 Signatures of engagement partner and consultant
•	 Reference to the engagement working papers

EP  
QRe-12

Policy: The firm addresses and resolves differences of opinion within 
the engagement team; with those consulted; and, when applicable, 
between the engagement partner and the EQ reviewer.

EP  
QRe-12.01

The firm follows procedures for consultation in resolving differences 
within an engagement team. If further action is necessary, the 
engagement partner, the quality management partner, and the firm’s 
leadership, if necessary, resolve the differences.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Engagement Performance

EP  
QRe-12.02

The conclusion reached to resolve the matter of disagreement  
and how that conclusion was implemented are documented.

EP  
QRe-12.03

The firm not release the report until any differences of opinion  
are resolved.

EP  
QRe-12.04

Any party to the consultation or difference of opinion, or both, who 
disagrees with the conclusion may document the disagreement with, 
and disassociate themselves from, the resolution of the matter.

NOTE: Resolution does not require consensus. Although consensus 
is optimal, ultimately, the managing partner is responsible for 
determining the resolution.

EP  
QRe-13

Policy: Engagement teams complete the assembly of final 
engagement files on a timely basis.

TIP: Assembling the final files sooner rather than later is best practice.

EP  
QRe-13.01

Final engagement files are assembled by the earlier of time limits 
required by professional standards and applicable regulatory 
requirements, if any, or 60 days from the report release date.

TIP: Because deadlines have power, it is helpful for the firm to specify 
a time limit for all engagements in the absence of time limits required 
by professional standards or regulatory requirements.

EP  
QRe-14

Policy: The firm maintains the confidentiality, safe custody, integrity, 
accessibility, and retrievability of engagement documentation.

EP  
QRe-14.01

The firm implements adequate and appropriate controls over the 
confidentiality, custody, integrity, accessibility, and retrievability  
of the firm’s engagement documentation. 

NOTE: The firm may be subject to law or regulation around 
confidentiality, such as the General Data Protection Act or California 
Consumer Act.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Engagement Performance

EP  
QRe-14.02

Adequate and appropriate controls over confidentiality, custody, 
integrity, accessibility, and retrievability of engagement  
documentation include the following:
•	 �Requiring that engagement documentation clearly indicates  

when and by whom it was prepared and reviewed.
•	 �Procedures to protect the integrity of the information at all stages 

of the engagement, including preventing unauthorized changes 
to the engagement documentation. For electronic engagement 
documentation, this includes 

	– �using passwords or data encryption, or both, to restrict access  
to authorized users, and

	– �using appropriate back-up routines at appropriate stages  
during the engagement.

•	 �Procedures for tracking the distribution of engagement 
documentation materials to personnel at the start of the 
engagement, preparing engagement documentation during  
the engagement, and assembling final documentation at the  
end of the engagement.

•	 �Procedures to allow access to hard copy engagement 
documentation for authorized users, including the engagement  
team and other authorized users, such as inspectors, and  
restrict access by others.

•	 �Maintaining engagement documentation in one location to  
enhance retrievability (this applies to both hard copy and  
electronic documentation, although back-up files would be 
maintained elsewhere).

•	 �Implementing procedures regarding original paper documents  
that have been electronically scanned or otherwise copied to  
another media that accomplish the following: 

	– �Generate copies that contain the entire content of the original 
paper documentation, including manual signatures, cross-
references, and annotations

	– �Integrate the copies into the engagement files, including  
indexing and signing off on the copies as necessary

NOTE: Based on the size of the firm and the formality of your 
documentation, you may decide this level of detail is not  
necessary in your quality management materials.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Engagement Performance

EP  
QRe-15

Policy: The firm retains engagement documentation for a period of 
time sufficient to meet the needs of the firm, professional standards, 
laws, and regulations.

 

EP  
QRe-15.01

The quality management partner maintains a list specifying the period 
of time sufficient to meet the needs of the firm, the requirements of  
the state board of accountancy, and applicable professional standards 
for each level of engagement service.

TIP: Your firm’s professional liability insurance carrier can be a 
resource in determining appropriate time limits.

EP  
QRe-15.02

Engagement documentation is retained for the specified period  
of time.
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Table 4: Example of Evaluated Quality Risks and Linked Responses — Engagement Performance

The following table provides examples of evaluated quality risks and linked responses to each quality risk. Please note that this is for illustrative purposes only. 
Your firm may identify other risks, may evaluate the likelihood and impact of those risks differently, and may choose other responses. The examples are not 
complete; if all you do is copy and paste these examples, your SOQM will not provide reasonable assurance of achieving its objectives.

The following examples illustrate the documentation of establishing quality objectives, evaluating quality risks, and designing the firm’s responses to those 
quality risks. This is not a complete picture of an established SOQM. The implementation, evaluation, and monitoring of the system will need to be documented 
and established, as well.

Engagement Performance

EP QO-1 Engagement teams understand and fulfill their responsibilities in connection with the engagements, including, as applicable, the overall responsibility of 
engagement partners for managing and achieving quality on the engagement and being sufficiently and appropriately involved throughout the engagement. 

QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality 
Risk

Quality Response QRe#

EP QO-1 EP QRi-4 The engagement team does not tailor 
quality management materials to 
each engagement or does not use the 
templates and practice aids that are 
appropriate for the engagement.

Low High Yes The engagement partner establishes 
procedures to ensure that regardless 
of whether the firm develops its own 
quality management materials or 
obtains it from a third-party provider  
•	 �the material is reliable and suitable  

for the engagement.
•	 �the quality management materials  

are up to date.
•	 �modifications to the package and to 

individual forms are appropriate.
•	 �the forms being used are appropriate 

for the engagement.
•	 �industry or regulatory requirements are 

identified (for example, requirements 
specific to your client’s state).

EP  
QRe-1.01
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QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality 
Risk

Quality Response QRe#

EP QO-2 The nature, timing, and extent of direction and supervision of engagement teams and review of the work performed is appropriate based on the nature  
and circumstances of the engagements and the resources assigned or made available to the engagement teams, and the work performed by less experienced 
engagement team members is directed, supervised, and reviewed by more experienced engagement team members. 

EP QO-2 EP QRi-31 Team members, including component 
auditors and remote workers, are not 
adequately directed and supervised 
throughout the engagement.

Low High Yes For each engagement, there is evidence 
of appropriate review of documentation 
of the work performed, conclusions 
reached, the financial statements, and 
the report.

EP  
QRe-4.02

EP QO-4 Consultation on difficult or contentious matters is undertaken and the conclusions agreed are implemented. 

EP QO-4 EP QRi-58 Engagement teams do not undertake 
consultations on difficult or contentious 
matters because they do not recognize 
which matters (for example, areas 
involving high subjectivity or  
difficult-to-interpret accounting 
guidance) require consultation.

High Medium Yes The firm identifies circumstances, 
including specialized situations, when 
firm personnel are expected to consult.  
Those circumstances include the 
following [specify the criteria, such as 
the following]:
•	 �Application of newly issued technical 

pronouncements
•	 �Industries with special accounting, 

auditing, or reporting requirements
•	 Emerging practice problems
•	 �Choices among alternative generally 

accepted accounting principles upon 
initial adoption or when an accounting 
change is made

•	 �Reissuance of a report, consideration 
of omitted procedures after a report 
has been issued, or subsequent 
discovery of facts that existed at  
the time a report was issued

•	 �Identification of suspected fraud  
or illegal acts

•	 �Filing requirements of regulatory 
agencies

EP  
QRe-11.02
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Resources

Table 1: Required Quality Objectives — Resources

QO # Ref: Quality Objectives

RES QO-1 QM sec. 10, 
par. .33a

Personnel are hired, developed, and retained and have the competence and capabilities to
i.	 �consistently perform quality engagements, including having knowledge or experience relevant to the engagements the 

firm performs, or 
ii.	 perform activities or carry out responsibilities in relation to the operation of the firm’s systems of quality management.

RES QO-2 QM sec. 10, 
par. .33b

Personnel demonstrate a commitment to quality through their actions and behaviors, develop and maintain the appropriate  
competence to perform their roles, and are held accountable or recognized through timely evaluations, compensation,  
promotion, and other incentives.

RES QO-3 QM sec. 10, 
par. .33c

Individuals are obtained from external sources (that is, the network, another network firm, or a service provider) when the firm  
does not have sufficient or appropriate personnel to enable the operation of the firm’s SOQM or performance of engagements.

RES QO-4 QM sec. 10, 
par. .33d

Engagement team members are assigned to each engagement, including an engagement partner, who have appropriate competence 
and capabilities, including being given sufficient time, to consistently perform quality engagements.

RES QO-5 QM sec. 10, 
par. .33e

Individuals who have appropriate competence and capabilities, including sufficient time, are assigned to perform activities  
within the SOQM.

RES QO-6 QM sec. 10, 
par. .33f

Appropriate technological resources are obtained or developed, implemented, maintained, and used to enable the operation  
of the firm’s SOQM and the performance of engagements.

RES QO-7 QM sec. 10, 
par. 33g

Appropriate intellectual resources are obtained or developed, implemented, maintained, and used to enable the operation of the  
firm’s SOQM and the consistent performance of quality engagements, and such intellectual resources are consistent with  
professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements, where applicable.

RES QO-8 QM sec. 10, 
par. 33h

Human, technological, or intellectual resources from service providers are appropriate for use in the firm’s SOQM and in the 
performance of engagements, taking into account preceding quality objectives RES QO-4 through RES QO-7.
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Table 2: Required Quality Objectives and Potential Quality Risks — Resources

QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

RES QO-1 QM sec. 10, 
par. .33a

Personnel are hired, developed, and retained and have the competence and capabilities to 
i.	 �consistently perform quality engagements, including having knowledge or experience relevant to the engagements the  

firm performs, or
ii.	 perform activities or carry out responsibilities in relation to the operation of the firm’s system of quality management.

Human Resources

RES 
QO-1

RES QRi-1 Personnel, including partners, do not have, or cannot gain, the competence and 
capabilities to consistently perform quality engagements, which includes not only 
technical competence but professional ethics, values, and attitudes.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-1

RES QRi-2 Personnel, including partners, do not have the competence and capabilities to 
perform activities or carry out responsibilities in relation to the operation of the 
firm’s SOQM.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-1

RES QRi-3 The firm does not have sufficient personnel or personnel with the appropriate 
competence and capabilities to perform the engagements it has accepted.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-1

RES QRi-4 The firm does not adequately develop personnel that are hired and retained. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-1

RES QRi-5 The firm does not have sufficient resources to recruit quality candidates. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-1

RES QRi-6 The firm experiences high turnover. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-1

RES QRi-7 Personnel, including partners, do not consistently perform quality engagements. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

322



Establishing and Maintaining a System of Quality Management for a CPA Firm’s Accounting and Auditing Practice | 77  

QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

EP QO-2 QM sec. 10, 
par. .33b

Personnel demonstrate a commitment to quality through their actions and behaviors, develop and maintain the appropriate competence to 
perform their roles, and are held accountable or recognized through timely evaluations, compensation, promotion, and other incentives. 

Human Resources

RES 
QO-2

RES QRi-8 Personnel do not demonstrate a commitment to quality through their actions 
and behaviors; do not develop or do not maintain the appropriate competence to 
perform their roles; and are not held accountable or recognized through timely 
evaluations, compensation, promotion, and other incentives.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-2

RES QRi-9 The capabilities and competencies possessed by personnel, including partners, 
do not support the firm’s quality objectives.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-2

RES QRi-10 Personnel, including partners, do not demonstrate a commitment to quality. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-2

RES QRi-11 Personnel, including partners, are not aware of their developmental needs to 
enable them to meet the firm’s quality objectives.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-2

RES QRi-12 The firm does not provide opportunities for personnel to participate in 
professional development activities that enable them to accomplish their 
assigned responsibilities.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-2

RES QRi-13 Learning and development programs are not delivered in a frequency,  
length, or format that ensures participant engagement and advancement of 
learning objectives.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-2

RES QRi-14 The firm does not encourage professional development (for example, passing  
the CPA exam).

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-2

RES QRi-15 Newly hired per-diem personnel are not aware of firm policies and procedures. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-2

RES QRi-16 Personnel, including partners, are not aware of their responsibilities and 
professional development opportunities.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-2

RES QRi-17 Training programs are insufficiently focused on meeting the development needs 
of personnel, including competence in technical and specialized (“soft”) skills.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

EP QO-2 QM sec. 10, 
par. .33b

Personnel demonstrate a commitment to quality through their actions and behaviors, develop and maintain the appropriate competence to 
perform their roles, and are held accountable or recognized through timely evaluations, compensation, promotion, and other incentives. 

Human Resources

RES 
QO-2

RES QRi-18 The partner in charge of an engagement in a specialized industry does not have 
sufficient current knowledge to perform quality engagements in that specialized 
industry.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-2

RES QRi-19 Personnel do not have the appropriate continuing professional education (CPE) 
required by law, regulation, or professional standards (which require competency) 
for the work they perform (for example, Government Auditing Standards 
requirements, AICPA Employee Benefit Plan Audit Quality Center requirements, 
and so on).

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-2

RES QRi-20 Personnel, including partners, are not aware of changes in applicable professional 
standards, regulations, or firm policy.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-2

RES QRi-21 Personnel, including partners, selected for advancement do not have the 
qualifications to fulfill the responsibilities they will be called on to assume.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-2

RES QRi-22 Leadership does not designate a person responsible for identifying and 
communicating the qualifications necessary to accomplish professional 
responsibilities at each professional level within the firm.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-2

RES QRi-23 Personnel, including partners, are not properly incentivized to maintain a high 
degree of quality in their engagements or in the performance of the SOQM.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-2

RES QRi-24 The firm’s compensation, recognition, and promotion mechanisms are  
ineffective in recognizing and rewarding competency (and, by association,  
quality), at any level.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-2

RES QRi-25 The firm does not have established criteria for advancement to the next level  
of responsibility.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-2

RES QRi-26 The firm does not hold personnel accountable for actions or behaviors that 
negatively affect quality, such as failing to demonstrate a commitment to  
quality, develop and maintain the competence to perform their role, or  
implement the firm’s responses as designed.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

EP QO-2 QM sec. 10, 
par. .33b

Personnel demonstrate a commitment to quality through their actions and behaviors, develop and maintain the appropriate competence to 
perform their roles, and are held accountable or recognized through timely evaluations, compensation, promotion, and other incentives. 

Human Resources

RES 
QO-2

RES QRi-27 Quality objectives and per-diem personnel’s commitment to quality are not a 
component of advancement and compensation determinations.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-2

RES QRi-28 Evaluations are not undertaken at appropriate intervals and do not include 
competency areas and other performance measures.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-2

RES QRi-29 Positive actions or behaviors demonstrated by per-diem personnel are not 
adequately or consistently recognized (such as through compensation, 
promotion, other incentives, or, as appropriate, simple or informal incentives that 
are not based on monetary rewards).

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES QO-3 QM sec. 10, 
par. .33c

Individuals are obtained from external sources (that is, the network, another network firm, or a service provider) when the firm does not have 
sufficient or appropriate personnel to enable the operation of the firm’s system of quality management or performance of engagements.

Human Resources

RES 
QO-3

RES QRi-30 Individuals are not obtained from external sources (that is, the network, another 
network firm, or a service provider) when the firm does not have sufficient or 
appropriate personnel to enable the operation of the firm’s SOQM or performance 
of engagements.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-3

RES QRi-31 The firm relies on an external workforce, network firm, or component auditor that 
does not perform the engagement or a portion of the engagement in accordance 
with applicable standards.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-3

RES QRi-32 Alternate work forces, network resources, component auditors, and other third-
party resources, are not properly evaluated for competence and capabilities or 
trained in the performance of engagements, prior to utilization.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-3

RES QRi-33 The firm lacks an appropriate network or third-party providers to enable the 
operation of the firm’s SOQM or performance of engagements.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

RES QO-3 QM sec. 10, 
par. .33c

Individuals are obtained from external sources (that is, the network, another network firm, or a service provider) when the firm does not have 
sufficient or appropriate personnel to enable the operation of the firm’s system of quality management or performance of engagements.

Human Resources

RES 
QO-3

RES QRi-34 The firm lacks internal expertise to perform adequate monitoring of the  
firm’s SOQM.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-3

RES QRi-35 The firm is not able to timely identify the need for network or third-party providers 
to enable the operation of the firm’s SOQM or performance of engagements.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-3

RES QRi-36 The firm is not able to timely evaluate the appropriateness of network or  
third-party providers to enable the operation of the firm’s SOQM or performance 
of engagements.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES QO-4 QM sec. 10, 
par. .33d

Engagement team members, including an engagement partner, who have appropriate competence and capabilities to consistently  
perform quality engagements, including being given sufficient time, are assigned to each engagement. 

Human Resources

RES 
QO-4

RES QRi-37 Engagement team members, including an engagement partner, are assigned to 
engagements when they do not have appropriate competence and capabilities to 
consistently perform quality engagements, including being given sufficient time.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-4

RES QRi-38 Engagement teams are not afforded sufficient time or there are insufficient 
staffing levels to consistently perform quality audit engagements. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-4

RES QRi-39 Leadership is not aware of which partner is responsible for certain engagements, 
which causes a high-risk industry engagement to be inadequately performed.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-4

RES QRi-40 The engagement partner does not fulfill all required responsibilities. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-4

RES QRi-41 Engagement team members, including the engagement partner, suffer 
“impairment” due to physical or mental considerations (fatigue, burnout, 
distractions, not taking paid time off, unreasonable workload compression, 
insufficient succession planning, and so on) such that they are unable to 
effectively perform relevant responsibilities.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

RES QO-4 QM sec. 10, 
par. .33d

Engagement team members, including an engagement partner, who have appropriate competence and capabilities to consistently  
perform quality engagements, including being given sufficient time, are assigned to each engagement. 

Human Resources

RES 
QO-4

RES QRi-42 The engagement partner perpetuates errors on engagements that cause 
nonconformity with the applicable professional standards.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-4

RES QRi-43 Engagement team members, including the engagement partner, do not 
collectively have appropriate competence and capabilities in the circumstances 
of the particular engagement.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-4

RES QRi-44 Engagement team members are not properly supervised, including in a remote 
working environment.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES QO-5 QM sec. 10, 
par. .33e

Individuals who have appropriate competence and capabilities, including sufficient time, to perform such activities are assigned to  
perform activities within the system of quality management.

Human Resources

RES 
QO-5

RES QRi-45 Individuals who do not have appropriate competence and capabilities,  
including sufficient time, are assigned to perform activities within the SOQM. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-5

RES QRi-46 Insufficient resources are allocated to developing and maintaining an  
effective SOQM.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-5

RES QRi-47 Individuals assigned roles relevant to the SOQM lack the competence and 
capabilities to undertake those roles.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-5

RES QRi-48 Personnel performing quality management operational and monitoring functions 
do not have sufficient time dedicated to QM activities.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-5

RES QRi-49 Personnel performing quality management functions are not adequately trained 
to perform QM activities.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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RES QO-6 QM sec. 10, 
par. .33f

Appropriate technological resources are obtained or developed, implemented, maintained, and used to enable the operation of the  
firm’s system of quality management and the performance of engagements. 

Technological Resources

RES 
QO-6

RES QRi-50 Technological resources to enable the operation of the firm’s SOQM and the 
performance of engagements that are obtained or developed are not  
appropriate, are not implemented, are not maintained, are not used, or are  
used inappropriately.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-6

RES QRi-51 The firm fails to invest in and use technological resources that have the ability to 
enhance quality as well as other benefits such as efficiency.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-6

RES QRi-52 Inadequate consideration is given to the features, security, controls, and so on 
when obtaining or developing technological resources that are used in the SOQM, 
including engagement performance.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-6

RES QRi-53 Appropriate levels of security and controls are not maintained over IT applications 
(for example, access to technology tools is granted to unauthorized professionals 
or is untimely revoked due to reassignments, role changes, terminations, and 
other unforeseen circumstances).

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-6

RES QRi-54 Personnel are not properly trained to use the firm’s technological resources (for 
example, computer-assisted auditing tool) resulting in overreliance or improper 
evaluation of results. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-6

RES QRi-55 Personnel do not have the appropriate competence and capabilities to use 
technological resources effectively.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-6

RES QRi-56 Software applications used in assurance, including the firm’s engagement 
performance methodology, are not performing as designed (including version 
enhancements). 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-6

RES QRi-57 Firm and client data is susceptible to cyber breaches, loss, or theft of IT 
equipment.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-6

RES QRi-58 IT failure prevents access to engagement files. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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RES QO-6 QM sec. 10, 
par. .33f

Appropriate technological resources are obtained or developed, implemented, maintained, and used to enable the operation of the  
firm’s system of quality management and the performance of engagements. 

Technological Resources

RES 
QO-6

RES QRi-59 Personnel, including partners, use their personal devices for client work, which 
presents risks to the control and security of data.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-6

RES QRi-60 There are disparate, unintegrated systems that do not carry data properly from 
one to the other or use inconsistent data. Note: This may occur as the result of a 
merger or acquisition.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-6

RES QRi-61 Appropriate technological resources are not obtained or are inappropriately 
developed, are not maintained or lack the necessary IT infrastructure and IT 
processes for the resource to function effectively, or are not used appropriately.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-6

RES QRi-62 Technological resources are altered inappropriately. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-6

RES QRi-63 Technological resources become obsolete. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-6

RES QRi-64 The firm does not develop, implement, or maintain the necessary technological 
resources to meet its quality objectives and enable personnel to carry out quality 
engagements.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-6

RES QRi-65 In obtaining, developing, implementing, and maintaining an IT application, the  
firm does not appropriately assess or respond to findings related to the use of  
the application.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-6

RES QRi-66 Personnel are not given timely access to the necessary technological resources 
to complete their assigned responsibilities.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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RES QO-7 QM sec. 10, 
par. .33g

Appropriate intellectual resources are obtained or developed, implemented, maintained, and used to enable the operation of the firm’s  
system of quality management and the consistent performance of quality engagements, and such intellectual resources are consistent 
with professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements, where applicable. 

Intellectual Resources

RES 
QO-7

RES QRi-67 Intellectual resources to enable the operation of the firm’s SOQM and the 
consistent performance of quality engagements are obtained or developed 
inappropriately, are not implemented, are not maintained, are not used, or are 
used inappropriately, and such intellectual resources are not consistent with 
professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-7

RES QRi-68 The firm relies on third-party practice aids without appropriately customizing 
them for the nature and circumstances of its practice.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-7

RES QRi-69 The firm does not receive updated quality management materials on a 
regular basis.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-7

RES QRi-70 The firm subscribes only to general quality management materials that are 
not industry specific.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-7

RES QRi-71 The intellectual information, including data obtained from third parties or 
developed by the firm, is not appropriately vetted, is incorrect, or is not  
updated timely. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-7

RES QRi-72 The firm does not develop, maintain, and implement the necessary intellectual 
resources — such as software licenses, research tools, and professional  
literature — to meet its quality objectives and enable personnel to carry out  
quality engagements.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-7

RES QRi-73 Internally developed spreadsheets for firm personnel, including partners, to use 
contain errors or employ inappropriate methodologies.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-7

RES QRi-74 Appropriate templates are not used properly in the performance of engagements. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-7

RES QRi-75 The firm does not have properly designed, implemented, or effective policies or 
procedures regarding use of the firm’s intellectual resources. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

330



Establishing and Maintaining a System of Quality Management for a CPA Firm’s Accounting and Auditing Practice | 85  

QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

RES QO-7 QM sec. 10, 
par. .33g

Appropriate intellectual resources are obtained or developed, implemented, maintained, and used to enable the operation of the firm’s 
system of quality management and the consistent performance of quality engagements, and such intellectual resources are consistent with 
professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements, where applicable. 

Intellectual Resources

RES 
QO-7

RES QRi-76 Information used to monitor the SOQM is not complete, accurate, or updated with 
respect to engagement data (engagement listings, classification of engagements, 
personnel hours, personnel experience, and so on).

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-7

RES QRi-77 The firm does not timely identify and train personnel on changes in applicable 
professional standards and legal and regulatory requirements.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-7

RES QRi-78 Following a merger or acquisition, intellectual resources are not integrated or 
consistent across the firm.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES QO-8 QM sec. 10, 
par. .33h

Human, technological, or intellectual resources from service providers are appropriate for use in the firm’s system of quality  
management and in performing engagements, taking into account preceding quality objectives RES QO-4 through RES QO-7. 

Service Providers

RES 
QO-8

RES QRi-79 Human, technological, or intellectual resources from service providers are not 
appropriate for use in the firm’s SOQM and in the performance of engagements, 
taking into account the quality objectives in paragraph 33d, e, f, and g of QM 
section 10, A Firm’s System of Quality Management.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-8

RES QRi-80 Service provider updates are incorrect, do not reflect changes in professional 
standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements, are not timely, or  
are not accepted by the firm.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-8

RES QRi-81 Third-party audit team members used on audit engagements are unfamiliar  
with the firm’s policies and procedures.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-8

RES QRi-82 The firm fails to timely and effectively determine whether a resource from a 
service provider is appropriate for use in the firm’s SOQM or in the performance 
of engagements, nor does the firm take the actions necessary for use to be 
appropriate (for example, by tailoring the resource for the firm’s nature and 
circumstances).

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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RES QO-8 QM sec. 10, 
par. .33h

Human, technological, or intellectual resources from service providers are appropriate for use in the firm’s system of quality  
management and in performing engagements, taking into account preceding quality objectives RES QO-4 through RES QO-7. 

Service Providers

RES 
QO-8

RES QRi-83 The firm fails to timely and effectively consider (i) the nature of the service 
provider’s resources, (ii) how and the extent to which the firm will use them, and 
(iii) the general characteristics of the service providers used (for example, the 
varying types of other professional services firms that are used).

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-8

RES QRi-84 The firm is not adequately monitoring service providers used in the firm’s SOQM. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-8

RES QRi-85 Client data confidentiality is violated as a result of a data breach when using 
vendor cloud platforms or other external service providers.  

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-8

RES QRi-86 The firm does not timely and effectively communicate information to the service 
provider or to personnel, including partners necessary for the resource to function 
effectively.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-8

RES QRi-87 The firm does not maintain the appropriate policies, procedures, and open 
channels of communication regarding when and to what extent service  
providers are or can be used in the firm’s SOQM.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-8

RES QRi-88 The firm is unable to obtain sufficient service providers or obtain them timely  
(for example, EQ reviewers).

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

RES 
QO-8

RES QRi-89 The firm over-relies on or does not properly evaluate the work of service 
providers. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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Table 3: Required and Suggested Quality Responses — Resources

QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Resources

Human Resources

RES QRe-1 Policy: The firm has sufficient personnel with the competence, 
capabilities, and commitment to ethical principles necessary to 
perform engagements in accordance with professional standards  
and applicable legal and regulatory requirements and enable the  
firm to issue reports that are appropriate in the circumstances.

NOTE: Depending on the firm’s engagements, “sufficient personnel” 
may consist of only you. 

RES QRe-2 Policy: The firm hires only personnel that have the characteristics to 
enable them to perform competently.

 

RES QRe-2.01 An individual in the firm [name or title] is responsible for the firm’s 
hiring and human resources management, including evaluation of 
personnel needs; establishment of hiring objectives based on factors 
such as existing clientele, anticipated growth, personnel turnover, and 
individual advancement; and providing final approval.

NOTE: Depending on the size and structure of the firm, some of these 
procedures may be delegated (for example, to the practice office level).

RES QRe-2.02 The firm has a process to identify personnel needs at all levels for  
use in hiring.

RES QRe-2.03 The firm has hiring criteria that address the following:
•	 �The attributes, achievements, and experiences desired in entry-level 

and experienced personnel to enable them to perform competently 
within the firm

•	 �How the firm evaluates personal characteristics such as integrity, 
competence, and motivation of new hires

•	 �Any additional information the firm requires for experienced hires, 
such as background checks and inquiries about any outstanding 
regulatory actions

RES QRe-2.04 The firm identifies sources of employment candidates or external human 
resources, such as universities, executive recruiters, or networks.

333



Establishing and Maintaining a System of Quality Management for a CPA Firm’s Accounting and Auditing Practice | 88  

QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Resources

RES QRe-2.05 The firm has criteria for determining which individuals will be involved in 
the interviewing and hiring process.

RES QRe-2.06 Individuals who will be interviewing candidates or otherwise 
participating in the hiring process are trained in interviewing techniques.

NOTE: This training may be very informal but is necessary, if only to be 
sure they don’t ask anything illegal.

RES QRe-2.07 The firm evaluates the results of the hiring process for each candidate, 
including approval by the managing partner, or a person designated 
by the managing partner, of all hiring decisions, in accordance with 
applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

RES QRe-3 Policy: Individuals obtained from external resources meet the  
firm’s criteria for eligibility.

RES QRe-4 Policy: The firm determines capabilities and competencies required for 
an engagement, including those required of the engagement partner.

RES QRe-4.01 The firm specifies the knowledge, skills, and abilities (competencies) 
that the engagement partner for each of the firm’s accounting,  
auditing, or attestation engagements (the partner or other person  
who is responsible for supervising those types of engagements and 
signing or authorizing someone to sign the accountant’s report on 
such engagements) should possess to fulfill the engagement  
partner’s responsibilities.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Resources

RES QRe-4.02 Such competencies for the practitioner-in-charge include the following:

•	 �An understanding of the role of the firm’s system of quality control 
control and the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct

•	 �An understanding of the performance, supervision, and reporting 
aspects of the engagement

•	 �An understanding of the applicable accounting, auditing, or 
attestation professional standards, including those standards 
directly related to the industry in which a client operates

•	 �An understanding of the industry in which a client operates, including 
the industry’s organization and operating characteristics, to identify 
the areas of high or unusual risk associated with an engagement 
and to evaluate the reasonableness of industry-specific estimates

•	 �Skills that indicate sound professional judgment, including the ability 
to exercise professional skepticism

•	 �An understanding of how organizations are dependent on or enabled 
by information technologies and the manner in which information 
systems are used to record and maintain financial information

RES QRe-5 Policy: The firm determines the capabilities and competencies 
possessed by personnel.

 

RES QRe-5.01 The firm evaluates personal characteristics such as integrity, 
competence, and motivation of personnel on an ongoing basis.

NOTE: The criteria used in evaluating these personal characteristics 
for new hires can be adapted for this procedure.

RES QRe-5.02 The firm periodically evaluates all personnel, including owners, who 
sign reports on behalf of the firm to assess whether they possess the 
knowledge, skills, and abilities (competencies) necessary to enable 
them to be qualified to perform the firm’s accounting, auditing, or 
attestation engagements (for example, by means of coaching, peer 
evaluation, or self-appraisal).
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Resources

RES QRe-6 Policy: The firm assigns responsibility for each engagement to 
an engagement partner. The identity and role of the engagement 
partner are communicated to management and those charged 
with governance; the engagement partner has the appropriate 
competence, capabilities, and authority to perform the role; and the 
responsibilities of the engagement partner are clearly defined and 
communicated to that individual. 

 

RES QRe-6.01 Responsibility for each engagement is assigned to an engagement 
partner who has the appropriate capabilities, competence, authority, 
and time to perform the role.

WARNING: Audits often have quality issues when engagement 
partners take assignments that are outside their normal scope of 
duties (for example, a tax partner performs an ERISA audit).

RES QRe-6.02 The identity and role of the engagement partner are communicated to 
management and those charged with governance at the beginning of 
the engagement.

 

RES QRe-6.03 The responsibilities of an engagement partner are clearly defined by 
the firm and are communicated to the engagement partner.

 

RES QRe-6.04 The partner responsible for partner assignments monitors the workload 
and availability of engagement partners to enable these individuals to 
have sufficient time to adequately discharge their responsibilities.

 

RES QRe-6.05 When an engagement is found to be materially non-conforming after 
report issuance (for example, through firm monitoring, peer review, or 
regulatory inspection), the firm (a) requires the engagement partner to 
take appropriate training and monitors that person’s performance  
(for example, through EQ review) until the firm is satisfied that 
remediation has occurred, (b) limits or prohibits the engagement 
partner’s assignments on future engagements in that industry or area,  
or (c) dismisses the engagement partner from the firm. 

 

RES QRe-7 Policy: The firm assigns appropriate personnel with the necessary 
competence and capabilities to perform engagements in accordance 
with professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory 
requirements and enables the firm to issue reports that are 
appropriate in the circumstances.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Resources

RES QRe-7.01 The firm assigns personnel (including partners) to engagements based 
on the knowledge, skills, and abilities required in the circumstances 
and the nature and extent of supervision needed. In doing so

WARNING: Do not confuse availability with appropriateness. Availability 
is necessary but it is not, in and of itself, sufficient.

•	 �the firm designates a responsible party or parties for the  
assignment of personnel to engagements, including partner  
and manager assignments.

•	 �the firm considers each of the following factors to determine how 
personnel are assigned to engagements: engagement size and 
complexity; specialized experience or expertise required; personnel 
availability and involvement of supervisory personnel; timing of work 
to be performed; continuity and rotation of personnel; opportunities 
for on-the-job training; previous knowledge; skills and abilities gained 
through other experience; and situations in which independence or 
objectivity concerns exist.

RES QRe-7.02 The firm assures that individuals are maintaining the appropriate 
licenses to perform their assigned engagements, including for states 
other than where the individual primarily practices public accounting.

TIP: The website CPAMobility.org may be helpful in determining the 
necessary individual licenses. 

RES QRe-7.03 The firm maintains the appropriate firm licenses or permits, including 
for states other than where its main office is domiciled.

TIP: The website CPAMobility.org may be helpful in determining the 
necessary firm licenses or permits.

RES QRe-7.04 When the firm accepts an audit in an industry in which the firm’s 
personnel do not have recent experience, the firm consults appropriate 
resources (for example, literature, the AICPA Technical Hotline, or a 
suitably qualified external person) to determine the extent of changes 
relevant to the engagement. When determined to be necessary, the 
firm engages a suitably qualified external person to assist with the 
performance of an audit as a member of the engagement team.

TIP: How recent depends on changes in the industry and related 
accounting; not more than five years is a useful guideline, but it could 
be less, especially in regulated industries.

RES QRe-7.05 In all states where the firm practices, the firm (a) is licensed under  
the same names under which it practices; (b) must obtain licenses  
or permits that are effective before any reports are issued in the state; 
(c) considers variations in licensing bodies’ rules and regulations and 
how they affect the firm’s need to be licensed in that state; and (d) 
addresses any restrictions on practice imposed by the licensing bodies.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Resources

RES QRe-8 Policy: Personnel, including partners, participate in general and 
industry-specific CPE and professional development activities that 
enable them to accomplish assigned responsibilities and satisfy 
applicable CPE requirements of the AICPA, state CPA societies, state 
boards of accountancy, and other regulators. 

TIP: A mix of CPE delivery methods (that is, self-study, webcasts, live 
presentations) enhances the learning experience.

RES QRe-8.01 The firm has an individual or individuals responsible for the firm’s  
CPE and professional development activities, including maintaining  
CPE records and course materials for personnel.

 

RES QRe-8.02 The firm encourages personnel to pass the Uniform CPA Examination 
and covers the cost, including paid time off to take the exam.

 

RES QRe-8.03 The firm has an orientation and training policy for new hires.  

RES QRe-8.04 The firm informs personnel of their responsibilities and professional 
development opportunities.

TIP: Establishing developmental opportunities for personnel that 
reinforce quality can reinforce the firm’s commitment to quality.

RES QRe-8.05 The firm provides CPE to personnel in subjects that are relevant to 
their responsibilities, either through in-house programs or externally 
developed courses.

 

RES QRe-8.06 [If the firm practices in a specialized industry] a partner is designated with 
firm-wide responsibility for the quality of the firm’s practice in [name the 
specialized industry]. That partner is required to take annual CPE in the 
specialized industry.

 

RES QRe-8.07 All personnel must comply with the professional education requirements 
of the boards of accountancy in states where they are licensed, and  
as applicable, the AICPA, the state CPA society, and Government 
Auditing Standards.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Resources

RES QRe-8.08 The firm establishes CPE requirements for professional personnel. 
Under these requirements

WARNING: The requirements for CPE are intended to address 
competency, not just maintaining a CPA license. Accordingly, all 
professional personnel, not just those with a CPA license, must take 
CPE. Taking more CPE than required by state law or regulation may be 
needed to obtain the necessary competency.

•	 �all professional personnel must participate in CPE and  
professional development activities, which support their 
performance in their assigned engagements and are appropriate 
when considering their role in the firm.

•	 �if an individual signs opinions on, performs engagement quality 
control reviews for, or manages engagements in, a specialized 
industry or area, the individual must have a minimum of eight hours 
of CPE specific to the industry or area every three years (or within 
the firm’s or individual’s CPE period covering a three-year period).

RES QRe-8.09 All personnel must take ethics CPE periodically [specify the period, for 
example, the minimum required by state law or regulation].

 NOTE: This applies to non-licensed professional personnel, as well.

RES QRe-8.10 The firm reimburses personnel who are CPAs for membership in a  
state society and the AICPA, including AICPA section memberships  
as relevant.

TIP: This best practice provides personnel with a wealth of resources, 
such as access to the AICPA Technical Hotline and Ethics Hotline, 
professional journals, audit tools, and more.

RES QRe-8.11 The firm informs personnel of changes in accounting and auditing 
standards, independence, integrity, and objectivity requirements  
and the firm’s technical policies and procedures with respect to them  
(for example, by distributing technical pronouncements and conducting 
training courses on recent changes and areas noted by the firm as 
needing improvement).

 

RES QRe-8.12 The firm encourages personnel to participate in professional 
development activities, such as taking graduate-level courses,  
becoming members of professional organizations, serving on 
professional committees, speaking to professional groups, and  
writing for professional publications.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Resources

RES QRe-9 Policy: Personnel selected for advancement have the qualifications to 
fulfill the responsibilities they will be called on to assume.

NOTE: In the smallest firms, procedures to address this policy may be 
developed on an “as needed” basis.

RES QRe-9.01 The firm has a director of human resources to identify and 
communicate, for example, through the firm’s policies and procedures 
manual, the qualifications necessary to accomplish responsibilities at 
each professional level in the firm. This includes the following:

•	 �Establishing criteria for evaluating personnel at each professional 
level and for advancement to the next level of responsibility. 
Such criteria give recognition and reward to the development and 
maintenance of competence and commitment to ethical principles.

•	 �Informing firm personnel about the criteria for advancement to the 
next higher level of responsibility.

 

•	 �Informing personnel that failure to adhere to the firm’s policies and 
procedures regarding performance quality and commitment to 
ethical principles may result in disciplinary action.

NOTE: In smaller firms, a partner or other person may function in this 
role without the title.

RES QRe-9.02 The [director of human resources/specify designated person or persons] 
is responsible for making advancement and termination decisions, 
including identifying responsibilities and criteria for evaluation at each 
level and deciding who will prepare evaluations.

 

RES QRe-9.03 The firm designates who is responsible for periodically evaluating the 
performance of personnel at each level and advising them of their 
progress in the firm.

 

RES QRe-9.04 Periodically [specify the period, for example, at least annually or at the 
conclusion of engagements that last at least three weeks], the firm 
reviews with personnel their performance evaluations, including an 
assessment of their knowledge, skills, and abilities (competencies)  
and progress with the firm. The discussion addresses performance, 
future objectives of the firm and the individual, feedback on the 
operation of the firm’s responses and SOQM, assignment preferences, 
and career opportunities.

TIP: Timely feedback and effective performance reviews give due 
recognition and reward to the development and maintenance of 
competence.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Resources

RES QRe-9.05 The firm establishes compensation and advancement criteria for 
partners and other high-level staff, which address the following:

•	 �Feedback based on monitoring results, peer reviews, and regulatory 
inspections

•	 �Appropriate identification of significant and emerging accounting 
and auditing issues

•	 �Appropriate consultation with firm experts when challenging  
issues arise

TIP: Technical knowledge, adherence to firm policies and procedures, 
staff development, client management, and practice development are 
all important considerations in determining partner and senior-level 
compensation.

Technological Resources

RES QRe-10 Policy: The firm develops or obtains the technology to enable the 
firm’s SOQM, and maintains it, including an annual evaluation to 
ensure that it is appropriate.

RES QRe-10.01 Before obtaining technological resources, the firm conducts research 
into its usability in the engagements it performs.

RES QRe-10.02 After implementing new technological resources, the firm monitors 
and evaluates its effectiveness in increasing quality in the firm’s 
engagements. This assessment considers the following:

•	 The data inputs are complete and appropriate. 

•	 Data confidentiality is preserved.

•	 �The IT application operates as designed and achieves the purpose 
for which it is intended.  

•	 �The outputs of the IT application achieve the purpose for which  
they will be used. 

•	 �The general IT controls necessary to support the IT application’s 
continued operation as designed are appropriate. 

•	 �The need for specialized skills to use the IT application effectively, 
including the training of individuals who will use the IT application.  

•	 �The need to develop procedures that set out how the IT application 
operates.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Resources

RES QRe-10.03 For technologies that do not enhance quality, the firm looks for  
new technologies that would have a greater impact on the quality  
of engagements.

 

RES QRe-10.04 The firm documents evaluations, monitoring, and decisions about 
technologies to be used in the SOQM. 

 

RES QRe-11 Policy: The firm prohibits the use of IT applications or features 
of IT applications until such time that it has been determined that 
they operate appropriately, achieve the purpose for which they are 
intended, and have been approved for use.

 

RES QRe-11.01 The firm uses passwords to restrict access to electronic engagement 
documentation and timely update authorization when employment 
status has changed.

 

RES QRe-11.02 The firm specifies the qualifications or experience that individuals 
need to use the resource, including the need for an expert or training 
for personnel. For example, the firm may specify the qualifications or 
expertise needed to use an IT application that analyzes data, given that 
specialized skills may be needed to interpret the results.  

 

RES QRe-11.03 The firm trains all personnel to use applicable technical resources 
effectively.

 

RES QRe-11.04 The firm stores, safeguards, and maintains electronic and paper-based 
information.

 

RES QRe-11.05 The firm performs regular back-up routines for electronic 
documentation stored on servers, laptops, and smart phones.

 

RES QRe-11.06 The firm prohibits the use of personal devices unless protective 
software from the firm is installed and maintained on the device  
with password protection.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Resources

RES QRe-11.07 The firm assigns responsibility to a qualified individual in the firm 
for managing the technical resource applications and any program 
changes to those resources.

 

RES QRe-11.08 The firm requires the use of certain IT applications in performing 
engagements or relating to other aspects of the engagement.

 

RES QRe-11.09 The firm specifies the responsibilities of the engagement partner 
regarding the use of technological resources.

 

Intellectual Resources

RES QRe-12 Policy: The firm uses quality management materials (for example, 
an audit and accounting manual, standardized forms, checklists, 
templates, practice aids, tools, questionnaires, and the like) to 
assist with the operation of the firm’s SOQM and the consistent 
performance of quality engagements.

 

RES QRe-12.01 The firm QM partner establishes procedures to ensure that, regardless 
of whether the firm develops its own quality management materials or 
obtains it from a third-party provider 

•	 the material is reliable and suitable for the practice. 

•	 the quality management materials are up to date. 

•	 �modifications to the package and to individual forms are 
appropriate. 

•	 the forms being used are appropriate for the engagement.

RES QRe-12.02 The firm evaluates the use of intellectual resources to ensure that they 
remain appropriate for the operation of quality engagements.

RES QRe-12.03 The firm determines that intellectual resources considered for use by 
the firm follow professional standards as well as legal and regulatory 
requirements that apply to the engagements that the firm performs.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Resources

RES QRe-12.04 Before obtaining or developing intellectual resources, the firm  
considers the impact on the firm’s SOQM and on the engagements  
that it performs.

RES QRe-12.05 The firm documents its considerations regarding intellectual 
resources.

RES QRe-12.06 The firm assigns responsibility to a qualified individual in the  
firm for managing the intellectual resources and any changes to  
those resources.

RES QRe-12.07 The firm requires the use of certain intellectual resources in performing 
engagements or relating to other aspects of the engagement.

RES QRe-12.08 The firm specifies the responsibilities of the engagement partner 
regarding the use of intellectual resources.

RES QRe-12.09 The firm describes how intellectual resources are to be used, including 
how the intellectual resource should be applied, and the availability of 
training and support.

Service Providers

RES QRe-13 Policy: The firm devotes sufficient time and resources to timely 
obtain resources from service providers when internal resources  
are not sufficient to meet the quality objectives.

RES QRe-13.01 The firm evaluates the use of resources received from service 
providers to meet its quality objectives and its appropriateness  
for its SOQM.

RES QRe-13.02 Before using a resource (whether human, technical, or intellectual) 
from a service provider, the firm establishes an understanding of the 
nature of the resources provided, how and the extent to which they 
will be used by the firm, and the general characteristics of the service 
provider, including their experience and reputation.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Resources

RES QRe-13.03 Once a service provider’s resource is used, the firm monitors 
and evaluates its effectiveness in increasing quality in the firm’s 
engagements or SOQM, as applicable. 

RES QRe-13.04 For resources that are not appropriate, the firm works with service 
providers to remediate the resources or looks to other means for  
these resources.

RES QRe-13.05 The firm establishes an understanding with the service provider 
regarding the frequency and accuracy of updates to the resources  
they are providing, when applicable.

RES QRe-13.06 The firm considers the results of attestation engagements performed 
by independent third parties on the resource (for example, assurance 
engagements on quality control materials or reports on service 
organization controls).

TIP: In determining whether a resource is appropriate, the firm may 
consider the results of an examination engagement performed on 
that resource and whether the criteria used to evaluate the resource 
in that examination are suitable. Paragraph .27 of AT-C section 105, 
Concepts Common to All Attestation Engagements,1 requires suitable 
criteria for reasonably consistent measurement or evaluation of the 
resource within the context of professional judgment. Without the 
frame of reference provided by suitable criteria, any conclusion is open 
to individual interpretation and misunderstanding. Criteria promulgated 
by a body designated by the Council of the AICPA under the AICPA 
Code of Professional Conduct are, by definition, considered to be 
suitable (see paragraphs .A44–.A46 of AT-C section 105. This includes 
criteria developed by the AICPA. 

RES QRe-13.07 The firm establishes an understanding with the service provider 
regarding the information needed from the firm for the resource to 
operate effectively. Firm leadership will be assigned to monitor the 
firm’s compliance.

 

RES QRe-13.08 The firm documents the use of resources from service providers and 
from the network and the evaluation of the resources provided.
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Table 4: Example of Evaluated Quality Risks and Linked Responses — Resources

The following table provides examples of evaluated quality risks and linked responses to each quality risk. Please note that this is for illustrative purposes only. 
Your firm may identify other risks, may evaluate the likelihood and impact of those risks differently, and may choose other responses. The examples are not 
complete; if all you do is copy and paste these examples, your SOQM will not provide reasonable assurance of achieving its objectives.

The following examples illustrate the documentation of establishing quality objectives, evaluating quality risks, and designing the firm’s responses to those 
quality risks. This is not a complete picture of an established SOQM. The implementation, evaluation, and monitoring of the system will need to be documented 
and established, as well.

Resources

RES QO-1 Personnel are hired, developed, and retained and have the competence and capabilities to 
i.	 consistently perform quality engagements, including having knowledge or experience relevant to the engagements the firm performs, or 
ii.	 perform activities or carry out responsibilities in relation to the operation of the firm’s system of quality management.

QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality 
Risk

Quality Response QRe#

RES QO-1 RES QRi-2 Personnel, including partners, do not 
have the competence and capabilities 
to perform activities or carry out 
responsibilities in relation to the 
operation of the firm’s SOQM.

Low High Yes  The firm has sufficient personnel 
with the competence, capabilities, 
and commitment to ethical principles 
necessary to perform engagements 
in accordance with professional 
standards and applicable legal and 
regulatory requirements and enable 
the firm to issue reports that are 
appropriate in the circumstances.

RES QRe-1

RES QO-2 Personnel demonstrate a commitment to quality through their actions and behaviors, develop and maintain the appropriate competence to perform their 
roles, and are held accountable or recognized through timely evaluations, compensation, promotion, and other incentives. 

RES QO-2 RES QRi-10 Personnel, including partners, do not 
demonstrate a commitment to quality.

Low High Yes The firm evaluates personal 
characteristics such as integrity, 
competence, and motivation of 
personnel on an ongoing basis.

RES QRe-5.01
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QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality 
Risk

Quality Response QRe#

RES QO-6 Appropriate technological resources are obtained or developed, implemented, maintained, and used to enable the operation of the firm’s  
system of quality management and the performance of engagements. 

RES QO-6 RES QRe-56 Software applications used in assurance, 
including the firm’s engagement 
performance methodology, are not 
performing as designed (including 
version enhancements). 

Medium High Yes After implementing new technological 
resources, the firm monitors and 
evaluates its effectiveness in 
increasing quality in the firm’s 
engagements. This assessment 
considers the following:
• �The data inputs are complete and

appropriate.
• Data confidentiality is preserved.
• �The IT application operates as

designed and achieves the purpose
for which it is intended.

• �The outputs of the IT application
achieve the purpose for which it
will be used.

• �The general IT controls necessary
to support the IT application’s
continued operation as designed
are appropriate.

• �The need for specialized skills to
use the IT application effectively,
including the training of individuals
who will use the IT application,
is met.

• �The need to develop procedures
that set out how the IT application
operates is met.

RES QRe-10.02
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Information and Communication

Table 1: Required Quality Objectives – Information and Communication

QO # Ref: Quality Objectives

I&C QO-1 QM sec. 10, par. .34a The information system identifies, captures, processes, and maintains relevant and reliable information that  
supports the SOQM, whether from internal or external sources.

I&C QO-2 QM sec. 10, par. .34b The culture of the firm recognizes and reinforces the responsibility of personnel to exchange information with  
the firm and with one another.

I&C QO-3 QM sec. 10, par. .34c Relevant and reliable information is exchanged throughout the firm and with engagement teams, including  
the following: 

i.	 �Information is communicated to personnel and engagement teams, and the nature, timing, and extent of the 
information is sufficient to enable them to understand and carry out their responsibilities relating to performing 
activities within the SOQM or engagements.

ii.	 �Personnel and engagement teams communicate information to the firm when performing activities within the  
SOQM or engagements.

I&C QO-4 QM sec. 10, par. .34d Relevant and reliable information is communicated to external parties, including the following:

i.	 �Information is communicated by the firm to or within the firm’s network or to service providers, if any, enabling  
the network or service providers to fulfill their responsibilities relating to the network requirements or network 
services or resources provided by them. 

ii.	 �Information is communicated externally when required by law, regulation, or professional standards or to support 
external parties’ understanding of the SOQM. 
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Table 2: Required Quality Objectives and Potential Quality Risks — Information and Communication

QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

I&C QO-1 QM sec. 10, 
par. .34a

The information system identifies, captures, processes, and maintains relevant and reliable information that supports the system of quality 
management, whether from internal or external sources.

I&C QO-1 I&C QRi-1 The information system does not identify, capture, process, or maintain 
relevant and reliable information that supports the SOQM, whether from 
internal or external sources.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-1 I&C QRi-2 Electronic and paper-based information is not appropriately stored  
and maintained.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-1 I&C QRi-3 The integrity of the SOQM may be compromised, including data loss  
due to system failure or theft, either physical or cyber; unauthorized 
changes; and version control. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-1 I&C QRi-4 Information that the firm identifies, captures, processes, and maintains  
is not complete, accurate, timely, or valid to enable the proper functioning 
of the firm’s SOQM and to support decisions regarding the SOQM.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-1 I&C QRi-5 Procedures to identify, capture, process, maintain, and communicate 
information are not established or clearly defined.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

Monitoring

I&C QO-1 I&C QRi-6 Information from the resolution of complaints and allegations received  
is not communicated and used to improve the firm’s SOQM.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-1 I&C QRi-7 Remediation efforts to resolve deficiencies in information and 
communication remain unresolved or improvements are delayed  
or not completed.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

Change Management

I&C QO-1 I&C QRi-8 The firm does not have effective tools for communicating information  
and changes regarding the SOQM (for example, policies, procedures,  
and changes to the SOQM) to those who need to be informed.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

I&C QO-1 QM sec. 10, 
par. .34a

The information system identifies, captures, processes, and maintains relevant and reliable information that supports the system  
of quality management, whether from internal or external sources.

Change Management

I&C QO-1 I&C QRi-9 The firm does  not communicate changes to the SOQM to personnel and 
engagement teams to the extent that the changes are relevant to their 
responsibilities.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-1 I&C QRi-10 The firm does not have effective tools for communicating changes in 
accounting standards, professional standards, law, or regulation.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

Laws and Regulations

I&C QO-1 I&C QRi-11 The firm fails to identify a requirement to communicate with an  
external party.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-1 I&C QRi-12 The information needed to verify compliance with the firm’s SOQM 
(for example, licensure status, independence compliance, continuing 
professional education [CPE], and so on) is not adequately maintained or 
checked for completeness.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-1 I&C QRi-13 The information provided by personnel regarding compliance with the firm’s 
SOQM (for example, licensure status, independence compliance, CPE, and 
so on) is not checked for accuracy.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-1 I&C QRi-14 The firm’s SOQM fails to develop and evolve in line with changes in the 
regulatory framework, changes in the nature and circumstances of the firm, 
best practices, and so on (for example, the firm relies on manual processes, 
which become too difficult to maintain as the size of the firm grows).

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

Other

I&C QO-1 I&C QRi-15 A failure to exchange information between the firm and the engagement 
team, or among engagement team members, results in quality issues.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-1 I&C QRi-16 A failure to exchange information results in lost opportunities to improve 
the firm’s quality management system.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

I&C QO-2 QM sec. 10, 
par. .34b

The culture of the firm recognizes and reinforces the responsibility of personnel to exchange information with the firm and with one another.

I&C QO-2 I&C QRi-17 The culture of the firm does not recognize nor reinforce the responsibility of 
personnel to exchange information with the firm and with one another.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

Tone at the Top

I&C QO-2 I&C QRi-18 The actions, informal communications, and responses of individuals of 
various leadership positions (including engagement team leadership) imply 
that certain aspects of the firm’s SOQM are not important or necessary.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-2 I&C QRi-19 The firm’s culture does not recognize and reinforce the responsibility of 
personnel to exchange information within the firm and one another.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-2 I&C QRi-20 The QM partner fails to communicate to relevant personnel and engagement 
teams changes in the independence and other SOQM requirements and the 
firm’s policies or procedures to address such changes.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-2 I&C QRi-21 Engagement personnel are affected by email fatigue. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-2 I&C QRi-22 The firm fails to establish a culture of collaboration among teams  
and across the firm.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-2 I&C QRi-23 Lack of a proper chain of command results in inconsistent messaging  
of firm policies and methodology.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-2 I&C QRi-24 A culture of working within silos conflicts with the responsibility of 
personnel to collaborate and exchange information within and across 
practice groups, resulting in audit quality issues.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

Engagement Team and Personnel Responsibility

I&C QO-2 I&C QRi-25 The firm inadequately communicates quality issues. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-2 I&C QRi-26 Personnel are not informed of where improvements can be made to the 
quality of the work they perform.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

I&C QO-2 QM sec. 10, 
par. .34b

The culture of the firm recognizes and reinforces the responsibility of personnel to exchange information with the firm and with one another.

I&C QO-2 I&C QRi-27 The firm fails to communicate the responsibility for implementing the firm’s 
policies and procedures to personnel.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-2 I&C QRi-28 Engagement teams fail to communicate information to the EQ reviewer or 
individuals providing consultation. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-2 I&C QRi-29 Group engagement teams fail to communicate matters to component 
auditors in accordance with the firm’s policies or procedures, including 
matters related to quality management at the engagement level.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-3 QM sec.  10, 
par. .34c

Relevant and reliable information is exchanged throughout the firm and with engagement teams, including the following: 
i.	 �Information is communicated to personnel and engagement teams, and the nature, timing, and extent of the information is sufficient to 

enable them to understand and carry out their responsibilities relating to performing activities within the system of quality management 
or engagements.

ii.	 �Personnel and engagement teams communicate information to the firm when performing activities within the system of quality 
management or engagements.

I&C QO-3 I&C QRi-30 Unreliable information is exchanged throughout the firm and with 
engagement teams.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-3 I&C QRi-31 Relevant and reliable information is not exchanged throughout the 
firm and with engagement teams. The nature, timing, and extent of the 
information is not sufficient to enable them to understand and carry out 
their responsibilities relating to performing activities within the SOQM or 
engagements.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-3 I&C QRi-32 Personnel and engagement teams do not communicate information to the 
firm when performing activities within the SOQM or engagements.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

Ultimate Responsible Party

I&C QO-3 I&C QRi-33 Individuals tasked with the operational and monitoring functions over  
the firm’s SOQM are not given clear instructions regarding their roles  
and responsibilities.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-3 I&C QRi-34 Those charged with operational and monitoring functions over the firm’s 
SOQM do not have a direct line of communication to the managing partner.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

352



Establishing and Maintaining a System of Quality Management for a CPA Firm’s Accounting and Auditing Practice | 107  

QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

I&C QO-3 QM sec. 10, 
par. .34c

Relevant and reliable information is exchanged throughout the firm and with engagement teams, including the following: 
i.	 �Information is communicated to personnel and engagement teams, and the nature, timing, and extent of the information is sufficient to 

enable them to understand and carry out their responsibilities relating to performing activities within the system of quality management 
or engagements.

ii.	 �Personnel and engagement teams communicate information to the firm when performing activities within the system of quality 
management or engagements.

Firm Communication

I&C QO-3 I&C QRi-35 External conditions force engagement teams to work remotely (for example, 
a global pandemic) and the practical difficulties involved presents a risk that 
information is not communicated to engagement teams to enable them to 
understand and carry out their responsibilities in performing the engagement.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-3 I&C QRi-36 Leadership lacks a policy to communicate important matters to the firm and 
criteria for identifying such matters.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

Engagement Team and Personnel Responsibility

I&C QO-3 I&C QRi-37 The engagement team does not communicate concerns with how 
the firm is responding to identified quality management risks. (for 
example, concerns about the firm’s processes for assigning personnel 
to engagements). [Note that the information provided through these 
communications may indicate a deficiency of the firm’s SOQM.]

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-3 I&C QRi-38 Relevant and reliable information is not sufficiently communicated to 
personnel and engagement teams to enable them to understand and 
execute their responsibilities within the SOQM.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-3 I&C QRi-39 Findings from an EQ review, peer review, or other quality reviews or 
assessments are not communicated to the engagement teams.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-3 I&C QRi-40 The engagement partner and partner(s) providing other services to the  
client do not communicate relevant information to each other for 
independence purposes.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-3 I&C QRi-41 Engagement team members are not adequately informed of their roles and 
responsibilities at the engagement level.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

353



Establishing and Maintaining a System of Quality Management for a CPA Firm’s Accounting and Auditing Practice | 108  

QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

I&C QO-3 QM sec. 10, 
par. .34c

Relevant and reliable information is exchanged throughout the firm and with engagement teams, including the following: 
i.	 �Information is communicated to personnel and engagement teams, and the nature, timing, and extent of the information is sufficient to 

enable them to understand and carry out their responsibilities relating to performing activities within the system of quality management 
or engagements.

ii.	 �Personnel and engagement teams communicate information to the firm when performing activities within the system of quality 
management or engagements.

I&C QO-3 I&C QRi-42 Personnel and engagement teams fail to communicate relevant or  
reliable information to the firm when performing activities within the  
SOQM or engagements.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-3 I&C QRi-43 Firm professionals do not receive timely feedback on performance. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-3 I&C QRi-44 Firm professionals fail to communicate information obtained during 
client acceptance and continuance that is relevant to engagement teams 
planning and performing engagements.   

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-3 I&C QRi-45 The firm fails to communicate or make readily available firm policies  
to personnel. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-3 I&C QRi-46 The firm’s policies and procedures are not updated consistently and timely. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-3 I&C QRi-47 Firm forms and templates are inappropriately modified or completed 
incorrectly by engagement teams.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-3 I&C QRi-48 Firm policies, procedures, and methodologies are not clearly documented, 
organized in a logical format, or easily accessible, so they are difficult for 
engagement teams to locate, follow, and comply with.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-3 I&C QRi-49 Changes to the firm’s policies, procedures, or methodology are not 
communicated to personnel.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-3 I&C QRi-50 Learning and development programs are not delivered in a frequency, 
length, and format that ensures participant engagement.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

I&C QO-4 QM sec. 10, 
par. .34d

Relevant and reliable information is communicated to external parties, including the following:
i.	 �Information is communicated by the firm to or within the firm’s network or to service providers, if any, enabling the network or service 

providers to fulfill their responsibilities relating to the network requirements or network services or resources provided by them. 
ii.	 �Information is communicated externally when required by law, regulation, or professional standards or to support external parties’ 

understanding of the system of quality management. 

I&C QO-4 I&C QRi-51 Relevant and reliable information is not communicated to external parties. 
Irrelevant or unreliable information is communicated to external parties.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-4 I&C QRi-52 Information is not communicated by the firm to or within the firm’s network 
or to service providers, if any, preventing the network or service providers 
from fulfilling their responsibilities relating to the network requirements or 
network services or resources provided by them.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-4 I&C QRi-53 Information is not communicated externally when required by law, 
regulation, or professional standards, or to support external parties’ 
understanding of the SOQM. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

Incoming and Outgoing Communication

I&C QO-4 I&C QRi-54 The firm does not obtain relevant and reliable information from service 
providers that is necessary to establish and maintain the design, 
implementation, and operation of the firm’s SOQM.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-4 I&C QRi-55 The firm fails to communicate information to its network that can result  
in quality issues either at the firm or elsewhere in the network.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-4 I&C QRi-56 The firm fails to communicate relevant and reliable information to  
service providers.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-4 I&C QRi-57 Improper information may be disseminated to external parties. Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-4 I&C QRi-58 Leadership lacks a policy regarding proper communications with  
external parties.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-4 I&C QRi-59 Engagement quality issues are not communicated to firm clients timely  
or at all.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

I&C QO-4 QM sec. 10, 
par. .34d

Relevant and reliable information is communicated to external parties, including the following:
i.	 �Information is communicated by the firm to or within the firm’s network or to service providers, if any, enabling the network or service 

providers to fulfill their responsibilities relating to the network requirements or network services or resources provided by them. 
ii.	 �Information is communicated externally when required by law, regulation, or professional standards or to support external parties’ 

understanding of the system of quality management. 

Laws and Regulations

I&C QO-4 I&C QRi-60 The firm is unaware of its communication responsibilities under 
professional standards or legal and regulatory requirements, or both.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-4 I&C QRi-61 Information is not communicated externally when required by law, 
regulation, or professional standards, or to support external parties’ 
understanding of the SOQM.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-4 I&C QRi-62 Law, regulation, or relevant ethical requirements include provisions 
addressing the duty of confidentiality, and the firm does not prevent 
violations from happening; detect violations that have occurred; or take 
corrective measures when aware of violations. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-4 I&C QRi-63 Law or regulation requires the firm to publish a transparency report and 
specifies the nature of the information that is required to be included in  
the transparency report, and the firm fails to do so.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

Independence and the SOQM

I&C QO-4 I&C QRi-64 The firm does not obtain information from the network or other network 
firms about clients of other network firms when there are independence 
requirements that affect the firm.  

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-4 I&C QRi-65 The firm does not obtain an understanding of the SOQM in place at network 
firms or service providers.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-4 I&C QRi-66 Deficiencies in the SOQM of network firms or service providers that are 
identified by the firm are not brought to the attention of the counterparty in 
a prompt manner.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-4 I&C QRi-67 The firm does not communicate its findings from monitoring its quality 
management system to its network.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality Risk

I&C QO-4 QM sec. 10, 
par. .34d

Relevant and reliable information is communicated to external parties, including the following:
i.	 �Information is communicated by the firm to or within the firm’s network or to service providers, if any, enabling the network or service 

providers to fulfill their responsibilities relating to the network requirements or network services or resources provided by them. 
ii.	 �Information is communicated externally when required by law, regulation, or professional standards or to support external parties’ 

understanding of the system of quality management. 

Independence and the SOQM

I&C QO-4 I&C QRi-68 The firm obtains information from the network or other network firms about 
clients of other network firms when there are independence requirements 
that affect the firm, and the firm fails to act timely or appropriately.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.

I&C QO-4 I&C QRi-69 The firm fails to communicate information to its network that can result 
in quality issues, independence violations, or other matters at the firm or 
within the network.

Choose an item. Choose an item. Choose an item.
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Table 3: Required and Suggested Quality Responses — Information and Communication

QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Information and Communication

I&C QRe-1 Policy: The firm communicates information about our SOQM 
as prescribed by its policies and procedures with the following 
external parties if requested:
•	 �Management or those charged with governance of a potential  

new client
•	 External oversight authorities 
•	 Group auditors
•	 Other users of our firm engagement reports

NOTE: Establishing policies or procedures that address when it is 
appropriate to communicate with external parties about the firm’s 
SOQM is a required response.  [QM sec. 10, par. .35e(i)]

I&C QRe-1.01 The firm communicates information to service providers, or network 
firms, necessary for them to fulfill their responsibilities.

I&C QRe-1.02 The firm communicates information externally when required by 
law, regulation, or professional standards (for example, if the firm 
becomes aware of noncompliance with laws and regulations by a 
client, and relevant ethical requirements require the firm to report  
the noncompliance to an appropriate external authority).

TIP: Know your client base; securities law or regulation requires 
the firm to communicate certain matters to those charged with 
governance.

I&C QRe-1.03 The QM partner is responsible for identifying external parties with 
whom the firm is required to communicate, and the information 
required to be communicated.

NOTE: Confidentiality law or regulation prohibits disclosure of certain 
information — stay alert.

I&C QRe-2 Policy: The firm shares information about the firm’s SOQM 
externally only after the QM partner has reviewed for accuracy 
and relevance, and has confirmed that sharing does not breach 
confidentiality requirements.

NOTE: This is a required response. [QM sec. 10, par. .35e(ii)]

I&C QRe-2.01 When communicating with external parties, I provide the results  
of monitoring activities and external inspections and how the firm 
has remediated identified deficiencies, if applicable.

NOTE: Paragraphs .A137–.A138 of QM section 10 address other 
factors to consider when developing your communication policy. 
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Information and Communication

I&C QRe-2.02 The QM partner periodically reviews the information provided 
through the firm’s website for accuracy, completeness, and balance.

NOTE: Forms of external communication include
•	 a web page,
•	 social media or webcasts,
•	 �discussions between the engagement team and those charged  

with governance, and
•	 a transparency or audit quality report.

NOTE: A transparency report may be required by law or regulation  
and specifies the nature of the information required to be included.

I&C QRe-3 Policy: The QM partner reports directly to the managing partner. NOTE: Individuals assigned operational responsibility for the SOQM, 
compliance with independence requirements, and the monitoring 
and remediation process are required to have a direct line of 
communication to the individual assigned ultimate responsibility  
and accountability for the SOQM. [QM sec. 10, par. .23]

I&C QRe-3.01 Those charged with operational and monitoring functions over  
the firm’s SOQM have a direct line of communication to the 
managing partner.

I&C QRe-4 Policy: The firm has established communication channels to 
facilitate communication across the firm (for example, weekly 
leadership meetings).

I&C QRe-4.01 The firm publishes a quarterly newsletter that discusses internal and 
external developments. The newsletter is distributed through various 
channels to avoid being lost in email.

I&C QRe-4.02 Engagement teams communicate information about the operation 
of firm’s responses (for example, concerns about the firm’s process 
for assigning personnel to engagements).

I&C QRe-4.03 When leadership becomes aware of information that affects 
specific engagement teams, they alert the engagement partner to 
communicate the information to the rest of the engagement team.
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QRe# Quality Response Note, Tip, or Warning

Information and Communication

I&C QRe-4.04 Although there may be formal channels of communication, 
leadership promotes a culture in which collaboration and open 
communication are encouraged.

TIP: Such a culture may include a mentoring program and is evidenced 
when staff are comfortable speaking with firm leadership.

I&C QRe-4.05 The firm holds annual firm-wide or practice-office–wide 
brainstorming sessions. 
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Table 4: Example of Evaluated Quality Risks and Linked Responses — Information and Communication

The following table provides examples of evaluated quality risks and linked responses to each quality risk. Please note that this is for illustrative purposes only. 
Your firm may identify other risks, may evaluate the likelihood and impact of those risks differently, and may choose other responses. The examples are not 
complete; if all you do is copy and paste these examples, your SOQM will not provide reasonable assurance of achieving its objectives.

The following examples illustrate the documentation of establishing quality objectives, evaluating quality risks, and designing the firm’s responses to  
those quality risks. This is not a complete picture of an established SOQM. The implementation, evaluation, and monitoring of the system will need to be 
documented and established, as well.

Information and Communication

I&C QO-1 The information system identifies, captures, processes, and maintains relevant and reliable information that supports the system of  
quality management, whether from internal or external sources.

QO# QRi # Quality Risk Likelihood Impact Quality 
Risk

Quality Response QRe#

I&C QO-1 I&C QRi-11 The firm fails to identify 
a requirement to 
communicate with an 
external party.

Low High Yes The firm communicates information externally 
when required by law, regulation, or professional 
standards. For example, if the firm becomes 
aware of noncompliance with laws and 
regulations by a client, and relevant ethical 
requirements require the firm to report the 
noncompliance to an appropriate external 
authority.

I&C QRe-1.02

I&C QO-4 Relevant and reliable information is communicated to external parties, including the following:
i.	 �Information is communicated by the firm to or within the firm’s network or to service providers, if any, enabling the network or service  

providers to fulfill their responsibilities relating to the network requirements or network services or resources provided by them.
ii.	 �Information is communicated externally when required by law, regulation, or professional standards or to support external parties’ 

understanding of the system of quality management. 

I&C QO-4  I&C QRi-53 Information is not 
communicated  
externally when required 
by law, regulation, or 
professional standards, 
or to support external 
parties’ understanding  
of the SOQM. 

Medium High Yes The firm communicates information about 
our SOQM as prescribed by our policies and 
procedures with the following external parties  
if requested:
•	 �Management or those charged with 

governance of a potential new client
•	 External oversight authorities 
•	 �Group auditors or other users of the  

firm’s engagement reports

I&C QRe-1
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Exhibit: Relevant Responses From Other Components

The following is a list of information and communication quality risks that can be addressed by quality responses (firm policies) from other components.

Quality risk # Quality risk Quality response QRe#

Governance and Leadership

I&C QRi-45 The firm fails to communicate or make readily available firm 
policies to personnel. 

The firm documents its QM policies and procedures and 
communicates them to the firm’s personnel. 

GOV QRe-4

I&C QRi-23 Lack of a proper chain of command results in inconsistent 
messaging of firm policies and methodology.

The firm devotes sufficient and appropriate resources for the 
development, communication, and support of its QM policies 
and procedures. 

GOV QRe-8

I&C QRi-43 Firm professionals do not receive timely feedback on 
performance. 

Performance evaluation, compensation, and advancement 
(including incentive systems) with regard to firm partners and 
personnel demonstrate the firm’s overarching commitment to 
the objectives of the SOQM

GOV QRe-9

Relevant Ethical Requirements 

I&C QRi-20 The QM partner fails to communicate to relevant personnel 
and engagement teams changes in the independence 
and other SOQM requirements and the firm’s policies or 
procedures to address such changes.

The firm communicates its independence requirements to 
firm personnel and, when applicable, others subject to them. 

RER QRe-2

I&C QRi-12 The information needed to verify compliance with the 
firm’s SOQM (for example, licensure status, independence 
compliance, CPE, and so on) is not adequately maintained  
or checked for completeness.

The firm obtains written confirmation, upon hire and at least 
annually, of compliance with its policies and procedures 
regarding independence from all personnel required to be 
independent by relevant requirements. 

RER QRe-6

Engagement Acceptance and Continuance 

I&C QRi-44 Firm professionals fail to communicate information obtained 
during client acceptance and continuance that is relevant to 
engagement teams planning and performing engagements.   

The firm has established policies and procedures when 
information that becomes known subsequent to accepting or 
continuing a client relationship or specific engagement that 
may have affected the firm’s decision to accept or continue a 
client relationship or specific engagement. 

EAC QRe-3
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Quality risk # Quality risk Quality response QRe#

Engagement Performance 

I&C QRi-48 Firm policies, procedures and methodologies are not 
clearly documented, organized in a logical format, or easily 
accessible so they are difficult for engagement teams to 
locate, follow, and comply with.

The firm uses quality management materials (for example, an 
audit and accounting manual, standardized forms, checklists, 
templates, practice aids, tools, questionnaires, and the like) to 
assist with engagement performance.

EP QRe-1 and  
RES QRe-12

I&C QRi-51 Relevant and reliable information is not communicated to 
external parties. 

The firm establishes, documents, and follows procedures 
when the firm uses external personnel, such as from other 
firms, for audit or accounting engagements.

EP QRe-7

I&C QRi-28 Engagement teams fail to communicate information  
to the engagement quality reviewer or individuals  
providing consultation. 

The firm requires that consultation take place when 
appropriate; that sufficient and appropriate resources are 
available to enable appropriate consultation to take place; 
that all the relevant facts known to the engagement team  
are provided to those consulted; that the nature, scope,  
and conclusions of such consultations are documented;  
and that conclusions resulting from such consultations  
are implemented.

EP QRe-11

Resources 

I&C QRi-40 The engagement partner and partner(s) providing other 
services to the client do not communicate relevant 
information to each other for independence purposes.

The firm assigns responsibility for each engagement to an 
engagement partner. The identity and role of the engagement 
partner are communicated to management and those charged 
with governance; the engagement partner has the appropriate 
competence, capabilities, and authority to perform the role; 
and the responsibilities of the engagement partner are clearly 
defined and communicated to that individual. 

RES QRe-6

I&C QRi-56 The firm fails to communicate relevant and reliable 
information to service providers.

The firm develops or obtains the technology to enable the 
firm’s SOQM, and maintains it, including an annual evaluation 
to ensure that it is appropriate.

RES QRe-10
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Notice to readers
This AICPA Audit and Accounting Practice Aid replaces Establishing and Maintaining a System 
of Quality Control for a CPA Firm’s Accounting and Auditing Practice, which was issued in 2015. 
Although this practice aid has been reviewed by the AICPA Audit and Attest Standards staff, it has 
not been approved, disapproved, or otherwise acted upon by any senior technical committee of the 
AICPA and has no official or authoritative status. 

This practice aid does not address the quality control requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002 (SOX), nor does it address the quality control requirements of PCAOB standards that must be 
followed by auditors of issuers. Auditors of issuers should follow these other standards and make 
changes to their firm’s quality control systems as necessary.  

Additional information about the PCAOB and SOX can be obtained at the PCAOB website at  
www.pcaobus.org.
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How to Use this Practice Aid
This AICPA Audit and Accounting Practice Aid, 
Establishing and Maintaining a System of Quality 
Management for a CPA Firm’s Accounting and Auditing 
Practice, is intended to help sole practitioners 
design, implement, and operate a system of quality 
management for their firm’s accounting and auditing 
practice, as required by Statement on Quality 
Management Standards (SQMS) No. 1, A Firm’s System 
of Quality Management, issued by the AICPA. 

SQMS No. 1 requires the firm to apply a risk-based 
approach in designing, implementing, and operating the 
components of the system of quality management. In 
applying a risk-based approach, the firm is required to 
take into account the nature and circumstances of both 
the firm and the engagements performed by the firm. 
This practice aid explains how to apply a risk-based 
approach and includes a library of potential risks and 
suggested responses. 

Use this practice aid, and the Example Risk Assessment 
template, to help you apply the risk-based approach, 
identify the quality risks to your practice, and implement 
policies and procedures as necessary for the facts and 
circumstances of your practice. 

Many of the policies and procedures may need to be 
modified to be applicable to your firm. Some may not 
be applicable at all. You may need to add policies and 
procedures that are already part of your system. Some 
of the policies and procedures are required by SQMS 
No. 1; these are noted in chapters 3 and 4.

Be aware that if you do not customize the risks and 
responses to the nature of your practice

•	 �you won’t be in compliance with the standards.

•	 �you won’t be doing what is most efficient and  
effective for your practice.

If all you do is

•	 �copy the quality risks from this practice aid, it is likely 
that your quality risks will be incomplete, or that you 
will include quality risks that do not apply to your firm. 
Do not copy the quality risks from this practice aid 
without thoughtful consideration of any modifications 
needed for your firm’s nature and circumstances.

•	 �copy and paste the policies and procedures in this 
practice aid, you will be committing to responses that 
may not apply to your firm. And, because you included 
them in your documentation of your system of quality 
management, your peer reviewer will expect you to 
apply those policies and procedures.

In addition, a firm’s risk assessment should be 
iterative and updated when changes in the nature and 
circumstances of the firm or its engagements occur. An 
incomplete or out-of-date risk assessment can have a 
significant effect on the system of quality management.

This practice aid is intended for firms with two or more 
personnel. If your firm has only one assurance partner, 
or only one partner with expertise in a specialized area, 
you may find the AICPA Audit and Accounting Practice 
Aid Establishing and Maintaining a System of Quality 
Management for a CPA Firm’s Accounting and Auditing 
Practice for sole practitioners, also helpful.
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Chapter 4 — Monitoring  
and Remediation Process
The monitoring and remediation process involves 
an ongoing consideration and evaluation of the 
appropriateness of the design, implementation, and 
the effectiveness of the operation of a firm’s system of 
quality management (SOQM) and a firm’s compliance 
with its quality management policies and procedures.  
A monitoring and remediation process 

•	 �provides relevant, reliable, and timely information  
about the design, implementation, and operation  
of the SOQM, and

•	 �enables the firm to take appropriate actions to respond 
to identified deficiencies such that deficiencies are 
remediated on a timely basis.

The information provided also enables the firm — 
specifically, the managing partner — to evaluate whether 
the SOQM provides reasonable assurance that 

•	 �the firm adheres to professional standards and 
regulatory and legal requirements, and 

•	 �reports that are issued by the firm are appropriate in 
the circumstances.

The purpose of the monitoring and remediation process 
is to provide feedback on how the SOQM is working, 
determine whether changes are needed and, if so, 
implement the necessary changes. Monitoring activities 
include inspections of engagement documentation, 
reports and financial statements, and inspections of 
other components covered by the firm’s SOQM. Reviews 
of engagement documentation, reports and financial 
statements can occur 

•	 �before the report is issued (engagement quality [EQ] 
review or other pre-issuance review) or

•	 after the report is issued (post-issuance review).

EQ review and other pre-issuance reviews are not, in  
and of themselves, suitable inspection procedures  
for monitoring. However, to the extent that information 
obtained from a pre-issuance review is evaluated  
in terms of what happens on other engagements  
and addressed systemically — that is monitoring.  

Post-issuance reviews can occur on an engagement-by-
engagement basis or at set times during the year.

The difference between engagement performance 
quality management (QM) procedures and monitoring 
QM procedures is that monitoring activities are designed 
to determine the root cause of the problem and then fix 
the problem systemically. Engagement performance QM 
procedures fix the problem at the engagement level but 
does not look for the root cause, nor are engagement 
performance QM procedures designed to fix the  
problem systemically.

TIP: Monitoring and remediation is a continuous 
process. If you are in the frame of mind to 
always be looking for errors and root causes, 
that’s monitoring. Send an email to the firm 
when you see something — that’s monitoring, 
communicating, and documenting. Save the email 
in a “monitoring” folder and you’ve documented 
as you go along so you can “get credit” for what 
you already do.

NOTE: Inspection of engagement 
documentation, reports and financial 
statements is only one type of monitoring 
activity. Don’t forget other aspects, such 
as resources (human, intellectual, and 
technological), continuing professional 
education (CPE), licenses, and the 
requirements of audit quality centers of 
which your firm is a member.
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The rest of this chapter presents suggested policies and procedures for the monitoring and remediation process.  
These suggested policies and procedures may not be all inclusive; you need to tailor this information based on 
your firm. The firm does not have to apply the risk assessment process to monitoring and remediation. However, 
in evaluating and concluding on the SOQM, the firm does need to consider whether the monitoring and remediation 
process achieves the objectives of 

•	 �providing relevant, reliable, and timely information about the design, implementation, and operation of  
the SOQM, and

•	 ��enabling the firm to take appropriate actions to respond to identified deficiencies such that  
deficiencies are remediated on a timely basis.

Policy or procedure Note, Tip, or Warning

Policy: The firm has a monitoring and remediation process designed 
to provide relevant, reliable, and timely information about the design, 
implementation, and operation of the SOQM and enable the firm to  
take appropriate actions to respond to identified deficiencies, so  
deficiencies are remediated on a timely basis. (QM sec. 10, par. .36)

Policy: I accept operational responsibility for the firm’s monitoring  
and remediation process. (QM sec. 10, par. .21c(ii))

The firm (for example, the managing partner) determines that the  
QM partner and all others responsible for conducting monitoring  
and remediation procedures (QM sec. 10, par. .22)
•	 �have appropriate experience, knowledge, influence, and authority 

within the firm and sufficient time to fulfill their assigned responsibility,
•	 �understand their assigned roles and that they are accountable for 

fulfilling them,
•	 have a direct line of communication to the managing partner,
•	 �have no history of limitations or restrictions on their ability to practice 

public accounting, and
•	 �have not acted as engagement partner on one or more materially non- 

conforming engagements that were uncovered through peer review, 
monitoring, or regulatory inspection.

NOTE: Statement on Quality Management 
Standards (SQMS) No. 1 requires individuals 
with operational responsibilities for the SOQM 
(for example, the QM partner) to possess the 
first three bullet points, but firms may consider 
additional qualities when assigning roles and 
responsibilities.

The QM partner is responsible for determining that the firm’s QM 
policies and procedures and its methodologies remain relevant and 
adequate. Factors that may be considered include the following:
•	 External factors

	– �Changes in professional standards or other regulatory requirements 
applicable to the firm’s practice

	– �Changes in applicable AICPA membership requirements
•	 Internal indicators

	– Mergers and divestitures of portions of the practice
	– Results of previous monitoring activities
	– Results of inspections and peer reviews
	– �Review of litigation and regulatory enforcement actions against  
the firm and its personnel

	– Changes in firm operations and services

NOTE: Examples of changes in professional 
standards that may result in a need to revise 
QM policies and procedures are changes to 
the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct.
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Policy or procedure Note, Tip, or Warning

At least annually, the QM partner performs, or selects an individual or 
team to perform, monitoring activities, including inspections, on the 
firm’s SOQM. The QM partner uses criteria established by the firm 
to determine that individuals responsible for performing monitoring 
activities have (See paragraph .40 of QM section 10)
•	 �the competence and capabilities, including sufficient time, to  

perform the monitoring activities effectively.; and
•	 �objectivity, based on the premise that objectivity is enhanced  

when engagement team members or the EQ reviewer of an 
engagement are not involved in performing monitoring activities 
related to that engagement.

Policy: The firm designs and performs monitoring activities that are 
sufficiently comprehensive to provide a basis for the identification of 
deficiencies. (QM sec. 10, par. .37)

The firm determines the nature, timing, and extent of the monitoring 
activities considering the following: (QM sec. 10, par. .38)
•	 The reasons for the assessments given to the quality risks
•	 The design of the responses
•	 �The design of the firm’s risk assessment process and monitoring and 

remediation process
•	 Changes in the SOQM
•	 The results of the firm’s evaluations of each engagement 
•	 The results of previous monitoring activities
•	 �Other relevant information, including the results of both internal and 

external inspections

TIP: Many firms perform their annual 
inspection at the same time of the year as 
their peer review is performed. Peer review is 
not a substitute for all monitoring activities. 
However, a firm may leverage inspections 
performed by peer review for some or all 
engagements for the period covered by the 
peer review. Firms will need to work with their 
peer reviewers to align the timing of the results 
of peer review inspections with the timing of 
the firm’s evaluation of their SOQM.

In accordance with the membership requirements of the AICPA 
Governmental Audit Quality Center and the AICPA Employee Benefit 
Plan Audit Quality Center, the engagement letter covering the firm’s 
peer review will require that the governmental audits and Employee 
Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA) employee benefit plan audits 
selected for review during the firm’s peer review are reviewed by 
someone who is employed by a member firm of the respective center. 
Also, information relative to the firm’s most recently accepted peer 
review is available to the public in accordance with the membership 
requirements of the respective centers. 
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Policy or procedure Note, Tip, or Warning

The QM partner (and the team or designated individual) plans the annual 
monitoring activities to be performed. Monitoring activities include 
review of engagements and engagement partners that represent a 
reasonable cross-section of the firm’s accounting and auditing practice 
using the following criteria [specify criteria, which could include, but are 
not limited to, the following]:
•	 �Engagements required to be selected during peer review (under 

Government Auditing Standards, ERISA, FDIC Improvement Act 
financial institutions, and examinations of service organizations  
[SOC 1® and SOC 2® engagements])

•	 �Specialized industries with emphasis given to high-risk engagements 
•	 Initial engagements
•	 The tenure and experience of engagement partners
•	 �The types of engagements performed by the firm, and the extent  

of the firm’s experience in performing the type of engagement
•	 The types of entities for which engagements are undertaken

	– Entities operating in emerging industries
	– �Entities operating in industries associated with a high level of 
complexity or judgment

	– Entities operating in an industry new to the firm
•	 �An appropriate cross-section of the firm’s auditing and accounting 

partners, taking into account partners who have had negative 
results in the prior inspections or peer reviews and partners who 
have specialties other than accounting and auditing, but still service 
accounting and auditing clients

•	 �The results of the firm’s evaluations of each engagement partner’s 
commitment to quality

•	 Complaints or allegations about an engagement partner
•	 Engagements from a merged-in practice
•	 �SEC registrants and other engagements performed in accordance  

with PCAOB standards 
•	 �Engagements with areas that have been identified as findings in other 

reviews (that is, PCAOB, peer review, or prior internal inspection)

NOTE: It is a requirement that the inspection of 
at least one completed engagement for each 
engagement partner is performed on a cyclical 
basis determined by the firm. (For examples 
of how to apply a cyclical basis for inspection, 
see paragraph .A165 of QM section 10)

TIP: The most effective monitoring focuses  
on areas of high risk (the risk that the firm  
isn’t meeting professional standards or its  
own QM policies and procedures).

WARNING: Identifying a cross- section of the 
firm’s practice requires properly identifying all 
the types of engagements the firm performs. 
Accordingly, the firm needs sufficient detail to 
track its engagement population, for example, 
a time and billing system that separately 
identifies an employee benefit plan audit 
performed in conjunction with the employer 
audit. This also has implications for document 
retention and peer review.

WARNING: Remember — you don’t know  
what you don’t know. If you are new to an 
industry, or if very few people in the firm  
have experience in an industry or technical 
area, hiring an external inspector to perform  
all or some inspection procedures may  
be beneficial.

The selected engagements are reviewed for compliance with  
the firm’s policies and procedures.

When deficiencies are identified in engagements, the QM partner 
considers the need to expand the selection of engagements to assist 
in the evaluation of the severity and pervasiveness of identified 
deficiencies. In addition to engagement inspection and reviews, the 
firm’s monitoring activities include performing appropriate tests of 
compliance with the firm’s policies and procedures on a sample basis. 
The monitoring activities include the following:
•	 �Assessing the appropriateness, reliability and suitability of the firm’s 

guidance materials and practice aids, such as audit programs, 
forms and checklists, and determining whether they reflect recent 
professional pronouncements. This assessment includes soliciting 
comments from professional personnel as to the effectiveness of 
practice aids and tools.

•	 �Issuing guidance regarding new professional standards, regulatory 
requirements, and related changes to firm policy.

TIP: For small firms, this can be done by 
providing information at staff meetings.
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Policy or procedure Note, Tip, or Warning

•	 �Interviewing personnel at all professional management and staff 
levels to obtain information about operating procedures and assess 
their understanding of the firm’s QM policies and procedures and 
implementation thereof.

•	 �Reviewing correspondence regarding the resolution of independence 
and client acceptance matters within the practice office.

•	 �Reviewing the resolution of matters reported by professional 
personnel regarding independence to determine that matters have 
been appropriately considered and resolved.

•	 �Reviewing summaries of CPE records for a sample of personnel 
to track compliance with the requirements of the AICPA and other 
regulatory bodies (such as the Government Accountability Office 
[GAO] and the Office of Management and Budget [OMB]), as well as 
the firm’s CPE requirements.

NOTE: This procedure encompasses reviewing 
both individual personnel’s compliance and the 
firm’s tracking of that compliance.

•	 �Reviewing other administrative and personnel records pertaining to the 
QM objectives, such as

	– �personnel evaluations, including documentation of hiring and 
advancement decisions, and

	– �participants’ evaluations of practice office training programs. 
Reviewing — or designating a management-level individual to be 
responsible for reviewing — professional development activities to 
determine whether they are appropriate, effective, and meet the needs 
of the firm.

•	 �Soliciting information from the firm’s personnel, either during staff 
meetings or through interviews of selected professional personnel, 
regarding the effectiveness of training programs, including in-house 
training programs.

•	 �Periodically reviewing the process for personnel evaluation and 
counseling to ascertain the following:

	– �Whether procedures for evaluation and documentation are being 
followed on a timely basis

	– That personnel decisions are consistent with evaluations
	– �Whether personnel who have been promoted have achieved  
the applicable requirements for advancement

NOTE: As the firm’s personnel increase in 
number, the need for more formal procedures 
also increases.

•	 Determining that recognition is given to outstanding performance

•	 �Considering whether the firm’s professional development programs 
should be revised, based on the results of the firm’s inspection or peer 
review, and recommending revisions.

NOTE: Professional development activities 
include the plan for both the firm and each 
individual to gain the skills, competencies, and 
knowledge necessary for the firm’s practice.

•	 �Inspecting documentation and contracts with the firm’s service 
providers to evaluate if the firm complied with relevant policies  
and procedures.

•	 �Checking and evaluating IT applications to evaluate if they are 
operating as intended and are fit for purpose.
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Policy or procedure Note, Tip, or Warning

Policy: The firm evaluates findings to determine whether deficiencies 
exist, including within the monitoring and remediation process.  
(QM sec. 10, par. .41)

NOTE: When discussing the severity of issues 
with controls, the AICPA auditing, attestation, 
and accounting and review services standards 
use the terms deficiency, significant deficiency, 
and material weakness, whereas the peer 
review standards use the terms finding, 
deficiency, and significant deficiency. The 
use of the terms deficiency and significant 
deficiency in QM section 10 and this practice 
aid is consistent with the use in the AICPA 
auditing, attestation, and accounting and 
review services standards, adapted as 
necessary in the circumstances

TIP: See this helpful Q&A Issues in Peer 
Review and Firm Systems of Quality 
Management for additional discussion.

The firm evaluates  the severity and pervasiveness of identified 
deficiencies by (QM sec. 10, par. .42)
•	 investigating root causes of the identified deficiencies.
•	 �evaluating the effect of the identified deficiencies, individually  

and in aggregate, on the SOQM.

TIP: Using a root cause analysis to evaluate 
deficiencies is a new requirement and will 
require your firm to take time to develop 
procedures to understand the underlying 
factors creating a deficiency (root cause). The 
nature and severity of an identified deficiency 
will influence the rigor of the procedures 
used to understand why the deficiency 
happened or how the situation that created 
the deficiency developed. The firm may also 
consider why deficiencies did not arise in other 
circumstances with similar characteristics. (See 
paragraphs .A181–.A185 of QM section 10)

For each engagement reviewed, the monitoring team (or individual) is 
responsible for
•	 identifying and summarizing the deficiencies noted, and 
•	 �discussing the results of the inspection or review with the 

engagement partners and other appropriate personnel responsible 
for each of the engagements selected for review and determining 
whether any remedial action needs to be taken or improvements 
made with respect to those specific engagements. 

The firm designs and implements remedial actions to address identified 
deficiencies that are responsive to the results of the root cause analysis. 
(QM sec. 10, par. .43)

The QM partner evaluates whether the remedial actions 
•	 �are appropriately designed to address the identified deficiencies  

and their related root causes and determines that they have  
been implemented.

•	 �implemented to address previously identified deficiencies are 
effective. (QM section 10, par. .44)
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Policy or procedure Note, Tip, or Warning

If this evaluation indicates that the remedial actions are not 
appropriately designed and implemented or are not effective, the  
QM partner takes action to determine that the remedial actions are 
modified so they are effective. (QM sec. 10, par. .45)

Recommendations for appropriate remedial actions include one or more 
of the following:
•	 �Taking appropriate corrective action in relation to an individual 

engagement or member of personnel
•	 �The communication of the findings to those responsible for training 

and professional development
•	 Changes to the QM policies and procedures
•	 �Disciplinary action against those who fail to comply with the policies 

and procedures of the firm, especially those who do so repeatedly.

NOTE: Deficiencies may indicate a lack of due 
care or a lack of competency in various areas, 
and remedial actions should be responsive.

When the results of monitoring activities (through firm monitoring, 
peer review or regulatory inspection) indicate that a report may be 
inappropriate or that procedures were omitted during the performance 
of the engagement, the firm (QM sec. 10, par. .46.)
•	 �determines what further action is appropriate to comply  

with relevant professional standards and applicable legal  
and regulatory requirements;

•	 considers whether to obtain legal advice; and
•	 takes and documents the appropriate action.

NOTE: In such circumstances for audit 
engagements, AU-C section 560, Subsequent 
Events and Subsequently Discovered Facts, 
and AU-C section 585, Consideration of Omitted 
Procedures After the Report Release Date,1  
are applicable.

The QM partner communicates on a timely basis [identify period, 
at least annually] to the managing partner (a) a description of the 
monitoring activities performed; (b) the identified deficiencies, 
including their severity and pervasiveness; and (c) the remedial 
actions to address the identified deficiencies. (QM sec. 10, par. .47)

The firm communicates on a timely basis [identify period, at least 
annually] to engagement teams and other individuals assigned 
activities within the SOQM to enable them to take prompt and 
appropriate action in accordance with their responsibility for (a) 
the monitoring activities performed; (b) the identified deficiencies, 
including their severity and pervasiveness; and (c) the remedial 
actions to address the identified deficiencies. (QM sec. 10, par. .48)

The partners review the recommended remedial actions and reach 
final conclusions regarding the actions to be taken.

[In firms with multiple practice groups:]
The practice group responds regarding the specific remedial actions 
or steps to be taken to improve compliance with the firm’s policies 
and procedures and professional standards.

The QM partner is responsible for documenting the implementation 
of specific remedial actions or steps based upon the results of the 
monitoring and remediation process.

1 All AT-C sections can be found in AICPA Professional Standards. 375
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Policy or procedure Note, Tip, or Warning

The managing partner evaluates and concludes one of the following on 
the effectiveness of the SOQM at least annually. (QM sec. 10, par. .55)
a.	� The SOQM provides the firm with reasonable assurance that the 

objectives of the SOQM are being achieved.
b.	� Except for matters related to identified deficiencies that have a 

severe but not pervasive effect on the design, implementation, 
and operation of the SOQM, the SOQM provides the firm with 
reasonable assurance that the objectives of the SOQM are  
being achieved.

c.	� The SOQM does not provide the firm with reasonable assurance 
that the objectives of the SOQM are being achieved.  

If the managing partner concludes there are identified deficiencies or 
that the SOQM does not provide the firm with reasonable assurance 
that the objectives of the SOQM are achieved, the firm (QM sec. 10, 
par. .56)
•	 takes prompt and appropriate action.
•	 communicates to

	– �engagement teams and other appropriate individuals to  
the extent that it is relevant to their responsibilities, and

	– �external parties in accordance with the firm’s policies  
and procedures.

Periodically [specify the period—for example, at least annually or at 
the conclusion of engagements that last at least three weeks], the  
firm reviews performance evaluations with the managing partner and 
QM partner, which take into account the evaluation of the SOQM. 
(QM sec. 10, par. .57 )

The QM partner may identify the need to do the following:
•	 �Revise policies and procedures related to the other components of 

the SOQM because they are ineffective or inappropriately designed
•	 �Improve compliance with firm policies and procedures related to 

the other components of the SOQM

The firm communicates in training programs, meetings, and 
firm policy correspondence the need for changes and improved 
compliance with the SOQM.

Policy: The firm prepares documentation of its SOQM that is 
sufficient to achieve the following: (QM section 10, par. .58)
•	 �Support a consistent understanding of the SOQM by personnel, 

including an understanding of their roles and responsibilities 
regarding the SOQM and performing engagements.

•	 �Support the consistent implementation and operation of  
the responses.

•	 �Provide evidence of the design, implementation, and operation  
of the responses to support the managing partner’s evaluation  
of the SOQM.
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Policy or procedure Note, Tip, or Warning

The firm’s documentation of its SOQM includes the following:  
(QM sec. 10, par. .59) 
•	 Identification of the managing partner and QM partner
•	 The firm’s quality objectives and quality risks
•	 �A description of the responses and how the firm’s responses 

address the quality risks
•	 Regarding the monitoring and remediation process

	– evidence of the monitoring activities performed
	– �the evaluation of findings, and identified deficiencies and  
their related root causes

	– �remedial actions to address identified deficiencies and  
the evaluation of the design and implementation of such 
remedial actions, and 

	– communications about monitoring and remediation 
•	 �The conclusions reached based on the evaluation of the SOQM 

and the basis for that conclusion.

TIP: The results of the monitoring process 
and related remediation efforts may 
include revisions and updates to the quality 
objectives, quality risks, and quality responses.  
Monitoring acts as a feedback to the SOQM so 
the SOQM can be enhanced and tailored based 
on the firm’s evolving risks and changing 
circumstances.

The firm documents its monitoring and remediation process of the 
QM system. Documentation is provided through the firm’s summary 
monitoring report, electronic databases, manual notes, checklists, 
and forms.

Documentation addresses the following:
•	 �Evidence of the monitoring activities performed, including a 

description of the monitoring activities performed to review 
and test compliance with firm quality management policies 
and procedures relating to all of the components of quality 
management, such as

	– �review of the firm’s professional library and practice aids to 
determine that they are appropriate and up to date, and

	– �interviews of a sample of personnel regarding the effectiveness 
of the firm’s professional development programs

•	 �The evaluation of findings, and identified deficiencies and their 
related root causes

•	 �Recommended remedial actions that are designed to prevent  
the recurrence of the deficiency to address identified deficiencies 
and the evaluation of the design and implementation of such 
remedial actions

•	 Communications about monitoring and remediation
•	 �The conclusions reached based on the evaluation of the system 

and the basis for that conclusion

Policy: The firm retains documentation that provides evidence 
of the design, implementation, and operation of the SOQM for an 
appropriate period of time. (QM sec. 10, par. .61)

The firm retains monitoring and remediation documentation for a 
time sufficient to allow those monitoring the QM system, including 
peer reviewers, to evaluate the firm’s compliance with its system. 
Outside of other legal or regulatory requirements, the firm generally 
retains such documentation until the next peer review report has 
been completed.
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Policy or procedure Note, Tip, or Warning

[In firms that are members of a network:]
If the firm is a member of a network in which the network performs 
monitoring activities relating to the firm’s SOQM, the firm (QM sec. 
10, par. .51) 
• �determines the effect of the monitoring activities performed by

the network on the nature, timing, and extent of the firm’s
monitoring activities,

• �determines the firm’s responsibilities in relation to the monitoring
activities, and

• �obtains the results of the monitoring activities from the network in
a timely manner.

If the firm is a member of a network that undertakes monitoring 
activities across network firms, the firm 
• �understands the overall scope of the monitoring activities and

understands how the network will communicate the results of its
monitoring activities

• �at least annually, obtain results of the monitoring activities across
network firms, and
– �communicates the information to engagement teams and other

individual assigned activities within the SOQM, and
– �considers the effect of the information on the firm’s SOQM. (QM

sec. 10, par. .52)

If the firm is a member of a network firm and the firm identifies a 
deficiency in the network requirements, the firm (QM sec. 10, par. .53)
• �communicates to the network relevant information about the

identified deficiency, and
• designs and implement appropriate remedial actions.
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